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CORPORATE PROFILE
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Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited (the "Group"; SEHK stock code: 1929) was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong in December 2011. The Group firmly upholds the vision: "To be the leading global jewellery brand that is a trusted lifetime
partner for every generation”, drawing on nearly a century of legacy and success.

Founded in 1929, the Group's iconic brand "CHOW TAI FOOK" has become an emblem of tradition, celebrated for its bold designs and
an unwavering attention to detail. Building upon a rich heritage and a foundation of trust, the Group is not only widely recognised for
honouring traditions but also for fostering deep, meaningful connections with a diverse customer base through its exquisite jewellery.
The Group's long-standing commitment to innovation and craftsmanship has been integral to its success over time and has become
synonymous with excellence, value and authenticity.

As a leading Chinese jeweller, the Group believes in blending contemporary cutting-edge designs with traditional techniques to create
jewellery that can be passed down from generation to generation. Every collection is thoughtfully conceived and crafted to reflect the
stories of our customers, celebrating the special moments in their lives. Committed to growing alongside our customers, the Group
embraces a spirit that aspires to inspire and captivate generations to come, weaving the story of CHOW TAI FOOK into the fabric of
their lives.

Offering a wide variety of products, services and channels, the Group's brand portfolio comprises the CHOW TAI FOOK flagship brand
with curated retail experiences, and other individual brands including HEARTS ON FIRE, ENZO and MONOLOGUE.

The Group is committed to delivering sustainable long-term value creation for its stakeholders by enhancing the quality of earnings and
driving higher value growth. We operate an extensive omni-channel retail ecosystem, with a retail network across China and multiple
locations globally, complemented by a growing e-commerce business that further enhances our competitive edge.
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VISION AND VALUES
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Take
ownership

VISION =

To be the leading global jewellery brand

that is a trusted lifetime partner for every generation.

SI|BRETSR, BHERAL,

VALUES &8

Understanding that people are core to our company's success — whether it be our employees,
shareholders, partners or customers, we work together for the best possible outcomes.

A, EERMESHINRRE—FMNE—I8T. RR. SERHNHES, HENINBELRE
FHESEATREIAE,

Based on strong ethics, behaving in a manner that is true to our heritage of always being
honest, transparent, and genuine.

HPANGHAER, FRASEFBERRE, THLQIN—IMBENE. AMANEHITRA,

Embodying adaptability with agility, demonstrating curiosity towards alternative perspectives
and welcoming the new.

HMPREN—EREHMRRE, RESEE, BE/I®, EAR A EMIRTESIL.

Taking ownership of our actions, acknowledging that successes and mistakes are all learning
opportunities.

FMEBEREERES, HFRMNTAEREREEE. SN TEILET M EF ER %
BEEMEERE, TWRPHE .

Carrying and expressing genuine interest in what we do and create, always acting with drive
and enthusiasm.

A E TIEABIEREF AL, LARIRAAE KIS A0 E A ENE SR S AN BIRT, (0]
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BRAND TRANSFORMATION

JOURNEY
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Our legacy began in 1929, with the For nearly a century, we have defined Celebrating our 95® anniversary, we have
opening of the first "Chow Tai Fook" gold  excellence, pioneering industry standards ~ embarked on a brand transformation journey,
jewellery store in Guangzhou, China and shaping the future of the jewellery reimagining our brand for a new generation
SahE BEAE SR YE IR 1929 FEE PRI EE M B sector EEXLAYIT 95 BRI 2 IR, AR Go g i 2L 2 filk,
Ul REXE |2 BEAFGF—HBRSEMW, SIETHRIRE RTHAELEM
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Our brand transformation is reflected in

the progressive unveiling of new image
stores, designed to elevate the customer
experience to new heights
MPRIGBERS, RIFmBERMNR,
il 5 B = R B = =
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We introduced signature jewellery
collections that blend traditional
craftmanships with modern, innovative
designs

HEH BSR4 T 2 805 & BT ER 5T H
o EIRE R

As we enter a new era, our vision remains
steadfast: To be the leading global
jewellery brand that is a trusted lifetime
partner for every generation

RE[ SIEBREITHR, BHEIETAL K
78 5= B e T SR AR

Brand Transformation Journey 5
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A SNAPSHOT OF

CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY GROUP
B X @bk E LB )

Chow Tai Fook Chow Tai Fook
Jewellery Group Website Jewellery Brand Website
BIKEIRE K@ A KAE PR & G R 4 s

History Corporate Presentation Sustainability Reports
SKEESR ERER O EERRS

We value feedback from our stakeholders as it is important for us to ensure continuous
improvement of our reporting quality. We invite you to share your views by email to ir@chowtaifook.com.
FMERENENER, NERESESHUFENS
RB BT EEE RS E %LE%EﬁBElr@chowtalfook como
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ANNUAL RESULTS AT A GLANCE
FEREME

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

Macro-economic externalities and elevated gold prices weighed on the consumer sentiment in FY2025. The Group's revenue

decreased by 17.5% year-on-year to HK$89,656 million. Nonetheless, operating profit remained resilient, with a year-on-year growth
of 9.8%, reaching HK$14,746 million. The operating profit margin expanded by 400 basis points to 16.4%, attributable to an improved
product mix comprising higher margin products, a higher gold price and our disciplined cost and capital management. The Group's
Return on Equity ("ROE") reached 21.9%, which represented a sustained improvement against our 5-year historical average of 18.4%.

As we continue to progress our five strategic priorities and take a proactive approach to evolving market trends, same store
performance in Mainland China improved quarter by quarter in FY2025, while that in Hong Kong and Macau was stabilising towards
the end of the financial year.

We delivered clear progress on our brand transformation in this financial year, unveiling five new image stores in Mainland China and
Hong Kong. This premium store format, featuring a rebranded image and redefined retail experience, elevated our brand desirability,
improved product mix and achieved higher store productivity than the average store during the initial months post opening.

We continued to optimise product offerings with different value propositions to meet customer preferences and emotional
resonance. Our fixed-price gold products continued to gain traction with their iconic design and exquisite craftsmanship. Its revenue
surged by 105.5% year-on-year and its retail sales value mix within the Mainland gold jewellery and product category expanded
significantly to 19.2% from 7.1% a year ago.

Our new iconic, fixed-price collections, the CTF Rouge Collection and Chow Tai Fook Palace Museum Collection, have shown
sustained strong momentum since launch and each achieved sales of approximately HK$4 billion in this financial year, exceeding the
annual targets. We also undertook select IP collaborations in response to the younger generation's pursuit of emotional value. This
initiative cultivates the next generation of gold jewellery customers while enhancing our brand desirability.

Amidst market uncertainty and volatility, we stay agile while diligently executing our five strategic priorities to sustain business
resilience and market leadership. Our strategic initiatives have proven effective in improving our store productivity and making a
positive impact on our financial performance in FY2025.

B

20250 FE, ZEGERNMBEERETERSTEXZEHERR, NEBRERGQINF K17 5%E89,656BRIBIL, HmEWIL,
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KEY FINANCIAL DATA
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Revenue *
=

HK$ million
EE3:C 7

89,656

75% i

Net gearing ratio A
BEREGFLERE A
2025 2024

A4 7% 782%

Net assets per share *
BREERE
2025 2024
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0
0
0,
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70,164

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

1. Operating profit, being the aggregate of gross profit and other income, less selling and distribution 1. EEENENERN R EMEANRE
KEEAZHESHID

costs and general and administrative expenses, reflects the core underlying operational performance
of the Group without the impact of gold hedging. The management has determined to reclassify

Operating profit ™
e R

HK$ million
BEET

14,746

+98%  aian”

14,746

13,432

o
o
-
o
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9.755

©
©
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Dividend per share for the year 2

BREFRE?

0.92 =

Full year dividend payout ratio
2$§rlu\$

8/.8%

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

the fair value gain or loss arising from gold loans that was previously included in cost of goods sold P,

("COGS") to "other gains and losses" in order to separate the impact of gold hedging from the core

underlying operational performance. Please refer to p.40 for details of this reclassification. Accordingly,

the previous analysis of "core operating profit" which included part of the impact of gold hedging is

substituted by the analysis of operating profit presented herein

2
21
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2025

92.9%

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Note: Special dividend excluded M5t : RELIFHFRIAR R

BRIRIA S R Y AR IA R — IR AT S, IR E R
THRLEELRER, BEEENQRBERERNGAMEMNR,
EIEREMZIREEM R B RSEE |, RIS BRI PR S K
BRI IEER DRI, H2HBA0H RN B4R
AR R 2 5 B AE B R A AT B

iR | 73 A LS B

2. Included the proposed final dividend of HK$0.32 per share are subject to the approval of shareholders 2. BUFESSRREIRE 03218, BiFRRILAL SMHIE AR RIEF AT itk

at the forthcoming annual general meeting

*For the year ended 31 March 2025
*HZE2025F3A31BILFE

"As at 31 March 2025
~MR202563A318

8 Overview
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CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY RETAIL NETWORK AND PERFORMANCE "

JEl R AR BR B % A 4% S R B

Mainland China
th A dth

pPOS? 4
TER3 < ) E ;

Net

movement - 8 96
Sees  -194%

Hong Kong & Macau of China
oh & & i Fz o B iR Py

3/

-261%

Other markets
Hilriiiz

62

14

CHOW TAI FOOK EMPLOYEES
JEl KA H

Total number of employees
BTRAH

225,900+

Number of employees by reportable segment
RO 2HABENHE THE

8 3 1 % qM]nVIqa?g China

3. CTF WATCH POS excluded

"As at 31 March 2025
AR202543H31H

Annual Report 2025
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169%

3. AEEEAXBERTEN

Hong Kong & Macau of China
and other markets
PEEE. PERMREMTER

Annual Results at a Glance
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FINANCIAL AND

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
¥ S ETE S

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
For the year ended 31 March HEIHIMHLEE BEERT BEERT BEER BEET BEERT
Revenue e 70,164 98,938 94,684 108,713 89,656
Gross profit! EAR| 20,243 23,361 22,718 26,042 26,455
Operating profit? E A 9,086 10,190 9,755 13,432 14,746
Profit for the year FEHER 6176 6,880 5,490 6,607 5,989
Profit attributable to shareholders TR\ 5] A% R FE{G i A 6,026 6,712 5,384 6,499 5,916
of the Company
Earnings per share (HK$) FrRER (8T) 0.60 0.67 0.54 0.65 0.59
Dividend per share (HK$) sREE (BT)
Full year dividend (HK$) 2FRE (BIT) 0.40 0.50 0.50 0.55 0.52
Special dividend (HK$) RIS () - - 0.72 - =
Gross profit margin 28.9% 23.6% 24.0% 24.0% 29.5%
Operating profit margin 12.9% 10.3% 10.3% 12.4% 16.4%
Net profit margin 8.8% 7.0% 5.8% 6.1% 6.7%
Full year dividend payout ratio? EEREES 66.4% 74.5% 92.9% 84.6% 87.8%
1. Gold loan impact was reclassified from cost of goods sold ("COGS") to "other gains and losses" for 1. 2024BEERUGNSEEENRED ([ HEMR |EH N8R bz esa |
FY2024 and before
2. Aggregate of gross profit and other income, less selling and distribution costs and general and 2. ENREMBANGT, WEERDHEMRAR —RRITEFHR
% Spanlcricond ot s FoEHARE
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
As at 31 March K3A31H BEERT BEERT BEERT BEET BEERT
Non-current assets FrREIMEE 9,065 9,612 10,074 9,637 9,251
Current assets RENE E 55,243 78,126 77,267 79,182 67,274
Current liabilities mEaE 29,142 49,629 51,022 57,520 48,128
Net current assets BN E E R 26,101 28,496 26,245 21,662 19,146
Non-current liabilities RGBS 3,598 3,553 2,959 4553 1,003
Net assets BEFH 31,568 34,555 33,360 26,746 27,393
Total assets BERSE 64,308 87,737 87,341 88,819 76,524
Inventories TE 43,011 57,254 59,290 64,647 55,417
Bank deposits and cash equivalents* IRITEMRIEEEHE 6,032 14,942 1,734 7,695 7,582
Bank borrowings IRITER 6,418 9,065 5,855 4136 3,825
Gold loans EHEEE 5,725 15,721 15,086 24,488 15,867
Net debt® BIEFEEE° 6,1 9,844 9,207 20,928 12,109
Net assets per share (HK$) FREEIFH (BT) 3.2 35 3.3 2.7 2.7
Net gearing ratio® FERBERE 19.4% 28.5% 27.6% 78.2% 44.2%
Inventory turnover period (day)’ FEFEEE (K81 7 313 276 300 286 320
Return on equity® NG 19.6% 19.9% 16.5% 247% 21.9%
4. Bank balances and cash and short-term bank deposits included 4. BUEIRITEMRRIR®RIGHIRITER
5. Aggregate of bank borrowings and gold loans, net of bank deposits and cash equivalents 5. RTEMRESHEE @R IRRITERRREFEN)
6. Aggregate of bank borrowings and gold loans, net of bank deposits and cash equivalents, divided by total equity 6. RITERRERGEZ@RORIRITERRIREF @) FRUAEZ AR
7. Being inventory balances, excluding packaging materials, at the end of the reporting period divided by 7. EMRSHRFEGH (REEEEME)BRIAFNHERR, FBRIA36581 366
cost of goods sold for the year, multiplied by 365 or 366
8. Being profit for the year divided by total equity at the end of the year 8. FNEAPRINFREDBER
10 Overview Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
For the year ended 31 March HEIHIMHLEE BEER BEERT BEER HEET BEER
Operating cash flows before EEETEINFIEE 1,572 11,984 11,619 15,491 16,717
movements in working capital HERE
Net cash from (used in) SEEEPTE (PTA) 10,476 13,938 10,066 13,836 10,255
operating activities HEF8
Net cash from (used in) REFFTS (FTA) (693) (1,458) (1,782) (717) (402)
investing activities REFH
Net cash from (used in) REFENFTS (FTH) (11,188) (3,793) (10,705) (16,830) (9,880)
financing activities ]
Net increase (decrease) in RERIESEEY (1,404) 8,688 (2,421) (3,711) (27)
cash and cash equivalents N0 (D) iBER
Capital expenditure BIRHSZ (839) (1,531) (1,982) (963) (578)
Pro forma free cash flows? HEERIRER’ 12,835 2,217 7426 4,983 20,756
9. Net cash from (used in) operating activities, excluded net drawdown/repayment of gold loans, less 9. EEFIFG TA) RaPE, ARELESNRN/ #2958, REMREREKR
leases paid and capital expenditure s
For the year ended 31 March HEIANBILEFE 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Mainland China th ] P ith
SSSG EBl/5HERR 31.9% 1M1% (13.1)% 1.8% (19.4)%
SSS volume growth EEHEEE 8.2% 7.6% (18.M% (4.8)% (30.1)%
Hong Kong & Macau of China hEEERPEHIEM
SSSG EGHEIEE (4.3)% 24.7% 18.3% 424% (26.1)%
SSS volume growth Bl/SHERR (42.9)% 51.0% (12.1)% 32.0% (34.2)%
Retail sales volume (unit) HE (FE)
Mainland China oh [ A it 15,893,000 22,118,000 21,988,000 23,774,000 17,228,000
Hong Kong & Macau of China and DESE. PEEPRZ 1,189,000 1,674,000 1,494,000 2,108,000 1,423,000
other markets HAhmi5
As at 31 March iR3A31H 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
POS distribution ™ FEIAMH
Mainland China o B A D 4,452 5,764 7,287" 7,407 " 6,501
Hong Kong, China PEEE 82 76 66 68 70
Macau, China o & 5 P 18 19 20 20 19
Taiwan, China & i 18 20 20 20 17
Cambodia SRIFHZE 1 1 1 1 1
Canada 1PN - - 1 2 2
Japan H 7 1 1 2 2 4
Korea 2 5] 7 7 7 7 7
Malaysia AR PEEE 4 5 6 7 8
Philippines JEEE 1 1 2 2 2
Singapore FTA0 IR 4 5 6 7 7
Thailand EE| 1 1 2 3 5
United States EJE]] 1 1 1 1 1
Vietnam HE 1 1 2 2 -
Total #Et 4,591 5,902 7,423 7,549 6,644

10. SIS and CIS excluded 10. AEEEDERENEE

11. Restated to reflect the split and combination of HUA exclusive zones 1. BRESIIARBAFREHERRIER
Note: The percentages calculated are subject to minor rounding differences bt : BN EGERIBHENER
Annual Report 2025
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MAJOR AWARDS AND

RECOGNITIONS

EZ:EEE% IJ\}EZiHJD

GOVERNANCE
BiA

Institutional Investor 2024 Asia (Ex-Japan) Executive Team Rankings — Rest of Asia — Consumer/ Discretionary

WBREZ 2024FEDME (BRI RESEBEBHMTE - S EMibE - FFUFHE R

Most Honoured Companies — Combined — 1¢ place

Best CEO — Combined — Kent Wong — 15 place

Best CFO — Combined — Hamilton Cheng — 1+ place
Best IR Professional — Combined — Danita On — 2™ place
Best IR Program — Combined — 1=t place

Best ESG Program — Combined — 1%t place

Best Company Board — Combined — 1<t place

Best IR Team — Combined — 2" place

2024 ASIA (EX-J
EQUITIES AWARDS

IIresearcH O extel

14 Asian Excellence Award 2024
5B+ U0 i 50 i 2 LK 8 2024
Asia's Best CEO — Kent Wong
Asia's Best CFO — Hamilton Cheng
Best Investor Relations Professional — Danita On
Best Investor Relations Company
Best Corporate Communications

Sustainable Asia Award

HKIRA 10t Investor Relations Awards
BTETBREBRENE

Best IR Company

Best IR Team

Best Annual Report

12 Overview

TLES

BREYEGEPE-GE-F—8

RETHRN - 6 -BEE -%F—8
RIETEREMBERRE - 25 - SWER - E—%
RERBEEHFRES - 55 -IRHK -HB -8
BRERBEEHRFERNR -H5 - %1
REREBE. HENREE -GG -%—%
EEQSIEFEE -G -F—F8
REREBEREER - 5 - £ -8

DIMNRETERN - 548
MR ERR AR R - RDARER
REREBEMAEZE - SRR
REREZHIALSE

RETFEEM
TN OIS A A R KRR

REREEHELT
RIEREE BFHBEK
REFR

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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GOVERNANCE

fits 92
Bih

2024 HKMA Best Annual Reports Awards
EEEEERME 024 FRIEFFREE
General Category — Bronze Award
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting —
Certificate of Excellence
T - R
RIE. HBREIGRS - S

IFAPC Outstanding Listed Companies Award 2024
HFERENITEIHE LM ASFEARE 2024

SERVICE
M %5

Singapore Tourism Awards 2024
T NI0 3R ik 8 5 K 8 2024

Customer Service Excellence for Retail — Top 4 Finalist
FEXFHEFRERE - M@

Sing Tao Service Awards 2024
EWARKKEE 2024

The Best Retail Services (Watch & Jewellery)
RETEIRY (EIHEPRE)

01 Gold Medal Awards 2024
O11b 3K & B K HE 2024

Outstanding Jewellery Retail Services Award
I PR T & AR

Annual Report 2025
2025 F 1R

The International Annual Report Design Awards 2024
B PR F R aR 51 K8 2024

—

Bronze Award (Overall Presentation: Annual Report)

—

Bronze Award (Overall Presentation: Sustainability Report)
8% (ARTIER  FIR)
i (GREER . IIIFEERRS)

HKEJ Listed Company Awards of Excellence 2024
SRR _E T2 5] s K 8 2024

Blue-chip (Honor Award)
BE (SRIEXE)

ESTTH

E g2E0#

(& Erﬁﬁ AN 2024

THEER ERHN) s

e

AXEERE

Major Awards and Recognitions 13
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SUSTAINABILITY
BESF ki

S&P Global Sustainability Yearbook (China) 2024
T OFHEERETE (PEMWR) ) 2024

Sustainalytics 2025 ESG Top-Rated Company (Asia Pacific)
Sustainalytics 2025 ESGir @ sF 4R 1B (T2 K[E)

Sustainability Awards 2024 by Jewellery World Awards
20248 JWA T Fr i 3 R K 48

Community Engagement
HESRE

14 Overview
T 28

Dow Jones Best-in-Class Index
BB HT IR 8L
World Index
Asia Pacific Index
ESSEE
BREES

Consumer Caring Scheme 2024
2024 F BN S ETETE

Consumer Caring 10+ Years Award
BINERI +F+ 5

Master Insight X Hang Seng University ESG Award 2024
KIRZE X [EEKE ESGREE 2024

ESG Communication Award
ESGIb 3 Ea 4
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Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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CORPORATE AND BRANDING
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The 5 Greater Bay Area Navigation Award
SBhEE IR AE R K E
Award for Outstanding Contribution (Enterprise)
YA E B K (& g B R R SR

PEOPLE & CULTURE
NA 854

HR Excellence Awards 24/ 25

BRATIEIREE 24/ 25
HR Digitalisation Award — GBA Category — Excellent Award
Talent Management Award — GBA Category — Excellent Award
Grand Award of Change Management —
Organisational Category — Elite Award
Outstanding HR Team Award — HR Team Category — Elite Award
Employee Benefits Award — Organisational Sub-Category —
Merit Award
Community Caring Award — Organisational Sub-Category —
Merit Award
ANEIRE I - XKiEEER - 5
AT ERE - KgREMEH - T8

JER BRI - RRRR - IR
SHANEREEE - ATTEREBER - iR1E

BT RANE - BREANIR - iR
A RIREE - SRR IR - i3

Visit our Group website for more
awards and recognitions

BB REEL TRESRIANES

Best Companies to Work for in Asia 2024

2024 F DR ERRETE
Best Company to Work for — Hong Kong
Most Caring Company Awards — Hong Kong
RERRELRE - B8
RESTHIEE - 58

Gk ol re 3 1; T kA

HR EXCELLENCE AWARDS 24/25

AWARDS PRESENTATION CEREMONY CUM GALA DINNER
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group

Elite Merit
Grand Aword of Changs Management Community Caring Award

Excellent

HR Digitalisotion Award
GBA Category

Annual Report 2025
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\\' HR EXCELLENCE
AWARDS 2024/2025

Merit Elite
Employse Benefits Award Outstanding HR Team Aword

Excellent

Talent Manogement Aword
GBA Cotagory
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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"At Chow Tai Fook Jewellery, we are making great strides in our brand transformation

journey. We remain determined to satisfy evolving customer demand while seizing
the emerging opportunities across China and other markets. As the leading Chinese
jeweller, we maintain our strong commitment to carrying forth our legacy of bold
innovation, masterful craftsmanship, and proud cultural heritage.”

[ BRI ERmMEEZRBEREN T, WREWR, HMEESmERS
AEEERIFER, BiOPREMIGEN, TRREERIEEKSE, (FAITREEN
PEIPRE R, FFAFORBURBIRTEMER. NEREEFELTIZE, RalAARMEIX
HEXR, BREERS. |

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry EBsR &l i+
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

FY2025 marks an exciting and pivotal year in the history of
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery. Reaching our 95™ anniversary signals the
start of a transformative new five-year journey, as we build towards
our centennial celebrations in 2029. We are inspired in this period to
strengthen the Group's legacy while continuing to meet the dynamic
needs of the next generation of consumers through our five strategic
priorities: brand transformation, product optimisation, accelerated

digitalisation, operational efficiency and talent cultivation.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

During FY2025, revenue fell 17.5% to HK$89,656 million due to
macro-economic externalities and elevated gold prices weighing
on consumer sentiment. However, the same-store sales decline
continuously narrowed quarter by quarter as the benefits of our brand
transformation materialise. Operating profits increased by 9.8% to
HK$14,746 million, resulting in an expanded operating profit margin of
16.4%, a testament to our improved product mix and disciplined cost
and capital management. With profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company at HK$5,916 million and earnings per share of HK$0.59,
the Board has proposed a final dividend of HK$0.32 per share,
bringing the dividend per share for the year to HK$0.52. The full year
payout ratio in FY2025 was approximately 87.8%.

The Group delivered solid progress in delivering sustainable
long-term stakeholder value creation as we progress on our brand
transformation journey to elevate brand desirability, customer
experience and drive higher value growth. We expect the growth

momentum shall continue in FY2026.

FORGING AHEAD WITH OUR BRAND
TRANSFORMATION JOURNEY

| am pleased to note we have made steady progress with our
brand transformation, and | wish to express my gratitude to all the

stakeholders who have made this possible.

Our new image stores, starting with those in major cities in China,
provide immersive retail experiences and underscore our commitment
to China and other markets. These stores have enhanced same-store
productivity, demonstrating the success of our retail network

optimisation strategy.

Annual Report 2025
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Our brand transformation extends beyond store imaging to product
optimisation. New signature collections, including CTF Rouge
Collection and Chow Tai Fook Palace Museum Collection, have
exceeded our expectations in terms of revenue generated and
received positive feedback since launch from customers, peers and
the broader market. To sustain the momentum, we have proudly
unveiled the CTF Joie Collection in April 2025. This Collection
integrates the Chinese character-inspired motif "&" (happiness)
into contemporary designs, again drawing profound inspiration from

culturally significant symbols and heritage.

We extended our product differentiation into exclusive collaborations
with renowned intellectual property owners that resonate strongly
with our younger customers, and at the same time enhancing the
Group's high jewellery lines to meet the rising demand for exclusivity
among high-value customers. We will continue to expand our diverse
product portfolio by raising the level of brand aspiration across a
wider range of audiences to enhance long-term business resilience

and sustainability.

COMPELLING MARKET OPPORTUNITIES AND
TRENDS

Although macro challenges persist, shifting consumer behaviours and
evolving market landscapes are presenting fresh opportunities across

the region.

In Mainland China, the Central Government launched plans for
boosting services consumption in April 2025, aiming to foster a pro-
consumption environment and driving domestic demand. We remain
confident in the long-term and sustainable development of the
Chinese economy and jewellery market and will diligently execute our

five strategic priorities to capture the long-term growth potential.

In Hong Kong and Macau, we are enhancing the customer experience
through refreshed stores and omnichannel engagement. Looking
beyond, we are actively exploring new growth opportunities in
Southeast Asia amongst other markets. With our experience operating
overseas, we are well-placed to execute quality expansion strategy

and showcase Chinese culture and craftsmanship around the world.

18 Chairman's Statement
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PRESERVING CHINESE CULTURE AND
INSPIRING NATIONAL PRIDE

As the Chinese House of Timeless Craft and Beauty, we are dedicated
to showcasing Chinese artistry through exquisite jewellery pieces and
supporting globally esteemed art institutions. We proudly sponsored
the "Lin Lang — The Chinese Story of Jewellery Art: International
Contemporary Jewellery Exhibition" in Germany in April to May 2025.
The exhibition, hosted by China's Central Academy of Fine Arts,
featured two of our jewellery treasures with high artistic value and
our newly launched iconic CTF Joie Collection, unveiling the exquisite
beauty of Chinese jewellery to the world while attracting wide

recognition and praise from across the German jewellery industry.

There is much more we can and will do to embody our national pride
and cultivate an appreciation for Chinese jewellery among the next
generation of customers. This includes our exciting collaboration with
the upcoming National Games of China to be held in the Greater Bay
Area — where Chow Tai Fook Jewellery's story began. | look forward

to sharing more with you on this in due course.

Finally, | extend my sincere gratitude to my fellow Board members, our
valued shareholders, business partners, customers, and the dedicated
staff at Chow Tai Fook Jewellery for their invaluable contribution
throughout the year. As we take the next steps on the path towards
our historic centennial milestone, we continue to nurture our legacy
as a beacon of modern jewellery and cultural resonance, ensuring that
every piece we craft is a treasure as timeless as the heritage we carry

forward.

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry

Chairman

Hong Kong, China, 12 June 2025
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OVERVIEW OF

CORPORATE STRATEGY

1SR RS BES

FY2025 presented a complex business landscape, influenced by
macro-economic uncertainties and external factors, most notably
record gold prices which impacted consumer sentiment. Despite
these headwinds, our dedication to achieving high quality growth and
strengthening our long-term competitiveness remains steadfast. This
commitment to prioritise sustainable success is underpinned by the
diligent execution of our five strategic priorities: brand transformation,
product optimisation, accelerated digitalisation, operational efficiency,

and talent cultivation.

We observed encouraging outcomes from the implementation of
these strategic priorities. These advancements are enhancing our
brand desirability among a wider customer base and positioning us

for future success:

TRANSFORMING CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE WITH
NEW IMAGE STORES

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group is reshaping the jewellery shopping
experience with the launch of its new image stores. Recent
openings in Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Wuhan, Xi'an and Shanghai

offer customers an immersive and personalised experience.

This new store segment which we unveiled in FY2025, featuring
a rebranded store image and a redefined retail experience, has
successfully enhanced sales of higher Average Selling Price ("ASP")
products and improved the product mix. This yielded higher store
productivity than the average during the initial months post

opening.

These five new image stores also helped us leverage data insights
to create an enhanced in-store shopping experience tailored to
the unique preferences and needs of customers across different

regions.

Annual Report 2025
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DIFFERENTIATED SIGNATURE COLLECTIONS
RESONATING WITH TARGET CUSTOMERS

The CTF Rouge Collection, launched in April 2024 to commemorate
the brand's 95" anniversary, has been highly sought-after,
generating approximately HK$4 billion in Retail Sales Value ("RSV")
during FY2025. Building on the success of CTF Rouge Collection

=N

and its iconic "#& " motif symbolising fortune, the Group proudly

presented a new signature collection, the CTF Joie Collection

featuring a "=

motif in April 2025. Joie, meaning happiness,
embodies the tenacious spirit of Chow Tai Fook Jewellery in
preserving and taking pride in Chinese traditions. These collections
effectively target consumer preferences for timeless and modern

designs, by blending innovation and heritage.

In collaboration with the Palace Museum in Beijing, the
Chow Tai Fook Palace Museum Collection launched in August
2024 generated approximately HK$4 billion in RSV in FY2025. It
exemplifies the Group's ability to seamlessly fuse cultural heritage
with contemporary design, transforming historical narratives into

wearable art.

Launched in 2017, the HUA Collection remains one of our top-
selling collections, showcasing traditional gold craftsmanship
through design elements inspired by ancient Chinese symbols.
This year, we incorporated the snake zodiac and other traditional
Chinese auspicious motifs to celebrate the Spring Festival. This
series includes exquisite gold ornaments created in collaboration
with renowned artist Han Meilin, who designed the "Fuwa" mascot
for the 2008 Summer Olympics in Beijing, showcasing the charm
of Chinese culture while conveying New Year's blessings. HUA
Collection contributed to approximately 39% of our gold jewellery
and products RSV in the Mainland during FY2025.

PRODUCT INNOVATION AND STRATEGIC
COLLABORATION TO APPEAL TO YOUNGER
CUSTOMERS

22

Demonstrating its commitment to diversification and capturing
emerging consumer trends, the Group also unveiled the exclusive
CTF PET jewellery in March, the first of its kind from a Chinese
jeweller. The unique pieces tap into the booming pet economy,
which has experienced significant growth in recent years. The
pet jewellery features meaningful and innovative products that
cater to a wider customer base while resonating with this fast-
growing consumer trend. We held our first ever Pet Gala Party in
Chengdu in March 2025 to celebrate the launch of this inaugural

pet jewellery series.

Strategic Report
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During the year, we further tapped into the "Intellectual Properties
(IPs) Derivative Economy", driven by Gen Z consumers. We
strengthened our portfolio through high-profile collaborations with
brands such as Black Myth: Wukong and Chiikawa, in response
to the younger generation's pursuit of emotional value. The
Chow Tai Fook x Black Myth Collection, targeting video game
enthusiasts, has proven effective in engaging male customers,
driving purchases for personal use rather than gifting, thereby
penetrating a previously untapped market segment. These
strategic collaborations not only broaden market reach but are
also instrumental in attracting younger consumers. The Chiikawa
collaboration garnered an overwhelming response from the market,
with some items selling out within just two hours at the exclusive

store on the launch day.

These new products and signature collections launched in FY2025
primarily featured fixed pricing, as part of our strategy to optimise
product mix with higher margin products. Our fixed-price product
categories, including both gold and gem-set, platinum and k-gold
jewellery collectively accounted for approximately 29% of the
Group's revenue in FY2025, increasing from 19% year-on-year. This
initiative also caters to a growing trend of consumers appreciating
the design, concept and the emotional resonance of the stories

behind our collections.

Building on our cutting-edge T-MARK patented nano-inscription
technology, the T-MARK Personalisation service was integrated
into the "CTF for YOU" customisation platform as its flagship
offering in September 2024, allowing customers to customise
unique serial codes for their T-MARK diamonds. In February 2025,
we further expanded our offerings by removing font limitations,
enabling customers to inscribe personalised handwritten messages
onto T+MARK diamonds of 0.5 carat or above. This innovation
imbues jewellery with deeper personal significance and helps to

boost sales of diamonds weighing 0.5 carat or more.

MONOLOGUE, one of our individual brands, champions circular
design by using recycled precious metals. In January 2025,
MONOLOGUE debuted its first gold collection crafted entirely
from 999.9 recycled gold. We believe that recycled gold resonates
strongly with the values of younger consumers. We aim to
encourage more customers to adopt the practice of recycling
gold, thereby sharing the responsibility of preserving our planet's

resources.

In FY2025, HEARTS ON FIRE relaunched its brand with the
signature Barre Collection and the "Light, Unleashed" global
campaign, reinforcing its leadership in design and craftsmanship.
The Barre Collection contributed 13.8% to the brand's global
revenue and effectively strengthening its product portfolio.
Strategic growth in Asia was accelerated with the September
launch of the first retail store in Central, Hong Kong — boosting

brand visibility and capturing new clients.
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UPGRADED MEMBERSHIP EXPERIENCE

We have revamped the CTF Club, our brand loyalty programme,
with new membership tiers and a multi-currency CTF Point
Scheme, paving the way for One Global Membership across all
markets. The new loyalty programme was first launched in April
2025 in Mainland China and was expected to subsequently extend

to other markets in the next 12 months.

The revamp intended to provide our customers with a consistent
brand experience and member privileges wherever they shop with
us, becoming their lifetime companion for jewellery and beyond.
CTF Club members can also access a variety of personalised
features and exclusive experiences through digital touchpoints,
such as the CTF Club app and its mini-programme on WeChat.

By the end of FY2025, our loyalty programme had reached a
membership base of 53.7 million and our existing members remain
our loyal brand advocates, contributing approximately 65% to
our sales in the Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau markets.
The average spending per member also increased by 15% in the
Mainland and 17% in Hong Kong and Macau.

DRIVING GROWTH THROUGH DATA AND
LATEST TECHNOLOGIES

24

Over the past decade, technology has transformed Chow Tai Fook
Jewellery's end-to-end jewellery ecosystem by providing
data-driven insights for design, as well as automating production
and logistics processes. Building on the emergence of large
language models, we developed a suite of internal artificial
intelligence ("Al") agents for various functions, including sales
training, digital supply chain, and marketing insights. These Al
tools connect our teams to a vast repository of internal and
external knowledge, enabling more informed decision-making and

enhancing our operational efficiency.

In FY2025, we introduced the "Real-time Store Performance
Dashboard", a cutting-edge business intelligence application.
This tool empowers frontline management by delivering real-
time access to sales and inventory data, as well as insights into
bestselling products. The dashboard provides valuable sales

intelligence, enabling better strategic planning.
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PEOPLE AND CULTURE

In FY2025, we celebrated our brand's 95 anniversary by
revitalising our vision and core values, marking the transformation
that will define the next stage of our journey. Through
collaboration and making use of employee engagement events,
we have effectively communicated these key messages to foster
a purpose-driven culture. Our corporate cultural and employee
engagement initiatives included townhalls, online programmes,
podcasts, cultural workshops, roadshows, as well as leisure and
volunteering activities, engaging employees at all levels and
promoting an open, cohesive, and friendly environment. With an
impressive total attendance of nearly 79,000 across Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Macau, these initiatives successfully
embedded our refreshed vision and values into daily operations,
strengthening our organisation's resilience and laying the

foundation for long-term success.

In terms of staff training, we maintained a robust learning culture
by providing comprehensive support both online and offline. In
addition to hosting nearly 6,500 in-person training sessions for
staff at all levels, we expanded our e-learning modules on our
mobile learning app, offering essential resources covering product
introductions, sales skills, and more. By the end of FY2025, staff
had completed a total of around 190,000 online training hours,
demonstrating their active engagement with our digital learning

resources.

To strengthen our commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusion
("DEI"), we successfully piloted an inclusive internship programme
during the financial year. We plan to expand this initiative
more widely in FY2026, underscoring our ongoing dedication to
creating equal opportunities and fostering a diverse and inclusive

workplace.
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1
CTF Rouge Collection
BN C R

2

CTF Joie Collection
BXEEERT

3
Chow Tai Fook Palace Museum Collection

BAXENE R
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4
New image store in Shenzhen, China

P EDRIIFHRE RIS

5
HUA Collection
BERFRT

6
Chow Tai Fook x Black Myth Collection
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MAINLAND CHINA

Market Review

28

Mainland China's economy demonstrated resilience amid a
complex macro environment, achieving a GDP growth of 5.0% in
2024, aligning with the Central Government's target.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics, the total retail sales
of consumer goods grew by 3.3% year-on-year in the Mainland
between April 2024 and March 2025. However, gold, silver and
jewellery retail sales experienced a double-digit decline, showing
that some consumers in the Mainland adopted a wait-and-see
attitude towards making a purchase decision amid record-high

gold prices and economic uncertainties.

The State Council released the "Special Action Plan to Boost
Consumption" in mid-March following the conclusion of the Two
Sessions 2025 and the Ministry of Commerce together with other
departments also jointly launched plans for boosting service
consumption in April. These plans aim to create a favourable
environment for long-term consumption by enhancing households'
capacity and willingness to spend. The boosting of consumption
helps to expand domestic demand, which will benefit the jewellery
industry, among other consumer sectors. The plan's emphasis on
incorporating excellent traditional Chinese culture into product
design aligns with Chow Tai Fook Jewellery's consistent efforts,

such as our IP products.

Strategic Report
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Business Review

Engaging with customers through diverse channels

During the financial year, we hosted a series of immersive jewellery
exhibitions where our signature collections, such as the CTF Rouge
Collection and Chow Tai Fook Palace Museum Collection, were
brought to life in a setting that perfectly complemented their
Chinese culture-inspired design themes. These exhibitions helped
visitors appreciate the artistry and cultural significance of our

jewellery pieces and enhance the desirability of the brand.

As at 31 March 2025, we had 6,274 CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY
POS in the Mainland. Meanwhile, we continue to strategically open
stores in promising locations, such as high-end shopping malls,
where a new POS enhances customer experiences and generates a
higher revenue and profit than a closed underperforming POS. This
can enable our continued overall growth, sustaining our market

leadership.

E-commerce contributed 5.8% in RSV and 13.8% in volume to our
Mainland performance during FY2025. The significant growth was
driven by several key factors, including the establishment of our in-

house livestreaming studio and enhanced social media promotions.

Since establishing our in-house livestreaming studio in the
fourth quarter of 2024, we have achieved remarkable success.
Notably, during Double 11 in 2024, we secured the No.1 position in
livestreaming jewellery sales on the Tmall platform. The studio also
took our average sales per livestreaming session to new heights
during FY2025, marking a significant milestone in our e-commerce

success.

We significantly enhanced customer engagement and created viral
bestsellers across multiple social media platforms, leveraging the
resources of our own livestreaming studio and Key Opinion Sales
("KOS") to amplify our reach. Notably, our most popular post on
RedNote attracted over 650,000 interactions, showcasing the
effectiveness of viral marketing to deepen the engagement with

young customers and bolster our brand appeal.
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HONG KONG & MACAU OF CHINA

Market Review

The jewellery sales performance in both Hong Kong and Macau
was impacted by economic uncertainty and record-high gold prices
during the period of April 2024 to March 2025. In Hong Kong, the
Census and Statistics Department reported a year-on-year decline
of approximately 15% in retail sales of jewellery, watches, clocks
and valuable gifts. While in Macau, the Statistics and Census
Service noted a 25.3% year-on-year drop in the sales value of

watches and jewellery.

Evolving consumer behaviour weighed on the retail sales in both
Hong Kong and Macau, whereas strong recovery of inbound
tourism and robust visitor growth during FY2025 helped improve

consumer sentiment.

Business Review

The rise in local outbound travel in Hong Kong and changes in
Mainland tourists' spending patterns and preferences in Hong
Kong and Macau continued to weigh on the overall retail sector

during the financial year.

Our new image store in Central, Hong Kong successfully provided
an elevated shopping experience, offering premium products that
drove significant sales growth for gem-set jewellery with high
ASP. This achievement demonstrates the success of our brand
transformation, which focuses on delivering bespoke experiences

to our customers.

As of 31 March 2025, we maintained a total of 87
CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY POS in Hong Kong and Macau,
which will position us favourably to drive quality earnings growth.
We will continue to monitor business developments to capture

opportunities while ensuring margin resilience.

FY2025 was particularly fruitful for e-commerce development in
Hong Kong and Macau. During the financial year, e-commerce
sales in this market surged by approximately 91%, driven by the
positive customers' reception to our revamped brand website.
The website's new features and streamlined design have created
a seamless online shopping experience for our customers. The
successful launch of key IP collections in the 2HFY2025 also

played a crucial role in driving this remarkable growth.
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OTHER MARKETS

Market Review

In 2024, Southeast Asia demonstrated remarkable resilience in
economic growth, achieving an overall GDP growth of 5.0%. This
robust performance was driven by strong domestic demand,
significant infrastructure investments, and boosting of the tourism

sector.

The retail sector in Southeast Asia benefited from the region's
economic resilience. The rapid expanding upper-middle-class
and affluent population drove demand for luxury items, including

jewellery.

Business Review

In FY2025, RSV of CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY grew by 9.4%
year-on-year in other markets (excluding China duty free), driven

mainly by activities in Singapore, Malaysia and Thailand.

In other markets, we optimised the store locations during the
year. We opened a net of 3 CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY POS
(excluding China duty free) in Thailand, Malaysia and Japan.

As part of our broader brand transformation journey, we are
embarking on a dynamic phase of international growth driven by
our two-pronged strategy. This focuses on revitalising key existing
markets as well as expanding our presence in high-potential new

territories for sustainable growth.

In existing markets, we continue to enhance the retail experience
by upgrading and relocating stores. For instance, we will unveil
new image stores in Singapore and Canada in FY2026, while a
broader programme of store upgrades is also underway. Also, we
are optimising merchandising, focusing on high-value customers to
enhance store productivity, all the while cultivating talent to drive

retail excellence in the period ahead.

At the same time, we are set to kick off our strategic expansion
in high-growth Southeast Asia markets and prime locations to
capture the rising local demand for Chinese gold jewellery and the

spending of outbound Chinese tourists.
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We are encouraged by the continued progress in our brand
transformation strategy and the positive impact on our financial
and operational performance in FY2025 and in FY2026 to date.

Build on this momentum, our strategic initiatives, together with the
relatively lower comparables, shall further support our business
fundamentals and recovery trajectory, marking FY2026 a year set
for quality growth.

Amidst the external volatility and uncertainty, we are closely
examining government policies and initiatives aimed at boosting
consumption, tracking gold price movements and assessing the
operating landscape in countries earmarked for international

expansion to guide our business decisions.

We will continue to vigorously uphold our financial discipline in

cost and capital management to achieve high earnings quality.

Looking ahead, our unwavering commitment to brand
transformation will sharpen the Group's competitiveness, bolster
long-term growth prospects, and increase total shareholder returns

sustainably.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
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OVERVIEW

FY2025 presented both challenges and opportunities. It was a year

marked by turbulence and complexity, yet it also stood out as the
inaugural year of our brand transformation with significant milestones
achieved.

Macro-economic externalities and elevated gold prices weighed on
the consumer sentiment and consequentially jewellery spending
during the financial year. This led to a 17.5% decline in the Group's
revenue for FY2025. Despite this, we have been charting steady
progress towards quality earnings and we were encouraged by the
resilience demonstrated in our margins during the financial year.

Gross profit margin expanded by 550 basis points to 29.5%, while
the operating profit margin expanded by 400 basis points to 16.4%,
attributed to an improved product mix comprising higher margin
products, a higher gold price and our disciplined cost and capital
management. Operating profit delivered a year-on-year growth of
9.8%, reaching HK$14,746 million. Profit attributable to shareholders
decreased 9.0% in FY2025, as the increase in operating profit was
offset by the loss arising from the revaluation of gold loan contracts
amid volatility in gold prices during the financial year.

Return on equity reached 21.9% in FY2025 which represented a
sustained improvement against our 5-year historical average of 18.4%.

We continued our product optimisation efforts and offered products
with different value propositions to meet customer preferences
and emotional resonance. Notably, our fixed-price gold products
continued to gain traction with their iconic design and exquisite
craftsmanship. Its revenue surged by 105.5% year-on-year and its
retail sales value mix within the Mainland gold jewellery and products
category expanded significantly to 19.2% from 7.1% a year ago.

Our new iconic, fixed-price collections, the CTF Rouge Collection
and Chow Tai Fook Palace Museum Collection, sustained strong
momentum since launch and achieved approximately HK$4 billion
sales each during this financial year, exceeding our annual targets.

Our current priorities on retail network management remained
unchanged, which were to sustain market leadership and enhance
the overall financial health and resilience of our retail network by
maximising store productivity. During the financial year, we adopted
a highly selective approach to opening stores in prime locations, and
the average store productivity of newer stores was approximately
double that of the stores closed in the financial year.

34 Management Discussion and Analysis
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Revenue

Revenue by reportable segment *

ROI2/AEPBN T MERE *
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He
i

HK$ million
B&EBT YoY
change
Elid-414
120,000 108,713
98,938
! 94,684
100,000 89,656 -17.5%
80,000 70,164
60,000 8o
‘ 87.9% o
86.%% 832%  -16.9%
40,000 851% B Mainland China
thE At
20,000 Hong Kong & Macau of China
149% 121% 13.8% 175% 168% -20.6% and other markets
0 i PEFE. PEIRMRAEMTIR
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
1HFY 2HFY
YoY change YoY change
AT M EE
LHE THE
Revenue (HK$ million) E¥E (58RET) 1HFY2024 2HFY2024 1HFY2025 2HFY2025 G144 [ L 21K
Mainland China oh B A i 40,680 49,018 33,031 41,524 -18.8% -15.3%
Hong Kong & Macau of P EEE. PEIRFMR 8,846 10,169 6,377 8,724 -27.9% -14.2%
China and other markets HAthmiis
Overall EhE 49,526 59,187 39,408 50,248 -20.4% -15.1%

The Group's revenue dropped 17.5% to HK$89,656 million in
FY2025 as consumer demand in our key markets were impacted
by the macro-economic headwinds and high gold price volatility.
On a constant exchange rate basis, the decline was 16.8%. Yet,
thanks to the stabilisation of gold prices, our brand transformation
and product optimisation initiatives, revenue decline narrowed
sequentially in 2HFY2025.

Revenue in the Mainland decreased 16.9% or 16.0% on constant
exchange rate basis. The Hong Kong, Macau and other markets
was impacted by the rise in local outbound travel in Hong Kong
and the change in spending patterns and preferences among
Mainland tourists, leading to a revenue decline of 20.6% during the

financial year.

Share of our Mainland business to the Group's revenue edged up
slightly to 83.2% for FY2025.

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIANBILLFE
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Revenue by product (excluding jewellery trading and service income from franchisees) *

KHERBISHNERE (FREKREEZRRREMNERFRBEBA) *

HK$ million
EE3C7 YoY
change
Eilin =314
12
0,000 107,757
100,000 97,799 93,729 13.4%
s5 87,546 -18.8%
0 8% - 143, -13.8%
80,000 40759 5 53 - : M  Gem-set, Platinum and
14.6% +105.5% K-gold jewellery
60,000 241% PREER. HERKEEN
57% 762% Gold jewellery and products (Fixed-price)
40,000 79% 7% 662% -29.4% HEEMRER (EH)
625% M Gold jewellery and products (Weight-based)
20,000 ERBURERD GHE)
I Watches
o 77% 6.0% 53% 4.6% 49% -13.5% i
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
% of Revenue BRI 1HFY2024 2HFY2024 1HFY2025 2HFY2025
Gem-set, Platinum and K-gold jewellery PREFSE R, HERKEEM 14.7% 12.4% 14.9% 13.8%
Gold jewellery and products (Fixed-price) BLENMLER (EE) 4.4% 7.0% 12.0% 16.7%
Gold jewellery and products (Weight-based) BLEMMEER (5T8) 75.7% 76.5% 67.4% 65.3%
Watches fEi% 5.2% 41% 5.7% 4.2%

Amid macro uncertainties, we stayed focused on product

optimisation and continued to offer products with different value
propositions to meet customer preferences. These initiatives
proved to be successful in FY2025, underpinning our confidence in

long-term prospect.

The high volatility in gold prices led to a revenue decline of 29.4%
for weight-based gold products in FY2025. However, our fixed-
price gold products, exemplified by exquisite craftmanship, iconic
designs and emotional resonance, stayed robust in the financial
year. Revenue of fixed-price gold products surged 105.5% in
FY2025. Its contribution to the Group's revenue expanded year-
on-year, thanks to the success of our signature and differentiated
products including HUA, CTF Rouge and Chow Tai Fook Palace
Museum collections. The CTF Rouge Collection and Palace Museum
Collection sustained strong momentum since launch and achieved
approximately HK$4 billion sales each in this financial year,

exceeding our annual targets.

Furthermore, though gem-set, platinum and k-gold jewellery
registered a revenue decline of 13.8% in FY2025, the diamond-
inlaid gold products sustained its popularity amongst our

customers, with its revenue grew over 100% in the financial year.

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIABILFE
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SSSG by major market
REEMEIANNEREHERR

66.6%

64.2%

-19.1% -20.3%

[ 5 5 85 1 =

-8.7%
-13.2%

-12.3%
-16.1%

-26.4% -24.3%
-21.3%

-12.5%
. -22.5%
-30.8% -30.8% —@— Mainland China (Self-operated)
TERiL (BE)
—®— Mainland China (Franchised)
hEAHE (I08)
—®— Hong Kong &
1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Macau of China
FY2024 FY2025 hEE B KR ERM
FY2024 FY2025
SSS volume SSS volume
SSSG growth SSSG growth
FEHERE REHEIBR REHSER REHERBER
Mainland China (Self-operated) DERN (HE) +1.8% -4.8% -19.4% -30.1%
Mainland China (Franchised) R A (I08E) +7.4% -4.2% -13.9% -28.7%
Hong Kong & Macau of China PEE B R O E R P +42.4% +32.0% -26.1% -34.2%

In FY2025, though SSS declined in the Mainland and Hong Kong
and Macau during the financial year, the magnitude of decline

narrowed sequentially in the second half of the financial year.

SSS in the Mainland declined by 19.4% in FY2025. Separately, sales
of franchised POS calculated on same store basis dropped 13.9%
during the financial year, signifying a stronger performance than

self-operated stores due to a higher proportion of newer stores.

In Hong Kong and Macau, SSS was down by 26.1% in the financial
year. SSS in Hong Kong dropped 23.1% while in Macau it fell
35.3%, as Macau's business had higher reliance on the spending of

Mainland tourists.
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2025 MR, NIhEJSIHE TEK19.4%, =9, BR
IMMESEITERRAMEGGLERS, HERIEEHE, H
HERENTIK13.9%, XKBEERESSE,

RTFE, FBRIRPMEIEEHE TEK261%, FiEE
[EHEHERIE A 23.1%, MRPIBIREAINIRESHE, &
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Profitability

Group
RE -

*

29.5%
24.0% 24.0%

16.4%

10.3%

bl

2023 2024 2025

Operating profit? by reportable segment*
ROl 2R A MEE RN 2

HK$ million
BEET YoY
change
G444
14,000
12,536 +7.2%
11,696
12,000
10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000

2,000

2023 2024 2025

1. Gold loan impact was reclassified from cost of goods sold ("COGS") to "other gains and losses" for
FY2024 and before

2. Aggregate of gross profit and other income, less selling and distribution costs, general and
administrative expenses

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIABILFE
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FIEE 5T N

+27.3%

1.

2.

Hlfig

—&— Gross profit margin’
ERz

—®— Selling and distribution costs and general
and administrative expenses ("SG&A") as
a % to revenue
THER N EMARLAR —RRITERZ ([ #HER
TR | ) FGEREE AL

—®— Operating profit margin 2
AEE AR

Bl Mainland China
hEAh

Hong Kong & Macau of China
and other markets

PESE. PEIRM AR

2024 WM E R ABTHI S S S SR Bl [ HEMA | JHN R B LEE ]

EAR EMAK S5,

TRUIH S K2 93 88 A K UA Ko — AR R AT BB 52

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BXBHREREARAE



1HFY 2HFY

YoY change YoY change

AT TS

L T

(HK$ million) (B&i#ET) 1HFY2024 2HFY2024 1HFY2025 2HFY2025 I LE &1k 524314
Revenue e 49,526 59,187 39,408 50,248 -20.4% -15.1%
Gross profit EAR 12,31 13,732 12,378 14,077 +0.5% +2.5%
Gross profit margin ERZE= 24.9% 23.2% 31.4% 28.0% +6.5% pts +4.8% pts
EE2% B

Other income EARUA 353 337 376 406 +6.6% +20.6%
SG&A HERITHFY (6,150) (7,151) (5,978) (6,513) -2.8% -8.9%
SG&A as a % to revenue HERITIHX 12.4% 12.1% 15.2% 13.0%  +2.8% pts  +0.9% pts
BribE#EEEF AL EI=ZR g1 =R

Operating profit A 6,514 6,198 6,776 7,970 +4.0% +15.2%
Operating profit margin K E = 13.2% 11.7% 17.2% 15.9% +4.0% pts +4.2% pts
g5 &5

Between the two segments, the Mainland continued to be our

B8y, WihiE@En &ETiE
EET&m%. EEEANIA 85%,

T = /o

AMIZRIR, #2025 B
main profit contributor, accounting for approximately 85% of the
Group's operating profit in FY2025.

Thanks to our disciplined cost management, SG&A ratio in
2HFY2025 further improved to 13.0% from 15.2% in THFY2025.
The Group's operating profit grew strongly by 9.8% year-on-year
to HK$14,746 million. Its margin expanded by 400 basis points to
16.4% in FY2025.

Profit attributable to shareholders decreased by 9.0% in FY2025,
as the increase in operating profit was offset by the loss arising

from the revaluation of gold loan contracts amid volatility in

IMFERGEE BN, BP0 E RITHBISZLLZRE 2025
A E EHEMI52%E— T REE 2025 REET
FEMR13.0%, INEBEK M FRNEEI 8% E
14,746 B BB IT, 2025 BEE, HigH|RINEKX400
E2EFE16.4%,

o A )
TE R

BES

2025 E, BREREERE, TEGES
HEIRANEEE, ERNEFE

KFELREE, MBETEER
B SRE (AR 9.0%,

international gold prices during the financial year.
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Gross profit margin

Reclassification of gold loan impact

40

We use gold loans (short position in gold) for economic hedging
purposes to mitigate the financial impact of the gold price
fluctuations on our gold inventories (long position). Over time,
the long and short positions in gold are expected to offset each
other, through the sales of gold inventories over time. However, in
accordance with accounting standards, the outstanding gold loan
contracts are revalued at market price at the end of each financial
reporting period or upon its settlement, while the gold inventories
are not, in accordance with accounting standards. This disparity

gives rise to a temporary accounting gain or loss.

In the past, any gain or loss resulting from revaluation of gold loans
was accounted for in our cost of goods sold ("COGS"), impacting
our reported gross profit and operating profit. To better reflect
our core underlying operational performance without the impact
of the hedging activities, we are reclassifying gold loan revaluation
gain or loss from "COGS" to "other gains and losses" starting from
FY2025.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

HMMAREEE (RENE) REBEBRBENT, LORE
EEFE (EEFE) ERREBKINIBEYE., &Y
ms, MRESH. AEHTEERELEESTFEM
HiEMEH, HRBEEEHER, RTENEEEEGHR
BEMBERSHRIREHATERESIHMISEBERD,
MR STHER, ERFEAATEG, LENEKY
I B0 S 5t ay B iE,

LAtE, WEGESEEmELEME ANV EE AR
EWME HER |, WEHPPF2RMEENREE D
MR, RTESSMRMAZEH DT ETH
ZILVEERIER, 52025 HFER, RMERESEES
B mVERE HENK | ERAEAT A
i o

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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Movements in gross profit margin *

ENREgH

40.0%
35% 29.5%

30.0% 2 1%

24.0% 0.1% 0.2%

35% .
20.0% 0.4%
10.0%
0.0%

2024 2025

At Group level, gross profit margin increased by 550 basis points
to 29.5% during FY2025, mainly attributable to the improved like-
for-like margin at retail level resulting from the gold price surge,
as well as an improvement in the product mix particularly with the
higher contribution of our fixed-price gold products. These offset

the impact from a higher proportion of wholesale business during

the financial year.

*For the year ended 31 March
FHEIANHLEFE

Annual Report 2025
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Changes in Mainland
China, Hong Kong &
Macau of China and
other markets mix
PENI, PEEE.

ChER PR RIS & S 8

Impact from wholesale
business

it S

Impact from jewellery
trading

HREZZANZE
Changes in product mix
EREETEE

Changes in gross profit
margin by product in
retail business
ZERBRERS D
RS ES )

Impact from gold price
fluctuation
BERERRIEIHE

REBER, HREEMTHETEERENFEMETT,

MEEBEEEmGILE

SPEEGRINNE, &

Ed)

2025 AT BUAF B HIE A2 £ 7 550 18 35 F £ 29.5%, B
RIZRAE A T AR IR R HE 3 SR AR 16 LE E TP SR B0 B
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London gold price

RAEE
US$ per ounce
ErEHRa

3,600

3,100
2,600
2,100
1,600 London gold price
GE G
Average of T-180 days'
1,100 L T-180XF 1A’
1.4.2023 1.4.2024 31.3.2025
1. Average of T-180 refers to the average gold price of previous 180 days on rolling basis, being a proxy of 1. T180RTFHEEBAIEEBORNERAME, BIFAXRAMER PEEFEN TGS,
the average price of our hedged inventories. Average of T-180 days was used for FY2025 and FY2024 2025 I [£ K2 2024 ST EEE A T-180 R T HIE
FY2025 Closing price YoY change Average price YoY change
Wi fE R bR it TfER R

aam +40.7% +30.0%

42  Management Discussion and Analysis Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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SG&A

SG&A by reportable segment *
RO 23RS EPEI ST R SHE R T BRASZ *

B S AT BB 5

HK$ million
BHEBT Yoy
change
Elid-414
14,000 13,696
13,300 12,491 -6.1%
12,000
10,000
8,000 78.9% 76.6% 76.6% -6.0%
6,000
4,000 Bl Mainland China
EaE b
2,000 i . i . Jl Hong Kong & Macau of China
211% 23.4% 23.4% -6.4% and other markets
0 PEEE. PEIRPREMNTR
2023 2024 2025
SG&A to revenue ratio *
HERITHMXILEREAILE *
HK$ million
BH&EBIT
14.5% —&— As a % of revenue
13.9% YoY PG EREE AL
12.2% change Bl Staff costs and related expenses
Eli4-114 8 TR IBRIRSZ
[l Concessionaire fees
16,000 EAES A
14,000 13,696 13,300 Il Rental expenses
12,491 6.1% e R
12,000 [l Depreciation and amortisation
5.6% 4.9% (Right-of-use assets, "ROUA")
10,000 e 5.9% -2.4% BRI (EREEE)
Il Depreciation and amortisation
8,000 . (Property, plant and equipment)
20% 17% 17% -19.6% FE RN (M. BUER2H)
6,000 1.3% 12% 14% .3.8% I Advertising and promotion expenses
1.3% EEREEMZ
4,000 ° 1.2% 1.3% -12.4% ] )
0-904 07% 0.9% +13.2% n Packag[ng materials
2000 b I os% 0.5% -29.4% B
2.2% 1.9% 2.3% -0.8% | Other SG&A
0 Hih#HERITEX
2023 2024 2025

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIANBILLFE
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The Group closely managed SG&A expenses during the financial year,
they decreased by 6.1% to HK$12,491 million.

In FY2025, advertising and promotion expenses rose by 13.2% due
to the initiation of more promotional events, while the packaging
materials costs decreased by 29.4% due to sales decline and our
procurement optimisation strategy which led to a more streamlined

packaging process and cost.

Other SG&A mainly represented bank charges incurred for sales
transactions settlement, royalty fees for the sales of licensed
products, certificate expenses and utilities. It stayed relatively flat in
the financial year as the drop in the sales related credit card charges,
inspection and certificate fees were offset by the increase in royalty

fees and expenses for selected new collections.

SG&A ratio increased 170 basis points to 13.9%. Fixed in nature
expenses contributed approximately 55% to SG&A expenses in
FY2025 (FY2024: approximately 50%).

Analyses of the major SG&A components, including staff costs and
related expenses, concessionaire fees and lease-related expenses

are provided on p.49 - 50 and p.61 - 62 of this report.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

RPEFE, REEBUEREE RTINS, AR
R 6.1% F 12,4 HE BT,

2025, HRABZEFTENE, BESREHR
FISZIBNN13.2%, e R NAIFEET 29.4%, B
HETHK, URBURERBRETEZHERERFR
2N

HMEERTHMAZ IS0 RHE 2 GEEELHIRTT
FHEE. HEEBEoNENER, BSERNIEEH,
IRINBT U EAEFF IR E, HRHEEHNGEHERE
MREEREZEM T, T ERRIIEE K]
LR E H B0,

HERITHHXLZREE EFA170@FE13.9%, 2025
MREE, BEEEERSZGHEE R ITEBISZA155% (2024
FTBUERE : #150%) o

BRAMEERITHERZFISEMNEE (BE8 TR KRIE
FMSZ. 2EANREERAMSE) BATERARSE
FA9ES0EMOIES62H,

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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MAINLAND CHINA Hh ] A 1
Revenue g
Revenue by operation model *
HEEETENFEREE *
HK$ million
BaEET YoY
change
Btk
100,000
86.932 89,698
' 81,623
80,000 74,556 -16.9%
£30%
59,698 50.4%
\ 456%
60,000 834%  -16.0%
40,000 59.8%
57.0% )
20,000 49.6% 54.4% 566% -17.5% M Retail
B
40.2%
Wholesale
0 Hea
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

In Mainland China, our retail revenue represents sales from self-
operated POS, e-commerce and other direct channels, while

wholesale revenue mainly represents sales to franchisees and

provision of services to franchisees.

Revenue in the Mainland fell 16.9% to HK$74,556 million in FY2025.

On a constant exchange rate basis, it was down by 16.0% during

the financial year.

During FY2025, wholesale revenue registered a decline of 17.5%
in the Mainland amid the weakened demand resulting from the
macro-economic uncertainties and gold price volatility, which were

observed industry-wide.

As at 31 March 2025, we had 4,711 franchised CHOW TAI FOOK
JEWELLERY POS, representing approximately 75% of the store
network of CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY in the Mainland. For
the majority of these POS, we retain inventory ownership until

sales transactions are completed with retail customers, upon

RepEAlth, HMEEEEE $535§EM§E$¥£\
FRBRAMERRENHER, MULBERRUES
516110 84 Fe 8 65 55 3 K2 (6110 B2 7 B2 (RLAR A BFTUT A o

2025 LA &, WIS FE T EK16.9%E 74,5568
BBT, GRERAERSE, AUEFE KRR %

16.0%,
2025 T EF BN, {TRERZINZEEBAARNES
BSREF R EMEFRESE, EAMALEERERSF

17.5% Bk o

20263318, HM&RE4711E R X8 hE 8
TE, BEXBHREANMPIERABEH75%, RXEBN
FAXEHRENBTER, FMAEEE Eﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ’%ﬁi%
ARBEFEHEE, FXR7TME, MEHRAtE

o ﬁt%éﬂﬂ%%%%gﬁﬁﬁM$%ET£Wm%tt%“%%ﬁﬁ’]éo%o

which wholesale revenue is recognised. These franchised POS

contributed approximately 60% of the wholesale revenue in the

Mainland.

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIANBILLFE

Annual Report 2025
2025 F 1R

45

Performance Review

ESUIEI



SS5G

SSSG of major products
SEREISHERR

32.5%

9.9%
3.4%

[ 5 5 85 3 =

Same Store ASP
[EETFEEE
FY2025

Gold jewellery and products
HREMRER

HK$6,300

(FY2024": HK$5,600)

Gem-set jewellery

BREEERERE A

HK$9,700

(FY2024': HK$8,000)

-24.7%
27.9% ; -13.8%
-20.3%

15.3% -12.1%

—&— Gem-set, Platinum and

-27.7% 317% -27.6% K-gold jewellery

BREEEER. HERKEEM

—8— Gold jewellery

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q and products
FY2024 FY2025 EEEMRER
FY2025

SSS volume
SSSG growth
EEHERR FEHEER
Gem-set, Platinum and K-gold jewellery PREER . HERKEEM -22.9% -33.4%
Gold jewellery and products wHEEMAED -19.6% -29.6%
Watches ik -12.7% -21.3%
Overall e -19.4% -30.1%

1. Same Store ASP on FY2025 Same Store basis

In Mainland China, ASP across product categories remained
resilient in FY2025. In particular, quality jewellery products
exemplified by exquisite craftsmanship and iconic designs were
well received by our customers, leading to an increased sales

contribution from higher-ASP gem-set jewellery.

ASP of gem-set jewellery climbed to HK$9,700 (FY2024:
HK$8,000) during the financial year while that of gold jewellery
and products increased to HK$6,300 (FY2024: HK$5,600).

46 Management Discussion and Analysis
B ES mEE N T

1. EEFHEELA2025 W BFEHEIEFRELE

2025 TR, PRI S & e SR R B0 T B S E iR 2]
., TERFERRHERNBEEMLERGHRSEE,
wETHEERSTEER S MBS GIE T

HFEN, hEEREMNTHSEREAE? 7008 T
(2024 WA : 8,000/87T) , MEEEMRERKITE
EEIN EFHZE6,300 Tt (2024 MKFE : 5,6007T) o
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Profitability A e
Mainland China *
ch i Py it *
28.7%
237% ia/
16.8%
11% 1.4% —@— Gross profit margin
s ’ ERFE
—@— SG&A as a % to revenue
HERITEMX TG ERET AL
—@— Operating profit margin
e
2023 2024 2025
1HFY 2HFY
YoY change YoY change
A E W EE
i THE
(HK$ million) (B&E#ET) 1HFY2024 2HFY2024 1HFY2025 2HFY2025 [E]:A =34 [E]i4-]14
Revenue e 40,680 49,018 33,031 41,524 -18.8% -15.3%
Gross profit ESAl 10,166 11,158 10,291 11,141 +1.2% -0.1%
Gross profit margin ERZE 25.0% 22.8% 31.2% 26.8%  +6.2% pts  +4.0% pts
52 B
Other income EHABRA 282 272 319 358 +13.1% +31.6%
SG&A HERITBFY: (4,695) (5,487) (4,570) (5,003) -2.7% -8.8%
SG&A as a % to revenue HERITIE R SE 11.5% 11.2% 13.8% 12.0%  +2.3% pts  +0.8% pts
HiibE#E B AL e 553 2 El=pa k]
Operating profit s imAl 5,752 5,943 6,039 6,497 +5.0% +9.3%
Operating profit margin B B 14.1% 12.1% 18.3% 15.6% +4.2% pts +3.5% pts
EEs% EEAEH

*For the year ended 31 March
FHEIANHLEFE
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Gross profit margin expanded by 490 basis points in FY2025,
mainly due to the improved retail like-for-like margin resulting from
the gold price surge, as well as a higher contribution of our fixed-
price gold products.

SG&A ratio increased 140 basis points to 12.8% in FY2025. Fixed
in nature expenses contributed around 55% to SG&A expenses in
FY2025 (FY2024: approximately 50%).

Thanks to an improvement in gross profit margin, operating profit
margin surged 380 basis points to 16.8% in FY2025.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

ENER 2025 WHFEIGN4900 @2+, TSHRES
BEAAEETEEnENEANMIEREBEREEERE
RIBZ o

\

2025 E, HERITHMAS LR EF140@H TE
12.8%, TEIEEE S (& RITHESZA 55% (2024
WTEFE - #150%) o

2025 TR 2, REMENRNE, GEERANEXIBIR
= 380 BB T E16.8%,

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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SG&A

SG&A to revenue ratio *

HERTHMZIGEREALLSE *

B S AT BB 5

HKS$ million
BHEBT
13.2% 12.8%
11.4% Yo¥
change
Rtk tk
12,000
10,812
10,182 6.0%
10,000 9.573 °
48%
8,000 4.4% 51% -2.4%
6,000 23%
21% 2.0% -19.9%
07%
4,000 1.2% 0.7% 0.8% -2.0%
0.9% 1.2% 1.3% -13.1%
13% 0.6% 0.9% +23.1%
2,000 - L 0% 0.5% -30.9%
2.0% 1.7% 2.2% +3.6%
0
2023 2024 2025
Staff costs and related expenses *
BTN ANRERMX: *
HK$ million
EES: 7
489 5.1%
4.4% YoY
change
RILLA#L.
4,500
3,938 3,924
4,000 3,830 -2.4%
3,500
38.5% 37.1% 27.2% -28.4%
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500 i 69.6% +13.2%
57.6% 60.0%
1,000
500
o 4.0% 2.9% 3.2% +6.6%
2023 2024 2025

1. Employees in production function excluded
2. Other staff related expenses mainly included staff messing, medical care, educational expenses, etc.

Staff costs and related expenses were down 2.4% in FY2025.

+ Fixed component increased by 13.2% year-on-year, mainly due
to revisions in staff remuneration packages to attract and retain
talent and key strategic hires essential for driving sustainable
business growth. The adjustment to the remuneration packages
coupled with sales decline resulted in a 28.4% reduction in the
variable component.

*For the year ended 31 March
*HEIANHLLEE
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—&— As a % of respective revenue

FTSIBEEREE AL

Bl Staff costs and related expenses
8T RR 8RR SZ

Concessionaire fees
HESY AL

n
[l Rental expenses
(kA

n

Depreciation and amortisation
(Right-of-use assets, "ROUA")
TEREE (ERREE)

Depreciation and amortisation
(Property, plant and equipment)
PR (MR A R ak )

I Advertising and promotion expenses
BmEREEMX

[l Packaging materials
BLEE

I Other SG&A
HithHERITRES

FY2025

Average number
of employees' YoY change
TFHETIHB' BIEEE TE

18,880 -6.1%

—@— As a % of respective revenue
FHGHEBEREE AL

M Variable staff costs
FEB TR

B Fixed staff costs
ElE & TR

Il Other staff related expenses?
Hith& TR 2

FEBEEEDMMET
HtBTHRMAXTSOES TIERIRM ., BRENNBECES

2025 I, BTN K2 AE BRI S T B 2.4%,

BIEANIEERE EF13.2%, EEHREBETTEIHH)
FELARSIRBEAA, AR BIHEERRFTEIERMF
HHESREHEDE, FMTERAEN LHEHTK,
fEFENEAYIR BRI 28.4%,
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Concessionaire fees and lease-related expenses ™

HE 5 RY R A S 1H B R 52 ™
HK$ million
EE3C7
7.9% 77% 7.9%
O— .
P .
hd —@ N YoY
4.4% 41% 5.3% change
EIEEE Y
3,500
3,000
2,506 2,518
2,500
2,126 -15.6%
1,000
1,500 74.8% 74.4%
70.6% -19.9%
1,000
500
25.2% 25.6% 29.4% -2.9%
0
2023 2024 2025

-+ Concessionaire fees decreased by 19.9%, broadly in line with the
decline in retail revenue. Concessionaire fees ratio increased to
7.9% as a result of a shift of sales mix towards product types with
higher gross margins yet higher concessionaire rates at the same

time.

- Lease-related expenses ratio increased by 120 basis points to 5.3%
as the respective revenue declined during the financial year.

1. Under IFRS 16 - leases, depreciation and amortisation (ROUA) and finance costs on leases replace the
majority of rental expenses and therefore we combined these elements for the analysis of lease-related
expenses

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIABILFE

50 Management Discussion and Analysis
FIEE 5T N

—@— Concessionaire fees as a % of
respective revenue

SHED AT EREREET AL

—®— Lease-related expenses as a % of
respective revenue

HE S 18 B B ST PTG A R & SR B Yt

M Concessionaire fees

BHEST A

Ml Lease-related expenses’

M EER RS

BB TRE19.9%, KEIRTEERRHIKBIEN, H©
AR & 4H & 1 5] E R B S M 2 AY L ZTNE S B o 4R
Al SHEENWLERETTET 9%,

WIFEN, BREMERERY, HEBRASER
EFH120 @28 FE5.3%,

IRIREI PRI B AR S HERISE 16 5F - AR, TRl (EMREE) RERRENRITX
BAMEERMS, HMAMUMIEHEEESH, NETHEBRMSZZ AT

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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POS network KA B A 4k

POS movement by store brand' — Mainland China

RIEfHEEENNFEREE - PEANI

During FY2025

31.3.2023 31.3.2024 2025 BT L EE 31.3.2025
Total Total Addition Reduction Net Total
As at iy @st st 120 R BIBR @st
CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY? & K{gbkEs 2 70373 71073 245 (1,141) (896) 6,274
CTF WATCH K miE sk 129 121 4 (16) (12) 109
HEARTS ON FIRE HEARTS ON FIRE 1 - - - - -
ENZO ENZO 30 23 3 (10) (7) 16
SOINLOVE SOINLOVE 21 15 - (8) (8) 7
MONOLOGUE MONOLOGUE 60 65 25 (9) 16 81
1. SIS and CIS excluded 1. AEEEPERENSE
2. CTF WATCH POS excluded 2. AEERAXBERTEN
3. Restated to reflect the split and combination of HUA exclusive zones 3. HEEREIURMNFREHERRIIER
RSV analysis FEAE T
RSV by product
HERISTNZIER
3.8%
RSV YoY change
FY2024  FY2025 FEERLLEK
[ | [ | Gem-set, Platinum and PREEER. TR -13.0%
K-gold jewellery K&
| | Gold jewellery and products EEBEMNER -15.2%
[ | Watches ik -13.3%
Overall g} -14.8%
RSV of gem-set, platinum and K-gold jewellery
REEiR. HIERKEENHNZTEE
% of RSV FEEIGLE FY2024 FY2025
Diamond jewellery BaEMm 57.7% 64.0%
Other gem-set jewellery HAhPkE iR E o 24.3% 21.5%
Platinum and K-gold jewellery HERKE B 18.0% 14.5%
Annual Report 2025 Performance Review 51
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RSV of gold jewellery and products
ERENIRERNTEE

% of RSV FEME{GLE FY2024 FY2025
Weight-based gold products SIEEEER 84.6% 71.8%
Fixed-price gold products EEEEEn 7% 19.2%
Bullions EHL/ TR 8.3% 8.9%

Within gold jewellery and products, RSV contribution of fixed-price
gold products reached approximately 19% in FY2025.

RSV by channel
RHEREIANZTERE

1
2.

52

4.4% 5.8%

EEEEMRERD, EEEEERRK202MHFER
JAk B & B BRI 19%0

RSV YoY change

FY2024 FY2025 FEERLLEK
[ ] [ | CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY & XBIThE -16.0%
[ | [ | Other store brands’ HAh/E &8 -11.5%
[ | E-commerce 2 BFEE? +3.6%

Overall R pe -14.8%

CTF WATCH, HEARTS ON FIRE, ENZO, SOINLOVE and MONOLOGUE included
Major platforms included CTFMall, Tmall, JD.com, Douyin and Vipshop

Brick-and-mortar stores remained the most significant channel for
jewellery consumption experience, accounting close to 95% of our
RSV in the Mainland. Our e-commerce business also registered

robust performance fuelled by improved customer engagement.

RSV of e-commerce in the Mainland grew by 3.6% in FY2025,
driven by several key factors, including the establishment of our in-
house livestreaming studio and enhanced social media promotions.
We significantly enhanced customer engagement and created viral
bestsellers across multiple social media platforms, leveraging the
resources of our own livestreaming studio and Key Opinion Sales

("KOS") to amplify our reach.

In terms of retail sales volume, share of our e-commerce amounted
to 13.8% of our Mainland business. ASP of e-commerce increased
to approximately HK$2,500 during the financial year (FY2024:
HK$2,080).

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

1.
2.

BEE K@@k, HEARTS ON FIRE, ENZO. SOINLOVE &2 MONOLOGUE
EISTERR[ABEABMN. X, RR. HERERS

WEHEBNANLNEREREALT, BAMTEEE
95%. MEEHMNBMEAZLR EEE, EFEBITER
FERIMMEE,

HREENI TEENEREB R MR RES HE
ETRBRE, NMEFEBNZTEER2025WEF
EBR36%, RMEBEENEEHLHEBRERHE
(TKOs ) BiR, BNRBEEZME, RMBZIREAR
E0#), WRSELRETEANTERAEHEZm.

LASHE 5T, EFRIBA N MRS R138%ME M, K
MRERN, EFEFEITHSEENEL 25008 T
(2024 A JZ : 2,08017T) o

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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The following analyses focus on CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY POS

BARBHREZTERHEPEANMBEBL 0%, LA THRHE

which approximately covers 90% of the RSV in Mainland China: ZEBIENT
CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY POS AXEHREZER
RSV and POS by tier of cities'
EHmRENESNETEERTER
17.1% 16.5%
FY2025
% of POS % of RSV RSV YoY change Net POS movement
FEMGIE TEEGIE FEERLEK SEPEE
23.4% 12.1%
] | Tier | cities — 4R -13.7% -110
] | Tier Il cities R -17.6% -320
i 5 | Tier Il cities =R -19.5% -194
2.2% 42.3% [ ] | Tier IV cities and others P04 iy 71 &2 E A -21.1% -272

18.7%

1. As an initiative to better reflect the economic development and strategic significance of cities in
Mainland China, we adopt the city-tier ranking published by Yicai Global. New first-tier cities were

1.

HEGEM R DE N HHE R RIONEES, RORACE IS )BHrNHE
FH B, MM AR MAN RN A RiNH. 526820245 5H 30 B 21K

grouped under Tier |l cities in our analysis. Please refer to the ranking released on 30 May 2024 HE
RSV and POS by operating model
REEENINNETEERETEE
FY2025
% of POS % of RSV RSV YoY change Net POS movement
FEMIGIE FEEGIE FEERLEK SEPEE
| | Self-operated BHE -18.2% -49
[ | | Franchised nosd -15.0% -847
RSV and POS by store format
REHERIANNETEERETER
FY2025
% of POS % of RSV RSV YoY change Net POS movement
FENSIE TEEGLE FEEELEE SEHNFE
[ | [ | Shopping mall il -10.6% -191
| | Department store BHEAQE -18.9% -260
[ | Others HAh -23.7% -445
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With a clear emphasis on improving earnings quality and ensuring
margin resilience, our retail network management remained
focused on sustaining market leadership and enhancing the overall
financial health and resilience of our retail network by maximising

store productivity.

In FY2025, we continued to stay agile and optimised our retail
network strategically. We closed a net of 896 CHOW TAI FOOK
JEWELLERY POS in the Mainland. As at 31 March 2025,
we operated 6,274 CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY POS in the

Mainland, of which approximately 75% were in franchise format.

The optimisation of our POS portfolio has demonstrated its
effectiveness in mitigating the effect of net POS closures during
the financial year, attributable to the improved productivity of
stores opened strategically. We are, therefore, on track to maintain

our market leadership.

Further, our brand transformation delivered clear progress
during the financial year, unveiling four new image stores in the
Mainland. This premium store format, featuring a rebranded image
and redefined retail experience, elevated our brand desirability,
allowed us to offer an improved product mix, and achieve higher
store productivity than the average store during the initial months

post opening.

Higher tier cities showed a stronger performance than lower tier
cities in FY2025, particularly due to the popularity of the fixed-
price products. These encouraging results proved our strategic
decision to roll out new image stores in higher tier cities to capture

the existing demand.

By operating model, franchised stores registered a RSV decline of
15.0%, signifying a better performance than self-operated stores
during the financial year, mainly due to a smaller decline in SSSG

amid a higher proportion of newer stores.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

TENERNEERERBARFIIENXARET, M
HZEREEEEERERENPISEEET], URFR
PEIMHREMAL, 0% ZEEEHEREIFREEE,

2025 TS, HMBERSRTIRETEMBHEE
MK, PR MIFRFSCEB X BHRES S, R
2025 3R 31H, HMENIMEES 6,274 E XK@k E
FTEY, EhR75%ANBE,

RMREE, RMANZTEHEGEX T FAIULGEF
SRR E, ENBEREMRBERREIESH
RIS, EIERPPHRE R MiG®TRI L,

S, MM eRER KA EFERGRSERE, &
WIFRASHIERIE. E S RG0S BIRFE QR T
MEVSHRETREMERNTERE, B 7THMK @0
RIS, WETEZwmBEE, MAEMREEEEAN
REHER—RMIEHEE .

2025 TR 2, BRI MBIREERMARNT, TSR
HEBEREZEW, 5SS AKFHRMNGEERTHME
= AR T B ERORT TR R 5 LME R IR A & SR BRI %= 3o

REEETE Y, MAGENFTEERKYBERE T
15.0%, RIFBREES, ELRNRIEE PIEF MR
PUSIEEEES, LARIEIEHEIERIRE/

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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Ratio of RSV per store to RSV per Same Store by store age
RERISNEEFEEEREEIFEEZILH

160.2%
119.8%
89.3% 90.8% -
78.4% FY2025 RSV per same store:
HK$13.5 million®®
20250 BUF E RS G EE
13.58& B0
Less than 2 years'  2-4 years 4-6 years 6-8 years 8 years or more
DRR2EE! 2F4% 4265 6FE8F 8HFEYIAE
3/2017
or before
POS opening date B J& B Hi 4/2023-3/2025 4/2021-3/2023 4/2019-3/2021 4/2017-3/2019  3/2017 ¢ LAHi Total 485t
POS ZEEL 759 2,358 636 1,371 6,274
% of POS FEBL{4LL 12.1% 37.6% 18.3% 10.1% 21.9% 100.0%

. For POS of age less than 1 year, RSV is adjusted on an annualised basis
. Value-added tax ("VAT") included

. Self-operated and franchised POS included for same store calculation

The progressive and healthy ramp up of our newer stores in the
Mainland in FY2025 strengthened the resilience and stability of
our store network. The average RSV for stores aged less than two
years was approximately 89% of overall Mainland RSV per Same

Store, marking the highest level in recent years.

Furthermore, stores less than two years old achieved an average
monthly sales slightly above HK$1.0 million in FY2025, reflecting a
notable improvement from the HK$0.9 million generated by stores
in FY2024 of the same age, driven by our selective store expansion
strategy. This approximately doubled the monthly sales of those
underperforming stores that were closed during the financial year
on average. The optimised POS portfolio has proven effective in

mitigating the effect of net POS closures.

Annual Report 2025
2025 F 1R

IERARVENZEH 2 TEEGERIERE

. BIEBER

F/SstEEIBEEERNET SR

2025 A E, BTN Feen G4 2R HiEEg
R, & 7HMMEESHIMENRBE S, [58AEM
FHEHFEAZEEAMGNINEERESEEL89%,
s FRNEERF,

b oh, 2025 T EUAF 2, B (P58 £22 1 Mt #E 4T P95 #R 3R 2R
ig, WEERAEMFHPISRETEEGHHERHES
R1LOB®EBIT, B 2024 WEFE R EEPEN0.9
BEBITRERTT. ISR S EEEARMK®
BRXEPEFEERWME, BEEXPIEEEATUDERN
RS EIRE,
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Average quarterly sales’

THIFEHER"

HK$ million

BEET

1.

56

35.1%

19.6%

Q 2Q 3Q 4Q

Self-operated and franchised POS included for same store calculation; FY2024 data on FY2025 same
store basis

Despite the number of store closures increased in 2HFY2025,
SSS contribution stayed resilient in the period and accounted
for approximately 58% of annual SSS. This contribution was at
the higher end of expected seasonality under normal course of
business and exceeded the percentage achieved in 2HFY2024,
highlighting the overall effectiveness of our store optimisation
efforts.

The fourth quarter of our financial year, our peak season as
driven by festive occasions such as Chinese New Year and
Valentine's Day, usually accounts for the highest quarterly SSS
contribution in the year.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

1.

—@— FY2024 quarterly SSS
contribution to annual SSS
20248 UAF B 25 2 6] i K ES R Y
FRE RIS IHE TN E M

—&— FY2025 quarterly SSS
contribution to annual SSS
202551 B £F [ 2= [6] i A B B T
FREREEHEFRNE M

B Y2024 average quarterly SSS
202401 U BT T EREHE

B FY2025 average quarterly SSS
202501 AR P EI RS IHE

EEstEEEEERMBETER ; 2024 B E HIE X 2025 I F E B /52 1ESHE

BE 2025 TFE T+ FHIMIEHBEEN, BZH
BEIESHERE MR FIEE, AEFER/SEHEEHN
58%, EMMLERFEHEB T IRMEH TR SICE,
M 2024 T E T HFMTERIFIE L, SRR T R
18 1.PJE HE e B R B Y o

AP BT I 2 ) 5 P 2= 2 00 5 R JE R AF % 1B A B 5 B BB
By SUEHRMHAE®RIF, FTERGEHRESHKER R

EFERS.

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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HONG KONG & MACAU OF CHINA AND
OTHER MARKETS

B A AR S At T

Revenue &
Revenue by operation model *
REEEREINMNERE *
HK$ million YoY
BEBT change
Eilin:114
20,000 19,015
15,101 -20.6%
15,000
13,061
12,006
10,466
10,000 8%
820% -23.8%
84.2% 88.5%
87.2%
5,000
8% 15.8% 1.5% 14.6% 180% -1.9%
0
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

In Hong Kong, Macau and other markets, our retail revenue
represents sales from self-operated POS, e-commerce and other
direct channels, while wholesale revenue represents sales to

franchisees, sales to retailers and sales from jewellery trading.

Retail and wholesale revenue declined 23.8% and 1.9% respectively
in FY2025 amid the uncertain macro-economic externalities, the
impact from the local outbound travel in Hong Kong and the change
in spending patterns and preferences among Mainland tourists.
The lower decline in the wholesale revenue was primarily driven by
jewellery trading which exceeded HK$950 million in 2HFY2025.

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIANBILLFE
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M Retail
FE
Wholesale
i3

HMREE. RMEREMTGENTEERFAEEES
B, SFERREMERRENHER, mMitEgx
BAERNERERTERHEERRREKEZ Z K
HET,

2025 TS, BRABEEINBEEAHABA. TEMH
RIMNEMRE, URARSHEREINSFES, T
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SSSG

SSSG of major products
SEREISHERR
101.1% 104.3%

89.0%

[ 5 5 85 3 =

Same store ASP

RS FHER
FY2025

Gem-set jewellery

BREEERERE AT

HK$16,500

(FY2024': HK$16,800)

33.7%

16.6% /\'5'3%

Gold jewellery and products

ExEMRER

HK$8,900

(FY2024": HK$8,200)

—— \.“iﬁ—//// )
-4.3% ® —°
~27.2% -33.0% -36.3% -36.2% ~261%
—&— Gem-set, Platinum and
K-gold jewellery
BRETIEIR. R RKEEM
—8— Gold jewellery
1Q 20 3Q 4Q 1Q 20 3Q 4Q and products
FY2024 FY2025 EEERER
FY2025
SSS volume
SSSG growth
EIEHERR EIEHEIRR
Gem-set, Platinum and K-gold jewellery BRE R, 0ERKEEM -3.5% -13.1%
Gold jewellery and products BEEMNRED -32.9% -38.4%
Watches Bk -8.5% -27.5%
Overall e -26.1% -34.2%

1. Same Store ASP on FY2025 Same Store basis

58 Management Discussion and Analysis
B ES mEE N T

1. RS FHEELA2025 M BFEHEIEFRELE

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BXBHREREARAE



In Hong Kong and Macau, SSS declined 26.1% in FY2025, driven
mainly by volume decrease while ASP stayed steady. ASP of gold
jewellery and products reached HK$8,900 (FY2024: HK$8,200) in

the financial year.

Despite the impact of macro uncertainties on discretionary

spending, SSS of gem-set, platinum and k-gold jewellery delivered

positive growth in 2HFY2025, thanks to our effective annual sale

and product optimisation initiatives. ASP of gem-set jewellery
was stable at around HK$16,500 in the financial year (FY2024:

2025 E, SBAIRMEEIEHERD261%, £
SEORHESETHRM T RIEEHSIEEMS. NV EF
B, st EhRERITFHEEES 0BT (202481
BFE : 8,200/B7T) o

BERBEAHBEIRYEFLFHE, EEREMER
FFEERHETHNEREBLER, KEHERK. B2 RK
THEHMKEEHER2025WKFE THFEEER,
RUEEE, ZRESEREMNTHEEESFRE, A%
16,500 7T (2024 AT : 16,800 7T) o

HK$16,800).
Profitability B e
Hong Kong & Macau of China and other markets *
hEEE. hERP RS *
33.3%
26.0% 24.8%
22.1%
19.3%
16.4%
14.6%
91% —@— Gross profit margin
kS
5.3% —@— SG&A as a % to revenue
HERITH RS EE REB N
—— Operating profit margin
BRI
2023 2024 2025
1HFY 2HFY
YoY change YoY change
BT A E
i THEF
(HK$ million) (BEET) 1HFY2024 2HFY2024 1HFY2025 2HFY2025 GIEL &1k EILE &1k
Revenue =+ 8,846 10,169 6,377 8,724 -27.9% -14.2%
Gross profit EX 2,145 2,574 2,087 2,936 -2.7% +14.1%
Gross profit margin EFIZE 24.2% 25.3% 32.7% 33.6%  +8.5% pts +8.3% pts
EEAE EERE
Other income BEABIA 71 64 58 48 -19.2% -25.9%
SG&A THE RITERSZ (1,454) (1,664) (1,408) (1,511) -3.2% -9.2%
SG&A as a % to revenue THERITIE R 16.4% 16.4% 22.1% 17.3%  +5.7%pts  +0.9% pts
PG EREE AL EEs% BEERH
Operating profit 762 974 737 1,473 -3.2% +51.1%
Operating profit margin EE R 8.6% 9.6% 11.6% 16.9%  +3.0%pts  +7.3% pts
EE2% BEERH

*For the year ended 31 March
FHEIANHLEFE
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In FY2025 for Hong Kong, Macau and other markets, gross profit
margin increased to 33.3%, as the improved retail like-for-like
margin resulted from the gold price surge, as well as a higher
contribution of our fixed-price gold products. This more than offset
the negative impact from the higher sale contribution from the

wholesale business.

SG&A ratio increased by 290 basis points to 19.3% due to the

decline in revenue.

Fixed nature expenses contributed approximately 70% to SG&A
expenses in FY2025 (FY2024: approximately 65%).

Operating profit rose by 27.3% to reach HK$2,210 million in
FY2025. Its corresponding margin was up 550 basis points to

14.6%, as a result of an improved gross profit margin.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

2025 E, g, RPIRAEMMIGHEMNE LAE
333%, TEHRESBEEASETEEZRENEEM
NEUREBEEEZnBMIET. 5 INEHAL R
HETRIBNNaEZE,

BREFRFRD, HERTHMSZER EF290@%F
£19.3%0

2025TEFE, BIEM BRI IGHE RITEEFE70%
(2024 T E : £165%) o

2025 T E, EEEA EFH27.3%E2,2108 8B 7T,
ZERENZRNE, HBEEN R EFAS0EEFE
14.6%o

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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SG&A

SG&A to revenue ratio *

HERTHMZIGEREALLSE *

B S AT BB 5

HK$ million
B&EET
2% N —&— As a % of respective revenue
1645 19.3% Yoy TGRS S E A
C change Bl Staff costs and related expenses
EILEE L BT R B
Ml Concessionaire fees
3118 HIES Y
3000 2,884 2,918 -6.4%
' [l Rental expenses
TR
5 [l Depreciation and amortisation
10.2% 7.6% 9.4% -2.6% (Right-of-use assets, "ROUA")
2,000 TEREHE (EHAREE)
Il Depreciation and amortisation
01% 0.1% 0.1% +19.7% (Property, plant and equipment)
’ HrEE R s (VISR FS Reax i)
4.6% 3.6% 4.3% -5.5% L .
I Advertising and promotion expenses
1,000 EEREFERX
1.5% 0.9% 11% -8.3%
11% 1.0% 11% -14.3% [l Packaging materials
o 04% o 03% 0.3% -16.9% BLEE
4.0% 2.8% 3.0% -14.0% | Other SG&A
0 HAth#H & RITHRZ
2023 2024 2025
Hong Kong and Macau of China hEEERPEIREM
Staff costs and related expenses *
& T RN R AE BB X * FY2025
HK$ million
EEET Average number
of employees’ YoY change
11.2% 10.9% THETHE' [Eilid-304
o7 2480 -3.1%
change / :
B304
1,500
1,302 1,266 -2.8%
1,190
1000 36.2% 26.7% -28.1%
' 35.2%
—@— As a % of respective revenue
PGB EREE AL
500 o o o Ml Variable staff costs
56.9% 56.5% 66.7% +14.7% EE S T AR
Il Fixed staff costs
BlE 8 TR
I Other staff related expenses ?
0 7.8% 7.3% 6.6% -12.4% Hitha TiERIRI % 2
2023 2024 2025
1. Employees in production function excluded 1. ABELEESMNST
2. Other staff related expenses mainly included staff messing, medical care, educational 2. HhETEMMAZISOEETIERRN. BEENYEEES

expenses, etc.

*For the year ended 31 March
*HEIANHLLEFE

Annual Report 2025
2025 F 1R

Performance Review

ESUIEI

61



Staff costs and related expenses were down by 2.8% in FY2025.
Staff costs and related expenses ratio increased 220 basis points

to 10.9%, attributable to the decline in respective revenue.

+ Fixed staff costs increased 14.7% year-on-year, mainly due to
revisions in staff remuneration packages to attract and retain
talent and key strategic hires essential for driving sustainable
business growth. The adjustment to the remuneration packages
coupled with sales decline resulted in a 28.1% reduction in the

variable component.

Lease-related expenses ™

2025 E, BT NRMERBSZ TEK2.8%. HRE
PSRBT, BT ARKRIBEBSZE G _EFH 220 E25
FZE10.9%,

BIEETIAKRLIEN147%, EERHRRRSIRZIEER
AATESTE THBTE, LARAEEREFEL &M
TEHNES RSB, HUFEMNRAEN LHERK
TREXZENEB IR 28.1%,

THE 8BRSz ™
HK$ million
BEEBT
5.1% %
N 5.0% YoY
W change
Elid-414
1,000
662
629 -5.0%
574
25.1%
500 30.1% 37.2% —8— As a % of respective revenue
PTG EREE AL
Bl Rental expenses
HEMX
70.1%
67.4% 58.8% Ml Depreciation and amortisation (ROUA)
HTER I (EAREE)
[l Finance costs on leases
0 2.6% 4.0% 4.8% FH & /Y& Ry K
2023 2024 2025

Under IFRS 16 - leases, depreciation and amortisation (ROUA) and finance costs on leases replace the
majority of rental expenses and therefore we combined these three elements for the analysis of lease-
related expenses

In FY2025, the variable rental expenses decreased as a result of
the decline in revenue. This led to a 5.0% drop in lease-related
expenses. Lease-related expenses ratio increased by 90 basis
points to 5.0% during the financial year as the respective revenue
dropped.

*For the year ended 31 March
CHEIABILFE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BT AT

IRIREIPR RIS 3R 5 MR SE 160 5% - FBE, ITE e (RAREE) RIBERE N REX
BAMERMS, HMAMLH=EEESH, NETHEBRMZZ AT

2025 T 2, BB TRLIFHEEMZRNY EF
HAHEBRMAS TEL5.0%, INWEREN, HRIBRE
FEATRK, HMEBRMSIIEZR T 90 @R FE5.0%,
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POS network FAEDL A &%

=]
POS movement by store brand' — Hong Kong & Macau of China and other markets

REHREESNFERES - PEFE. PERMRAEMTIR

During FY2025

31.3.2023 31.3.2024 2025 I EEE 31.3.2025
Total Total Addition Reduction Net Total
As at iy st #ast 180 R R IR a5t
CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY R XigbkE 135 145 1" (7) 4 149
Hong Kong, China PEEE 66 68 2 (1) 1 69
Macau, China o & )5 Y 19 19 1 (2) (1) 18
Other markets Hithmits 50 58 8 (4) 4 62
HEARTS ON FIRE HEARTS ON FIRE 10 10 1 (3) (2) 8
1. SIS and CIS excluded 1. AEEERERENESE
RSV analysis FEAE ST
Hong Kong & Macau of China and other markets hEEE. PERMAREMTE
RSV by product
EERISNEFEE
6.2%
RSV YoY change
FY2024  FY2025 FEERLENK
[ | | ] Gem-set, Platinum and REER. ek -0.7%
K-gold jewellery KE B
[ ] [ | Gold jewellery and products =ETEMEERD -30.7%
| ] Watches Bk -10.5%
Overall Rpe -24.9%
RSV of gem-set, platinum and K-gold jewellery
RERiX. HERKEEHNZTEE
% of RSV FEEIGT FY2024 FY2025
Diamond jewellery BaEih 64.4% 70.2%
Other gem-set jewellery HithprE R E 20.2% 16.4%
Platinum and K-gold jewellery HERKE B 15.4% 13.4%
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RSV of gold jewellery and products

ETEMRERFNZEE
% of RSV FEEGLE FY2024 FY2025
Weight-based gold products SIEEEER 84.7% 76.2%
Fixed-price gold products EEEEER 9.7% 18.6%
Bullions EHL/ E% 5.6% 5.2%
RSV and POS by geography
EimESSNEEERTERS
67.5% FY2025
% of POS % of RSV RSV YoY change Net POS movement
TENGIE TEAEGL TEMERLLEEL TEFET
[ | [ ] Hong Kong, China PEEE -19.6% +2
[ | [ ] Macau, China o [0 50 PY -35.6% -1
| Other markets Hithhi &5 -32.0% +1

17.8%

64

RSV in Hong Kong, Macau and other markets was down 24.9% in
FY2025 due to macro-economic externalities and high gold price
volatility. The Hong Kong and Macau markets were also impacted
by the rise in local outbound travel in Hong Kong and the change
in spending patterns and preferences among Mainland tourists,
leading to RSV decline of 19.6% and 35.6% respectively in the

financial year.

During the financial year, we continued to monitor business
developments to ensure margin resilience. We maintained a total
of 87 CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY POS in Hong Kong and Macau
as at 31 March 2025, positioning us favourably to drive quality

earnings growth.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

BREEEREIISBRRNESEBKIBRE, 2025
FETEB. BMMNEMEHBEHZTEETER249%, T
FRPIMIGINE 2 & B R I B0 LA K A ik E H &
RONMEFEBEMEE, EMMRFEANFNZEED A
TEX19.6% K2 35.6%.

T, BT EBRT AR, IUERE T
BIENME, 20256 3A31H, HIMESEBRIEPIHLRS7
BREXEHREZER, AR MEIFEENANER,

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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Meanwhile, the e-commerce channel enables us to complement
and further enhance the omni-channel shopping experience.
E-commerce RSV grew by approximately 91% in Hong Kong and
Macau in FY2025, driven by the customers' positive reception
to our revamped brand website and successful launch of key IP

collections.

RSV of other markets was down 32.0% in FY2025, primarily
attributable to the soft performance of duty-free shops in China.
Excluding these stores, RSV of CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY grew
by 9.4% year-on-year during the financial year, driven mainly by
activities in Singapore, Malaysia and Thailand.

In other markets, we optimised the store locations during the
financial year. We opened a net of 3 CHOW TAI FOOK JEWELLERY
POS (excluding China duty free) in Thailand, Malaysia and Japan.

With these encouraging results and as part of our broader brand
transformation journey, we are embarking on a dynamic phase
of international growth driven by our two-pronged strategy. This
focuses on revitalising key existing markets as well as expanding
our presence in high-potential new territories for sustainable

growth.

In existing markets, we continue to enhance the retail experience
by upgrading and relocating stores. For instance, we will unveil
new image stores in Singapore and Canada in FY2026, while a
broader programme of store upgrading is underway. Also, we are
optimising merchandising, focusing on high-value customers to
enhance store productivity, all the while cultivating talent to drive

retail excellence in the period ahead.

At the same time, we are set to kick off our strategic expansion in
high-growth markets and prime locations. We are initially targeting

Southeast Asia markets and potentially growing beyond Asia.
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Hong Kong and Macau of China

Average quarterly sales'

EIEEHER"
HK$ million
BEBT
29.3%
25.2% 26.8%
ﬁ;::::j;7f4ﬁd:::::3
235% 2% 251%
20.4%
51.9

1.

66

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q

Self-operated and franchised POS included for same store calculation; FY2024 data on FY2025 same
store basis

The third quarter of our financial year, being the peak season for
the industry as driven by Christmas, typically accounts for the
highest quarterly SSS contribution in the year for the Hong Kong

and Macau market.

2HFY2025 contributed approximately 56% to annual SSS, resuming
the expected seasonality under the normal course of business. In
contrast, the seasonality in FY2024 was slightly influenced by the
inbound visits from Mainland tourists and pent-up bridal demand
following the lift of pandemic related measures in the fourth
quarter of FY2023.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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th B & 8 Kz th B iR P

—&— FY2024 quarterly SSS
contribution to annual SSS
202451 B £ [ 2= FE [m] s B B B T
FREREEHE RN S

—®— FY2025 quarterly SSS
contribution to annual SSS
20258 LA & 25 2 (6] i 3 B B
[R5 & 2R =

B FY2024 average quarterly SSS
20240 BT HFERISHE

B FY2025 average quarterly SSS
20250 U4F E T E RIS #H &

FEStEEEEE RMETER ; 2024 1B E 88X 2025 BT EF E B £ 1HESHE

FMAEFENSE =FEEEEHE, BRAERIZE,
HEHPMETBEREMMENEZEERIEHETMEE AL

FREo

2025 TR B T+ FHFERIEHERTMA 56%, Mk
EEBERTNEAEEMIRE, 8L T, 2024 K
FENZFE SR MZ R 2023 B BUF E 5 M0 E @B
& 518 E 15 R A ith ik & 508 A0 A JBR B U8 B8 3R SRR AP
=9

V&S o

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BXBHREREARAE



OTHER FINANCIAL REVIEW
SRR

Other income, other gains and losses and other expenses HABA - HAB g B s 15 LA B oAt BA S

2023 2024 2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million YoY change
For the year ended 31 March HEIANBALEE BEERT BEERT BEET G]4-304
Other income EABUIA 733 690 782 +13.4%
Other gains and losses HAMIG 7= K2 &5 18 (1,864) (4,088) (6,275) +53.5%
Other expenses HLFsZ (88) (74) (54) -28.0%
Other income mainly comprises government grants received in - B EE 0 E R D E ALK B 1S 00 EUR 4 G
Mainland China and Hong Kong, commission income, other income EHOWA L RENDHEEFIE MU A R BRI RBA.
received from franchisees and other interest income.
Other gains and losses mainly represented a fair value loss of - HAthE K i E BB R SR 2025 BIE E N FF &M
gold loan of HK$6,180 million (FY2024: HK$3,757 million) arising FMEMEEEENQAREBIRS180BEBIT (20241
from continued gold price surge during FY2025 and a net foreign KEE : 37578 &BT) LARKE AR &M ZE LK E
exchange loss of HK$5 million (FY2025: HK$289 million) due to WREIESEEBIT Q04 MKBFE : 2898&EBEIT) o
the depreciation of the RMB.
Other expenses mainly represented donations of HK$37 million - HihFZES/IBANI7TEEBIT 024WHFE : 348
(FY2024: HK$34 million) and the amortisation of other intangible Bl MEMEBEEE#E17EEBIT (2024 T KHF
assets of HK$17 million (FY2024: HK$40 million). E . 4088ET) o
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Interest income, finance costs and taxation FI B . & sAS S IH

2023 2024 2025

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million YoY change
For the year ended 31 March HEIAMNHILEE BE#ER BEET BE#ER 524314
Interest income from banks RITARBULA 228 183 114 -38.0%
Finance costs on bank borrowings IRITE FNRLE AY 7K (294) (297) (202) -32.0%
Finance costs on gold loans HEEERMERN K (252) (357) (342) -4.3%
Finance costs on lease liabilities THE & &RE YR (39) (51) (49) -3.0%
Taxation g (1,957) (2,121) (1,928) -9.1%

Interest income from banks decreased by 38.0%, mainly due to a - 2025 E, TEHERBEBMAFERIRTENRLS

relatively lower average bank deposit balance during FY2025. Bk, SERITAIRUIARL 38.0%,

Finance costs on bank borrowings decreased 32.0%, aided by © 2025 E, FEIRTHIIRTTEMA =T KR8 #
a decrease in the average bank borrowing interest rate and a BREOFEAIRITTERGER, RITENORE /Y 7K e >
relatively lower average bank borrowings balance during FY2025. 32.0%0

Finance costs on gold loans decreased 4.3% in FY2025, resulting - 2025PTMIFE, BREEMENIED 4.3%, MR
from a relatively lower average of outstanding gold loans during FERRERFHETEEEEERETKE,
the financial year.

68  Management Discussion and Analysis Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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Return on equity JBCAS [] i %2
We use return on equity ("ROE") to measure the efficiency of - P ARARD R G B 8 SRR TR T B R 5

generating profits from each unit of shareholder equity. VES

ROE reached 21.9% in FY2025 which represented a sustained -+ 2025 WA B RIRR IR B3R 2 E 21.9%, BiE A T FHE
improvement against our 5-year historical average of 18.4%. SEEEIRFI8 A% E N E, FIBANELFAE6T%, M
Net profit margin increased to 6.7% while the equity multiplier R 1B SR T BR, HFS 7N 6 B R B IBUEE 2 N PR A BT A A
decreased as the Group lowered financial leverage to strengthen 12, DA sEfnr, TaNEErESRE A EE
financial health and effectively manage associated risk against PERRT S BT E B

macro uncertainty during the financial year.

Net profit Bzl

ROE = -2.8% pts EIE 7Y Bl
% 7% [o] $R 22 Total equity IEZ 45 (FY2024: 24.7%)
Net profit margin 3 iz Fl| 2= Assets turnover & 7 [F 2 Equity multiplier 1 % f& 8
(FY2024: 6.1%) (FY2024: 1.2 times f&) (FY2024: 3.3 times f&)

T T T

Net profit iFigFl Revenue & %8 Total assets & E
Revenue E¥ & Total assets & &E Total equity IE& A8
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Inventory balances and turnover period
Inventory balances by product ™

RERIISHNEFEER™

HK$ million
EE3i: % YoY
change
Elin=3i4
70,000 64,593
59,172
60,000 55,368 -14.3%
50,000 44.6%
53.7%
48.6% -6.7%
40,000 67%
30,000
. M Gem-set, Platinum and K-gold jewellery
20,000 52.7% BRITIRIR. HERKEEM
43.5% 48.5% -21.1% Ml Gold jewellery and products
10,000 HEEMRER
I Watches
0 2.8% 2.6% 2.9% -6.3% W
2023 2024 2025
1. Packaging materials excluded 1. ABEEEME
Inventory turnover period by category *
EEAMERNFERER >
Day
X YoY
change
Elin=3i4
350
° 320 +34 daysX
300
300 286
250
236
200 5 +15 daysX
221
150
100
Finished goods
n g
Ry o
50 75 65 84 +19 daysX s
M Raw materials
0 BRI
2023 2024 2025

2.

Being inventory balances, excluding packaging materials, at the end of the reporting period divided by
cost of goods sold for the year, multiplied by 365 or 366

Inventory balances, excluding packaging materials, decreased by
14.3% to HK$55,368 million as at 31 March 2025, thanks to our
prudent inventory management.

Due to weak sales of weight-based gold products and gem-set
jewellery, inventory turnover period grew by 34 days compared
to FY2024. However, it improved significantly from 457 days in
THFY2025.

As at 31 March 2025, approximately HK$11,467 million or 20.7%
of our total inventory balances were held by franchised POS (31
March 2024: approximately HK$16,535 million or 25.6% were held
by franchised POS).

If the inventory balances held by franchisees were excluded,
inventory turnover period in FY2025 would be reduced to 254
days (FY2024: 213 days).

2.

BNEREHRTT EASAR (CREUE BLAYIE) PRIASEEHES K, FISRIA 36581 366

TERBRNTEEE, FEGHR (FRERENMH) K
20259 3 H 31 H Tk 14.3% £ 55,368 BE BT,

HRFHEESERAEEROMESRKRS, FTEEAEHN
B2024 MBI FEIBAN34K, HERHE 2025 T KFE L4
FH 457 XA KBRS,

R2025%3H31TH, NEZELFERMBTELSHN
1,467 B E BTN 20.7% (2024438310 : NIBETEL,
FFHE#116,535 8B IToY 25.6%) o

WERMEEEFENTFEEN, 2025 MKFEENFEEE
HI® THZE 254 K Q024 EESE : 213K) o

*For the year ended 31 March
*HEIANHILLEE
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Capital structure

Increase

% to % to (decrease)
31.3.2024 total equity 31.3.2025 total equity 1810 (iR2>) Denominated Interest rate
HK$ million GIEHMAE HK$ million IGEHAE HK$ million currency’ structure’
As at i BE#ET Bt BEET Bl BEET SHEER" R=RE"
Non-current assets ERENE E 9,637 36.0% 9,251 33.8% (386) N/AAREA N/A AEH
Inventories e 64,647 241.7% 55,417 202.3% (9,230) N/A RiEAH N/A RiEA
Bank deposits and RITEARIES 7,695 28.8% 7,582 27.7% (13) Mainly Mainly
cash equivalents? B2 HKD, RMB variable
and USD interest
TE% rate
HBIT TER
AR¥R FBNR

ESST

Total borrowings mEme 28,624 107.1% 19,692 71.9% (8,932)
Bank borrowings RITER 4,136 15.5% 3,825 14.0% (31) HKD and Fixed and
RMB variable
BT interest
AR rate
EE &
EFBNR
Gold loans =EEBE 24,488 91.6% 15,867 57.9% (8,621) RMB and Fixed
usD interest
NG rate
ESST (& E Rl ==
Net debt* EERERECR 20,928 78.2% 12,109 44.2% (8,819) N/A RNiEH N/A RiEMA
Working capital ® EEEg® 21,662 81.0% 19,146 69.9% (2,516) N/A XNiEH N/A ANE A
Total equity EmARER 26,746 100.0% 27,393 100.0% 648 N/A LA N/A REA

1. Information about denominated currency and interest rate structure related to the condition as at 31

March 2025

ok wN

Being net current assets

Annual Report 2025
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Bank balances and cash and short-term bank deposits included

As at 31 March 2025, all the bank borrowings and the gold loans would be matured within 12 months
Aggregate of bank borrowings, gold loans, net of bank deposits and cash equivalents

1. ARGHEEBRAEEENENR 202543 A 31 BHER

o

BUBIRITAE 8RR I8 & R SR BRARTT
R202543A 318, MARITEREESEEM12MEANEY
RITER, BREEZAR ORRTERRIESSHEN)

EN B E P
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72

We principally meet our working capital and other liquidity
requirements through a combination of capital contributions,
including cash flows from operations, bank borrowings and gold
loans. Gold loans are also used for economic hedge purposes to
mitigate the financial impact of price fluctuations in the Group's
gold inventories.

The Group's daily operation was mainly financed by operating cash
flows, and relied on short-term borrowings to satisfy inventory
financing needs during peak seasons, working capital for future
expansion plans and unexpected needs. The Group has not

experienced any difficulties in repaying its borrowings.

The Group's income and expenditure were mostly denominated
in HKD and RMB, while its assets and liabilities were mostly
denominated in HKD, RMB and USD. No hedging instrument is
deployed against the RMB fluctuation as most of the daily receipts
and payments for our Mainland China operations are both made
in RMB, which do not pose a substantive currency exposure to our
business.

It is our treasury policy to maintain high liquidity in response to
the requirement of operating cash flows; and to maintain financial
prudence by not engaging in highly leveraged or speculative
derivative products.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRESME T

B ETSERRBEER
FIERRIREMEEER
ETTOR PR AE 388 B2 B B9 LA
IR .

TRE. RITERREERHBE
REMRHNEEF N, @kfE
MEREEEE T SERKE

REBMHERBMEESTIIREEEHERE, TE
iEiifeEmEEE=RKFEESFR R, REHERESHE
PTREEEERIAST ZIM MR R, REERERERT
D 1 2 1 o] [ 8

REBMZWARMSZEEZUNBTRARESE, MEE
RBERIESLEIT. ARBRETSHE, BRFEM D
EAMBERBFEENBSZIAZSUAARBGE, HHM
FIsRB RSN EXMEE @R, HmREHHARE
IRENEN AR EEID TR,

P EHBEREERGRSHRBES, LIEMEE
HEREBNFER ; BIFETERNMBER, B#RIPR
EER R EITE E o
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Effect of RMB fluctuation

As part of our business operation is in Mainland China, the

fluctuation in RMB would have some impact on our performance.

Transactions entered by the Hong Kong entities but denominated
in RMB, including the inter-group transactions with the Mainland
China subsidiaries, are converted into HKD, the presentation
currency of the Group, initially using the spot rate at the date of
transaction and any unsettled transactions are retranslated at the
closing exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Such translation
differences between the spot rate and closing exchange rate are
recognised as profit or loss, negatively affecting our profit for the

year when RMB depreciated.

Exchange difference also arises when i) incomes and expenses
of the Mainland China segment are translated into HKD, the
presentation currency of the Group, at the average exchange rate,
while the corresponding assets and liabilities are translated at
closing exchange rate and ii) the change in closing exchange rates
at the current financial year of the net assets of the Mainland
China segment from the closing rates at the previous financial

year. Such differences are recognised in the translation reserve in
equity.

The table below illustrates the fluctuation of RMB and the impact

on our financial performance:

J\Eﬁ%‘{ﬂi%ﬂﬂ’]?ﬁ%

BREMASAFRBEDEAMES, ARBHIRENH
FPHREBNE TRE,

Eé YEIAARBESHENRZ 7 (BL1E B h B A B E 2

ETHRERRZ) ERIZERANRE BERTREG
%n,%mﬁﬁmiﬁfm MEMRGEEHZZNG
NEMERRGEHEMRE, REERRICHEZRY
BREZRRIBEDERDPHES, MARBRZESHAMEIEF
NGRS B E R &,

MEoh, BERZERIRA ) o B A 7Y 8F B U ST 15 T 18] [ %
BERET, RKEEIER, MEENEERER
R ERRE ; Kii) hEA S8 & Z B ER AT
LA 2 S T 2 3 1080 R I 2 ) ST B 2275 T o
A = RIS B B 1R F R N AR

TERAATIRAREIREN AR EET PR RENR

R }EI
KN
I

FY2025 Closing exchange rate YoY change Average exchange rate YoY change
IS i1 EE 2 e R 42 1K FEEIELRE LS
RMB to HKD
AR ET
2024 2025
Constant Constant
exchange exchange
As reported rate basis As reported rate basis
R HEERE
For the year ended 31 March HEIAMHILEE FiF £ R EEH FF £ EEHHE
Revenue YoY change ERBELLE L +14.8% +18.5% -17.5% -16.8%
Operating profit YoY change EE N B e +37.7% +42.3% +9.8% +10.7%
Changes in inventory balances FEHBREN +9.0% +11.4% -14.3% -13.1%
Changes in bank deposits and cash equivalents R{TIFMRZIFEEFEEL -34.4% -31.9% -1.5% -0.2%
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Cash flows and others

2023 2024 2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
For the year ended 31 March H#EIHMHLEE BERER BEET BEREx
Operating cash flows before movements EEETEHIFIZEERERE 1,619 15,491 16,717
in working capital
Leases paid’ EMEE" (953) (893) (912)
Net cash (used in) from inventories? 78 (FhF) niSIREFE? (5,052) (6,910) 8,329
Net cash from (used in) other operating Eﬂﬂ%&i.’*}%é}]ﬁﬁ (FTH) REF8H 3,794 (1,742) (2,800)
activities
Capital expenditure B (1,982) (963) (578)
Pro forma free cash flows FEEEHRERRE 7,426 4,983 20,756
Net change in bank borrowings IRITERIFEH (3,216) (1,749) (285)
Net change in gold loans BEEEIFEH (1,252) 6,081 (15,019)
Dividends paid BT E (5,079) (12,538) (5,114)
Other movements EL{h s F) (1,126) (777) (451)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBREFEMRLIEHE (3,247) (4,000) (113)

Major cash flows items for FY2025
2025 FEFEREREIRE

HKS$ million
BEET

Pro forma free cash flows & BHRE RS

20,756
|

34,000 8,329

32,000

30,000 16,717

26,000
912

22,000
18,000
14,000
10,000 7,695
6,000

2,000

2,800

578

285

15,019 l

514 451

7,582

As at iR
31.3.2024

1. With adoption of IFRS 16, leases paid was included in financing

2. Net cash (used in) from inventories excluded net drawdown/repayment of gold loans

74 Management Discussion and Analysis
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activities

As at 12
31.3.2025

Operating cash flows
before movements in
work|ng capital

gapizEE

RERE

Leases paid'
EffEE"

Net cash from
inventories 2
FHEARREEER?

Net cash used in other
operatlng activities
Hithi & FEN AR PR

Capital expenditure
RN

Net repayment in bank
borrowings

RITHRIFEIE

Net repayment in gold loans
BREHFEE

Dividends paid
ERE

Other movements
Himgs)

1. PRNEIFRRIFSIRS RIS 16 9518, BT AREIEE
2. FHE (M) SR FHEAFESEENRR/ H8PH

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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Capital expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure incurred during FY2025 amounted
to HK$578 million (FY2024: HK$963 million).

Capital expenditure by nature *

EEARB L
7RSI 20251 IS EE B IR 32 4 578 B B HE 7T (2024
AIKERE : 963 TEIBTT),

REEB S RE RS *
HK$ million
BEET
1,982
2,000
1,600
1200 74.8%
963
BB Furniture, textures and equipment and
800 leasehold improvements
578 ik, KERREOREMREE
74.9% Ml Land and buildings and construction in
400 progress
21.0% 87.9% TimREFIER TR
23.9% 1.0% Il Plant and machinery and motor vehicles
o 41% 129 11% RS R Mg B A0 B
2023 2024 2025
Capital expenditure by function *
BDIEEEI R & RFSZ *
HK$ million
BEET
1,982
2,000
21.3%
1,600
1,200
963 .
60.4% [ | fﬁrcgects
800 22.0%
578 n P(Z‘S!
54.3% 12.0% FEH
400 = . I Productions
4.8% 56.0% s
4.3% 2.4%
13.5% 9 A [l Offices
0 | ] D B ies

2023 2024 2025

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Details of the Group's capital commitment as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

*For the year ended 31 March
FHEIANBLEE
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BEEREREEASH

E = =1 X B >~ FIEﬂ )|
Executive Directors $l{TE$E Responsibilities B &

1 Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry ¥, GBM, GBS (Chairman) @@@ Strategic direction and overall performance of the Group
HBSRALIE L7 (GBM, GBS) (E %) REEBEHIRIE T HH AN RERE R IR

2 Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy * (Vice-chairman) @@ Strategic direction, performance and corporate transformation of the Group
BT (BIER) REBREEFIE. RENEHELE

3 Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia* (Vice-chairman) @@ Strategic direction, performance and corporate transformation of the Group
BEZULT (BIER) IRERERBEFIE. RIFAERE

4 Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent (Managing Director) @@ Overall corporate management, strategy and operations of the Group
=RESE (EBRIEE) REEEBEHEEE, HIENEE

5 Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson * Bank and landlord relationship management
WIREAEE" IRITAIRERARER

6 Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton @ Capital management strategy, investor relations and company secretary
EPIR RS responsibilities

BREHERE. REBEENQTIWSER

7 Mr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter Business in Hong Kong and Macau of China
YL pve o E & AN O B R P B SR A

8 Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby Development of individual brands, ENZO and MONOLOGUE, and watch
BiRAfkE business in Mainland China

&1 G2 h% ENZO A0 MONOLOGUE Kz th B A 1 §3 R S 73 00 35 /@

Independent Non-executive Directors BILIEFITEE Responsibilities B &
9 Mr. Kwong Che-Keung, Gordon @@ Independent Non-executive Directors ("INED", or "INEDs" in the plural)
ilfotp e serve a significant role in the Board to bring independent judgment
. the performance, development and risk management of the Group.
10 Mr. Lam Kin-Fung, Jeffrey, GBM, GBS, JP onthe p : P 9 P
r- -am Rin-tung, Jetirey @@@ As chairmen or members of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration

252
MEBERILE (GBM, GBS, JP) Committee, Audit Committee and/ or Sustainability Committee, they

11 Dr. Or Ching-Fai, Raymond, SBS, JP @@@ also undertake detailed governance work under the respective terms of
Tl &g+ (SBS, JP) reference of the committees.

12 Ms. Cheng Ka-Lai, Lily QO @ nurnrssraEsenpsTIEE, AARENER. BROM
Wit RERETEIER. FARSSEE. #HS88. ERIEEN/ ¥

13 Mr. Chia Pun-Kok, Herbert, JP
BHRBELE (UP)

14 Ms. Fung Wing-Yee, Sabrina @@

@@@ IHEXRERSEENERFIANE, MPMRESSESHENRSIET
BHEENEIBITE,

Mok Y t
15 Mr. Tang Ying-Cheung, Eric @@
DU e
NC = Nomination Committee member RC = Remuneration Committee member AC = Audit Committee member
RESEENE MMTEENE ERERENE
SC = Sustainability Committee member STC =Strategy and Transformation Committee member *  Committee Chairman
T HERERGNE RN ESATNE SRgEE

#  Four of our directors are family members related to the Company's major shareholders. Apart from them, all other directors of the Company are not related to each other.
MEFEFRERABESRRAMAREN S PRIt 2 9, QB AH{hEE S 2 il B i
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CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry, GBM, GBS
Aged 78, joined the Group in 1971, was appointed as Chairman and an

executive Director in July 2011. He is also a member of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Strategy and
Transformation Committee of the Company. Dr. Henry Cheng is
responsible for the strategic direction and overall performance of

the Group.

Dr. Cheng is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He is
also a director of several substantial shareholders of the Company,
including Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited, Cheng Yu Tung
Family (Holdings Il) Limited and Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited.

In addition, Dr. Cheng is chairman and an executive director of New
World Development Company Limited and CTF Services Limited
(formerly known as NWS Holdings Limited), and also chairman and a
non-executive director of FSE Lifestyle Services Limited and i-CABLE
Communications Limited, all of which are listed public companies in

Hong Kong.

Dr. Cheng is chairman of the Advisory Council for The Better Hong
Kong Foundation. He was a Standing Committee Member of the
Twelfth Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference of the

People's Republic of China.

Dr. Henry Cheng is the father of Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia, an uncle of
Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy and a cousin of Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson.
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IR 4l 1 (GBM, GBS)

RE785, RI971FENMARER, 2011£E7H1§§E?%$

FERAITES, MOERRABREESEE. HFNSETRK

BN EEEENE, BREFELEEREE Bﬂ%mﬂﬁﬁ
R EEREKIR,

BEITRLRESHEMBEASES, MHERAATZEZE
& & 8 Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited. Cheng Yu
Tung Family (Holdings Il) Limited 1 Chow Tai Fook Capital
Limited f1EE S,
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TES, 25 0ATEB EMARASE
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VICE CHAIRMEN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy
Aged 47, joined the Group in 2007, was appointed as an executive

Director in July 2011 and became Vice-chairman and executive
Director in June 2022. Mr. Conroy Cheng is responsible for strategic
direction, performance and corporate transformation of the Group.
He is a member of the Nomination Committee and the Strategy
and Transformation Committee of the Company. Mr. Cheng is also a

director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Cheng has been in the jewellery industry for over 15 years, with
extensive knowledge of the global diamond market. He is currently
a member of the executive committee of the Diamond Federation of

Hong Kong, China and a member of the World Diamond Council.

Mr. Cheng is a non-executive director of New World Development

Company Limited, a listed public company in Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics from The
Western University (formerly known as The University of Western
Ontario). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheng worked at a Hong
Kong-based investment management company as a corporate finance

executive.

Mr. Conroy Cheng is a nephew of Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry and
Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson, and a cousin of Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia.
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Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia
Aged 44, joined the Group in April 2019 as a non-executive Director,

re-designated as an executive Director in April 2021, and became
Vice-chairman and executive Director in June 2022. Ms. Cheng
is responsible for strategic direction, performance and corporate
transformation of the Group. She is a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Strategy and Transformation Committee of the

Company. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Sonia Cheng is the chief executive officer of Rosewood Hotel
Group. She is an executive director of New World Development
Company Limited and a non-executive director of Giordano
International Limited, both of which are listed public companies
in Hong Kong. She is also an independent non-executive director
of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. Ms.
Cheng was an independent director of Primavera Capital Acquisition
Corporation, a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, until

her resignation in December 2022.

Ms. Cheng is a council member of The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and a member of its Committee on Institutional Advancement
and Community Relations as well as a member of The Standing
Committee on Disciplined Services Salaries and Conditions of Service
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. She is also a member
of the Thirteenth Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People's Political Consultative Conference of the People's Republic
of China and the vice-governor of Guangdong Youth Development
Foundation. Ms. Cheng had served as a member of the Hong
Kong Tourism Board and chairman of its Marketing and Business
Development Committee until completion of the term in October
2024; and a member of Human Resources Planning Commission of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region until completion of the term
in December 2024.

Before joining Rosewood Hotel Group, Ms. Cheng worked in a major
international investment bank and a global US private equity firm
specialising in real estate investments. She holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree in Applied Mathematics with a concentration in Economics

from Harvard University.

Ms. Sonia Cheng is the daughter of Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry, a cousin
of Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy and a niece of Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent

Aged 69, joined the Group in 1977, was appointed as Managing
Director of the Company in July 2011. He is responsible for the
Group's overall corporate management, strategy and operations.
He is a member of the Sustainability Committee and the Strategy
and Transformation Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is also a

director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Wong has over 45 years' diverse experience in the jewellery
industry with a proven track record in business development in
China as well as in corporate operations and management. In
October 2024, he was conferred Honorary Fellowship by the
Vocational Training Council in recognition of his exceptional
contributions to the development of vocational and professional
education and training and the community. He has been feted
with the highest accolade of the JNA Awards 2020, the "Lifetime
Achievement Award", for his outstanding lifetime achievements
and contributions to the global jewellery community. He also
received "Extraordinary 40" Awards from Jewellery World Awards
in 2023. Mr. Wong was awarded Director of The Year Awards 2015
by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors in December 2015. He was
ranked the 1 place as the "Best CEQ" by Institutional Investors in
its Asia (Ex-Japan) Executive Team Rankings, Rest of Asia in the
Consumer/ Discretionary sector, combined vote type, from 2021
to 2024; was recognised Best IR by Chairman/ CEO by Hong Kong
Investor Relations Association in 2022 and 2023; and has also
been named as "Asia's Best CEO" by Corporate Governance Asia,
an authoritative regional journal on corporate governance, at its
Asian Excellence Awards in 2023 and 2024.

Mr. Wong is dedicated to giving back to the community and
the industry through his participation in public or non-profit
organisations. He serves as a member of the Fair Organising
Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council for
its Hong Kong International Jewellery Show and Hong Kong
International Diamond, Gem and Pearl Show, a council member
of The Hong Kong Management Association (HKMA) and
chairman of the Advisory Board of HKMA Academy for Innovation
and Management, chairman of the Jewellers' and Goldsmiths'
Association of Hong Kong, chairman of the supervising committee
of the Hong Kong & Kowloon Jewellers' & Goldsmiths' Employees'
Association, a permanent honorary president of the Kowloon Gold
Silver and Jewel Merchants' Staff Association, and a board member
of CIBJO, the World Jewellery Confederation. He is also president
of the executive committee 2024/2026 of Youth Outreach.

Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive director of Crystal
International Group Limited, which is a listed public company in

Hong Kong.
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Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson

Aged 66, joined the Group in 1979, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2011 and re-designated as an executive Director in April
2019. Mr. Wilson Cheng is responsible for the Group's bank and landlord
relationship management. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries

of the Group.

Mr. Cheng is chairman of the supervisory committee of Hong Kong
Gold Exchange. He has over 45 years' experience in administration
and finance in jewellery retail business. He holds a Bachelor of Arts

Degree in Economics from the University of Hawaii, Honolulu.

Mr. Wilson Cheng is a cousin of Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry, and an
uncle of Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy and Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia.

Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton

Aged 50, joined the Group in 2004, was appointed as an executive
Director in July 2011. Mr. Hamilton Cheng is responsible for the
Group's capital management strategy, investor relations and company
secretary responsibilities. Mr. Cheng is a member of the Strategy
and Transformation Committee of the Company. He also serves as
a joint company secretary of the Company and a director of certain

subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor of Business Administration Degree in
Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a Chartered Financial Analyst. He completed The
Prince of Wales's Business & Sustainability Programme designed by
the University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership and
obtained Executive Diploma in Corporate Governance and Sustainability

Directorship from The Hong Kong Institute of Directors in 2018.

Mr. Cheng is currently a council member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors and a member of the Financial Reporting Review Panel of the

Accounting and Financial Reporting Council in Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng was ranked the 1%t place in the "Best CFO" category in
Institutional Investor's Asia (Ex-Japan) Executive Team Rankings,
Rest of Asia in Consumer/ Discretionary sector, combined vote type,
from 2021 to 2024. He was recognised Best IR by CFO by Hong
Kong Investor Relations Association in 2022 and 2023. He has also
been named as "Asia's Best CFO" by Corporate Governance Asia,
an authoritative regional journal on corporate governance, at its
Asian Excellence Awards in 2023 and 2024. Mr. Cheng was awarded
Director of The Year Awards 2015 by The Hong Kong Institute of

Directors in December 2015.
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Mtr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter

Aged 60, joined the Group in 1985, was appointed as an executive
Director in July 2011. Mr. Peter Suen is responsible for the Group's
business in Hong Kong and Macau of China. He is also a director of

certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Suen has been in the jewellery industry for almost 40 years.
He is a member of the Jewellery Advisory Committee of the Hong
Kong Trade Development Council, the executive committee of The
Jewellers' and Goldsmiths' Association of Hong Kong, the executive
committee of the Hong Kong Retail Management Association,
Jewellery Industry Training Advisory Committee of Hong Kong
Qualifications Framework and the committee on fundraising of Youth
Outreach. Mr. Suen holds an Executive Master's Degree in Business

Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby

Aged 50, joined the Group in 1999, was appointed as an executive
Director in January 2016. Mr. Bobby Liu is responsible for the
development of individual brands of the Group, including ENZO and
MONOLOGUE, as well as that of the Group's watch business in
Mainland China. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. Liu has over 25 years of experience in retail business and
operational management. He is a member of the Yantian District
Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference
in Shenzhen, executive committee member of the Shenzhen
Federation of Industry & Commerce and vice chairman of the
Federation of Industry and Commerce of Yantian District, Shenzhen
Municipal, and vice chairman of the council of Shenzhen Performance

Excellence Management Foundation.

Mr. Liu holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from The
Western University (formerly known as The University of Western
Ontario) and a Bachelor of Science Degree in Computer Mathematics
from Carleton University.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Kwong Che-Keung, Gordon

Aged 75, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
in November 2011 and is chairman of the Audit Committee and a

member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Gordon Kwong is a Fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kwong was a Partner of
PriceWaterhouse from 1984 to 1998, an independent member of the
Council of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange from 1992 to 1997, during
which, he had acted as convener of both the Compliance Committee

and the Listing Committee.

Mr. Kwong is an independent non-executive director of Agile Group
Holdings Limited, Henderson Investment Limited, Henderson Land
Development Company Limited, FSE Lifestyle Services Limited and
COSCO Shipping International (Hong Kong) Company Limited, all
of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Piraeus Port Authority SA
(a company listed on the Athens Stock Exchange) and Shanghai
Commercial Bank Limited. Mr. Kwong was an independent non-
executive director of CTF Services Limited (formerly known as NWS
Holdings Limited), a listed public company in Hong Kong, until his

retirement on 21 November 2022.

Annual Report 2025
2025 F 1R

WAL AR AT R
WS RS

RE755, R20NFNAEBSERBUIENTES, Wik
KNG ERECETTFENHFMSETNE,

RS REBHLHENGT M B REBEE
MATERTE., BREMRI1984FE 1998 FRB AR
FEMBHTERA, R1992FF 1997 F M ET BRI
PRAEIIIESE, EEHR, TEEIRREEER ITEEEE
R Ao

BAELEERERLEEITREGRAS. BEREIKBFRAR
NE BEEREAEIMERRAS. SRETFERBFERASIRZP
EBEBER (TE) ARASINEIIFNITES, ZEFANT
BlmEE LM AR A8, INE Piracus Port Authority SA
(MEHEHFZZ EMAE) Rk EEERRITTARSSINE
UFRAITES, BEEBESE LMARABEXERE
BIRAS (AIMEMAIEEKERIRAS) BIIIFNTESE, B
E2022F1MA21HIR1E,

Profile of Directors and Senior Management 85
EEREREBASBN



Mr. Lam Kin-Fung, Jeffrey, GBM, GBS, |P

Aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in
November 2011 and is chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of

the Company.

Mr. Jeffrey Lam is an independent non-executive director of C C Land
Holdings Limited, China Overseas Grand Oceans Group Limited, Wynn
Macau, Limited, CWT International Limited, i-CABLE Communications
Limited, Wing Tai Properties Limited, Analogue Holdings Limited, CSC
Holdings Limited, and Golden Resources Development International
Limited, all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. He was
an executive director of USPACE Technology Group Limited (formerly
known as Hong Kong Aerospace Technology Group Limited), a listed
public company in Hong Kong, until his resignation on 28 November
2023.

Mr. Lam is a non-official member of the Executive Council of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and a member of the
Legislative Council in Hong Kong. He also holds several other public
and community service positions, including being a general committee
member of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a member
of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, an honorary member of the Court of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and a director of the board of
Heifer Hong Kong. Mr. Lam was a member of the National Committee
of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference, and a
director of Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited. Mr. Lam was
awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal by the HKSAR Government in
2023.

Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in Mechanical Engineering from Tufts
University in the United States. He has over 40 years of experience
in the commercial and industrial sectors, including manufacturing,
business promotion, IT development, and investment. He is currently
the managing director of Forward Winsome Industries Limited, which

is engaged in toy manufacturing.
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Dr. Or Ching-Fai, Raymond, SBS, |P

Aged 75, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
in November 2011 and is chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee and Audit Committee

of the Company.

Dr. Raymond Or is also chairman and a non-executive director of
CSC Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive director
of Regina Miracle International (Holdings) Limited and Playmates
Holdings Limited, all of which are listed public companies in Hong
Kong. He is also an independent non-executive director of Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and a non-executive director
of South Asia Knitting Factory Limited.

Dr. Or holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences Degree in Economics and
Psychology from the University of Hong Kong and was awarded
Honorary University Fellow from The University of Hong Kong in 2009.
Dr. Or was awarded an Honorary Doctor of Social Science from the
City University of Hong Kong in 2014 and was conferred Honorary
Fellowship by Hang Seng University of Hong Kong (formerly known as
Hang Seng Management College) in May 2017.

Ms. Cheng Ka-Lai, Lily

Aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
in April 2019 and is a member of the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Sustainability Committee of the

Company.

Ms. Lily Cheng has served in the technology and internet industry for
over 25 years, both as an entrepreneur and as a corporate executive.
She is the founder and an executive director of Hubel Labs Limited, an
Al lab focused on applied Al research, corporate advisory services and
edtech applications. She served as the President of TripAdvisor, APAC
from 2014 to 2016 and held various management roles at TripAdvisor,
Inc. and Expedia, Inc. from 2008 to 2016. She was a management
consultant with The Boston Consulting Group from 2006 to 2008.

Ms. Cheng holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Engineering and a Master
of Engineering Degree from the University of Cambridge and a Graduate

Certificate in Artificial Intelligence from Stanford University.

Ms. Cheng is an independent non-executive director of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited, a listed public company in Hong Kong. She is also
a non-executive member of the Global Council of law firm Herbert
Smith Freehills, LLC. and a member of Mars Petcare Digital Advisory
Board. Ms. Cheng has been an independent non-executive director
of Swire Properties Limited from 17 March 2017 to 7 May 2024; and
Sunevision Holdings Limited from 31 October 2019 to 1 November
2024, both of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Chia Pun-Kok, Herbert, |P

Aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in
April 2021 and is a member of the Nomination Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Sustainability Committee of the Company.

Mr. Chia is an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited, a listed public company in Hong
Kong (appointed on 29 October 2024), a non-official director of
Hong Kong Genome Institute and a senior advisor of Alibaba Cloud
Intelligence (North APAC & SEA Region). He has around 15 years of
practical experience in big data strategy and application with unique
insights into the future trends of e-commerce. He joined Alibaba in
2010 and served as the vice president of Alibaba (China) Co., Ltd. and
the president of data committee. During his tenure with Alibaba, the
data team of Alibaba was awarded "China Excellent IT Team" in the
"Excellent Chinese CIO" selection in 2014. Mr. Herbert Chia was rated
as "China Top 10 Most Influential Big Data Entrepreneurs" by the
State Information Center of China in 2017 and garnered Outstanding
Achievement Award in 2021 Al Golden Goose Awards of China.
He is also a former venture partner of Sequoia Capital China and a
former member of the board of director of Hong Kong Science and

Technology Parks Corporation.

Mr. Chia has been making significant contributions in helping to bring
China's big data industry to a new level and has actively promoted
Hong Kong to become the big data pilot city in The China Greater
Bay Area and The Belt and Road. In Hong Kong, he serves as a co-
opted member of the Information Technology Services Committee of
the Hospital Authority of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
a non-official member of the Education Commission and the Digital
Economy Development Committee and vice president of the Council

of GBA International Information Technology Association.

Mr. Chia is the Adjunct Associate Professor of The University of Hong
Kong (Institute for China Business) and Professor of Practice of the
Hong Kong Management Association. He is also the author of various
best-selling books including The Big Data and The Nature of Big Data.
He holds an Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
Degree from Tsinghua University and an EMBA Degree from the
Institut Européen d' Administration des Affaires (INSEAD).
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Ms. Fung Wing-Yee, Sabrina
Aged 53, has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2022, and is a member of the Nomination

Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Ms. Fung is the group managing director of Fung Retailing Group, a
non-executive director of Convenience Retail Asia Limited, a listed
public company in Hong Kong, and the chief executive officer of Asia
Retail Company Limited, a company of the Fung Group (a Hong Kong-
based multinational group which comprises major operating groups
engaging in trading, logistics, distribution and retailing) focusing on
supporting and growing international brands in Asia. She also serves
as the chair of Wellness Med Limited, a company under the Fung

Group that serves the growing global health and wellness market.

Ms. Fung is also the investment director of Fung Investment
Management Limited. She started working at the private investment
arm of the Fung Group in 2000 as investment manager running the
family's investments. Prior to joining the Fung Group, Ms. Fung worked
for Brown Brothers Harriman & Co in New York and Hong Kong until
1999. Ms. Fung is experienced in the retail industry and had held
positions in marketing and public relations for Salvatore Ferragamo
Asia, as well as in merchandising, sourcing and branding for Li & Fung
Group in Hong Kong and the USA. She was named in the Business of
Fashion 500 in 2016, and Women's Wear Daily 10 of Tomorrow in 2017.

In Hong Kong, Ms. Fung is a member of the Major Sports Events
Committee of HKSAR, a member of the board of Alibaba Hong Kong
Entrepreneurs Fund, an advisor on Retailing and Fashion for NBA
Greater China, a member of the International Advisory Council of the
University of Hong Kong Business School, an honorary member of the
Advisory Committee of the Roger King Center for Asian Family Business
and Family Office at Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
Business School, and the Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong-
Europe Business Council and the Hong Kong-France Business Council
of Hong Kong Trade Development Council, and a governor of the
board of governors of the China-United States Exchange Foundation.
Internationally, Ms. Fung is a member of Mclaren Advisory Group,
Harvard Global Advisory Council, Harvard Kennedy School Dean's
Council and the board of trustees of The Carnegie Hall Corporation in
New York.

Ms. Fung is also an independent non-executive director of China
Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited, which is a listed public company

in Hong Kong.

Ms. Fung graduated from Harvard University, with a Bachelor of
Arts Degree in Economics. She attended Harvard Business School's
Program for Global Leadership and its Business of Entertainment,

Media and Sports program afterwards.
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Mr. Tang Ying-Cheung, Eric
Aged 60, has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2023, and is chairman of the Sustainability

Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Tang has over 35 years of audit and assurance experience, with
clientele covering listed companies in Hong Kong, state owned
enterprises, MNCs and SEC registrants. He has in-depth experience in
consumer business industry and capital market transactions including
initial public offerings, re-organisations, and strategic acquisitions.
Mr. Tang was a Partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 1999 to
2022. He had held different leadership roles during his tenure which
included National Leader of Consumer Business & Transportation
Industry, National Leader of Audit Learning, National Audit Risk
Leader, and National Professional Practice Director, and he had
served as a member of Deloitte China Governing Board. Mr. Tang has
been appointed as an advisor of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu since his

retirement from Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2022.

Mr. Tang is a Fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants; a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants; and a Certified Internal Auditor of the Institute of
Internal Auditors. He is a former member of the Financial Reporting
Review Panel of the Hong Kong Accounting and Financial Reporting

Council.

Mr. Tang holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science in Electronic
Commerce Degree and a Professional Diploma in Professional

Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton

Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton is an executive Director and Joint
Company Secretary. His profile is set out on p.83 of this annual report

under the sub-section of "Executive Directors".

Mr. Lai Sau-Cheong, Simon

Aged 64, joined the Group in 2017, is Joint Company Secretary of the
Group. Mr. Simon Lai is also the Chief Legal Officer of Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited, a subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the

Company.

Mr. Lai is admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong, England and Wales,
and New South Wales, Australia and has over 30 years of experience
in corporate, commercial and related regulatory practice. He was a
long-standing partner and later on, consultant, of a leading law firm
before joining the Group and has extensive experience on corporate
finance matters. Mr. Lai has also served on a number of public

appointments.

90 Governance
=
B0

BRI F oA
RE6OpE, MR2023F N2 HESIRBIUIFNITES, 2K
NEHERESEELIREREZEEENE,

BEEHARB IS FHETREMNER, SPRESELHAQ
g, BARX. BEASREDEHAS, MEHETRR
BAMSERS (BEERAQREE. EHEMNRBIERE) 77
AHEALEER. BAEIEI199FE2022F R EH - HE
PRFT S STENTHI G R Ao EHE HA ) fth & B E A B 810 8 i
i, BEEEHBERERTRAEGRA. TEEF2E
EMBEEEGRA. EERAREEREGTRAREE
EXERAR ISEFTEHIEZEFETES, Bt
2022 FETRE) - FEM A EETENTIRINE, BSERTE -
o 22 R 7T G 5T B AT B RR R

WAL ERERETMAEREBFHLADESHMOEEIR
8. PEAMIMHEREDEMISHMBTEE, LA
REBRAE St B G st M N BB E st e, MMEFEG ST
Rz B0 %55 o 6 =5 B s BE S A 571 S5 B AT A B o

MEEFEEBOYARTHERE LR, SHELIA
B THRESALBURERSHEETL,

WS IR 2w s o
SR R S AR

EMERALERATESTRBMEASIME . MR T & ALK
FHRBOIA MITES |HIEE N,

REBAE

RF6ARE, R201T7FMARKE, HAKEHFEASTME,
REEXENMBANTESRRINEBLATAKXBEERIR
NANERIEHE

REEFBEETE. RISEREH . RN R TR
RENER, EEK. BRRIEFNEEERNTEEAE30F
AR, MIAREREZ AT, B R —RRCRMERMNRIAG
A, BENRZIERETRMEN IR EEER, R
FEN S RBIR N,

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BXBHREREARAE



SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Yin-King, Annie

Aged 61, joined the Group in 2023, is the Chief Operating Officer
responsible for enhancing the Group's end-to-end value chain
efficiencies, encompassing strategic planning, product and inventory
management. Ms. Wong has over 30 years of experience in luxury
retail operations, and an impressive range of expertise in management
consulting, operations, and executive leadership. She holds an
Executive Master's Degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. She is also a Graduate Diamonds

Gemologist of the Gemological Institute of America.

Mr. Chan Yee-Pong, Alan

Aged 53, joined the Group in 2010, is the Chief Brand Officer
responsible for the branding and marketing management of the
Group. Mr. Chan has around 30 years of experience in luxury brand

management and marketing.

Ms. Lui Yin-Ming, Theresa

Aged 53, joined the Group in 2022, is the Chief People Officer
responsible for the strategic direction of the Group's human resources
function, to ensure that right people strategies are in place to support
the long-term development of the Group. Ms. Lui is a seasoned HR

veteran in the retail industry and has over 25 years of experience.

Mr. Cheung Wang-Kwong, Patrick

Aged 36, joined the Group in 2022, is the Chief Digital Officer
responsible for the Group's Digital & IT, E-Commerce, Loyalty and
Data Governance. He steers the Group's digital strategy to drive
omni-channel sales growth across markets, customer experience
enhancement, retail efficiencies, digital supply chain and data
analytics. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience in deriving
transformation roadmap and delivering operational excellence across

China and globally.

Ms. Karen Yih

Aged 53, joined the Group in 2025, is the Chief Financial Officer
responsible for the Group's financial management including financial
planning and analysis, financial accounting, finance systems and
process optimisation, risk management and legal affairs. Ms. Yih
has over 25 years of experience in finance leadership, digital
transformation, corporate developments and international expansion

across diverse industries.

Ms. Danita On
Aged 48, joined the Group in 2012, is the Senior Director of Investor

Relations and Corporate Communications of the Group, responsible
for maintaining effective communications with investors and media.
Ms. On has over 25 years of experience in auditing, management
consulting, equity research, asset management and investor
relations. She is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants and a Chartered Financial Analyst.
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Ms. Gabriela Bibi Dos Santons Ferreira (Gaby)

Aged 43, joined the Group in 2024, is the General Manager,
International, responsible for spearheading the Group's global
expansion strategy and driving the international growth of the brand.
Ms. Ferreira is a seasoned business executive with over 17 years
of experience in managing operations across wholesale, retail and
logistics industries.

Ms. Catherine Yu

Aged 55, joined the Group in 2024, is the General Manager, High
Jewellery, responsible for the strategic development of the Group's
high jewellery business to drive its vision and ensure sustained
commercial success. Ms. Yu has over 20 years of experience in luxury
branding and high jewellery in Paris and Hong Kong.

Mr. Shi Kai

Aged 47, joined the Group in 2001, is the Regional General Manager
- East, being the head of business of Mainland China Eastern
Region, responsible for the retail business operations and back-office
management in the Eastern Cluster. Mr. Shi has extensive front-line
management experience in market expansion, operational efficiency
optimisation and business innovation. He holds an Executive MBA
degree from China Europe International Business School and is a
Fellow of the Gemological Association of Great Britain.

Mr. Xie Hao-Ran

Aged 42, joined the Group in 2004, is the Regional General Manager
- South, being the head of business of Mainland China Southern
Region, responsible for the retail business operations and back-
office management in the Southern Cluster. Mr. Xie has extensive
experience in business operations, performance growth, channel
expansion and back-office supporting system construction in regional
markets. He holds an Executive MBA degree from China Europe
International Business School.

Mr. Sun Xiao-Dong

Aged 57, joined the Group in 2007, is the Regional General Manager
— West, being the head of business of Mainland China Western
Region, responsible for the retail business operations and back-office
management in the Western Cluster. Mr. Sun has extensive front-
line management experience in market expansion and efficiency
optimisation. He holds an Executive MBA degree from China Europe
International Business School.

Ms. Kong Qing-Hua

Aged 45, joined the Group in 1999, is the General Manager of Sales
Management Department and Wholesale Operations of Mainland
China and the Regional General Manager — North, being the
head of business of Mainland China Northern Region. Ms. Kong is
responsible for the overall business operations in Mainland China,
including sales strategy formulation, sales target planning, retail
operations, wholesale process standardisation and implementation.
She is also responsible for the retail business operations and back-
office management in the Northern Cluster. Ms. Kong has extensive
experience in market expansion and business management.

Ms. Yuan Jie

Aged 48, joined the Group in 2002, is the Executive General Manager
responsible for the Group's overall enterprise management in
Mainland China. Ms. Yuan has over 20 years of experience in change
management, process efficiency optimisation, risk control, corporate
culture building and talent development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEE MRS

OUR "4T" FOR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance provides a framework within which the Board

principles for corporate governance guide the development of our

corporate governance practices, supporting the Group in better

achieving our strategic objectives towards sustainable growth and

development.
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forms their decisions and builds the Group's businesses. Our "4T" (LN =P
REEESE iﬁ\iﬁﬂiiﬂ@ﬁ’i, RO T IR RA R

FAT AR AT |

%%@%lJiikﬁﬁ*DﬁﬁEZK%%%%EME%%D £24

TIRAEERXEBHEENERE, XF

Transparent

EifliER BT

Implement transparent disclosures and constructive dialogues to foster genuine

mutual understanding with stakeholders

BRI AR BT EE A AR M TS, UK

HFMERBEET®

Thoughtful
SHEE HAOIE

Embrace leaders with independent mindset, versatile expertise and business
acumen who steer our long-term pursuit for sustainable business growth and
attainment of common values with stakeholders

EERBEIERE. BETENERNEAEREKFSEMH, FERMRMIERT

FENEBERNERENENXEEER

Truthful
HEBHE HHOES

Uphold long-established culture of integrity to safeguard the fundamental
interests of stakeholders and build trusting relationships with them

BRFRABIKHEXL, mERHNENERANZEERIEETBERE

Traceable

HEME HiFoS

Enhance accountability via institutionalised structures and measures to drive
better utilisation of resources and fulfilment of stakeholders' interests

EEHEHAREBNEGNREE, NEAEERERNERENE RN

OUR BOARD GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK HH

i

RS

Board Structure

EFERE

Board of directors
EE
Board committees

EESET

Responsibilities and main tasks

BEMESTIF

Board Composition

EETHN

Board diversity
FFgz

Board refreshment
EEGERM

Director roles and functions

BENAEAEEE

Continuing professional development
Remuneratlon
Fr

Board Operations

EETERE

Board independence
EEE/EIUN
Communication and information support

B IEAD & 5l 2 T

Compliance and accountability
s
Evaluation

ST 1E

Shareholder Communications

B i SR B 8

Interactive engagement

) 53]

Shareholder rights and other information
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BOARD STRUCTURE

o

The Board

4

Nomination Remuneration Audit
Committee Committee Committee
REGEE HNEEE BERSGEE

Board of directors

Responsible for steering the sustainable success of the Group
by overseeing the overall strategic direction, risk appetite and
directing and supervising its affairs.

Sets the Group's core values, corporate culture and adopts proper
standards to ensure that the Company operates with integrity and
being responsible to our shareholders and other stakeholders for
the Group's performance.

Establishes board committees to undertake governance duties as
specified in their respective terms of reference.

Sets out the list of reserved matters that are significant to the
interests of the shareholders for the Board's review and/ or
decision, such as approving results and dividends, transactions over
a specified threshold limit or which are subject to compliance with
the Listing Rules, matters involving conflict of interest related to

certain directors or which require to obtain shareholders' consent.

Nomination committee

Responsible for board nomination, diversity, succession
plan, independence assessment and continuing professional
development.

Conducts performance evaluation of the Board and the directors.

Remuneration committee

94

Determines remuneration for directors and senior management;
oversight on the Group's remuneration policy and structure,
incentive mechanisms and share schemes.

Advises on strategic issues related to organisation structure,

corporate culture, people development and succession pipeline.

Governance
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Audit committee

Oversight on financial statements, financial reporting systems,
corporate reports; and the appointment of auditor.

Oversight on risk management and internal control systems,
internal audit function, cyber-security and data governance;

compliance with Corporate Governance Code.

Sustainability committee

Oversight on sustainability strategy and performance,
stakeholders' feedbacks and sustainability reporting.

Oversight on sustainability risks and opportunities, review of

trends, major issues and policies related to sustainability.

Strategy and transformation committee

Assumes leadership and monitoring responsibilities in strategy
and corporate reforms, business operations, financial performance,
investment projects, corporate administration and compliance.
Being delegated with all the powers to act like a standing
committee of the Board to make decisions and report back to the
Board, except for matters reserved for the Board's decision or

other board committees which require INEDs' oversight.
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Main tasks of the board of directors FEHENEETE

Area of focus FY2025

REHIE (Number of meetings E&#IXE : 4) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Strategy planning and - Review on the medium to long-term goals and strategies v

execution a5t ch HAZE R B B IRAD SR I

RESRBIFOHAT - Comment on the current corporate plan, financial budget and v/ v

performance target for incentive mechanisms and share schemes

5T5% B BIBI 2 SlET &l FIH T8 A0 22 Bl il LA R AR 10 5 Bl B B iR

Receive the reports from the Strategy and Transformation Committee v v v
FEECRISFI S E S B GRS
Approve the strategy for sustainable development v/

BT B RS

Business and financial - Approve annual results and report, and recommend final dividend v

performance MEFEREENRSUAREZRARER

ERMFAIERIR - Approve interim results and report, and interim dividend v
PRGN RS AR PR R
Review recent business development, industry trends and v v v v

market outlook
mET TR E R . TRESBNMGHR
Receive the investor feedback report v

BIRREENRERS

Corporate governance + Receive the reports from the Nomination Committee, Remuneration v v v
TEEB Committee, Audit Committee and/or Sustainability Committee

REREEEE. HNSET. SRSETR/FUFEXREEEN

FYepes

RS

Approve grant of share awards and amendment of share award scheme v

to comply with the revised Listing Rules

HEERR AR 17 22 B A2 1B 5T AR 1) 22 80 51 8 AT & & L i AR R

Endorse the results of independent auditor retendering v
TR ME L2 BB IR 4G

Review sustainability performance and approve sustainability report v

@l DI E R RRIRAOMETHERRRS

Approve proposed resolutions to put forward to the annual general v

meeting and the publication of related circular

HEEAR 2 7 AR SRIA A K& B0 22 50 R 58 S A0 1) 3348 B i e

Private meeting between Board chairman and INEDs v v

EFET B IFAITESNMAPIEER

During the year, the Board has increased attention on: FAN, EFFERMIUATHIA
Business resilience, cost optimisation and the evolving competition - BEMBAEEN, HUBEEBIE. BHAREAR
landscape amid market uncertainties; and development of overseas ESUE KR IR, W3R ia I i3 LAY R UL 2 3R R o

markets to diversify revenue sources.
Refining of brand identity and product strategies to enhance profit © RAmBERIZEG@REE, LSS A 22 K2 7 6K B 7 Bk

margin, and the leading position of the Group in the jewellery i kEb T
market.
Rationalisation of market development and management strategies - BUMBRRNEERE, MEAZESHMNERNEN
to enhance the quality and profitability of POS. A7
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Main tasks of the nomination committee

RHZR G LT

Area of focus FY2025
REGE (Number of meetings EiZiXE : 2) Q1 Q4
Board performance Evaluate on the structure, delegation and memberships of Board committees v
assessment HLEFSEEHRIE. BWEN TN BHEMN
BEEERRHG Evaluate on the roles, functions and performance of executive directors v
FEHITEFNAE. BREREY
Assess and confirm on the independence and time commitment of INEDs v
SR TE R YL AP AT EF HE L AR AR
Review and monitor the training and continuing professional development of directors and v
senior management
SR REFNSREEABNBEINIRFETZRTR
Review the responses received from board members in relation to a board survey v
RIREFENERINEFEERMS
Review the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism to ensure independent v
views and input are available to the Board
MEREFSGENEUHZNER, RFTERESRINERERIEHHE
Review and approve the renewal of directors' and officers' liability insurance v
Gl EEFNSREE S ERRNEESE
Board composition review Discuss on the board mix of competence and diversity in perspectives required by future v
EFGHAEMRET strategic needs
HEARRREFT ST MESGHFNENEGNS LB
Review the current board matrix, diversity objectives, and progress v
R BRINESFEHEN. S BRNEE
Board refreshment or Follow up and review the progress of board refreshment with respect to INEDs v
succession MEIFNTESFNES G EMTEFHIRETIREEE
EEGEMVET Review the reorganisation of management structure and the development of senior v
management pipeline
iR EIERBHEENSREE AL BB ER
Determine on the rotation and re-appointment of directors v v
REEFNHENENSE
Compliance requirements Understand the recent updates in the Listing Rules and Corporate Governance Code, and v

BIRTK

prepare work plans to comply with the new requirements

TR EMRAREREEISTRINRNEET, WaEsT

AR ERE L IESE

During the year, the Nomination Committee has increased attention on:

Board independence and INED refreshment plan.

Management succession and development of a pipeline with
diversity of perspectives.

Compliance with the revised Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code with effect from 1 July 2025, in particularly the
new requirements in relation to INEDs' tenure, directors' continuing

professional development, and board performance review.
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Main tasks of the remuneration committee HE B e EE TE

Area of focus FY2025
REEEES (Number of meetings EiZIXEl : 2) Q1 Q4
Remuneration policy - Determine and supervise on the remuneration policy and structure respectively for v v
and strategy directors and employees
Fr BN EURAD 2R B8 EEEM B S E SR 8 5 #H M BRI EE
Review and approve the mechanism and metrics for short-term and long-term incentives v 4
8 51 A0 HE EE AT HA K2 B HA 52 B0 B 1 ol RO 48 1
Endorse the annual pay rise budget for frontline and back office staff with reference to v

market salary survey, the Company's performance and incentive strategy
S2EMiGHMFEES. RABREAEMRE, EEAREEHNE TRFENHFEE

Performance and rewards ~ + Assess on the linkage between Company's performance and remuneration level for v

for executive directors and executive directors and senior management

senior management FHE AR A BIRER AT EF NS REEA S F BT 2 8 6B B

HITESNESREEABN + Determine the remuneration packages and annual adjustments for executive directors and v
FRIRADAE @ senior management with reference to the Group's performance, remuneration strategy and

market competitiveness
SERKEFRE. FURBOMBERFNNEEATESFRSREEASNFWFIBENE

EFCES
Share award scheme - Review on the operation of the share award scheme and approve on the amendment of its v
PRS2 RN ST &l terms pursuant to the revised Listing Rules regarding treasury shares

RET AR N EEISTEIFEEER, WiRE EMARRAREFERH KT, HtESERRK

&5T

Consider and approve on the granting of share awards to executive directors and senior v

management, including but not limited to determination of the number of awards, vesting
period and performance target, with due regard to effective motivation and retention of
corporate leaders

HAYUMEBANREBEREMAT, FENMERARTESNSREEARRBRNER,
BERFEEARKRETRBSE . BEHNGEHNER

Strategic development -+ Supervise on human resources strategies and action plans v
RESTE R BEATIEIRRIERITE
Review on the organisational structure, major changes in the management members, and v 4

key human resources statistics

Bl AHAIRE. EERARNESEIMONEEANEIRG T EUR

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has increased attention on: FA, HFWEEFGEREELATSIR

Mechanism and metrics for both short-term and long-term - AR RIAZENESIEER, REeE8I/EBN, URX
incentives to enhance staff motivation, and possible adjustments fEmhiZ SN @ E ol g B

in view of the changing market dynamics.

Corporate culture, talent development and pipeline building. < EEN. AAFRREZEITFIIEE,

Efficiency of organisation in terms of team structure and division of - BEIBRORIEAD 5 &l 0 T I O AR AR

responsibilities.
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Main tasks of the audit committee

Area of focus
REFIE

\

ut

FY2025
(Number of meetings EZIXH : 3)

FREE TR EE T

Q1 Q3

Q4

Financial statements

IR

Receive the management's analysis on the business and financial review
FRENE 1R fE SR A R RS B RRE 2 A

Review the presentation and disclosures of the financial statements for the
Group's interim and annual results

% 8] I 6K ) op B R £F 2 SR AR T s SRR B 2 SRAD I 88

Receive reports on key accounting issues and financial controls

RINEE G ENMBER RS

External auditor

IR EEm

Comment on the annual audit plan

HEEHELTERHEER

Receive auditor's audit report, or interim review report, including the key

audit matters

TEZEEN SRS P ASHRS, BRFEEHEFTEE

Private meeting with auditor

BN ERITRP S S

Review on the independence and objectivity, performance and fees of auditor,
and recommend on their re-appointment

HFEZEEBIIENREMN. RRNVEA, UKESENSE

Review on the implementation of policy to regulate non-audit services provided
by external auditor

@5 AR B M BB A% BT R 1L 3F 2 A% AR S R B B2 i

Lead and oversee the auditor re-tendering exercise carried out during the
year, including but not limited to determination of objectives, selection criteria,
tender process and tender document according to the auditor re-tendering
policy

FENEEFNETHREMENGE, OFEEARKEEEE. BUBEE
BIRREFABEHF

Risk management and
controls

JoE B i R AD #

Receive risk management reports
R E PR E IR S

Receive internal audit reports
BB N BB LR S

Receive anti-fraud reports

FRENR SRR S
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Area of focus

REHE FY2025 Q1 Q3 Q4
Corporate governance Annual review on the effectiveness of risk management and internal control 4
BxEL systems, reporting processes, and external and internal audit
FERNEREENASBRERR. MEEF. RIS E 25 A T
Annual review on the continuing connected transactions v
i 15 2 N B B RS 77
Review the compliance with the Corporate Governance Code v
RREEEIGTRIFETER
Annual review on the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders' 4
communication policy
F 2 i 57 AR R B BUR B0 8 M K2 A St
Review the disclosures in results announcements, interim and annual reports (including v v
Corporate Governance Report and Risk Management Report therein)
REFEELS. PHRSRER (OBEPHEEEEGRSNEREIRRS)
B4 58
Strategic alignment Oversee digital transformation, data governance and cybersecurity v v
RIS BEHFHELN SUREENASTE
Comment on the internal audit plan and adequacy of resources supporting the v
internal audit function
BRNBEZSTRNZIFASETHENEREERE
Comment on the work plans and resources of the risk management function v
HREREEREEN TIFsTEIFEIR
Comment on the work plans and resources of the finance and governance 4

functions

BRI R EIe BN TIFstEI0EIR

During the year, the Audit Committee has increased attention on:

Measures to reinforce financial resilience and capital efficiency

amid volatility in gold prices and uncertainty in the macro-

economic environment during the financial year.

Budget control and measurement of returns of IT projects.

FN, EREEGBEREEUATEIR

IR, 7 = 8 R BN A 72 B AT 7 I 0 7 i A~ B T TE
ERT, B RS # A0 & IR B HE At o

Gl FHIRE MRE E IR 2R HR.

Implementation of core finance system upgrade and the - BTN BTER R AR AR, 0054 RS B AR 0 AR

enhancement of working efficiency of the finance function.
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Main tasks of the sustainability committee AR R B TR

Area of focus FY2025
REFIE (Number of meetings HiEIRE : 2) Q1 Q3
Strategy and performance - Oversee the formulation and progress of the sustainability strategy, key programmes and v 4
RESFORIRT achievements of pre-set goals
BEOFETRRE. TS5, LARTERBENGIETENES
Review key changes in sustainability policies and guidelines, and relevant laws and 4
regulations
RGO R BUR. 18 3A0MERIEBNER N S
Review sustainability culture development, and the adequacy of resources and staff 4

qualifications for sustainability performance and reporting
R OB RSB TF, RS THFERREHRSHERRANAERE
R B0

Risks and opportunities + Review sustainability risks, major issues and compliance status v
o B RO #E 15 RO ERRIBAN A, ESBENGHRER
Review sustainability-linked loans and/or investment projects 4
RETER O R B W R BMAN G / VIR EIRE
Review climate-related risks and opportunities, scenario analysis and financial impact for v
the evaluation of climate resilience

SR RERE R EIE . BRI, AR EREIE RO BT E

Reporting + Monitor the preparation of the sustainability report, including the reporting standard, 4
WS content framework, changes in key data disclosure and report assurance arrangement

BEUFETRRSHNHEEIF, AERSEE. NS ER. TSHEFIENSILZR

ShRE B AR HE

Review the sustainability report, key metrics and the independent assurance statement v

BRI EERRS . TEERREREEA

Monitor the progress of preparation works to comply with the revised Environment, Social

and Governance Reporting Code issued by the Stock Exchange

RECHI AR MAEE(RERE. A EREGRS TR EEHERTIFER

During the year, the Sustainability Committee has increased attention on: FW, IFFEERSGEGERMENTEIR .

Implementation of work programmes along with the sustainability - WRUFERERE, ISFEFEUNEREREMR
strategy with dedicated efforts across various business units and HBESHEIIFE,

management levels.

Preparation for compliance with the enhanced climate-related - RIESTERZ TR R R B B DO IS 45 B B R E
disclosure requirements proposed by the Stock Exchange.

Cultivation of a sustainability culture within the Group through - BRETIBIIRE. E85H8, WRHEIFEZRERE
staff training programmes, promotional campaigns, and TIFAEGTIF, ERREANSPE O FFER RIS,

collaboration in task forces for sustainability projects.
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Main tasks of the strategy and transformation committee g

Area of focus

s R 2 B i TR

RS
Strategy Competition and market development strategy Supply chain strategy
REE SR PTG R R L 5% 2R B
Customer strategy and business model People and IT strategy
JEAZ SRS A SR AS I T AT RS BRI
Execution Business targets and progress tracking Organisation and management system
i ST B R ADE B Bt BEMEERIE
Goals and reward system for the management Investment budget and appraisal
BIEA BN BIRAER G E RERB TS
Monitoring Business alignment with risk appetite Compliance with laws and regulations
R EBRRLESERKZE BT ERMIER

Efficiency in operations and use of resources
EEFE R AIE

Financial performance

RIS A

Accountability
i

Governance policy and practices
BB BERAE G
Investors' perspectives

REBHAE

Social and environmental impacts
HEBNERRE

Corporate culture and ethics
EENHAERE

Formulate market-driven and customer-focused strategies to
achieve performance targets and strategic goals endorsed by
the Board.

Organise broad-based engagement activities to align strategic
vision and encourage collaborations across functions through clear
annual plans and co-owned KPIs.

Hold monthly meetings to review the performance reports, monitor
the progress of strategy and reforms implementation, financial
budget and make timely adaptations.

Supervise on critical aspects of the business operations such
as strategic prioritisation, resource allocation and performance
measurement, as well as aligning various strategies on talent,
reward, culture, risk appetite and controls.

Set up and supervise on the sub-committees, which assist in the
implementation of corporate reforms, such as branding, product
supply chain, people development and digitalisation.

Report back to the Board on the performance of the Group.
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BOARD COMPOSITION A
Independence Age
LNV Fig
47% 7 INED 40% éO Average age
BIFNTES 33% THFR
B INED BIIIFITEDS l 3550
B oonEs B 565
I over65
Bim655%
53%

Board tenure

EEEEIH

13%

Average years of service

TR

9

0-3 years
4-6 years £
7-9 years

|
|
|
[ 10 years or more fFa¥ LAk

The Board consists of 15 directors.

The Board has been orderly refreshed in the last couple of years to
bring new skills and perspectives to support the Group's strategy
and governance.

The Board considers that the current composition is suitable in
view of the balanced mix of board tenure and age group, and also
an appropriate level of INED and female representation.

In view of the revised Listing Rules and Corporate Governance
Code coming into effect on 1 July 2025, the Company will consider
the implementation timetable of the new changes, including
but not limited to the cap on INED(s) who has served for nine
years or more on the Board, and continue to monitor the evolving
business and regulatory environment to ensure the suitability and

robustness of its corporate governance framework.
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LE 31
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Our board diversity policy
Appropriate combination of competency and diversity of
perspectives in order to achieve the Company's long-term goal and
strategy.
Thorough considerations in board decision-making leverage on
broader insights and risk intelligence, as well as better understanding
on customers and stakeholders.
A broad concept of diversity attributable to various attributes:
— Personal skills and professional knowledge
— Regional and industry experience, reach to stakeholders

— Gender, age, length of service and other qualities

Our current board mix of knowledge and experience
Broad business exposures
Typical industries: retailing, manufacturing, property development
Emerging sectors serving for customers' lifestyle and enjoyments
Worldwide market: China, Europe and the United States
Connections with public bodies and community groups

Diverse professional knowledge
Retail, jewellery and brand development
Technology and data analytics
Corporate strategies and listed company governance

Capital market, finance and risk management

Our diversity objectives for the future Board
A broad spectrum of connections and intelligence across multiple
commercial fields.
Together contribute to high standards of corporate governance
and stakeholders' interests.
A balanced mix of age groups and board tenure.
Gender balance with at least 3 female directors as an immediate
target and a minimum 20% representation by 2025. This target
has been achieved and the Company aims to maintain at least the

current level onwards.

The Nomination Committee will give due regard to diversity
objectives, among other objective criteria, in the board candidate
search and selection process. The Board will also continue to
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members
among the management over time as and when suitable candidates
are identified so as to develop a diversified pipeline of potential

successors to the Board.

As at 31 March 2025, the ratio of females to males in the senior
management was 62%:38% while in the overall workforce was
80%:20% (covering the Group's core and material business units in
Mainland China, and Hong Kong & Macau of China). The Group's
recruitment and promotion policy is underpinned by the principle of
appointment of the right person for the right position, in order to
achieve diversity across the workforce. The Board considers that the
current gender ratio of the workforce of the Group is appropriate for

its operations.
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Board refreshment T

Board nomination EFERB
Nomination policy and process Status update
REBBERNER BiRER#H
Stage 1 Look into future challenges, opportunities, business model and strategic goals Reviewed in FY2025
Preparation IRETARRAIHREY . HB . FEBETFRIEEZ 2025 B E EMRE
PR Identify desirable perspectives and experience an optimal Board requires Retail and China experience
fats HAIEEES R SR F0ER FEMPEE R
Evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of the current Board composition * Technology and data application
EREEF RN RS FEARIRIEA
Set out requirements and objectives in searching for potential candidate(s) ) Financeﬁa\nd governance
HIEMEIBEERIEA NS RIS E ABERES
Propose the timeline for Board refreshment Ee};j:l;r;rj;%;g;?gersmy
EEREE G ENNTHE
Stage 2 Invite nomination of candidates from Board members or professional consultants Nomination in FY2025
Nomination BGEES G S oy ERMAUIRBEEA 2025 T E iR
PR Consider a broad range of candidates who are in or outside of the Board's circle Search for INED candidates either
=H BT EESEEFNINTEEA excel in China retail industry or
) ) _ o with financial expertise
g[;l\e}e\t.vx;:;gg\e sgrij;jgggggej and then evaluate on the suitability 5 o [y
ROGE BB L IF NI TE S AR
Put forward the recommendation to the Board, including the role and function, Approached some candidates
and committee membership and received their feedbacks
MEFGREHEEES, OEARNEE, UREETNESH g R I R LS )
Stage 3 The Board considers the recommendation and decides on the appointment No appointment of new director in
Appointment EFGEEEBNRESHE FY2025
SB=PEER Determine the communication and transition plan, as well as induction activities ~ 2025 U El S EHTE S
St R S B RIRE T HE, LR S S E)
Publish an announcement, fulfil statutory filing requirements and issue letter
of appointment
HIBENS STAEE PR EE ST
Propose the re-election of the newly appointed director in the next general
meeting and make adequate disclosure on the respective nomination process
AT—ERRAGERBRNTSEES, UHBRARSEFFHENIKE
Management succession planning EEEETEE
Strategic talent identification and accelerated leadership By IS A A GRIFININERBEE A AR — SRS E
development — implemented a systematic and data-driven BB AAFDANIER, MR E 1008 A LUE{TR
approach to the talent identification process, so as to identify the HAEERE,

Top 100 talents to assume critical leadership roles.
Driving sustainable succession planning — by identifying successors - HEEIOEER TSR — BMEEEIEEE A TS,

for critical roles, we mitigate potential leadership gaps and sustain RIEERETMEERH. BAOREBAHNEEE
success by nurturing a pipeline of capable leaders who embody &, RO BEEEABEEWAER .

our values, vision, and strategic direction.

Invest in talent management and differentiate us as an employer of c RAAEEBENER, M EERET — MAlEE

choice - by establishing the CTF Academy, offering unique growth AXE@AAZED, EHESNZENE, @RS
opportunities and recognising their potential through targeted ST B R EME ME M BB S, s T —E R
development initiatives, we create an environment that fosters AA28E TEREENBHNENERE,

talent engagement, job satisfaction, and loyalty.
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Director roles and functions

A O FTRRE

Number of directors INED Executive directors

55YH BUIENTES HITES

Board of Directors % & 15 47% 53%
Nomination Committee 22 E8 & 7 71% 29%
Remuneration Committee FEIEE S 7 71% 29%
Audit Committee BEIZTET 5 100% 0%
Sustainability Committee T EEREE T 4 75% 25%
Strategy and Transformation Committee RIS N ETEE 5 0% 100%

The profile, role and function of each director, their relationship with
each other and the membership of the board committees are set out
on p.77 - 90.

Executive directors
Chairman and Managing Director are Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry
and Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent respectively. This segregation ensures
a balance of power and authority.
Chairman provides leadership for the Board and ensures that the
Board works effectively and sound corporate governance practices
and procedures are established.
Vice-chairmen Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy and Ms. Cheng
Chi-Man, Sonia are delegated by the Chairman to assist in
leading the Group's strategic direction and driving the corporate
transformation.
Managing Director leads the management team to execute the
strategy agreed by the Board and is responsible for the overall

business and operations of the Group.

Independent non-executive directors
Bring strategic insights to the Board driving for long-term value.
Exercise independent judgement on the strategy, performance and
risks of the Group.
Balance the interests of the Company, shareholders and stakeholders.
INEDs act as chairmen or members of major Board committees and
undertake detailed governance work under the respective terms of
reference.
Being appointed for a term of not more than three years, subject

to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
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Annual review on INEDs' independence

Based on the Nomination Committee's review of a number of factors:
Business relationship and transactions with the Group
Offices held in other companies, organisations and other
significant commitments
Cross-directorships or significant links with other directors through
involvement in other companies or bodies
Each INED's annual confirmation of independence received by
the Company
Years of service as INED

The Board is of the view that all INEDs are independent, free from any
business or other relationship which could materially interfere with
the exercise of their judgement. Detailed elaboration on the Board's
assessment are made in the circular to shareholders in respect of the

INEDs to be re-elected in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Notwithstanding Ms. Fung Wing-Yee, Sabrina is the daughter of
Dr. Fung Kwok-King, Victor, a former INED who retired within 2 years
prior to her appointment date of 1 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee believes that this fact should not be perceived to have
a negative impact on the independence of Ms. Fung given her
attributes and Dr. Fung's satisfaction of all independence criteria
under 3.13 of the Listing Rules throughout his tenure as an INED. The
Stock Exchange has also agreed with the Company's point of view on
the independence of Ms. Fung. For further details, please refer to the

Company's announcement dated 24 November 2022.

Although Mr. Tang Ying-Cheung, Eric is a former partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu whose related entities have provided certain non-
audit services to the Group within 2 years prior to his appointment
date of 1 December 2023, the Nomination Committee believes that
his former role has no bearing on his independence as an INED given
the nature and materiality of these services provided to the Group
within the said 2-year period and that Mr. Tang was not involved
in these services. To the Company's best knowledge after making
relevant enquiries, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu did not provide any
audit, assurance, financial advisory or legal services of a material
amount to the persons referred to in Rule 3.13(3) of the Listing
Rules within the said 2-year period. Mr. Tang has satisfied all other
independence criteria set out in 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Stock
Exchange has also agreed with the Company's point of view on the
independence of Mr. Tang. For further details, please refer to the

Company's announcement dated 23 November 2023.
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Directors' time commitment

Based on assessment with reference to a number of factors:

Directors' confirmation

Meeting attendance rate

Preparation for and degree of participation in meetings
Participation in continuing professional development to keep . /,\¥}rﬁﬁ?§§ﬁ§*}?LA?%E@%%H‘&%@EQB’HDuﬁt
abreast of knowledge relevant to the directors' duties

SEEMEFERA
HRE A T2 HRAERKTG -
EFEMER
FZHER
BIERIN2HE

The Nomination Committee is of the view that all directors, including RETETHRA, SREF (AEEITIENITES) 28K
INEDs, have given sufficient time and attention to the Company's NEIRFLE T 72 B AR,

affairs.

Number of meetings attended/ eligible to attend for FY2025
2025 MIREEIHE/ GERERERRY

Annual Continuing
General Board Nomination ~ Remuneration Audit  Sustainability profi |
Meeting Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee  development
TMHERE
BRAFAE EFEEHE 2 RESEE FHSEE  BNEEE SEE RBEZRIR
Executive Directors HITEE

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry DRGEL 11 4/4 2/2 2/2 - - v/
Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy L il = e 11 4/4 2/2 - - - 4
Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia PHEL L 11 4/4 - 2/2 - - v/
Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent BRELE 7 4/4 - - - 2/2 v
Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson iR iE st 11 4/4 - - _ _ v/
Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton EpfR BRI A 11 4/4 - _ _ _ Vi
Mr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter BEBEE 11 4/4 - - - - v/
Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby BiRAXE 1/1 4/4 - - _ _ v/
Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian* BHmELT 11 2/2 - - - - v

Independent Non-executive Directors BlUNTES
Mr. Kwong Che-Keung, Gordon it e 7 4/4 - 2/2 3/3 - v
Mr. Lam Kin-Fung, Jeffrey N5 1/1 4/4 2/2 2/2 3/3 - v/
Dr. Or Ching-Fai, Raymond fEEEL /1 4/4 2/2 2/2 3/3 - v/
Ms. Cheng Ka-Lai, Lily HEBYL N 4/4 2/2 2/2 - 2/2 v/
Mr. Chia Pun-Kok, Herbert HRENE il 3/4 1/2 - 3/3 2/2 v/
Ms. Fung Wing-Yee, Sabrina BIEN T 1l 4/4 2/2 2/2 - - v/
Mr. Tang Ying-Cheung, Eric skt - 4/4 - - 3/3 2/2 v

Note: Bt
v All incumbent directors have submitted their training records for the year, showing that each of them v 2REFEFERIAFENEICE, HPRRSASERATEWE 109 DMENIE
has fulfilled the training requirement by participating in the activities on p.109 organised by the Company. 1, BERITIEIER,

Resigned from the Board with effect from 26 September 2024
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Continuing professional development

Align knowledge and experience acquisition with a view to driving
performance towards our strategic goals and exercising critical
oversight on risk and performance.

Sharpen the strategic vision and competency in embracing the era
of innovation and disruption.

Cover topics including board effectiveness, directors' and the
Company's statutory obligations, corporate governance and
sustainability, risk management and internal controls, and updates
on industry developments, business trends and strategies.

Foster a Board culture of ongoing learning and knowledge sharing.

Our approach to ongoing learning

Organise Board seminars, management forums and workshops on
themes relevant for propelling the business priorities, where our
leaders can interact with inspirational guest speakers.

Arrange on-site visits to explore on the competitive edges of other
advanced organisations.

Custom-made newsletters sharing articles and videos related to
the Board's hot topics.

Conduct surveys for the Nomination Committee to understand
learning needs of each director and analyse the directors' training

records to prioritise the Board education activities.

Onboarding induction

- Assist incoming directors to have a proper understanding on the
business and operations, strategies and competitive environment
of the Group, and directors' duties.

Help the new directors to get an understanding of the Board
culture and corporate culture.

Efficient and tailor-made on needs, depending on their Board roles,
expertise and experience, enabling them to make contributions as
early as possible to the Board, particularly on providing advice on

the strategies.

Induction activities guide

Briefing sessions.

Networking luncheon with other Board members and management
presentation on selected topics relating to potential contribution
expected from the new director.

Meet with our management teams and visit our facilities to
understand the Group's existing plans and needs.

Meet with legal counsel to receive an introduction on the Listing
Rules and statutory obligations.

Online resources centre for directors:

— Business model and strategies

— Industry trends and market profiles

— Business and financial performance

— Statutory duties and responsibilities of directors

— Corporate governance policies

Invite the new director to share on selected topic relating to

his/ her expertise topic in a Board and management seminar.
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Remuneration B
Put in place well-designed long-term and short-term incentive - R ESNR\RGHAERGIE, ARSI, MEAOSEE
systems to attract, motivate and retain talented corporate SEANREREEAANE TEE, #EMmsFRKEE
leaders and workforce throughout the Group in order to support MRBAMGHHRIEER, URARRINGZHEDNER
the achievement of long- and short-term strategic goals of the BliS,

Group as well as to promote value creation for the benefit of the

shareholders.

Offer fair and competitive level of rewards to ensure comparability - REAFHNEFHINNER, BREMGHEZEAERES

with the market competing for talents with similar leadership FEBNHAAE, AR,
qualities.
Executive directors WITES
Fixed portion * Salaries, benefits and pension + Director's fee
Bl 8B 53 2R #FHE. BADERME EE¥okn
Variable portion Short-term incentives (STI) Long-term incentives (LTI)
FEE S FEHAE RN REAZERE]
* Link to achievement level of the Group's annual + Link to achievement level of the Group's 3-year
business performance targets business performance targets
B 7K (88 1) F [ S5 55 4R S B AR 00 o R4 8 ERTICER [ = £F S 05 48 X0 B AR 00052 A 224 80
+ Payable in cash » Payable in a combination of cash and share awards
LATR & 32 ft IR AR B4R & 7 U S f+t

Pre-set Group performance parameters and numerical targets approved by the Board
FEFFHEMNEREREUEHEERNERHT

Progressive payout ratio reference to performance achievement level to incentivise outstanding performance
12 BRAB 0 Y Z2 I E IR IS AR BN S A k), LABUBNMB R IR

Minimum threshold set for achievement level of performance parameters and maximum payment limit
REBIUBRIEN ENRINEEME, RESXIRE

Incentive-based, with a significant portion of the variable portion - BEAR, AEEEOIEFEBNE Y KA SRR HA & A

correlated with the short-term profitability and long-term value of AEIRRHAEE R, 2025 AT BiE# G 1B e s
the Company. Targeted remuneration structure consists of about #125%BFrE. 25% K2 HAZEEI K 50% REASEE

25% basic salaries, 25% STl and 50% LTI for FY2025.

Alignment of their rewards with the performance of the Company - AP B2l B TR 2 B R IR AD AR AR A 7 A
and interests of its shareholders.

Determined by the Remuneration Committee. - HFHMEEEIRE,

Independent non-executive directors BIIFHITES

Fixed portion

EE& 57

« Director's fee

EHRME

(Remark: Starting from FY2023, the remuneration of INEDs comprised fixed portion only in order to strengthen the independent roles of INEDs.)
(et . B2023 I ER, RIEBUFATESNRIAR, BUFATESNFTHRLSEEDD, )

Offer appropriate level of remuneration to attract and retain - REGENFHFMKSINBEERGER A EBERNEILR
high calibre directors with sufficient governance experience and ERBRESE,

independence in thinking.

Proportionate to the time commitment and workloads of Board - HARKMEFSETNRERANIIFEMIEL,
committees they serve.

Benchmarked against market practice, according to their roles, - WERHAR, SENRRBRARMGEG R,
responsibilities and time commitment.

Determined by the Board, after discussions in the Remuneration - EHEEESME, HEFSIFHRE,

Committee.

More details on directors' remuneration for FY2025 are available on BRESR 202 W KF ENHE— T8, F2RKE
p.207 - 208 of this annual report. RSB 207 £ 208 H,
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BOARD OPERATIONS

Board independence

BN
EE oyt DA

The Board has established the following mechanisms to enhance EFEFRUNTHABHEUIENTESNAR, VER
the role of INEDs in order to obtain independent views and input HEUHMNER,

from them.

Composition of the Board and
board committees

EFONEFSETHEN

INEDs represents at least 1/3 of the Board
BUFPTEFEHESEEL =N —

INEDs are appointed to board committees as far as practicable
HOUESEEIFATESNIAEEEEE

Independence assessment upon
nomination and annual reviews
RBEHEII T E R
FERET

Strictly adhere to the nomination policy and the independence assessment criteria with
regard to the nomination and appointment of INEDs

EASIE T B IR S R SEWILAFNITEE 012 B BUR R 18 XL M 5115 LR

Assess suitability of director candidates objectively based on their qualification and time
commitment, the Board's composition, skill matrix, the list of selection criteria, nomination
policy and the board diversity policy

RIBFESEANERNEERRARR. EFTEN. AT TBEAFE, REBRRES
FERAWER, SHAGTEFARZEEGHE

Assess annually by the Nomination Committee on the independence of all INEDs to ensure
that they can continually exercise independent judgement, and also each director's time
commitment to the Company's affairs

RESEGEFALMEEIUIIFNITESIEIN, BREFUHFETEEIIHE, URS
BFEHIRQ T FHHTEIRA

INEDs' remuneration

BRI TE S HE

INEDs receive fixed fees for their role, no equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements will be granted to INEDs as this may lead to bias in their decision-making
and compromise their objectivity and independence

BIAFATESHERBNE EREE, AEREE Y RESBRAKLARERZERNHE,
(K] Y 45 FUEL R 3R i SR 1 5 8 L M ADIE T 1

Remuneration of INEDs is determined by the Board and subject to a regular review mechanism
to commensurate with their responsibilities and workload
BUAFATESKFWHESFEEE, BATHRFTINEEBSNTIFEEHE

Board decision making

BEEGRR

INEDs are entitled to seek further information and documentation from the management on
the matters to be discussed at board meetings. To facilitate proper discharge of their duties,
they are entitled to seek assistance from the Company Secretary and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at the Company's expense
BUFPTESERINESEEZ LA TIMNFEQAERERNE-—TER R . &
FEGERTERBS, RFUBAASIMER RGN NEFOIEBERBRMIREIER,
B AR BIRE

The chairman of the Board annually hold meetings with INEDs without the presence of other
directors to discuss major issues and any concerns

ESEIFEFAEMESAEGHBR FTRBITIFNITESRTES, USIRESEEREK
EREEYS

Conflict management
EREE

Declaration of any actual and potential conflicts between their personal interests and duties
as an INED

BOAEAN TS R FRBIIAFNTES NS 2 B E B2 IBEER

Abstain from voting on any board resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which
such director or any of his/ her close associates has a material interest

BEMAEZES N MERBHBE AR E A RGN EUSA S ZHIRENESERER

S
E&S
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Communication and information support

Board communication

Focus the Board's time and dialogues on key aspects of strategy,
risk and performance.

Enable meeting efficiency with high-quality information.

Make sure the questions raised or matters arising from meetings
are followed up.

Arrange private session between Board chairman and INEDs.

Provide prompt assistance and advice by the company secretary.

Meeting scheduling and agenda planning

Schedule meeting dates and provisional agenda one year in
advance, in line with the annual corporate planning and reporting
cycle, particularly for items requiring Board approval.

Coordinate the Board and committee meetings to pursue the
strategic goals altogether and reflect on the forward meeting plans.
Reallocate the Board's time between strategy, operational
performance and governance and compliance matters according to
the Board priorities changing over time.

Include outward and forward looking agenda items for the Board
to chart the course ahead, and encourage interactions and

insights.

Board paper preparation

Search for broad-based information that is most relevant and
valuable to the current decision or action that needs to be taken
by the Board.

Being concise and focused on priorities, objectives and the
analytics based on facts.

Set out relevant considerations and implications in the meeting
papers that the Board should be aware of.

Make it clear on what action or input is needed from the Board.
Distribute Board papers early enough for directors to consider the
matters thoroughly before the meetings.

Provide access to the current and the past Board papers and

minutes record via Board meeting apps.

Information updates between Board meetings

Monthly updates include:

- Consolidated financial summary against budget

- Media reports about the economic trends, peers, industry,
consumer behaviour, etc.

- Corporate bulletin about our key events, milestones
or achievements

Quarterly updates on the operational performance with

management analysis.

Knowledge about the future of our business and market, emerging

strategic, risk and governance issues, more details on p.109 about

the "continuing professional development".
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Compliance and accountability

The Board is responsible for reviewing and monitoring the Company's
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, primarily the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance; and for developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance, the code of conduct and compliance manual

applicable to directors and employees.

Corporate Governance Code

The Company's corporate governance practices are discussed
in this "Corporate Governance Report". During the year ended
31 March 2025, the Company was in full compliance with all applicable
principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as

set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

Model Code and relevant employees

The Company has adopted a code of conduct on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules regarding the securities transactions by all the directors
and those employees who are likely to come across inside information
because of their duties. Having made specific enquiry of all our
directors and relevant employees, they confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code

and the Company's code of conduct during FY2025.

Inside information disclosure
The Company has established its policy for inside information
disclosures as well as its internal controls on the reporting and

monitoring systems.

Formal escalation path of material information

Material matters concerning the business, finance and operations
are escalated to the Strategy and Transformation Committee in a
timely manner for them to judge whether inside information exists
and an announcement is required.

Investor Relations and Corporate Communications Department
assists the Board to monitor market signals, including investors'
feedback, share price movements, media and analyst reports,
etc. to see whether a material gap exists between the market

expectation and the Company's real situation.
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Controls on the sources of information and the
communication channels
Information used for investor meetings and conferences should be
consistent with published corporate announcements and reports.
Only designated executive directors, the investor relations and
corporate communications team and authorised personnel are
authorised to speak to or hold meetings with investors or media
on behalf of the Company.
Code of practices for investor communications:
- Set out a quiet period to refrain from investor relations
activities before results announcement
- Prepare scripts and Q&As to manage the information released
to the public
- Obtain approval from the Board on the results presentation materials
- Keep meeting or conference attendance notes and call logs for

future reference

Financial reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Company and the Group. The directors
were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability

to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibilities are set out in the section headed "Independent

Auditor's Report" on p.175 - 177 in this annual report.

Risk management and internal control

Risk is defined as a potential action, event or circumstance that could
impact the Company's ability, favourably or unfavourably, to meet
its strategic goals. The Group adopts a holistic risk management and
internal control framework to proactively manage risks, in line with
the commitment to deliver sustainable value. The Audit Committee
has reviewed and was satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy
of our risk management and internal control systems. Further details
are included under the section headed "Risk Management Report" on

p.125 - 155 in this annual report.

Independence of external auditor

Annual review on external auditor's performance

The Audit Committee has reviewed and was satisfied with the
external auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process, before making a proposal to re-appoint the incumbent

auditor in each financial year.
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Auditor retendering policy

In line with the Group's commitment to maintaining the highest
standard of corporate governance, the Board has adopted an auditor's
retendering policy to conduct a retendering about every 7 years, even
though there is no statutory requirement on the mandatory rotation
of external auditor in Hong Kong. PricewaterhouseCoopers has been
holding office as the independent auditor since 2018 and the current
engagement partner has served on the audit of the Group since
2024. During the year, an audit retendering process was conducted
by the Audit Committee in accordance with the requirements
and procedures of an audit tender as set out in the Guidelines
for Effective Audit Committees — Selection, Appointment and
Reappointment of Auditors issued by the Accounting and Financial
Reporting Council. The Audit Committee selected three accounting
firms, including the incumbent auditor, to participate in the tender.
Audit quality is regarded as the most important assessment criteria,
amongst all other factors. After due consideration and evaluation
on the competence of these candidate firms, the Audit Committee
determined that PricewaterhouseCoopers to be the preferred
candidate for their in-depth knowledge of the Group's business and
the industry, constituting a competitive edge in view of the Group's

business restructuring and transformation.

Auditor services policy

In order to upkeep independence of the external auditor when
engaging them to provide non-audit services, the Audit Committee
has adopted an auditor services policy and established procedures
to regulate the engagement of these services. These include the
classification of permitted and prohibited non-audit services, a
process to evaluate the threats to auditor's independence, and the
concurrence procedures for such engagements. The award of any non-
audit services provided by the external auditors (and their affiliates)
is subject to the Group's procurement policy which is consistent with
all other third-party vendor relationships and shall be pre-approved
by the Audit Committee. The external auditor has also confirmed its

independence with regard to the non-audit services provided.

The remuneration paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers and its affiliated

firms for services rendered is listed as follows:

BN E FTBIREUIR

REBERNHEE RS EREIENRT, EESBLELZER
TE SR IR I AL BT, (BEF G 2 RNIZ BN BRI R
R, KBS 7F8T - RENBIR, BEANETNE
AT B 2018 F R EEB|ILIZEED, MR TZHMERAR
2024 FiE 2 HERKBEES TIF. TN, ERSEGIRE
Bt RMBERERMI(EZEEGEYEFES — @0
B SEREMSIEZEE )T EZEENE IR SRR
EITTERBIR. BREEENRETERBRELZEMEN
FI=ZRGstMBE B2 HERIR, StEERIREEREE
BIETERLE, EHFEEENTEZEREBHETNEEE,
MG EQEEMERRREGSMERMINBEE,
HERRBIRBAOTRAERATE, KRNKERFEEAR
MBI REEE B,

12 BB AR S BUR

TR B BN IR fAF 2RI, ATEREEIE, F
ZEEGERMIZ BT ARG R, WaT U IAREZE
RSB TIF, BEENRFFAORIERIFFEZRE., &1L
REFUTEERZEEEIIEREE, ARSI IERGE
HIRERER. SEIMEREET (RERBAT) REHE[F
TIZIRAEE, P/RIESTRERBIOTHRBECR (R AEEME=
AREEARER ) , MEEREEFEEiE, MR
BTN E 5P 52 B0 AF & i AR A i SR L XL 1 o

R IR LIRS £ 1 48 f Bl oI B & 51 B 3505 P K2 LB 8 22 5
B &I T

FY2025 FY2024

Types of services HK$ million HK$ million
R EE BEET BEET
Audit and related services' Tz B R AR 7.6 8.1
Non-audit services? IEBIZIRFS? 3.8 33
1.4 14

1. Audit related services comprise review services on interim results, continuing connected transactions
and tax compliance service.

2. Non-audit services comprise cybersecurity and security operations centre service and other IT related
services provided to the Group. None of these services provided compromises the independence
as auditor, in terms of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants, and were reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee.
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Evaluation

Area of focus

FF{H

Purpose and approach

Information source

REHE B0t BilRIE
Board process Get the right information for the Board, and make the best use of its time Survey
5F5gEF RHRESFGWERGEEM, TERERH B&ENHE

Obtain feedbacks for the company secretary to improve on the information
support, meeting agenda setting and time allocation

HATIMBERNREER, NEEHNZIE. GRHERENIFHB NI
Comprehensive review to be carried out when there are major changes in strategy
and risk landscape, or Board composition

ERBAOEBERRR. YEEGHENBIREXEGHFETEERET

Ongoing review based on observation and feedback for the last meeting

BER L -XGHHBRNREE RITERS

Board structure

Appropriate allocation of responsibilities between the Board and various board

Benchmarking

ERTRIE committees to oversee all critical areas of governance R
AESEUSEFSET L ERENNREE, URESMERENEIREHE
Well-defined delegation and reporting obligation between the Board and the management
R TESFTRERE 2 HIRERRS ST
Annual review by the Nomination Committee
HiRREEeEFmET
Board composition Appropriate board mix of competency and diversity of perspectives in order to Survey
EETHEMN achieve the Company's long-term goal and strategy B
EFECREMNENNZ TEREN, IENREKBERREBIRERE Benchmarking
Annual review by the Nomination Committee HIZH R

HREEETEFmET

Director performance

BHEXRW

Performance of executive directors in the achievement of strategic goals,
performance targets and financial returns

HITESHTESRE B R, &YB RN RIHRKRE

INEDs' time commitment, contribution and independence
BITAFRITERHRRRA . SR0EIINT

Annual review by the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
mHNESEBNREESEGEF MG

Benchmarking
IR

Director development

BEEER

Continuously refresh the knowledge and vision of directors to make sure that they -
stay ahead in the changing environment and challenges in the market
FHEEMEFI0EARE, BREABESNIRENMIGIE PSP EE
Review the knowledge needs of directors and design appropriate training programmes

kst EE A0 H BRI G EAIEIE S

Annual review by the Nomination Committee

HiREEETEFRE

Survey

BENE

Board leadership
and strategies
EEFEMEERE
FORES

Private session held at least once a year between INEDs and chairman of

the Board

BUFNTEFRESFETRFGFRORITAMMER

Open agenda discussion on matters of concern of the Group

R E R E S B E TR HI R AR 65T i

May cover a wide range of topics, such as the Group's strategies, leadership of
the Board, performance of the management, etc.

MEEZNFE, AINRKENRE. EFTHNREET. EEENXRRES

INEDs' feedback
BIUEATESHR
BER
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SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS

A shareholders communication policy, which is available on the
Group website, sets out the key principles and practices for an
effective communication and engagement with shareholders and
the investment community for them to make an informed investment

decisions and exercise shareholders' rights in an informed manner.

We endeavour to ensure that shareholders and the investment
community are provided with two-way communication channels to
understand the Group's performance, strategies and prospects; and
also to express their views to our management and the Board on

various matters affecting the Group.

The Audit Committee reviewed and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders communication
policy during the year after the annual assessment based on a number
of factors:

Quality and timeliness of disclosures

Frequency of two-way investors communication

Convenience of communication channels or information platforms
Participation of the seasoned and well-trained management
Clarity of investors' understanding of the Group's strategies and
prospects

Reliability of performance guidance set by the management

The management's responses to the propositions of investors,
especially about corporate governance issues or the protection of
minority's interests

Compliance with obligations to handle or disclose inside

information
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Interactive engagement
We adhere to the principles of transparent and effective engagements with
stakeholders to provide the market with timely updates and to keep them

informed of the Group's operational and financial performance and outlook.

We welcome a two-way dialogue with capital market stakeholders, which
include our valued shareholders, to understand the market's views and
correct misperceptions, if any. It also provides us with the opportunity
and forum to share a comprehensive overview of our business through
management's perspectives. This includes our views and approach
on business growth and capital management strategies, corporate
developments and market outlook. Our dedicated Investor Relations
and Corporate Communications team is fully committed to maintaining
an open and constructive dialogue with our stakeholders and convey
timely corporate information to a diverse range of stakeholders, including

investors, media and the general public.

To ensure our stakeholders are updated about our business and
strategies to make informed decisions on their investments or potential
investments in Chow Tai Fook Jewellery, we established a strategic
framework of engagements to reach them proactively. This includes but
is not limited to a variety of online, offline and hybrid activities, such as
post-results briefings, non-deal roadshows, visits to our production sites
and stores, as well as participation at investor conferences. Following
the unveiling of our brand transformation in April 2024, we had actively
arranged store tours to our new image stores and showcased our new
collections at various events through the financial year. These enabled
our stakeholders to better understand our progress in executing the
strategies through their first-hand experiences. In addition, our senior
management actively engaged institutional investors and the media,
both local and global, through regular virtual and physical meetings,
fostering open and constructive dialogues. This proactive approach
not only promotes transparency but also facilitates interactive
communication with our stakeholders, allowing us to understand their

perspectives and respond effectively.
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We value feedback from the investment community of which our
investor relations team and senior management take into due
consideration, as appropriate. Our multiple channels of communication
and engagement deepen our understanding of investors' concerns
and drive effective communications. The team provides regular
updates to the Board on investor feedback and concerns to ensure
that the leadership is aware and can actively address, as necessary.
Key investors' concerns focused on areas including business
development, strategies and prospects, branding and reputation,
competitive landscape, corporate governance and talent attraction
and retention. Investors were particularly interested in the aspects of
business development and strategies, including the impact of macro-
economic uncertainties and gold price volatility, the rationale of
our retail network management strategy and progress of our brand
transformation.

As part of best practice, we are continuously reviewing the depth and
breadth of our disclosure to enhance the quality and content across
our investor relations collaterals. This will help with educating the
investment community to better appreciate our corporate narratives
and investment proposition. Our commitment to investor relations
best practices and guidelines is also demonstrated through our
pledge to the Hong Kong Investor Relations Association IR Pledge
Program since 2021.

The Group is a constituent of key indices, including Hang Seng Index,
MSCI China Index, Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index, Dow
Jones Best-in-class World Index & Dow Jones Best-in-class Asia
Pacific Index and FTSE4Good Developed Index. The Group has also
been granted an 'A' rating (on a scale of AAA-CCC) in the MSCI
Rating Assessment and membership of the "Sustainability Yearbook
(China) 2025" of S&P Global and "Sustainalytics 2025 ESG Top-Rated
Company (Asia Pacific)" of Morningstar. These recognise our efforts
on ESG.

In FY2025, the Group received various accolades in recognition of
our relentless effort in corporate governance and investor relations.
Please refer to Major Awards and Recognitions on p.12 - 15.

HPERRERNRE, HIEREERFEEROSHREE
BEAEGHENER TNAZE, SRS IRE KR
EHRTBKREENETEE, TREEGIEE, ZEK
EHREFGRUARKEE RELBITERNENEH,
LATEfRBIEJE TR REE W S I IR IR R I, REE BT HY
THEHOEERERE. REMOATR. P 0BE. BFIE
B EREBURATIRSIRIBE, REELERITRBHE
ERREERD, QRBEEEEENEEERESERNTZE.
FTEABEERBNEBERE, UkonREREFER,

TEREEEHH—8r, HMFERFTRERIRERERE,
LAnsa PR EEMERMENNEERRNS, EFEI
RIREFRBIFMERPMAEERENERREBE, &
PAGBENAITREERFNREED, WE2021FES
HEBREERERIHREERFE RS,

NREBIREEEH MSCIDEIEH. EEXUFEXRE
THEBEY. BEFTELESHRIEH L EERTELEEKIEY
FOFTSE4Good Developed 16 81 % = S5 I Y 72 %o 7R
KEAEMSCIFFH P WET RIAL R (FRAAAZECCCHR),
TAEEEHOUFERERFE (PER) 2025)REE
{ Sustainalytics 2025 ESCGEH &R (HKE)IAED
¥, BEMEE THMERIE. 8 REE LK.

20206 LR, MNEBEBEZELEE, REFMEDLSE
ERNKREZERENENAMSE 1. F2BEI2EISE
TERIENET.

Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index
Series Member 2024-2025

Member of

Dow Jones
Sustainability Indices
Powered by the S&P Global CSA

FTSE4Good

Member of the S&P Global Sustainability
Yearbook (China) 2025

MSCI

PLEDGE v/

ESG RATINGS s el
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Meetings by investor event in FY2025 Summary of investor relations activities in FY2025

2025 FEER (HREETEHNNE) 2025 I FEREERAFRTEME
One-on-one and group meetings C-level participation rate '
—$—REEEE EREREZNEE

Meeting and conference call 2 4/| 5 40
BHERBEERE O

[l [Investor conference

rREEHTT
Non-deal roadshows Investor conferences

[ Non-deal roadshow EZHRBE BREEHAE

20 13

1. Ininvestor conference and non-deal roadshow meetings
RILEERAGRIFZABEDPNGH

Major investor conferences that we participated in FY2025 are set out below:
JR2025TFEZHEM AR EZEEHE -

HSBC 11t Annual
China Conference

ESREEHAE

31t CITIC CLSA CICC Investment Strategy
Investors' Forum Conference, Spring 2025
PEERREEHAE hEREEHTE
Goldman Sachs Guotai Junan HSBC MENAT
China+ Conference Securities Conference Future Forum 2025
EEREEHRE EREZREEHRTE ESREEHRFAT
SEPTEMBER 2024 DECEMBER 2024 FEBRUARY 2025
2024%9H 2024%12H 2025%2H
APRIL 2024 OCTOBER 2024 JANUARY 2025 MARCH 2025
2024 4H 202410H 2025%1AH 2025%3H
HSBC Global Investment Goldman Sachs Virtual Goldman Sachs 2025 Changjiang Securities
Summit 2024 China Corporate Day 2024 APAC Consumer & Conference
ESREEHAE EEREEHRAT Leisure Corporate Day RIIBHFAREEHRAE
EEREEHRATG
Jefferies 6t Asia Forum
UBS Greater China SRBEEHGE
Conference 2025
MR EE TG HSBC Global Investment
Summit 2025
ESREEHRNT
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Multiple channels of communication and engagement

Channels R

Analyst and media results

conferences

SAERFERRE

Held analyst and press conferences for interim and annual results.

BITPHREFEENATEMRERLEESE

Hosted conference calls on announcements of quarterly key operational data
BITHRFEIEEEHBRASHHNET S

Announcements, presentations and webcasts are available on the Group website

EFHAES. BRAOBRE FRESEREL

Annual general meeting

("AGM")
RRAEAE

Held face-to-face communication with shareholders in AGM

R REF X EBRF SN

The Board and external auditors presented to answer the questions raised by shareholders
EETRINDZEEN L EE &AL ERRER

Detailed explanation for each proposed resolution in the circular, with high approval rate on
resolutions passed

RRBERFHEGHERERAS, IBRESZHEIR

Active engagement
with analysts

Organised visits to our production facilities and POS for investors and media in FY2025

2025 N FEZHHREE RIREE IR M EER ML T ER

?ﬁ;‘%?’}eg;;m% Invited investors and media to the launch events of our key product collections
ié@ﬁﬂl BEAREE R FRESRPMNESERNFMIEE
Arranged small group or one-on-one gatherings with prominent media in FY2025
FE2025 0N E S HEER S S EIR{E/\ Bl sy — 5 —RE
Handled enquires from investors. Received over 100 media interviews and enquires
BRIBREE B, REBIRI00E RIS &
Over 20 research analysts cover our Company in their reports on a regular basis
B20F AR AT EM RN E B RIRSE
Corporate Announcements, annual and interim reports, results presentations and press releases
reporting 2B SERDHIRS. FEMBOMME
EERIRE

Quarterly voluntary announcements of key operational data

BRAMEENESEES R

Investor meetings,
conferences

and non-deal
roadshows
;Rﬁg = Iﬂt\
ISR AIEE

Stayed connected with investors around the world through both virtual and physical events
in FY2025

L2025 I EIBEAR LR TIGENRERZIMEREE RITHE

Executive directors responsible for different business areas attended meetings to address
investors' concerns

BEARFEBRENNTEFHRE IR UNEHNRESRITHNEIR

Group website

SEAIL

Updated on results, quarterly announcements and corporate activities
EHEE LG, EEASREFTINEN
Enr|ched content to demonstrate the Group's business initiatives

EMHEREANS AR RSB I SRR 2 E

Electronic communication

BFE

Email alert service

ESE N e

Email to Investor Relations and Corporate Communications team: ir@chowtaifook.com (for
investors); media@chowtaifook.com (for media)

KREERERTEENEENEFIEE .

ir@chowtaifook.com (EZ ) ; media@chowtaifook.com ({&IF)
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Shareholder rights and other information
Shareholder(s) are entitled by the Articles and are also encouraged to
participate in the Company's general meetings or appoint proxies to

attend and vote.

Request to convene a general meeting and put forward
proposals

Shareholder(s) holding not less than 10% of the Company's paid-up
capital may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward proposals. The objectives of the meeting
must be stated in the related requisition signed and deposited with
our company secretary at the Company's headquarters at 33/F, New
World Tower, 16-18 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong.

Nomination of director for election

If a shareholder wishes to nominate a person for election as director
in a general meeting, the particulars of the candidate must be stated
in a nomination notice signed by such shareholder and deposited
together with a notice of willingness signed by the candidate to
our company secretary at the Company's headquarters or at our
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar (Tricor Investor Services Limited,
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong) of the
Company. The notice should be given at least seven days prior to the

date of such general meeting.

Making enquiries
Email to Investor Relations and Corporate Communications

Department and the Board at ir@chowtaifook.com.

Dividend policy
Strikes a balance between making an efficient use of capital
to strengthen our business development and rewarding our
shareholders with a participation in the Company's profits.
No pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Factors considered by the Board in determining the amount and
form of dividend:
- the Group's cash flows and financial position
- its earnings capacity and the economic outlook
- its business development plans and capital requirements etc.
Usually declares dividends twice a year, in the absence of special

circumstances.
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Full year dividend payout ratio £ FiRE %X
For the year ended 31 March #Z% 3 A 310 ILEFE

100.0%

92.9%
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—@— Full year dividend payout ratio
EEIREE

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

1. Special dividend excluded

In FY2025, the Board has made the dividend decisions in accordance
with the Company's dividend policy stated above.

Constitutional documents

No change during the year.

Market capitalisation

Approximately HK$88.0 billion as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024:
HK$115.3 billion), based on the total number of 9,987,736,800 issued
shares and the closing price of HK$8.81 per share.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this annual report, the prescribed public float of not less
than 10.7% has been maintained, which is a lower minimum percentage
of public float accepted at the discretion of the Stock Exchange.
According to the disclosure of interests in the Company's shares
available on the Stock Exchange's website as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report, the public float amounted
to not more than approximately 27.3% of the total number of issued

shares (excluding treasury shares) in the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

EREEHRS

The Board acknowledges the importance of adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems which assist them in
understanding the Group's risk profile, allocating resources to manage

key risks and making risk-reward optimised business decisions.

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") is a core competency and
essential tool that helps the Group continually creates, sustains,
and delivers stakeholder value. We believe a structured approach is
critical to the success of our ERM. Our ERM Framework is tailored to
the circumstances and business context of the Group, and comprises

the following elements:

EFGRARE. BUNEREERNSEERRZES
M, 525 R A BRI A o8 AN 5k B B L BRAR L . BB R LA
EIE T B bR {F 18 1 bR B2 Bl 3R B B R R

A 36 JE B BAE 2
TREAREER-—BRLENNEETH, AUREER
EaENERIE. HENEREERE. RFIBEE, ARELNA
EMNERTIE R B E A BRI, R MEVEREEE
EERREAEENBRIOREERESSE, WHIAT
BERAEMN -

Business Objective
and Strategy Setting

FE B R
RESTHIE
Risk
Capability Building Risk Identification
Jo e S EER Jee B 28 Al
AE 1B E
ERM Framework
Risk Culture
Risk Governance Model
Emergency ﬁiﬁwﬁ
. ERIES Risk Evatl\ulation
g2 2 g B ST, JE B 5T
J7 B Ja R Y

Effectiveness and
Performance Tracking

RYSADZR R IE Hi
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ERM FRAMEWORK

Risk culture
Our risk culture provides the overall direction towards risk
management and promotes consistent practices within the Group for

achieving the following objectives:

Balance business risks and returns, and support risk-based

decision-making.

Develop a common understanding of risk management across
different business functions and manage risk cost-effectively and

efficiently on an enterprise-wide basis.

Facilitate the achievements of the Group's strategic goals through
better identification of sustainability-related opportunities and

threats.
Commit to integrity, business ethics and legal compliance.

Our robust risk culture is shaped by leadership commitment, effective
communications, and appropriate policies and standards. We adopt
regular steps to sustain our risk culture, ensuring it is closely linked to
the Group's strategic objectives and matters relevant to our internal

and external stakeholders.

126 Governance

EEaVAN
50

A 56 JE B BIAE 2K

JB B Ak
1P 000 B S 52 44 B 5 22 RE BB 7T [0 A 2 B R
WEBIENE, LUEEIATEIZ .

B

THEBREEADR, UEREEZFFIRR,

TREI A B BRI I AE B P 2 M R R 60 L B IR M, X
R TR SR 8 EIEATAT & A AN Sk B PR 1

BN TR EE R ENREMNEE, BREE
ER RIS B IR

HORNGE. BREBNERSR,

WK ERE L HREET]. BYRE. B8 BRI E
AIZBAE T A o 1P 455 488 B B AR 48 e LA A6 52 e 179 61/l B 3
0, R BRI SR [ B PR B B AR R B2 A BB RO S 8D K 1 B B B
HEREREHE,

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BXBHREREARAE



Risk appetite

To achieve the strategic objectives and to meet the expectations
of our stakeholders, the Group is willing to take reasonable and
manageable risks that are in line with our strategy and capabilities, as

defined in our risk appetite.

Our risk appetite considers financial and non-financial factors, and
provides guidance to all business functions in decision-making and

performing operational activities.

Leadership 48iE &E

- Embed sustainability considerations in business planning and ensure

all decision-making stays within the Group's risk appetite

MOSEFEET BP0 EE oI RHE R REIE 8, RIRTAIRREBHT G EREN

JeR\ B e S

- Review and validate the ERM Framework regularly and lead by example

by demonstrating the right tone at the top
ERBESREDRERSIEER, LASFR, RIR ERFREREE
£

Internal Communication A &b & &

+ Arrange workshops and seminars to promote the risk culture
SR TIRIAROEAST & LAHEEE m e ST

- Develop clear escalation procedures for reporting risk issues
B 225 B il 7E BA i (] FE SR A

- Establish grievance and whistleblowing channels to report
confirmed or suspected fraud, misconduct and violations of
company policies
SRATBFREMIRE, RIS BBV IR N AETRINE
RABIBUERKIIT#

Robust Risk Culture
[EEL LR 4 4

Policies and Standards E{Z& A0 #£AI

- Establish and deliver appropriate training on the Code of Conduct,

Anti-Fraud Policy, Whistleblowing Policy, Anti-Money Laundering
Policy, and Best Practice Principles for Suppliers to reinforce our
expected ethical values and conduct

FIEMLETRI REFHECR. FMECR. RIEBBGRRER R ESE

FREENHR FUEE S, LR R MR E R E AR 5R 5T
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Risk Assessment Factors

E T ihEERE

OperaMl and
Impact Compliance
%EW&@E

Brand Image
and Reputation
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Health and Social Financial
Safety Responsibility Impact
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Risk governance model

Our risk governance model is designed to assist the Board of
Directors and Board Committees to carry out ongoing oversight
and monitoring on the effectiveness of our ERM system. The model
defines clear roles and responsibilities to reinforce the risk-related

accountability and transparency across the Group.

Well-coordinated integration of all the necessary resources and SERBARSHAETEE. GURBNGHEIIFNEIR
expertise for governance, assurance of performance and compliance MEXLH, #EETHEREENBARERENRERERED
BIRAHKBERREHES S, RMFA=ZERREI,
FRRERESENRREETTF,

provides critical support to the Group in meeting its strategic
objectives in the ever-changing business environment and regulatory
landscape. We adopt the three lines of defence model to coordinate

and facilitate risk management activities across the Group.

Board of Directors

ESg

[ Report ¥R [ Assurance TR

o+
g}
-Em
o i
>
(o)

Strategy and Audit Committee

BZEET

Transformation Committee

REBMNESEE

I Report R I Report R

Managing Director

EXEREE

Report ¥Re5

Report ¥R I

Coordination &
Implementation
174 57 B 2= il
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First Line of Defence

FE—EMR
Facilitation
TRt
Risk Owners
—

[ERRREBEEA

Second Line of Defence

F_EMR
Group level £EE@:

Risk Management Department
E P EIEED

Segment level 7333 /E@H:

Executive Office
TSR

Third Line of Defence
E=EHR

Coordination

il Internal Audit and
Whistleblowing
Officer
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Roles

mE

Responsibilities
=fE

Board of Directors
B

Evaluate and determine the Group's risk appetite in achieving its strategic objectives
ST fih K% 78 TE 74N 6K (30322 Ry o % B AR 05 1) VL Bk v U7

Ensure that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems

HEPRINER B ER LA AT G B K2 A U R B &5 TR AD N BB B 2 FR A

Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems

15 el B B BEAD BB B 1 AR A 2 e E ME R B S

Strategy and Transformation Committee
RIS EEES

Review risk and control issues through regular reports coordinated by Managing
Director and senior management team
MRESREERSEEEBEFAGNTHNRS, RETERLEETESEE

Review the priority of risk management efforts at Group level

AR 5 [ JE [ b & 1R TR BB SRR

Drive risk-conscious culture and promote control environment

B E R R R ENTIRER

Audit Committee
BUEET

Oversee the internal audit function, and review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems on behalf of the Board

NREFTEHENDEZEENREEREENABRERFEzREEREYM

Managing Director
BEREE

Confirm the results of the Group's annual risk assessment, and arrange and implement
mitigation measures for key risk issues, including material sustainability topics
EAREEFERRIGHGER, HETERRER, CEESUHFERRERE, ©
HER 58 ffe i 1 18 i

Monitor the implementation and progress of risk management plans and oversee the
effectiveness of internal controls

BREREESENETERRER, BE AT HIH A

First Line of Defence — Risk Owners

BEMR - ARAERRA

Manage, monitor, and report key risks in line with applicable policies and procedures
RIEEARBERIEFERE. BRUBSES@E
Accountable for the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls

HABEWN ZEEERAIMRS
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Roles Responsibilities

AE BE

Second Line of Defence — Risk Management - Support Managing Director and senior management team on the implementation of
Department risk and control functions

SETEAR - BB EER FHFEFREERSEEEBBETTE MR BT

Maintain the Group Risk Management Policy and related guidelines, to ensure the
alignment with the ERM Framework and the adherence by relevant stakeholders in the
risk governance model

MRS E R E R EOR A8 Eﬁ?e 5l, fEfREEFEREIBERRT -, WERE
RIB BRI IBERE & &

Establish, refine and monitor the requirements for critical group policies, procedures,
and standards to reinforce the risk management and internal control systems

HIE. EENRREKBEMARKER. 25 R2ERTRRE, DS IEEEIE R A 885
=R

Facilitate internal and external communications on the Group's risk management, and
report regularly to the Audit Committee and senior management team on the progress
and effectiveness of the risk management initiatives

RESEEREIRE TIFMAE ISR, MEHRAETSEENEE EIEEEKER
REE bR e IR T IFIE = B Ay

Coordinate and monitor governance, risk and compliance activities in collaboration
with risk owners

HERRIEEEAGE, MANEREL. BRINSRKRIEH

Second Line of Defence — Executive Office  + Coordinate, drive and monitor the implementation of risk management and internal

FEENLR - TTHED control initiatives in business segments in accordance with the Group's strategy
IRIESRERES, fhaRl. HEEN M B RA B SR E0 P T E b B 1B A0 N 50 BT g
Allocate resources to business segments for risk mitigation initiatives, provide
guidance and support to risk owners, and coordinate with business units to meet the
Group's risk management reporting requirements
HEBIPI0 R EEHEIRETEIRFER, REBAEESARMSSIFOZIE, Rk
A8 S T B P e & 6 [ o B B R (R R e oK

Third Line of Defence — Internal Audit and ~ + Internal Audit — Validate the effectiveness of risk management and internal controls

Whistleblowing Officer through internal audit and identify improvement opportunities as appropriate
E=EIR - NEPERRERES NEPEZ - BIBNEPE RS BRI RN SINE T, R & E &
we

Whistleblowing Officer — Manage and investigate misconduct and fraud cases, and
review the effectiveness of remedial actions

HREE - EERFASAETRRERZM, WRsT#BITENR AL
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I. BUSINESS OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGY SETTING

Risks are inherent in our business activities and relate to strategic
goals and business performance. We aim at integrating risk
management into strategic planning and performance monitoring,

ensuring the levels of risk is within the Group's risk appetite.

Business strategy and risk management system integration
We understand that the Group operates in an evolving market
landscape. In face of frequent changes in the external environment,
including geographic and competitive market factors, as well as
sustainability-related requirements, the Group has to be vigilant in
formulating strategic objectives in a timely and agile manner in order

to respond to the challenges and opportunities arise.

The ERM Framework has been established to support the Group's
strategic development and to identify issues in our business value
chain. These issues are grouped into five major management focuses,
to enhance accountability and to facilitate the implementation of

control measures.

During the year, we actively communicated with risk owners to
confirm the risk factors and mitigation direction as our business
evolved, ensuring the risk management efforts are appropriate,

effective and in alignment with the Group's overall strategy.

Business Landscape and Strategy

RRIRIRFIRE

- Business value chain analysis
FRBEENT

+ Market update and impact assessment
MRS BT

- Sustainability trends and requirements
iR B AR TR

- Legal and regulatory updates
EERADEAR BT

* Industry benchmarking
THREIR

I SEB5 H R RIS il
BMOEHEDFEEEAR, 1REEEEEOEES
B RMEEHEAREERARBERENENER, RRE
oI FE S B ) PRS2 R A

SEh A SR B R R

BRENER, KRERHARSTER, RENSETEREB
R, LAEH S IRHE R 18

T IR R b AR SR B ST &R B AR IS 3 e K2 Y o SRS
BEETHEZRENER, BEERNFONEREE, X
03 s B8 1 AD {2 8 422 T 4 M ) R il o

TN, PP i fo R B AR 3 B 55 B B DA B SR BE S SRR
EMEMNERREREETG, BREREETFESE.
B, MERKE BRI RE 5

Risk Management Process

EEERFRE

- Risk identification and classification
JoE B 9 i K2 ) 5

- Risk evaluation
Jar B A

- Risk mitigation measures and management
accountability

R R S R E IR E (T
- Progress review of mitigation workplans
fES TR EiRR
- Effectiveness monitoring of control measures

E A RY R E R

Major management focuses under business value chain FHEEE TR EEEEHE

Business & Market
Development

R MnERE

Branding & Product
oo E oa R
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2. RISK IDENTIFICATION

Precise risk identification allows us to identify potential risks that may

2. JH B 3l

KT ot a1 oL B 58 e P 5 5 O B 2 R (05 R 0 2 B TE L B
i ) 78 i 1R EE LATR P AD PR O REBFI R E B R

have an impact on the Group, and to develop mitigation strategies to

prevent and limit the possible negative consequences.

Objective HIZ

RISK Identify and manage risks effectively by developing thorough understanding of the possible

risk scenarios, and their relationship with business strategies, objectives and performance.
BT RE R R E AL, IAREMBEERREE. BIRAES 2 BEGEE,
FRET A G AN AD TR o B

IDENTIFICATION
Je s 58

Risk Identification Channels [ B & Al iR 1§

Research &
Benchmarking

B R A0 £ AR

Business
Intelligence Reports

BIREERE

Policy & Risk Worlfshops
. & Seminars
Process Review BB T
5 3O [ A i
R B 72 e A 5 oy
. Internal &
Dag};n;l;/;cs External Audit
A8 K2 Sh BB B

Stakeholder
Engagement
Activities *

HmESREH *

Whistleblowing
Mechanism

SRR Al

}

Internal Risks

! !

}

ESG-related Risks
ESGHE R @ &

]
Business & Market e
Development
e Product
ol RIERES

following QR code to access our report:

External Risks Emerging Risks
SHEBE bR T 5 B
Risk Inventory & I& & &

Risk Categories J&l & 48 All

Supply Chain &
Operational
B Management
Mg RS EEIE

Financial

ARFNEZSRIGENNITE, TSRO FHEERRS N, sfRiELA T AR IARITIRES:
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Governance and
Compliance
)=y

More details of our stakeholder engagement activities are included in our Sustainability Report. Please scan the
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Main features of the risk identification framework JE B il B ) T R B

Diversified risk identification
channels

S R B L B S R SR

To ensure the completeness of our risk inventory, we adopted diversified risk identification
channels to identify internal, external, emerging, and ESG-related risks that might affect the
achievement of our business objectives and strategies from multiple sources comprehensively
on an ongoing basis

miEREREENZEE, FMERASKRENERERE, FERSERIRES @A ER
DWEMN R BT RREEANAER. JMEB. T EL A2 ESG 18R @ BE

Holistic view of risks

R4S B

We continuously analyse risk factors relevant to the Group's strategic goals and business value
chain to determine the landscape of significant risks that the Group may face. Risk events
are classified into five major categories, namely Business & Market Development, Branding &
Product, Financial, Supply Chain & Operational Management, and Governance & Compliance,
and are further divided into specific risk items with clear risk descriptions

FPFE T EREKERE B S B EEEEAKERREZR, UAHIESE s mHEEE X
BRI, EREBEUNALAME, MFEBERMEER. @EERER. . {EEREESE,
IRIGERGHR, ME—P@lnmBRfERIRE, LK BT 6@ b i

Risk inventory management

A E IR

We perform periodic reviews to ensure the identified risks are valid and relevant, and to evaluate
any changes to the existing risks

As part of the periodic reviews, we make reference to the results of internal risk assessments,
external audits, professional reviews, as well as industry insights from various sources
FREASHN—87, AMESE N EMRG. SHEBEZ. BXFENER, ULRE
BEEAALTHER

To ensure our ERM Framework incorporates the evolving risk landscape appropriately, the risk
inventory covers hot topics in sustainability including environmental policy, climate adaptation
and resource management in the supply chain processes

7 T R 1P 0 10 3% Jl B 5 TR AE S0 & b AR AN T A Y B @ Bt , e AP 641 R B S B D ER T
BREMAMZEE, OEEREECK. RIEEELNHERRECINERER
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3. RISK EVALUATION 3. JE gt Al
ARHEENHF T RER RN LEE, AREAR
ZRITT TP BB BB, R PR T 1 A RO B IR 1R

Risk evaluation enables us to understand the impact level of the
identified risks and the interdependencies that may exist between

risks, providing a basis for developing and prioritising risk response. HHRIER,

Objective HIE
Determine the risk impact by assessing likelihood and potential consequences, thereby
identifying the risk priorities and selecting the appropriate risk response
2@ 5T OT AETEAD B FE 12 SRR E M PR 22 2, e ffe 7 o B 18 S IR e D28 422 8 5 C) Vo P2 [ i

J

Risk Evaluation Criteria /& B 5E {4 1E iE

Brand Image OperaMthMdal
Safety Responsibility

and Reputation Impact Compliance

R %E%%/)<\§f%ﬁﬁ RERD S L

Risk Evaluation Methodologies & Tools B EAER IR

Financial
Impact
AR e

pii
iy
i

Qualitative Assessment Quantitative Assessment

E W ETIIE EEFEFIE
Business Cost-Benefit
Interviews Workshops Surveys Intelligence Data Analytics  Financial Models Analvsis
- - . i
EiEd TIE BESEERE Reports BUR SR iR iER e
e Y A 3 AT
BHEEERS

!

Risk Assessment & & sE &

Operational Level Group Level Assessment
Assessment Assessment Result Review

EE BT SEEmTE ST RE S

Risk Heat Map
JoE i 4 25

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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Main features of the risk evaluation framework JEL B A AE 2R ) 2 R

Holistic risk assessment

=R RS

The severity of risks is assessed at multiple dimensions and from a holistic perspective by
risk owners, the Risk Management Department, and senior management team to ensure
comprehensiveness of the risk assessment

mEAERESA. AREESISEcEERERSEREEREHAE QR RREERET,
LATHE & B 5T 1 B 2 T 1

Risk owners are responsible for performing risk assessments of their operational units at least
once a year. Risk Management Department supports risk owners and management in the
process of understanding the key considerations and feasible responses, and groups common
risks across operating units to assess the risk level collectively from the Group's perspective
EEAEESEABEEEFES R HEEEMETERT G, B e RIS &R AE
BEAREEETREIEEERATHER, IHSEESEUNTBERELR, REEKRMA
JE H B 571G @ ik

The final assessment result is depicted in the risk heat map, which is endorsed by senior
management team
REFEBERE2RRERALE, AsEEIEEKAD

Risk evaluation criteria

RIREE G

The Group has developed a set of risk evaluation criteria in line with its risk appetite to
comprehensively assess the severity and likelihood of the risks identified

FEHABERFEEFHET —ERRITEER, N EsThEERE RN EREEMZEEK TN

The evaluation criteria takes into account the impact of risks in different dimensions, including
brand image and reputation, operational impact, legal and compliance, health and safety, social
responsibility and financial impact, such that both financial and non-financial consequences are
considered in the risk assessments

HEREEERBEARAENZE, EREERREE. BEXE. ZERGHR. BR
Mo HESERNBRE, EGRRBIEEZEIMBELIFVHBEHENER

In addition to the established evaluation criteria, the "importance to stakeholders" is considered
to ensure ESG-related concerns are addressed and prioritised during risk assessments. We
engage internal and external stakeholders to identify and evaluate ESG-related risks which may
have significant impacts to the Group and our stakeholders

BT BEE B R, WPUNERT SN ENESME |, AERESGIERAFIRE R iGIR
BhEREERBIEE, HPEGENRNEBMIIETNE S EER 0T G RERKERFNE
ELEEXZER ESG B R E &

The risk assessment results illustrate the risk ratings of all identified risks and provide an
indication of the areas that require management focus and attention

JEU B 5T 1 45 SRR BR P B E Al m bR i B b sk, 1A B EE T S =R LM AL
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4. RISK MITIGATION AND CONTROL

The primary objective of the risk mitigation and internal control
framework is to reduce risk. The structure of our risk mitigation and
control framework is informed by principles outlined by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission's ("COSQ")
Internal Control — Integrated Framework.

Objective HIE

A J Py JAE 3 97 A

o B fE 4 A0 R B0 B R AE SR B £ 2 B B & B T R e B M
b1 o B fE 4 AD B 5 AE AR 2R A8 2 BR Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission ([ COSO |) Z N &B
BT AR SRR AT HIE

Reduce the likelihood and/or impact of risk
B {FE JE P 35 AE B BT AE TR RD/ sY HAZ R E

|

Internal Control System REPE{E R 4

Control Environment

Control Information & Communications

EHlRE RiZEERIEE
Commitment to Integrity Risk Qua'llty . Internal External
. Information with L .
and Ethical Values Governance Model ey Communication Communication
B ERERER B EaEE BE RIS R SE JhEDiEE
Control Activities B {ZiE &l
Preventive Detective Corrective
Controls Controls Controls
Tap e i (EhElER YD 4l IE P 5 it

!

Internal Control Assessment PIEBES 15 5E (S

Self-assessment by
Operational Units

EEENNE TS

136 Governance
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Independent Assessments by

Internal Audit

W EBE 12 B XL 5T 1

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BXBHREREARAE



Main features of the risk mitigation and control framework VIR JELBgz K 4 il HE 22 %) 3= BRI

Robust control environment

RREGIRE

Promote honesty and integrity among our people on a day-to-day basis

EHEEEDE THEMNERNE XL

Foster an environment in which our people are capable and committed to carrying out internal
controls across the Group, and confirm their acknowledgement at least annually

EE-EEE TRANSIMBEESRENERASEEZNIFRR, UE>GFHEDER

Put into place appropriate policies and standards, such as Anti-Fraud Policy, Code of Conduct,
Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Money Laundering Policy, to enhance our commitment to
integrity and ethical values

il Eﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁlgﬁ\ WESTRI BMECR R RAREERE G EEBEREER], 75 A0S T 9% 5
B RIEEEEIIRE

Effective risk & control
communications

BYEEREEEE

Quality information and data analytics — We apply business intelligence and data analytics
when and where possible, to convert data into meaningful risk management information
to support the identification of control weaknesses and the evaluation of risk response
effectiveness

BHEEREREIEANNT - HMBARETTHER FERBRSEREENT, BEIEEYS
BRENEREEGE, LA R 5T 53R A0 T 1 = b fE 5 05

Internal communications — We adopt top-down and bottom-up approaches to ensure
management is aware of the risks that have an impact on the Group, and the specific risks
that fall under each risk owner's responsibility to ensure mitigation responses are properly
implemented. Top-down communications include employee training, town hall meetings and
company announcements. Bottom-up communications include risk reports at management
meetings as well as fraud reports through the whistleblowing channels and other reporting
mechanism

MERIEIA — FMPREVEH LM AR T ERTTE, BREEENFAREBEZEN @R, X
E’ZQJ—lHA%}FETATﬁEEﬁEEE‘]ﬁE@B@, LABE R EEHE MR S BT, B EM THIEEE
BETIHI. ®BEHBRLATNEG; BTFTMENBEEAEREESHERNERSIH, KIS
1B ER R B AN B3R & Ml R B0 S8 BB

External communications — We regularly communicate with external stakeholders and engage
with industry experts to identify risk events that might affect the achievement of the Group's
strategic objectives

ShEBIEIE — T E BRI S0 10 BT B R BSR R E BN, USRI BB IR INEKE
B E R

Internal control assessment

e

Operational units are responsible for performing self-assessments and individual risk-based
reviews at least on an annual basis to assess their performance in promoting effective control
practices and to monitor store operational risks and irregularities
BEEUBESATESSF-XEBHFAGRENRREENES, AFEHEERESIEE
BRI AR R 5P 5 S E @ k2B R B IR

Internal Audit is responsible for performing independent assessments of key control activities
to ensure compliance and conformity of internal control to pre-determined standards

NEPHFE B REUTERRETIEE, NERASBRENGRIETRERE

Annual Report 2025
2025 F 1R

Risk Management Report 137
mREERS



FY2025 key risks

Through applying the aforementioned ERM framework, we have
identified and responded to the following key risks in FY2025:

LA

Key areas of risk implication /B f& 5 & + S #ilE

2025 A BUAF 5 F 2R b

Al ] fE AT EZ b

BEiE A R E EAER, TP 2025 AT BUAF & 5

K x
2 & @ EN IS G
Damage to brand Fall in customer Business interruption Legal disputes Decline in Property and
and reputation loyalty and failure and liabilities business profitability financial losses
DB EZE BB 25 R B PR AT SRS o W Rz K2 ERANREIE EIEEAEETI TR EUN=ISEUR RS
Risk category Key risk and risk description Controls & mitigation Risk trend
i P 4 Al FEEEERREESE B 5 R EE 18 e B ki 54

Business & Market
Development
EBETMIZER

Retail store management
TEMEEE

Unanticipated changes to the
operating district or competitive
landscape, ineffective store
performance management, or
inefficient product strategies may
result in profitability deterioration,
fall in customer loyalty and

reputation damage

. IEHEIEEA. NERD
RIS, OIREEEEAIGETIT
Fe. BB DAERTENEEZE

Potential impact:

VIR 7T B 588 .
BETE .

*
s =

Accelerate the use of artificial intelligence to support
store network planning, such as performing capacity
assessments at the operating district, city and regional
levels, to ensure efficient allocation of capital resources
NEREAALSRESHEPS SRS, HII0ETTE E
B, WhilEEERNSEF G, NEREREREY
b2l

Develop strategic cooperation models with key shopping
malls and department stores, to establish clear market
and brand positioning, and to secure optimal store
locations at major cities
HESHENPNRBEASIRRREBESIFRIT, #1160
ENMEREEEN, TEESHHMEEREEHTS

Establish the store performance evaluation mechanism
and apply key performance indicators for sales and
marketing, inventory management and store operations
EIPYEEET S, ERTH. BETEERGHEE
KR RESIE IR

Continuously review product strategies based on

market study and data analysis, to optimise the product
assortment for the operating segment and to maintain an
overall efficient inventory system

IR TSR EIE ST, FEREEwREE, NEBLE
ENBIERER, THESEBEFRANGRMT
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Risk trend
2 P i A

Key risk and risk description

FEEBERHRREERE

Controls & mitigation

BRI ) JE EliE

Risk category
e B 2 Al

Business & Market
Development

FERMBER

Franchise business management
NnEE R e IE

Failure to select high quality
franchise partners, ineffective
performance monitoring
mechanism and/ or inability to
maintain strong relationship with
the franchise partners, may result
in financial, reputation and legal
impact to the Group

JREEIZ B EHIN0 BB R
RIF B BRBH L / B REE
BB R IRTRIFERE,
OJREET E SR EIE AV AT s . B8
RIS

Potential impact:

VIR 7T B 4B .
B

I 2 K

Ongoing review of franchise business strategy and
business model, establish dedicated management
responsibilities to engage and support our franchise
partners, and to implement enhanced workplans
FERGENEERRBRERED, EUESEEES,
AZ WA ERMEIEBRH, BEHEEBHHNTFE
G

Establish the selection and evaluation mechanism for
franchisees, ensuring our franchise partners possess sound
financial capabilities, solid experience in the jewellery
industry and are committed to maintaining a stable
relationship with the Group

5TXL/10 83 7 B BRI K2 ST A Mg o), B R PT B 10 BE s 8 14
BEEEBIAEEE. BENRETRER, WEER
HNER B HIAE E B 1R

Develop the performance monitoring system to facilitate
early warnings of sales and compliance issues, allowing
improvement workplans and training to be implemented
promptly, and penalties to be enforced consistently
BUAYEERG, HHENGREERELRHRE, ¢
LR E i o E TIESTEIFNIEI, W E R TEE Bk

Other measures including the whistleblowing reporting
channels, regular store inspections and comprehensive
data analytics contribute to the timely escalation of
franchisee issues

HAh & ffe a1 15 8 ¥R IR IE
M, BRI ER0R

 EMIMIEEER = EHEES
a1 6] P R
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Risk category Key risk and risk description Controls & mitigation Risk trend
i P % Al 3 2 e B it 2 i TE B {5 2 R S 15 e e B s 34
Business & Market rivalry and intelligence Utilise digital technology to support business planning

Market iz F AR and market study, including scenario modelling, integrated
Development impact analysis of product portfolio and industry

=R HIGERE Failure to collect and respond benchmarking

to market information, such as
changes in the business and
political environment, competitive
landscape, and evolving customer
preferences may result in decline
in market share and fall in

customer loyalty

JREEWER N (O] fEMIG & EL, HIND
FIREIIERENEN. BRPER
BARRE Wi RS, TTREEE
MIZEAERTRERBEE BHE
B

Potential impact:

\ 2w
BEXE

*

A S SR R BN MG R, SEBEEE.
ERASHERGRZENITITRAR

Modernise our brand image and marketing campaign

for iconic product collections to deepen our reach and
rapport with existing and new generations of customers,
taking into account sustainability considerations and
environmental impact
HREBITERA TN REERRIEEZERRINFEH
EE, DUDREIEE R FERENHE, RIFEEFE
MR IRREHTE

Continuously enrich the market intelligence shared among
senior management team and business functions, ensuring
we stay up to date with market conditions, customer
preferences and actions of our competitors, and make

the necessary adjustments to our business strategies in a
timely basis

HESERESEEEBR L EBIBMANZHRMZER,
ERFPEREEMGRIT. BE R RHRFEFRT
BN, TR 05 SRR IR I 1 S A S B R
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Risk category Key risk and risk description Controls & mitigation Risk trend
e B 2 Al FEE R BT E B {5 2 JE £ 15 e e B s 34
Branding & Brand management and media Establish a dedicated taskforce with assigned

Product controversy monitoring responsibilities to identify, contain and manage incidents

B hE K2 2 o MR EIE R RSP R R that may impact the Group's brand image and reputation

Inability to manage negative
public opinion or media coverage
arising from customer complaints,
infringement of intellectual
property rights, or inappropriate
behaviours of the Group's
spokespersons and contracted
influencers, may result in damage
to brand image and reputation
EEEERBRERFNRILA0H
EERES|IRE BB T B R By PR RS IR

g, syEREN S AMGHIEAIN

FETR, THERRIBYRI
BETR

Potential impact:

\EE 7T By 480
BETE .

following a structured communications programme.

This allows potential incidents to be identified at an

early stage, concerns of relevant stakeholders to be
acknowledged and addressed, and ensures consistent
responses to be provided across all appropriate channels
on a timely manner

BUEMIMEMMETEEHEBS, BRRGEHHIEBEE
@Al EHAEET Y EREREERINBERN S,
Eﬁﬁﬂ)ﬁ???gﬁ‘ﬁ%T%Ti TRIEEFNENRE, (i
fife R Rz 5 15 368 PT 5 11 5 ORI 12 5t — S (B

Develop and regularly review standards on customer
service and product quality, to consistently deliver
optimised shopping experience and exceed customer
expectations

HIE A E RS RS RFERRERE, FERHE
EREYIRS R, WBMEREMEE

Establish guidelines on the selection and performance
monitoring of contracted influencers, to ensure redline
behaviours are identified promptly and relationship with
inappropriate inﬂuencers are managed on a timely manner
FIEGABAIFHNRT A B IZ BB, IATRIRAE

HF 5 A1l AL 4R 17 7% A0 R T B N S 4 AL B BA 1R

Engage professional third-parties to investigate and
enforce infringement clues, and strengthen awareness
towards patents, trademarks and copyrights
SHEBERBNERFAESEEGRIGETHE, R
B BRERESFENERH
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Risk category

Key risk and risk description

Controls & mitigation

i P % Al 3 2 e B it 2 i TE B {5 2 R S 15 e
Financial Capital and Liquidity Determine the optimal hedge ratio based on the Group's
U BBt operational requirements, exposure to gold price

Potential inability to service
outstanding debt and expenses

and remain a going concern, due

to insufficient operating cashflow,

inability to obtain additional
funding with financially/
commercially acceptable terms,
or the devaluation of high value
assets

HREEREREASRE. ﬁ}EL‘A
BT / 8 5 L Ol 32 B IR GREY
BINEE, EY:—JTETEEfBZTE
O AR U A BB R ADSZ A2

FHgEE

Potential impact:

ViR (T 244
TRE

6=

fluctuations and industry experience, and regularly review
as market conditions change

RELEREER K. && &@E']J—WAETT%%EW RE
REENPELZR, WpEE iR 0 E e S

Develop robust capital management processes with
scenario planning, to ensure effective use of capital
resources and to minimise variance from the optimal
hedge ratio

BEUREsNERERERENBRAS, BREERE
&R, iR EHRP RN EREFEERT

Establish clear roles and responsibilities for monitoring
the hedge position and for ensuring its alignment with the
Group's overall financial strategy and risk tolerance
AHREEEIPRAETRENABINSEE, BIRTEGHRE
TS RIS SR IS A0 R P /R 2 RE T

Conduct regular analysis of sales data to expedite

the recycling of slow-moving products and adjust the
product portfolio in response to rising gold prices,
thereby reducing inventory turnover period and enhancing
cashflow

EMATHEER, UIREHERMDE, WiRkEEE
B LEARERES, RMERTEBENORETIR
Eain
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Risk category Key risk and risk description Controls & mitigation Risk trend
e B 2 Al FEE R BT E B {5 2 JE £ 15 e e B s 34
Supply Chain Procurement management Establish standard procedures for vendor selection,

& operationa|
Management
BUESER E E

PRiEE 1T

Ineffective supplier management,
price fluctuations, misalignment in
ESG considerations and external
factors (e.g. political environment,
global economic conditions) may
result in unstable supply of raw
materials and increased costs
MEREEAT. BREIKEN.
ESGEEA—HAZINEEZE (10
BUBERIE. SEEEIRR) P&,
ol fEE R EATEE R AR
B0

Potential impact:
BEXE .

RO

onboarding and performance evaluation, to ensure good
quality raw materials and products are sourced from
reliable suppliers at competitive prices

U ER EE. EANESGEHHIIRERF, ERIAR
A 3 1A E AR 0T F 615 8 PR 8 B SR AT AL A0 2

Regularly review the supplier management system to
ensure vendors meet requirements of leading industry
standards and are aligned with our ESG core values
including but not limited to environmental protection and
labour practices

FHRFHEREIERE, BRTERMSELRITEER
SRR, W ME] ESG IMWVBEBRET —, B&EE
ABRRIRE REA S5 TIE A

Make use of globally recognised screening system and
database during vendor onboarding and evaluation, to
strengthen compliance with anti-money laundering laws
and other applicable financial crime legislations

AL E R A FD ST 1R A2 o (2 R £ EREA 0T B0 B 2 R AR AD
BRE, LANDEIE T i A G A0 B il A B & AR 58
EAR

Perform regular supplier risk assessments and onsite
audits to identify and address potential compliance gaps
E AT HE R RS ANIRIREST, MR EE BT
K& RGO
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Risk category Key risk and risk description Controls & mitigation Risk trend
i P % Al 3 2 e B it 2 i TE B {5 2 R S 15 e e B s 34
Supply Chain Cybersecurity Develop and regularly review the IT security and disaster

& Operational Asge recovery policies to ensure capabilities to restore business

Management
R EEEE

Cyber incidents including but
not limited to serious data theft,
malicious attack on systems

or ransomware may expose

the Group's network to the
possibility of intrusion, leading to
unauthorised access of sensitive
company information and/or
customer data and business
interruption, resulting in legal
disputes, regulatory fines and
financial loss

BB, EEANIRKREEER
HEB. GRIBRFENHNRN
%, TTEEBERENEKSZEIA
=, BEERNASIEM/ 8
B B R TR AR RE S I T4
TFHY, ISAYGERCRE, fEmslic
e NN S IESEEU B P S

Potential impact:

\RE B/ %88 |,
BERs

QoA

operations and minimise potential impacts from system
failure

FIEMERES TSN L HMIREBER, LABIRE R
IR1ESREEIF, W RASIEHEERBRERT

Establish the cyber crisis management and business
continuity plans to stipulate clear accountabilities and
response strategy in the event of a cyber crisis, with
regular simulations performed on possible scenarios to
enhance preparedness on management and operational
levels

EUEBEREERFBEELSTE, PERERERS
eI RO R, IR A ENER,
LATIO 58 &8 12 K2 & 1 Jeg T () E 1 LA

Obtain security standard certifications for critical systems
and conduct regular penetration testing
R B AR A0 2 2R SR Il T HAE 1T 12188 M 5t

Engage external experts to conduct 7x24 cyber threat
detection and monitoring with various technologies for
providing timely risk response
SEEINEBE SN S ERRIETT 7x24 A48 R E (2RI B
T, FR 1 R BB & B (o]

Procure sufficient coverage of cyber insurance to minimise
financial losses in the event of a cyber event

BE R AMBEGRER, AF3EERBE IR BE KR
ERl

Raise awareness of cybersecurity and trends in cyber
crime by providing regular training to our staff and
arranging expert sharing to senior management team
REEHETHIEAEEEREERGHERNZ, 12
AT RAGILEEANEH
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Risk category
e B 2 Al

Key risk and risk description

FEEBERHRREERE

Controls & mitigation

BRI ) JE EliE

Risk trend

Governance &
Compliance

EIEREGH

Anti-money laundering compliance

REE G

Ineffective measures taken to
address regulatory requirements
on preventing and combating
money laundering, terrorist
financing and sanctions violations,
or unintentional facilitation of
money laundering activities in
our operating regions, may result
in noncompliance penalties and
reputation damage

7 AE PREX A S i fE 1 =5 B
ih B E H TR R TR E IR R
kit = 35 il B K2 J2 = I B A AR
R, ¥rEEPHRBRER
EH, DTREEEERFIIREE

B3

Potential impact:

BETE .
ORN

Establish a robust financial crime compliance governance

structure at the Group and business market levels based

on the requirements of all applicable laws and regulations,

and benchmark against industry best practices
IRIEAEREROERISR, ERENEETSE
RMEVBENSAICEGREGRE, WIATTEREE
PR ELE

Develop policies that set out clear roles and
responsibilities to identify, investigate and report
suspicious money laundering activities in our operating
regions

Tl E USR  BA tf E 25 [ 15 N a8 Al . A A0SR S5 ol Bk
BiEINAENEE

Continuously monitor the development of anti-money
laundering and financial crime laws, and timely reflect
the updated requirements in our procedures to ensure
compliance with all relevant regulations
FEEEREROS/RILREEZENE R, TREERRF
PR BRI R, LATIRIE ST PTABRIER

Leverage on digital platforms to assist frontline and
back-office teams with customer and counterparty due
diligence compliance procedures and record keeping

E RS T G AERI R ATRS N7 5 F R
EGHRMERELERRTE
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Risk category
i P % Al

Key risk and risk description

3 S B i i R B TE

Controls & mitigation

BR IR ) JE #liE

Risk trend
J B i A

Governance &
Compliance

EIEREGHE

Privacy protection

BEAL PR 58

Failure in system security and/

or improper staff operations
leading to leakage or misuse

of personal information of our
customers, staff, contractors or
other stakeholders, or the inability
to meet data privacy legislations,
may result in regulatory fines,
legal disputes and damage to the
Group's reputation
RTE2RYR /¥ ETIRIFA
&, Sl8EE. 8T, REHN
HihFm & B AR INBEY
WIEMA, VEETGEIRELIE
R, TTRREHEEIN. EEF
HMRERERETE

Potential impact:
BEXE .

Establish the Privacy Governance Committee and appoint
a Data Protection Officer responsible for privacy-related
matters, including the formulation of privacy management
policy and related guidelines

MIRELGIEEEE, TSEEAGRREEZEFENL
HETIF, BIEEENLEEECR R IBEES

Observe regulatory developments and seek professional
advice from external experts, to ensure the Group is
in compliance with applicable laws across all business

markets

BRESAER, U=2XMERNERER, AERSKE

1B < P A SRS T 5 B A AR

Conduct privacy impact assessment on the proposed
business initiatives and IT systems, and implement
appropriate process and system controls based on
compliance requirements

MEERFEB T R0IT RFEETLERZE AT, Wil
BIREREE S KRR G

Raise staff awareness of personal data and privacy
protection through privacy training

SRl EEIE, Re 8 IEREEABHENLS
2 EH

Refer to "Supply Chain & Operational Management —
Cybersecurity risk" for the controls and mitigations on
potential system security failure

w2 HUEEREEEE - ATk |, LATHE
TE F 47 52 22 D& (K1 4 il B A48 i 5 it

Risk level increased during FY2025
2025 B BUEF & N @ bk _E
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Risk level remained broadly the same as FY2024

Risk level decreased during FY2025

B2 2024 AN U E B @ BT E

2025 BT BL4E E N @ B/l T - B
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SR fo A Al R By 1) B
AP 4R 5 LR E 90 25 1 O 5 A R 1B B B IR
g,

Management for climate change risk
We adopt the integrated risk management approach to manage

sustainability-related risks and opportunities.

As a responsible global citizen, we do not only support a low-carbon FRESENERAOR, FMAEFERRORE, TRE
future, but also work with the international community to contribute B ERFEEROBEERERSHFEER, THETR
EREMEREE, B2020F2HMSERIZEHEMEER
WEETIF4E ([ TCFD |) B BIERIFH RIRIBRHE R RE,

efforts to climate change mitigation and adaptation, and are focused
on improving our reporting transparency. From 2020 onwards, we
publish climate-related disclosures according to the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures ("TCFD").

FAFERTRZEANEESREN, NITHEEROF
ERREANEET ([ I1SSB ) HBHZIHESRIIERZEEIL
BREGIE, MR RIZERNERIE, AREE
TREREESAMEUNKY 2T h, TERKRIERT
IZAISE

We continued monitoring updates to the climate-related disclosure
requirements, analysed the disclosure gaps published by International
Sustainability Standards Board ("ISSB") to ensure compliance, and
proactively identified climate-related risks and opportunities for
the Group's in-depth climate scenario analysis and financial impact

assessment. The consideration factors and framework are as follows:

Governance Eifi

The Board of Directors holds the highest
responsibility for climate-related issues and
delegates to the Sustainability Committee for

Aspect
g

Risk Examples

2 B 5l

Opportunity Examples
HgiE Rl

Time horizon with regard to our business outlook
HEREXBREZEZRREEE:

Short-, medium- and long-term are defined as less than 2 years, 2 to 6
years, and more than 6 years respectively

& PREMSABDIR2F . 2-6 FREBIBGF

overseeing and managing ESG matters.
ESTRREEREHRIZERZENRESEE,
IhEE T E R RS S SR EIREEESCER,

+ Capturing the market

Strategy & § Physical Risk 2 82 @ &
. preferences towards low

Regularly analyse climate-related physical Extreme weather incidents such as

and transition risks and opportunities and
assess their impacts to the Group.

E HA 73 A7 B2 5 1A A ¥ B2 A8 T2 1B 7 /R B AD
B, RFGEHAKERIBZE,

Risk Management J& & & 12

Adopt the integrated risk management approach
for ESG matters, including conducting regular
materiality assessments to analyse stakeholders'
views on climate-related issues and determine
possible management approaches.

NG RIREREAREEESCGER, aliFEHE
TESHF AT N E ¥R IR 1B R ZEN R
f#, WREM{THREERTTE,

Metrics And Targets 15IRMBIZ

Establish the 10-year sustainability strategy
and work plan, commit to reducing GHG
emissions intensity by 15% by 2029, and
continuously report on our performance.

TN T O FHES RRIE R TIEStEl, REHE
2029 IR = m R HIBUE EFF15% , &
FFEEREFINRE,

;-.E,. in sustainability report.

carbon products and
sustainability performance

flooding or heavy precipitation and
typhoon may lead to business
interruption

LI BY 2 [ AO e J& S5 4 b 2K S 55 1
OTREE BB Z

Increase in the number of annual hot

transparency
e H R Zmi
U EEREYWERE
8w iF

- Improving business model
for energy and operating

days may highlight the demand for air
conditioning and cooling systems for

production and operation efficiency
BFfsSRXEFIBITT S EINEE Bt SRS AR TU LA IR = A
FOEE S =L BN AR HIFH K IR EIE

Transitional Risk iff i & b&

+ Uplift of regulatory requirements in
climate-related mitigation and
compliance cost
R AR FE RS M N B B BRI 4R
MRS
Adoption of new green approaches may
induce challenges to existing production
and operational flows and require
investments in research and assets
FRAMRIRR ARG EHIRANE
ENEERESRIE, IHFSEH
FHNEEREETRE

Please scan the QR code for details of our climate scenario analysis, financial impact assessment and relevant information

E?%ﬁ? RIEBRAIT. ISR AN EN S EE R 5, SHTEERRRS.
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Emerging risk

BT L) B

In addition to the key risks discussed, we stay alert to emerging issues PRTESE, MBI RREISN RAE X ENR
that may have long-term and significant impact on the Group. We BFBERTES, FMEEELERNEE, RIFETEE
monitor the development of these risks and conduct impact analysis in o, MiRHEERE B ELEIT,
a timely manner to establish mitigation measures as needed.
Key areas of risk implication /& & 5/ 2 + B #ilE
PTG
R & © K [ o
Damage to brand Fall in customer Business interruption Legal disputes Decline in Property and
and reputation loyalty and failure and liabilities business profitability financial losses
DIEIEREZE B R AT 2 PR A ESIGE] - ISESHS BB R EE FIEBARETI TR EUN=INEURESEES
Risk category Emerging issue description & potential impact Mitigation Strategy
i B 2 1 SR R TR B RIS

Enterprise Risk
1B 5% @

Gold Price Volatility
= BRI

Evolving geopolitical issues, including but not limited
to the trade relations between the United States

and China, the Russia-Ukraine conflict, and the

South China Sea disputes can lead to fluctuations in
international gold prices and have an overall impact
on the consumer sentiment and demand for luxury
goods

, BREERRKPEEZS
Eﬁﬁ\ ﬁt%‘é%;@%%&aﬂﬁﬁﬁ% , REASPEEHAY
i, DIRESHEREERS), W) ﬁ% EREPSEREAT
BRENBETE

Potential impact:
fﬂ/ﬁg

o &2

Conduct financial analyses to assess the
potential impact of rising gold prices on sales
and profitability for the Group, and evaluate
possible mitigation strategies, including
adjustments to the product portfolio and review
of pricing structures

EAT IR AT L‘Aﬂﬁ%%%%tﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ
EREANE 7]5']/% TRE, 5T Ol AEH A& R
KRG, BIERBEERECNEECELRE
Enhance investment in technology and
digitalisation to improve the accuracy of

sales forecasting and product planning, while
reducing the Group's overall | expenses

s E KRR FHERIRE, SHSRAK
FE o AR B HERENE, BRFPE TSR E AR A F S
Conduct regular review of the gold hedge
policy to minimise the Group's risk exposure to
adverse fluctuations in gold prices, stabilise the
overall cost of capital, and enhance financial
predictability

FHSEHTHIPEER, B¢1EE%$T?‘;WT*U
IRENEI RIS A KB B, FRE RSB Y
X, iR TR O Y TE

Governance &
Compliance

BIERGHE

Carbon Tax Policy Development

AR 3 &

Regulatory requirements and government policies have
an impact on the Group's overall business activities. In
response to the global emphasis on ESG issues and the
development of carbon policies in various countries, it
is expected that Mainland China may start imposing
carbon tax, which will lead to an increase in the
operational costs related to Group's carbon emission
in the long run. In the meantime, the quality and
transparency of our carbon data require enhancement
as the policy implements, and the Group's overall
compliance costs are expected to increase
KEBRERE /iﬁ)]*“ RERERBUTSKYE, &
JEREREESG BB BHR L SENRERERE, 8
HAob B A it BY % Fa'ﬁﬂé‘?;ﬂllﬁlﬁrﬁ REMS, HEHE
E R HFUBRI T EE A IR IE N0, BIEF, BURHEITHIER
FEARSIREEE RBRERNSRK, AHRSRERRE
B R A IR A1 10

Potential impact

: =/ 588
B

R &

Keep abreast of the relevant regulatory
developments and requirements

FrgER BRI AR T R R B oK

Assess the potential impact of carbon tax policy
on the business value chain and identify areas
of concern

SPGB BUR BT R E M E BB R
a8 1l BV S I

Formulate appropriate work plans for the
Group's net-zero emission target by 2049
B 2049 ANERY B E AN BRI EGE
T1F5tEl
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Risk category

Emerging issue description & potential impact

Mitigation Strategy

Ja B 4 Al MAGERRREESE B SRIS
Supply Chain Artificial Intelligence ("Al") Application Monitor the development of Al as well as the
& Operational ATEEEEMA trends of relevant laws and regulations
Management BMEATEERZEERBEEENERE L
L EsE 2 Al applications can enhance our business processes, A
EEEE bringing automation and convenience. However, Analyse the tendency, feasibility, costs and
insufficient awareness of the potential risks or the potential challenges associated with Al
lack of monitoring over the use of Al technology application in the Group's business
could affect our brand image and reputation, and AR EEFBPERAALSERNBER@. a7
incur other Losses PEC RV N K2 A A L B
ALEaEERREI O AT MBI ERRRE, FR Perform risk assessments before the
BENADERIME, #AT, HE /@ b= 56 A B el it implementation of a new Al tool, and regularly
ZTHEAATISRERKNER, SXEFMNDE re-assess the potential risks the Al tool may
FERMNBE, WiEmwEMEX expose the Group to
AHETHROALS fE LRaNE TR T, I
Potential impact SR A LS TR ol a4 &R E &R
BERE BT B
Consider the Group's capacity enhancement
@ @ Q @% needs in the application and management of Al
= technologies, and conduct relevant staff training
EREERATSRERBERKNERAREE L
e N AFTE, WETERE THE
Supply Chain Trade Policy Develop a mechanism for collecting and
& Operational B 5Bk disseminating relevant macro-economic and
Management geopolitical information that could influence the
L EHE 2 Changes in regulations and agreements that Group's business strategy and operations
SEEIE govern international trade, including tariffs, export EEITHEE, WSR2 Y = 01 Ak R0 B R M S TS SR B

restrictions and other trade barriers may affect our
product supply and result in significant implications
for costs and logistics flows

DBE%' *I]Eﬂﬂf’i%l‘%ﬁiﬁ >§$$E.?tﬂ"iﬂ’];éuu1 f:,
W R AR EEEXTE

Potential impact
B

o &2

&%EE'\]FE&?&:’;’H‘*DM%?H/DTD,.\_\

Conduct financial analyses and risk assessments

to identify operations potentially affected by

trade policies, and establish priority areas for

mitigation

EATIE AT RS, SRt EE 85

BURR RS IE, il 177 BREVAE 15 i i 12
EEpu

Establish a dedicated taskforce to conduct

scenario planning, identify possible solutions

for the affected operations, and minimise

operational disruptions and cost exposure to

the Group

YL EH/NHIEST "E] Xﬁiu, HAlZREE

HITTfTRIRTISE, RolsEFEMEEENEE

BRI R E
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5. EFFECTIVENESS AND PERFORMANCE
TRACKING

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the risk management
and internal control systems, and reviewing their effectiveness. On
behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee oversees the internal audit
function and reviews the adequacy and continued effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function. The Board and the Audit
Committee acknowledge that our risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

To support the effective review, the senior management team,
Internal Audit, and the Whistleblowing Officer collate and align
information for reporting at a level that is consistent with Audit

Committee's oversight responsibilities as illustrated below:

Process used to review the effectiveness of our risk
management and internal control systems and the internal
audit function

5. JRACRI R B 36 #i

EFTHAERHAREERASEEZERGES, TAHS
FREZFHNENEIMT. EREE8ENXREFERT
8P E5 12 B R R M 5 2 5K B R R e N D B R AR AR K2 N ED
BEZHESEEARFEEY. EFTREVEEBIRNA,
o B I Kz W BB BRI R AR 5 T B IR M AR IE BRR BB AY 5 4R
FEEERNEE, MERERAEEERFKERM YA
KIFH GIEMAFEH B fRE

AEFHEYEEE, KESEEEERK. NEFEZRERE
EREREVSEEREHS NN EEWRREEEN
LUETTIRS . BEEEIRITERNA

At L B A B P S B A AR A T
REAT S BT I I

Board of Directors

EEE

f

Report on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
MEREEMNANBEERANEIEELRS

(© 3 times or more per year

BEIRFAIMU L

Audit Committee

BEZEEE

l !

Report on cases of misconduct
and fraudulent behaviour

RABTANZERTABERFLRS
(© 3 times or more per year
BEIRHIAL

Whistleblowing Officer
BRES

150 Governance
=
B0

Report on significant audit
findings and control deficiencies

MEAEZERVEERRZEFHRS
(© 3 times or more per year
BEIRFIAL

Internal Audit
A8

I

Report on key risks and the approach
to address risk and control deficiencies

MEZEBAEHRREEERRNEFHRS
@ 3 times or more per year
BE3XHEIRE

Senior Management Team

SESEEEERK

I

Report on progress and effectiveness of risk
management practices at operational level

TLEE B R R E 1R TR E R A FE RS
@ Monthly
#A

Management in Operational Units
EEEUEEE
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Those who enforce the review of effectiveness of our risk oA R B A B R D P A R At M T T A% T
management and internal control systems and the internal & & fit EI’J #HATNE

audit function

Audit Committee
BEZEEg

As part of the Audit Committee's oversight responsibilities with regard to the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, the Audit Committee will:
FREZEEGHNSEHEEIMEREEEN -8, SREEEN .
Review the annual audit plan
ERFEEZE
— Receive periodic reports on the results of the Internal Audit's work
RA AN EZ LIFE RO ERRS
— Monitor management's responsiveness to the Internal Audit's findings and recommendations
B R E TR EH N B E 24 RADE S K O] fE
— Review the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, and training programmes of
the internal audit function

G NEPEE st IRER B IR, 8 T B MR UAR P2 61531 R M e B 1T

Internal Audit
M EPE %

Internal Audit plays a crucial role in monitoring the internal governance of the Group

N BB 2 B R ARERE N B E 8 L /8 B B B2 A a5

To provide an independent and objective assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk

management and internal control systems, Internal Audit:

AHRAEREBENABRERESE EMNEIRMBISENIRE, NEBEZ

— Has unfettered access to all necessary information, people, records, and outsourced operations
across the Group, focusing on reviewing the effectiveness of the governance, risk management, and
control processes that management has put into place
OERARGIMNE L TEBRKBEANEUNSNER . BEERAL. LM HEE, UETE
B ERENTNEE. BREEREERER 2N

— Adopts a risk-based approach, ensuring that key concerns and significant risks are considered
within the scope of the audit
FRANERERE, BRREZERBNZRINESHBEIEFIENEXRER

— Engages an independent consulting firm to assist the internal audit service to further strengthen
the flexibility and independence of the internal audit function

SEEURB QSN EZIRE, E— PN S AE | A& I

Senior Management
Team

SESEEEEEK

Departments at the Group's second line of defence support senior management team to assist the
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with regard to the Group's risk appetite, the Group's
ERM Framework, and the governance model that supports it

KEE_ENRIBMAZESEEEBERK, AMENESEEITHHINERE @ R Wi 2 @b EEERT
IR EE ST

Detailed responsibilities include:

BRITIFEE .

— Review significant risk exposures and the steps that management has taken to identify, evaluate,
monitor, control, and report such exposures
mEEXERUARERERAHAN. B8, BR. EHA0HRS A B E BT PREE 2 B

— Review significant risk and compliance issues as well as material internal control deficiencies
identified, together with management's responses and follow-up actions
GETE X @RI GRS HHE RS NEBEIT TR, LA B 1R g $ 1t 5 1R & 00 0 A IR IET T #N

— Review the scope of planned risk management and compliance activities

EHAENRGRERENGRENLIFEHE
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Tools used to review the effectiveness of our risk
management and internal control systems and the internal

audit function

il i B P R TN S B A R 6T B TN S 7 R TR
EAT Rk Bir T A

Frequency

X

Content covered during FY2025
it2025 MIEEIRZ KNS

Audit Committee
Reports
ERESEERS

3 times or more
per year

B3R L

Assurance on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems

FIINER B G b S T R N D 4 AR A P S E L PR

Whistleblowing
Reports
SHERFIRE

3 times or more
per year

=X /NI

Cases of gross misconduct and fraudulent behaviour and the mitigation
measures undertaken by the management

WMEAEREFTAIER, LAREEE RS

Anti-fraud culture building programme and training

SR p AR ST B R 1B

Internal Audit
Reports

REPE &S

3 times or more
per year

BH3RTIULE

Significant audit findings and control deficiencies

BBAME R ET K

Progress of remedial measures implemented by management

B AT RIS R EIEE

Review on the effectiveness of the Group's processes for financial reporting and
compliance with prevailing regulations

BT R E VRS EFF AU RIRITIERGRER

Senior Management

3 times or more

Key risks identified at the Group level and the related mitigation measures,

Team Reports per year including the approach to resolve material internal control deficiencies
SESEEEBERK BEIRIIAE LA SR ) J 0 56 A1 0 = 5 B LA K2 1B A M S e i, B0 335 i BR A 28 N B B 4 R SR (K
WS Tk
Review on the resources, staff qualifications and experience and training
programmes of the accounting, internal audit, risk management and financial
reporting functions
BEHREFH. NEERRIBRSHEENER. BTEERER, LAREIIEtE
Control Self- Annually Scope and quality of the management's ongoing monitoring of risks and the
assessment and BF internal control systems
Management EREEHERERR R ASEERANSERE R
Confirmation Management's compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and the
NEEEEFE Group's policies including the Code of Conduct, Anti-Fraud Policy, and Anti-
EREERE Money Laundering Policy

EIREETERERRNREBRIER, SEEREELET. REFHI
R R e R

As a result of the above review, the Audit Committee, on behalf of
the Board, confirmed that there was no significant issue that would

have an adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk

BERSEGER LIRS, NREFEHA 2025 PKFE
bESEPNIIE SRR RN E V= REYSNE I e i N0
OSSN I ENNIEZ-

management and internal control systems of the Group for FY2025.

152 Governance
=
B0

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
AXBEHRESEARAS



6. EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS

By nature, most crises are unpredictable, but we believe it is possible
to determine activities and areas that may be particularly prone to
crises. Advance planning is key to ensuring our resilience against
crises, reducing the potential impact of adverse events, aiding
recovery and supporting business continuity. Set out below are

measures that help us maintain an appropriate level of preparedness

in responding to a crisis:

6. X 2

BHENG EREARAK, BRMBEETNRETNE
Zba NI EN0 R, B P58 & i B2 F R IFIRE
REEAARTE, TURRIMEE BT, R
THREHHP MO E. ARERLESHEBFERRE,
T E S B PIBRERAS R AABIEME, 15 BB AP 1F IF 2 i LA B
HEh

Crisis Management
Team ("CMT")
J& ¢ E 1E [ B

Composition

iSiE

Led by the Vice-chairmen and Managing Director, staffed with the Crisis
Management Coordinator, Chief Officers and Leaders from the Group's
corporate functions and market segments

HElEFRRESREERE, YEEEeHEERFES. BREEEBIUR
REKEERESPPIAITIZE A EPEIEEA

Other personnel from varying disciplines and regions would be identified on
an as-needed basis

FERTMEEMERDBIENMEFIASNA

Functions

Ha RE

Identify areas of concern

ot 7l 75 22 A ) B 4

Assess the impact of the identified concerns

G R EHE R E

Devise strategies and response plans to overcome crises
I TE 2R B A i 1 51 &I LA BR 1 s 1

Maintain and monitor cases for tracking and improvements
EANREERIAETER BT

Crisis Management
Documentation
Guidelines and
Response Plans
EHEEMHIESI R
JiE 5t &l

Crisis Management
Manual and Register
X A=PEEIYSS
Zsefit

Establish the overall coordinated approach for crisis management and
provide guidelines for consistent crisis response across the Group
EUMAENEEEIRERE, TRKERE—E5EHELTES]

Set out the definition of a crisis and triggering events, categorisation of crises,
the activation guideline, the composition and roles of the Crisis Management
Team, and the crisis communication and reporting protocol
BUEHEEEFHRES. BEAER. BIEs. BREEEKRNEHE
K2 g 55 LA R T ke 18 R D [ R A A2

Standard operation
procedures, response
plans and playbooks
TE IR RER TEAZ Fr
fiEe 54 51 S A0 &y 3

Identify critical crisis situations, provide step-by-step instructions for
responding to specific crises

s ESEREN, JIREHSERHIIEE S RIET

Crisis Management
Training and Simulation

TE B IR I I B2 i AR

Instruction-based
training

EER A HE

Raise staff awareness towards potential crisis events and warning signals,
and enhance their capability to escalate and respond as the crisis happens
REETHEBEAEHFHNESERNOEH, BRMMEEHEERAR
A0 B AR

Support the CMT with the familiarisation of their roles and responsibilities
during a crisis and the overall crisis management workflow
BUEHEEEFRATOMEEHINARNES, UREREHEIET
TEIRAE

Scenario-based
simulation
B S TRE

Aim to validate the crisis management plan and the capability of the CMT

& 1Al e B IR B 81 B Y AN B i TR B R B0 A

Allow the CMT to rehearse their assigned duties and responsibilities during
a crisis scenario

EOWEEERNEREHER TIRIEEEIRIBEHOEE
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7. RISK CAPABILITY BUILDING

We continuously review and enhance our risk management framework
by embedding an appropriate capability development plan to ensure
effective and efficient support to the Board in performing risk oversight
and sustaining business resilience. During the year, we identified the
following areas for capability enhancement, covering governance and
collaboration, processes, tools and information. The enhancement plan
has been carried out by phases and set out below is the summary of

the achievements for this year.

7. JE B PR ) R

H AP 5 48 1 5 A0 10 56 5 (50 ol B B 2R K2 i i R I
eI RETE, NERAIN SIS T ESGETARE
BREFFRBIIM. RMBAEMNE A TRERT =, &
mEBkiBE. fE. TRENGEEFSEL, A stEniER
AT, AT RIRNFEHMARAE,

Capability
enhancement area Targets for enhancements Overview of previous tasks and achievements
HEJIBILEEIR BBIE iBE R TRz R SRR
Risk governance and - Consistently apply the ERM framework Through detailed analysis of the Group's value chain, we
collaboration across the Group's operating segments identified key risk areas that have the most significant impact
A=A SIE and business functions to the Group's strategy and business objectives, including
TEBZSEENIBAERIBPY —E business development, operational, financial and sustainability-
1 & AR 1B SR B IR AE 2R related risks. We applied the ERM framework on managing
Strengthen the Group's crisis management these risks across the operating segments, to ensure the Board
awareness and respond mechanism and senior management team receive consistent information
S8 1. S 580 7 1 ) B R A A on the potential risk exposure and mitigation status, and the
relevant risk owners follow the standard mitigation approach
BRFANTRENEERE, &5 RERIERERERY
EEXNEEEMmEL, BEXRBERERE. S&E. BRI
BREREADRE, FMESEENDEATRE RS IERE
REESLREE, NEREFTNSEEEBRERRRE
EEBRAES T RA—HER, URBRERRREESEAE
BEREEH T
The establishment of crisis management structure enhances
the Group's overall risk management efforts by facilitating
optimised response procedures to be taken during the key
crisis scenarios
EUBHEERBANKRELISEHER T REREELEE
Fr, NEEKERREEREREETIF
Risk management - Develop and regularly enhance business The continuity plan of information system failures has been
process and continuity plans reviewed to enhance the Group's business resilience
standard il E A2 E BR B T SR B A T ST & 19 1 A 5T B T % A4 52 PR 0 G 488 S 81 10 5t = (B B S5 05 E 4 BE D
Jo b TR i A B - Establish Group policies and We enhanced our approach to high risk areas, such as
HER standards for high-risk issues improving the supplier due diligence process for diamond

#1755 @ b E IRET 15 B BUR AN R 1

procurement to align with industry standards. Additionally,

we intensified our efforts in anti-money laundering and in
protecting environmental and labour practices for all raw
material procurement processes

BMEL THSEREEE, FIN0EHE o RERER
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Capability
enhancement area

EENB KSR

Targets for enhancements

BIEIE

Overview of previous tasks and achievements

I8 B T1E Rz R SR ES

Risk management
tools and
technologies
EpRERE T AR
Bk

Strengthen key risk monitoring indicators
it EEE R EEER

Elevate store risk validation approach
and detection capability

N03& P9 i Jea B g 5 77 5% 2 1R A R

We reduced the number of false alarms through data analysis and
improved the efficiency of the Group's alert handling. We have
also strengthened the risk detection capability by applying data
analytics to select stores for inspection

BB EBEAITENERRENBR, e TREZERE
R R MFENEPS BB EAEETT, BREURN T
BIEE{TEE

Risk information and
communication
El R SYSSE i

Enhance the process for risk
identification and communication

1B 0w B Al A2 8 B B R AR

We assisted the Group's management in collating the

risk information in the key business functions, formulating
enhancement plans and following up on the progress. We
worked with management in the relevant risk areas to
understand and analyse major challenges for enhancement
direction

PRI EEEEERTEEZRERBERRER, FIEE
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DIRECTORS" REPORT
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report of the Company
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for FY2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the business of manufacturing and selling of
jewellery products, including gem-set, platinum and k-gold jewellery
and gold jewellery and products, as well as the distribution of various
watch brands. The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in

note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for FY2025 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on p.178.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.32
per share for FY2025, amounting to approximately HK$3,195.9 million.
Together with the interim dividend of HK$0.20 per share paid in
December 2024, the total distribution of dividend by the Company
for FY2025 will be HK$0.52 per share. Such payment of dividend
will be subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday,
23 July 2025 and is payable to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company at the close of business on
Thursday, 7 August 2025. The payment date of the final dividend is
expected to be on or about 20 August 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years is set out on p.276.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2025 amounted
to approximately HK$91 million (31 March 2024: HK$57 million).
Details of the Company's reserves are set out in the note 39 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Movements in reserves of the Group during FY2025 are set out in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity on p.181.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business and operations for FY2025, an
analysis using financial key performance indicators as well as a
discussion on the likely future developments, are provided throughout
this annual report, particularly in the "Chairman's Statement”,

"Strategic Report", and "Management Discussion and Analysis".

Further discussion on the Group's principal risks and uncertainties is

mentioned in the "Risk Management Report".

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations is mentioned in
the "Corporate Governance Report”, "Independent Auditor's Report”,

and "Sustainability Report".

Environmental policies and performance and key relationships with its

stakeholders are detailed in the "Sustainability Report".

CORPORATE CULTURE

The link between corporate culture and the Group's business
objectives; the implementation of the desired corporate culture into
the Group's daily operations; and the assessment of the progress and
success of such implementation, are elaborated in various sections of
this annual report and the "Sustainability Report".

"Vision and Values" outlines the long-term aspiration and the
core values upheld by the Group, while "Chairman's Statement"
and "Strategic Report" discuss the Group's vision, purpose and
the alignment of business objectives mainly related to the values

delivered to our customers and the industry.

"Corporate Governance Report" and "Risk Management Report"
discuss the tone at the top and the implementation of desired culture

in the Board and the risk management systems.

"Sustainability Report" contains a more detailed presentation on the
implementation of desired corporate culture into the Group's daily
operations and the linkage between corporate culture to sustainability

objectives.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during FY2025

are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company purchased some of its shares on the Stock Exchange
during FY2025 and these shares were held by the Company as treasury
shares. These share purchases were made with a view to benefit
shareholders as a whole by enhancing the value of the shares of the
Company.

A
2025 INIUAF 2, TN SIHIR N BN G BB AR AR S R B3R &
BtSE 28,

R R B TR
2025 MMAEE, RATRBZFABERLETFRE, ZER

MEBRAEMEREFRNDFE, BEZFRNETEEBR

SAATHRNEESERRRZ @,

Number of shares

Aggregate
consideration
(before expenses) (HK$)

Price paid per share (HK$)
BRZAES ()

bought back Highest Lowest I E (RIOPRAEASZ)
[ Elan =] =11 =413 (§::39
January 2025 20254 1H 422,800 6.50 6.48 2,746,744

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's

listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) during FY2025.

The Company held 422,800 treasury shares as at 31 March 2025
which may, among other things, be transferred to grantees upon
vesting of any awards granted under the Company's share award
scheme or, subject to market conditions and the Company's capital
management needs, be resold on the market to raise funds for the
Company, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules, the applicable

laws and the Company's constitutional documents.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the

laws of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Key terms of the share award scheme are outlined as follows:

JBe Ay A&

fi& A7) 82 JEN 51 &1 61 B S IR R BE R U0 T

Date of adoption 7 July 2023 2023%7H7dH

PRAN H B

Life period 10 years from 7 July 2023 B2023F 7R 7HiEEsH1045F
BHR

Eligible participants

(i) Directors and employees of the Company

() RATNMEASINEERES ; &

GBS HE or its subsidiaries; and
(ii) Any other person who is granted share (i) AESEREMZEAC I REEYSRES
awards as an inducement to enter into an KIMER RN EBAEMEMAL
employment or engagement contract with
any of these companies
Purpose (i) To recognise and reward contribution of (i) AFIFUMEERKIEA S REBNISEADRE
B grantees to the growth and development of FRTERBIE R, K% SR A0 RUE hPE — 2 =

the Group and to incentivise and motivate
them to further contribute towards the

growth and expansion of the Group; and

(i) To attract suitable personnel for further

development of the Group

INEEERRIE R ERMEE S &

(i RINEEE—PHRBRIRSIGERAT

Scheme mandate

REEL

Maximum 500,000,000 ordinary shares are
available for issue, which represents 5.01% of
the issued ordinary shares of the Company
(excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the

date of this annual report

B2 0317 500,000,000 AR, 1GNERB
HRANSEETEER (FEETaETRN,
W#H) 115.01%

Individual limit on entitlement

B ARER] EIR

Maximum 1.00% of the issued ordinary shares
of the Company (excluding treasury shares,
if any) within the 12 months' period up to the

date of grant of any share awards

PREE AR SRR L B RN 2@ A A,
RER/RQATDETERR (FREEUEFR
fr, W0A) §11.00%

Vesting period
ER A

Minimum 12 months' period after the date of

grant, except for prescribed circumstances

BEGABESZED12@A, EREEBRBRIN

Purchase price

BEEE

Grantees are not required to pay any grant or
purchase price for accepting the share awards

granted

R SR L5 10 PIT A8 42 AR 1) A% JBh S (Tl 4258
R

Performance targets

BYEIE

Possible performance targets related to
financial and non-financial parameters of
the Group and/ or individual performance
indicators, as specified in the notice of grant

to each grantee

AR AGHE BIBAATZI0A, BGRB8 R 5 2
FFRIEIE IR / HEAGEIEIRIBR K O] BEAES
Bz

Clawback mechanism

(O30

To be triggered in case of any misconduct
committed by the grantee or there is any
material misstatement(s) in the consolidated

financial statements of the Company

AR AR ERXET AR QT RE WHR
RIFEEMERRRAVEI T a3

Details of the share award scheme are set out in the circular of the

Company dated 15 June 2023.
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Details of movements of share awards granted to the eligible

participants of the Group during FY2025 are as follows:

IREER 2025 BEERBGERSREE L 2 RN IR

Number of share awards during FY2025

2025 BNUEF FE M B 17 32 BN 8 E
Unvested at
Unvested at Lapsed/ 31 March
Note 1 April 2024 Granted Vested cancelled 2025
iR 2024 % fik2025
4H18 3A31H
Name of grantees RIEABSE B &£ EREE EEl ERE DX/l sl 7k 53 8
Directors E =
Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry R4 E L (1 335,600 - - - 335,600
(2) - 854,400 - - 854,400
Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy EESE (1 244,800 - - - 244,800
(2) - 656,800 - - 656,800
Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia MEEFU L (1) 208,400 - - - 208,400
(2) - 656,800 - - 656,800
Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent ERESE (1) 391,200 - - - 391,200
(2) - 982,800 - - 982,800
Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson ERRAE ST ) 95,200 - - - 95,200
(2) - 242,400 - - 242,400
Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton IR BRI A M 227,200 - - - 227,200
(2) - 571,000 - - 571,000
Mr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter L e ©) 173,600 - - - 173,600
(2) - 455,200 - - 455,200
Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby BirAieaE ) 165,800 - - - 165,800
(2) - 421,800 - - 421,800
Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian B0 7 fall 2 (1(3) 109,800 - — (109,800) -
1,951,600 4,841,200 - (109,800) 6,683,000
Employees B&
Senior management members SiNEEAS ©) 166,600 - - - 166,600
(2) - 597,400 - - 597,400
Total EEH 2,118,200 5,438,600 - (109,800) 7,447,000
Date of grant: 10 August 2023, at nil consideration 1. {EHEW2023F8 A 108 (HEAS)
Date of vesting: 1 July 2026, subject to fulfilment of performance targets and other requirements REDH : 202647 810 (A ZRESEBOE1RER)
Date of grant: 7 October 2024, at nil consideration 2. EWHHE:2024F10878 (MEAF)
Date of vesting: 1 July 2027, subject to fulfilment of performance targets and other requirements SE B 202767 818 GRS RAR BRI mER)

Fair value of share awards as at the date of grant: HK$8.590 each
Closing price immediately before the date of grant: HK$8.290 per share

Fair value of share awards is determined based on the closing price of the shares of the Company
on the date of grant without taking into consideration the vesting conditions of the share awards.
The Group has adopted the accounting standard in accordance with IFRS 2 — Share-based Payment,
details of which are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements

Performance targets are related to financial, non-financial parameters of the Group and/ or individual
performance indicators

Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian resigned as an executive director of the Company with effect from
26 September 2024 and these share awards lapsed on the same date accordingly.

The percentage of the number of shares that may be issued under the share awards granted during the
reporting period, divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue (excluding treasury shares,
if any) for this reporting period was 0.05%.

The number of options and awards available for grant under the scheme mandate was 497,881,800 as
at 1 April 2024 and 492,553,000 as at 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Long position in shares and underlying shares

The Company's register recorded Ordinary shares held Underlying shares

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO Pt 45 55 i B A% 17 16 B AR 1 % of
Eﬁ?%?ﬂgﬁ Eﬂﬁ 3521RME Personal Spouse Unvested issued
AR 52 o interests interests Total share awards/ share
5PN [ &st options ' Total capital 2
As at 31 March 2025 7 57 /&8 Az 173 HEET
220258 3H31H 3R/ MEARE a5t BAREfQL?
The Company biN |
Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry R E L 21,635,200 420,000 22,055,200 1,190,000 23,245,200 0.23%
Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy mrEfELE - 901,600 901,600 0.01%
Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia BETY I - 865,200 865,200 0.01%
Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent EBREEE 12,000 12,000 1,374,000 1,386,000 0.01%
Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson EPIRIESTE - 337,600 337,600 0.00%
Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton IR ERSEE 4,800 4,800 798,200 803,000 0.01%
Mr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter e 23,600 23,600 628,800 652,400 0.01%
Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby Bir#E 12,000 12,000 587,600 599,600 0.01%
CTF Services Limited AXERRARAQE
Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry BRALE L - 12,375,800 12,375,800 0.31%

Underlying shares are (i) in relation to the Company, shares which may be issued or transferred to the
Directors upon vesting of the awards granted by the Company under its share award scheme; and (i)
in relation to CTF Services Limited (an associated corporation of the Company), shares which may be
issued to the Director upon vesting of the options granted by CTF Services Limited under its share

TEERER () ARBMES, RIERQEUREER A IEE 5 &2 08B E T Eer, o
RERTHERMTESHURD ; R>()MBEXBEIREIRAE RASNEHZEE) NS, 2
EEAXEEARASMIREER N ST SR E A REETRER, TRETrESN
15

option scheme.

2. As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued shares (including treasury shares) of the Company 2. fR2025%3A31H, RLTREITRN (BIBEETFRN) 8% 9,987,736,800 Ko
was 9,987,736,800

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

Long position in shares

R AU wE o 1R A
T ey B 2

The Company's register recorded pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO Number of ordinary shares held

AR IR B %5 12 A 55 1 I 55 336 1 4524 71N 23 51 2% 2 M 2 8% Fit 55 5 i % i 153 8 E
Beneficial Corporate % of issued
As at 31 March 2025 interests interests Total share capital '
GERTRA
22025 3H31H BEmiEn BB a5t Btk
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited 7,239,320,185 2 7,239,320,185 72.48%
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited 7,239,320,185 ? 7,239,320,185 72.48%
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited 7,239,320,185 7,239,320,185 72.48%
Cheng Kam Chiu, Stewart &35 8 402,000 506,860,572 ° 507,262,572 5.08%
Cheng Yu Wai #4812 506,541,354 506,541,354 5.07%
Yueford Corporation 506,541,354 506,541,354 5.07%

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued shares (including treasury shares) of the Company
was 9,987,736,800

As at 31 March 2025, Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited and Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II)
Limited held approximately 48.98% and 46.65% interest in Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited respectively
and accordingly each of them is deemed to have an interest in 7,239,320,185 shares of the Company
held by Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited

As at 31 March 2025, Mr. Cheng Kam Chiu, Stewart held more than one-third of the total shares in
each of Yueford Corporation and Manor Investment Holdings Ltd and accordingly he is deemed to have
an interest in the 506,541,354 shares of the Company held by Yueford Corporation and the 319,218
shares of the Company held by Manor Investment Holdings Ltd.
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Save as disclosed in the two tables above, the Company is not aware
of any person who had an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations as at 31 March 2025 which should be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO or the Listing Rules or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code

for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS

The directors during FY2025 and up to the date of this annual

report are:

Executive directors

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry

Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy

Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia

Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent

Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson

Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton

Mr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter

Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby

Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian (resigned with effect from 26 September 2024)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Kwong Che-Keung, Gordon

Mr. Lam Kin-Fung, Jeffrey

Dr. Or Ching-Fai, Raymond

Ms. Cheng Ka-Lai, Lily

Mr. Chia Pun-Kok, Herbert

Ms. Fung Wing-Yee, Sabrina

Mr. Tang Ying-Cheung, Eric

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent,
Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson, Mr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter, Mr. Lam Kin-
Fung, Jeffrey and Ms. Cheng Ka-Lai, Lily will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election.

Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby has tendered his resignation as an executive
Director with effect from 30 June 2025, with further details set out in

the Company's announcement dated 6 June 2025.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

162 Governance
EE3VaN
B0

PR LW R AR BB BRI, INA S A A E AR
20253 AN HERAS HEBBABEIR N BN
EEES, %ﬁﬁ@i)’%?ﬁ%&ﬁﬂ < fi% 151 58 XV BB sy £ MR Al
ETIREREDS RS, WIRELMBITAEFETES
R 5 HREEST Al ,E%DAZK NS BNl T B =

EH

2025 N EREENRFREPPEER

HATH H
BSR4 L
i Ee
BMEFTY+
BEEELSE
EIRIZ S
BRI BRI AE
St e
BiRATE
HRER I (B 202459 B 26 B 1)

WS AR AT R
W3R
e
s £
WEmEY T
BREEE
Yt
U3

IRVRABRISE 841K, mABEE. WIRIRE. FERLE.
MEERENDREY T RRERRREFAG LIRIE,
B 5 EIsERE T,

BiRmEERREFES
6 A 30 Bt £, E—
6H6BRIAE,

TR NG ITES R, 820254
THBERZSHMR A S0 A4A 20255

HEHIRB S

fit# % F BK 2 S oy HAE b @ A S 5T A TR — F W3
JASTATIEMIAEE (EEMERI) M LLFIRBEGHo

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BXBHREREARAE



DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which any of the Company's subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or parent
companies was a party and in which a director of the Company or the
director's connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of FY2025 or at any time during FY2025.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following ongoing transactions carried out by the Group with
connected persons are subject to annual reporting requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. These transactions are governed by
respective master or framework agreements which have an initial term
of not more than 3 years and, subject to compliance with the Listing
Rules, will be renewed automatically for another 3 years upon expiry
unless terminated earlier in accordance with the relevant master or
framework agreements.

Lease of premises

AN . TR AR R 2

PRINFHRATINEE S, KABINMELS]. RFRMELE]
N EIR2025 0N E 7REY 2025 T U & NIl 5 [
T AR E N EEEBEMSBEXER T EFHE
ERFEATRETHEEEARRS (FmBERIBEE) K
TH. FHEREH

FEA I 15 5

TNER M BB E A LETHIIAN T RIEZ 7R E T EAR RIS
MYABHFERREE, 2FRXnZEFEGHVIERRRME
g, MARENBEFHABR=F, RIREGRESTIVIER
esi a4 LI, 1Ei8 ST LR RBIBTRTE T A% 0 B b5 B
FEE=F,

/I E i

Name of counterparties

ZHRETIEHE

CTFE
FAXEBELEE

NWD
Hiit 57 3R

NWDS
MHtFEE

Main purposes of the leases

Standalone retail shops,

residential and office uses

Offices and standalone

retail shops in Hong Kong

Concessionaire counters

operated in department

in Hong Kong stores in Mainland China
HEXEHE REBINEIIZTES. TRE I A ZE R RPEARIEEAE
EERMHLZERE BUTEE R EIE
Master/ framework agreement date 28/11/201 28/4/2020 22/3/2012
5/ ER B HA
Next renewal date 31/3/2026 30/6/2026 30/6/2026
TIREEHER
FY2025 (HK$ million)
2025 TR JZ (B @B L)
Annual cap approved 189 217 98
ERtEFE LR
Actual amount incurred 0 " 25
BERTLEHR
Annual cap approved (HK$ million)
EfEFE LR (B&EBT)
FY2026 189 217 108

2026 AT 2
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Relationships between counterparties B 52 By 6405 1Y) T AR

The Company's substantial shareholder, CTF Capital, has shareholding RATFEFRRCTF Capital iR L3 58 8K 2 3] 15 48 B 1=
interests in the counterparties to the Company's continuing AL ZAE TP A RN

connected transactions disclosed above.

72.48% 81.03%

The Company CTF Holding 2

VNG| FAXEER?

100.00%
CTFE?
BEXEBRERS
45.24%
NWD 4
MREE
74.99%
NWDS®
MitFEE S
Notes: BiiSE -
1. Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited 1. Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited
2. Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited 2. RAXiE (7BR) BRAE
3. Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited 3. FAXBEXERAS
4.  New World Development Company Limited (stock code: 17) 4. HRITEARLE (RMTR :17)
5. New World Department Store China Limited (stock code: 825) 5. MtRBETEERAE (RNHLSE : 825)
6. The approximate percentages of shareholding, directly or indirectly held, are shown for reference only 6. WMAFRBE AL (ERAMERA) #H2%, UREREMENNREFE. tEERIRER

to illustrate the relationships between the connected parties. The information shown in the chart above B ENF R B ER S PR IS E TSRS, RUERMEE,
is sourced from the Disclosure of Interests published on the Stock Exchange website as at the date of
this annual report, which however may not be updated or correct.
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Internal control on continuing connected transactions
The Group maintains a pricing policy which serves as a guidance
for the negotiation with counterparties regarding the continuing

connected transaction arrangements of the Group.

(a) For rental of premises, prevailing market rates around the time
of entering into the respective tenancy agreements will be
followed. The Group will obtain comparison from relevant market
information from the market or independent valuers and with

rental rates of premises in similar locations leased by the Group.

(b) For sale of goods and services, retail or wholesale prices (as the
case maybe) and discretionary discounts which the Group offers
or is willing to offer to independent customers around the time of

transaction will apply.

(c) For purchase of goods, services and other assets, prevailing
market prices around the time of transaction will apply. The Group
will obtain quotations or tenders from independent third parties
for goods, services or assets with similarities to compare with the
prices and terms offered in the market. If there is no sufficient
comparable in the market, the Group will make reference to the
reasonable costs for developing or providing such goods, services
or assets plus a reasonable profit margin that commensurates

with industry practices.

The relevant pricing policy applicable to the continuing connected
transactions of the Group during FY2025 have been followed when

determining the price and terms of such transactions.

The Group will monitor industry practices and market trends on a
regular basis to ensure the terms offered to the Group are either

equivalent to or better than the prevailing market prices.
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Annual review of the continuing connected transactions

At the end of each financial year, the management will prepare a
summary of the pricing and other relevant terms of those non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the review of the Strategy
and Transformation Committee to ensure that those transactions are
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business, on normal
commercial terms or better and in accordance with the relevant
agreements on terms which are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of our shareholders as a whole, pursuant to Rule 14A55 of
the Listing Rules. Our internal audit team will further select samples
from those transactions and compare them with similar types of
transactions entered into by the Group with independent third parties

during that financial year.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
engaged the Company's auditor to perform certain review procedures
in order to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information" and with reference
to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules" issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued his unqualified letter in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The results of the review procedures performed by each of the
Strategy and Transformation Committee, the internal audit team and
the auditor of the Company were reported to the independent non-
executive directors in the Audit Committee meeting. After review
by the Audit Committee, the independent non-executive directors
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions were entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
either on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to
the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company

as a whole.

Announcements were published regarding the Group's non-exempt
continuing connected transactions. The directors confirm that
the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in so far as they are

applicable.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during FY2025 set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements include certain transactions that constitute connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Further details
can be found in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2025, less than 30.0% of the Group's revenue was
attributed to the Group's five largest customers. Besides, 82.2% of the
Group's total purchases were attributed to the Group's five largest
suppliers and 71.0% of the Group's total purchases were attributed to
the Group's largest supplier. To the best of the directors' knowledge,
none of the directors, their respective close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) and any shareholder who to the knowledge of the
directors owned more than 5% of the issued share capital (excluding
treasury shares) of the Company as at 31 March 2025 held any

interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company's Articles provides that every director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
losses, damages and liabilities which he/ she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of duties of his/ her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any matter in

respect of fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any director.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors' liability
insurance throughout FY2025, which provides appropriate cover for

the directors.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report regarding the share award
scheme adopted by the Company, neither the Company nor any of
its holding companies or its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate as at the end of the reporting
period or at any time during the reporting period. None of the
Directors and their nominees (if any) held shares or debentures under

such arrangement other than as disclosed in this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report regarding the share award
scheme adopted by the Company, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Group, or subsisted as at the end of the reporting
period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during FY2025.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during FY2025
amounted to approximately HK$36.9 million (FY2024: HK$34.5 million).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this

annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants and
Registered PIE Auditor, who will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry

Chairman

Hong Kong, China, 12 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZEETRS

i
pwc iR R RE

To the Members of

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited HAXEREREGRABMNAS
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RESEEAMA AR LE])

OPINION =

What we have audited A FEFNE

The consolidated financial statements of Chow Tai Fook Jewellery BAXEHRESERRA S (LA TFEHE 528 ) REMEL
Group Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), 8 (LAT#HTE S58 |) 7IFKRHE 178 ZE 275 M4 & %
which are set out on pages 178 to 275, comprise: WK, B

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025; - R2025F 3 A 31 HRGREIERIRE ;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other - BHEZHLEFENGSEEREMEEEER ;
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then - HEZHUEFENGGRTEEHNK ;
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; - HEZHIEFENGEGRESRER ; &
and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising - AR

GRIRREINE, AFEXEHBRGEREMERE
=

material accounting policy information and other explanatory B2

o}

information.

Our opinion AT E R

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and MR A, ZEFRSUHRERERE(ERIBERS 258
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at RIYEEmbsiRIET SHEER202543H 31 HEI4R
31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and GHBREREHEZAIEFENGFSMIBERERESE
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance e, WEEREB(QSREYIRERE S &5,
with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared

in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ("IESBA Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to existence and

valuation of inventories.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuep)

58] 8 2% 2 0H (a0

Key Audit Matter
F@EstFER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMFESHEEREESFR

Existence and valuation of inventories

FEZFEHRREIGE

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying value of inventories of the Group was HK$55,417.2
million as at 31 March 2025 which mainly comprised of gem-
set, platinum and k-gold jewellery, gold jewellery and products
and watches. Valuation of inventories was stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Significant portion of inventory cost
includes cost of gold, platinum and gemstones, which are subject to
the risk of changes in market value. The assessment of net realisable
value of inventories was based on significant estimates and
judgements made by management in respect of, amongst others,
the economic conditions, marketability of products and the forecast
market price of gold, platinum and gemstones used to make the
jewellery products. Given the high value and portable nature of
inventory items which are susceptible to potential misappropriation,
substitution or theft, resulting in heightened risk of existence.
Therefore, we focused on auditing the existence and valuation of

inventories.

5 2 H iR G RTR R R BT 5E 22

2025638318, EXENFERAMEBERLS4728EBL, £
SHEHREER. HERKEEMH. ETEMhERNEE, T&

B ERA RO IR FEME D 2 RIEE . FENRPREBA R
TR, HEREBAZWAR, EHHEEEEIARYE, EEERR

(HpEE) &R, EolZEUEERARBEHREERNE
. HEREONRATIZESFEER G RIE, UFhFE
R EE, BRFERENSEERTRINME, HilggS 578
FMA. MRRER, EXESNEFARRE, B, HMEPEE
HrEFARGEREZ.

We understood and evaluated management's key controls

over inventory existence and valuation.

We obtained an understanding of the management's
assessment process of impairment of inventories and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,

changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud.

We validated management's controls over existence by
attending cycle physical counts at selected points-of-
sale ("POS") throughout the year to observe the count
procedures at POS. We also inspected a selection of daily
physical count reports and the reconciliation to daily ending

inventories record in the inventory system.

Furthermore, we attended the annual physical inventory
count at year end date and performed sample count
procedures at selected POS, manufacturing facilities and

logistics and distribution centres.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuep)
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Key Audit Matter
g EFEER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMRE M ERRERET SR

Existence and valuation of inventories (Continued)

FEZFEHRREIGE ()

We selected samples of gem-set jewellery products, comprising
items of different nature, for the gemmological appraisal carried
out by the independent professional gemmologist engaged
by management to verify their authenticity and to assess
their condition and valuation. We evaluated the competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the independent professional
gemmologist, understood their scope of work and observed
their examination process. We have assessed whether the
selected gem-set jewellery products were recorded at the lower
of cost and net realisable value by comparing the results of

gemmological appraisal reports and their costs.

We evaluated the net realisable values of inventories assessed
by management with reference to, amongst others, the market
price movement of the materials and the subsequent selling

prices of similar products, on a sample basis.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
impairment of inventories in the context of IFRS Accounting

Standards disclosure requirements.

Based on the procedures performed, we found that the
existence and valuation of inventories to be supportable by the

available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in

the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to

continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for

our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor's report is Yau Lai Ting.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

12 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

N kg A= STEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE 202543831 HIEFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$ million HK$ million
Bt sE BEET BEET

Revenue = 4 89,656.0 108,713.0
Cost of goods sold THEE Ay 7R (63,201.2) (82,670.6)
Gross profit EF 26,454.8 26,0424
Other income HAh A 5 782.1 689.6
Selling and distribution costs € K2 42 8 A 7K (8,697.2) (9,513.2)
General and administrative expenses — R ITEF (3,793.9) (3,787.0)
Other gains and losses HAME & EEig 6 (6,275.4) (4,087.8)
Other expenses HAhBSZ (53.5) (74.3)
Share of losses of associates NMaEE NS Z g (20.4) (19.9)
Interest income FE WA 7 113.6 183.1
Finance costs il & Ry 7 7 (592.8) (704.6)
Profit before taxation BRI A A 8 7,917.3 8,728.3
Taxation w1mE 10 (1,928.4) (2,121.1)
Profit for the year FEiEF 5,988.9 6,607.2
Other comprehensive (expense)/ income Hih£m (BA3%Z) / &
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: AEEMAEEIRTOIEE

— remeasurement of defined benefit scheme - EfffstEEsEEN ETE (0.1) 8.8
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to BEE O GE AT A HEE

profit or loss: 1 d1EE :

— exchange differences arising on translation - MBS ERTELE Y (239.5) (597.8)

of foreign operations T EER

Other comprehensive expense for the year FEHMSEMS: (239.6) (589.0)
Total comprehensive income for the year FELHNEEE 5,749.3 6,018.2
Profit for the year attributable to: INTFEAEGEEEF :

Shareholders of the Company VANET S 5,915.5 6,499.3

Non-controlling interests i A R 73.4 107.9

5,988.9 6,607.2

Total comprehensive income for the year INTFEAEGFEESE I

attributable to: 4REA

Shareholders of the Company VANETi 3= 5,694.2 5,944.0

Non-controlling interests JEE AR A R 55.1 742

5,749.3 6,018.2

Earnings per share - Basic and Diluted SREN - ERRER 1 HK59.2 cents #{ll HK65.0 cents L
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

in e BRI R

At 31 March 2025 /R202583H31H

2025 2024
Notes HK$ million HK$ million
B E BEER BEREx
Non-current assets ERIEE
Property, plant and equipment L E N =y 13 3,618.0 4,526.8
Right-of-use assets RS E 14 1,569.0 1,781.9
Investment properties S-EIES 15 491.0 292.3
Other intangible assets HM\pEE = 16 6.9 250
Jewellery collectibles TR E 2 5 17 1,520.1 1,520.1
Prepayment and deposits TEfTRIER EffigE 18 677.7 3704
Financial assets at fair value through KA RETAEER 45.4 629
profit or loss SRS E
Investments in associates REgpENE k& 19 28.5 498
Amounts due from associates il AN ENIE] 19 40.0 40.0
Loan receivables JEW &R 20 4.1 6.7
Deferred tax assets IEFERRIE &S 21 1,250.0 960.7
9,250.7 9,636.6
Current assets REEE
Inventories fe=s 22 55,417.2 64,647.0
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rz B fE KRR IS 18 4,242.9 6,825.0
Amounts due from associates JEWW B S 2\ TR IE 19 - 17
Amounts due from non-controlling JE ST BT &8 2 S AE 1 AR AR R 23 20.5 41
shareholders of subsidiaries BN
Loan receivables JEWE R 20 1.5 19
Taxation recoverable o] BRI 9.2 7.3
Cash and cash equivalents HERIRREEY 24 7,582.4 7,6954
67,273.7 79,182.4
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & Bl fEfT I8 25 26,610.0 30,529.6
Amounts due to associates eI S N alFR I8 19 341 2.1
Amounts due to non-controlling JEAT Bt /&8 22 Bl FE 1= AR A BR 23 217.9 152.1
shareholders of subsidiaries 1A
Taxation payable JETRIE 987.0 905.0
Bank borrowings RITEN 26 3,825.1 793.6
Gold loans =xEE 27 15,866.7 24,487.8
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 14 618.3 650.2
48,128.1 57,520.4
Net current assets mENEEFEE 19,145.6 21,662.0
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRIEaE 28,396.3 31,298.6
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2025 2024

Notes HK$ million HK$ million
BitsE BEET BEET

Non-current liabilities EREaE
Bank borrowings RITEN 26 - 3,342.3
Lease liabilities HEESE 14 479.0 617.0
Retirement benefit obligations IR T AE R A48 35 168.5 1733
Deferred tax liabilities IESERR IH B E 21 291.8 348.7
Other liabilities Hih& & 63.6 717
1,002.9 4,553.0
Net assets BEEFHE 27,393.4 26,745.6
Share capital Ji% 7K 28 9,987.7 9,987.7
Reserves s 16,437.7 15,7273
Equity attributable to shareholders of VNG g 26,425.4 25,715.0

the Company

Non-controlling interests EERIES 968.0 1,030.6
27,393.4 26,745.6

The consolidated financial statements on p.178 to 275 were approved FEER2025F 6 512 At IS RET| 33 & IR5E 178 £ 275
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 June 2025 BZGREARHRE, THIATUERES
and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton
EpxRAEEL HEEXE EpIRERSEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
E E E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
iroEmEBIR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z 2025F3H 31 HILEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

KLERRER
Statutory  Share-based Non-
Share Treasury Special surplus payments  Translation Retained controlling
capital shares reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
v i) RRIGE EERREE RONBHER REERE REH 85t FHERER @t

HK$ millon ~ HK$ million ~ HKS million

HK$ millon ~ HK$milion ~ HK$million ~ HKSmillion ~ HK$million ~ HK$ million  HKS million

BREET  BREx BREx  BREm  BRER BRER BRER BRER BRER BRER
Notes (note a) (note b)
Wit (Mita) (Wb
At April 2023 R2023E4R18 10,0000 - 24995 21831 - (7450) 184598 323974 9624 333598
Prolfit for the year FE R = = - - - - 64993 64993 1079 6,072
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FERMEE (B / K& - - - - - (564.) 88 (555.3) (337) (589.0)
income for the year
Total comprehensive (expense)/ EELE (FY) / WalE - - - - - (564.1) 6,508 59440 742 6,0182
income for the year
Employees' share-based payments fiz S 17 2 - - - - 60 - - 60 - 60
Cancellation of buy-back shares FHEERR (123) - - - - - (1226) (1349) - (1349)
Capital contribution from non-controlling -~ MEAZFERRRILE - - - - - - - - 254 254
shareholders of subsidiaries
Deregistration of subsidiaries HHNEAT = = = - - - - - 86 86
Transfers ik - - - 3306 - - (330)
Dividends RE V] - - - - - - (124975)  (124975) (400)  (12,5375)
At 31 March 2024 JR202453F 318 9,981.7 - 24995 25137 6.0 (1309.) 120172 257150 10306 26,7456
Profit for the year EERA - - - - - - 59155 59155 734 59889
Other comprehensive expense EEEMEERS - - - - - (221.2) (0.1) (2213) (18.3) (239.6)
for the year
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FELE (BY) / NEes - - - - - (2.2 5915.4 5,694.2 55 5,749.3
income for the year
Employees' share-based payments fiz B 7 2 - - - - 128 - - 128 - 128
Buy-back of shares Bl - (28) - - - - - (28) - (2.8)
Capital contribution from non-controlling ~ MEAGFERRRILE - - - - - - - - 89 89
shareholders of subsidiaries
Deregistration of subsidiaries BN - - - (5.4) - (0.3) 5.7 - (6.5) (6.5)
Transfers ik - - - 3437 - - (343.7) - - -
Dividends ®E 12 - - - - - - (49938)  (49938) (1200)  (51139)
At 31 March 2025 JR20254 3R 318 9,987.7 (28) 24995 28520 188 (1530.6) 12,6008 264254 9680 2723934
Notes: B s -

(a) Special reserve represents (i) the accumulated contribution from the Macau jewellery business and (ii)
the difference between the nominal value of the shares of various subsidiaries under common control,
and cash consideration payable arising from acquisition of these subsidiaries under common control
pursuant to the Group reorganisation in 2011

(b

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment enterprises in Mainland
China, the Company's subsidiaries in Mainland China are required to maintain a statutory surplus
reserve fund. Appropriation to such reserve is made out of net profit after taxation as reflected in the
statutory financial statements of the subsidiaries in Mainland China in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations applicable to enterprises in Mainland China. The statutory surplus reserve fund
can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by means
of capitalisation issue.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

m7_|_ O IEE_I_Z }ﬁ%%\%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE 202543831 HIEFE

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEEx
Operating activities BEEH
Profit before taxation BRE il A 7917.3 8,728.3
Adjustments for: R AIZIRE LT
Interest income AR UWA (214.1) (256.4)
Interest expenses A S B2 592.8 704.6
Loss allowance recognised on trade and other receivables B 53 Kz EL{lh & W R0 18 Er 18 1% 18.9 8.4
Recognition of allowance on inventories FEREES 2.0 139.4
Fair value change of gold loans BEEEENL R EZE 6,180.1 3,757.4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M. s KRR IEITE 1,172.2 1,350.6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEERTS 882.1 867.7
Depreciation of investment properties REMFEINE 30.5 25.7
Amortisation of other intangible assets B & 7 i i 18.1 43
Share of losses of associates NEBE N Z BB 20.4 19.9
Fair value loss of financial assets at fair value RAnEst BTN ERE ZE 16.7 =
through profit or loss NaERE
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEMNR. B KRR EHEER 68.3 51.7
Gain on surrender or modification of right-of-use assets J& & 5Y 12 5T 152 FA A & 2 1 UL 2 (0.8) (14.1)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary st —S b E A Sl EE R = 2.7
Provision for defined benefit obligations TEZRIR TA@ R R IE 2 s 6.2 8.0
Employee's share-based payments 1 & ARt R B 12.8 6.0
Net exchange difference [EZRZEHIFEE (6.8) 499
Operating cash flows before movements in SEETE A2 16,716.7 15,491.1
working capital REREME
(Increase)/ decrease in inventories (Note) & (1B0) / w2 (BTsE) (3,661.9) 86.7
Decrease/ (increase) in deposits and trade and 1EF0E 5 R EHAh B R IE 2,732.5 (860.4)
other receivables R/ (1870)
(Decrease)/ increase in trade and other payables B 5 R EANERFIE (R ) / 180 (3,386.8) 1,385.6
Increase in amounts due to associates JiE o B N S FR IE 1 10 1.0 2.1
Increase in amounts due from non-controlling JiEE ST B J&8 22 B AR 452 AR AR BR AR IR (16.7) (4.1)
shareholders of subsidiaries 0
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling JE At B J&8 22 B AR 432 AR AR SRR IR 5.2 1m.7
shareholders of subsidiaries 10
Defined benefits paid EfTE IR AE Rl (11.1) an
Cash generated from operations FEmRRE 12,378.9 16,201.6
Interest received SIS 60.2 72.8
Income tax paid: [EARIZIEET
— Hong Kong Profits Tax - BBAEHR (203.3) (129.6)
— Enterprise Income Tax and withholding tax - hE AT EER A (1,892.0) (2,273.0)
in Mainland China TR0
— Macau complementary tax — B PYFTAS 4 FE AR (63.7) (20.1)
— Taxation in other jurisdictions - HfhaliEih &z fI18 (25.6) (16.1)
Net cash generated from operating activities EEEHMERESFH 10,254.5 13,835.6
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2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEREx

Investing activities REEE

Interest received = EASS 153.9 183.8

Withdrawal of short-term bank deposits 2B HAIR TR - 38.8

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEYE. MEEEE (457.9) (893.0)

Prepayment for acquisition of property, BEYIF. BB EENRIE (120.0) (70.2)
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE. MENZBITERIE 17.0 125
plant and equipment

Receipts of loan receivables E KB fE L & =R 3.0 17

Capital contribution to an associate m—ZREBE BEE = (5.0)

Repayment from associates BE N\ THEMR 1.7 10.9

Dividend received from an associate B —REE N SIFKRER 0.4 3.9

Net cash used in investing activities REEEAREFESA (401.9) (716.6)

Financing activities FE &

Interest paid Eﬁ*l 2 (652.7) (665.6)

Bank borrowings raised KIRITER 6,200.0 7,900.7

Repayment of bank borrowings FL?ETTE%\ (6,485.3) (9,650.0)

Repayment of gold loans EBEEsEs (3,028.1) (915.7)

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities ZIHEBaEREE (862.5) (842.2)

Capital contribution from non-controlling B AT IEER R R B E R A 8.9 254
shareholders of subsidiaries

Repayment of capital to non-controlling shareholders bf B A SRR R E E IR (6.5) -
of subsidiaries

Advance from/ (repayment to) non-controlling RE/ (BIEF) HEA SRR 63.4 (10.3)
shareholders of subsidiaries S ER B EL R

Dividends paid EfTRE (5,113.9) (12,537.5)

Buy-back of shares [O] & A% t (2.8) (134.9)

Net cash used in financing activities MEEIFTARSIFE (9,879.5) (16,830.1)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRESEZEMRYIEE (26.9) (3,711.1)

Cash and cash equivalents FYNREERREESEEM 7,695.4 11,695.0
at the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes RS H 2 (86.1) (288.5)

Cash and cash equivalents FRMBEEREEEEM 7,582.4 7,695.4
at the end of the year

Note:  As at 31 March 2025, inventories as per the consolidated statement of financial position decreased BisE:  fR202543H31H, GAMBIRINENEER2024538 31/ 9,229.8 EEE T,

HK$9,229.8 million from 31 March 2024. The net cash outflow from the increase in inventories
amounting to HK$3,661.9 million was arrived at after accounting for the non-cash movements

in inventories arising from net gold loans raised/ repaid, inventory impairment and currency

realignment during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE 202543831 HIEFE

l.

184

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited (the "Company", and
its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the "Group") was
incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands on 20 July 2011. Its shares were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange") since 15 December 2011. Its immediate holding
company and its ultimate holding company are Chow Tai Fook
Capital Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company's principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 38. The address of registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of principal place of business is 33/F, New
World Tower, 16-18 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong dollars ("HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all

the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Statement of compliance and basis of

preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing

of Securities (the "Listing Rules") on the Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain

assets and liabilities, which are measured at fair values.

Financials
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Statement of compliance and basis of
preparation (Continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements

in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical

accounting estimates. It also requires management to

exercise their judgement in the process of applying the

Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher

degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where

assumptions and estimates are especially significant to

the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in

note 3.

(a)

New and amended standards adopted by

the Group

The Group has applied the following standards

and amendments which are first effective for their

annual reporting period commencing from 1 April

2024.

IAS 1 (Amendments)  Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and Non-current liabilities
with covenants

IFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease liability in sale

and leaseback
IAS 7 and IFRS 7

(Amendments)

Supplier Finance

Arrangements

The application of the above new and amended
IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/ or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.

As a result of the adoption of the amendments to
IAS 1, the Group changed its accounting policy for
the classification of Bank Borrowings (Note 26).
The adoption of the new accounting policy did
not result in a change in the classification of the
Group's bank borrowings. The Group did not make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting

the amendments to IAS 1.

Except for the abovementioned amendments to
IAS 1, the Group has not changed other material
accounting policies, or made retrospective
adjustments as a result of adopting these

amendments.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continueD)

2.1 Statement of compliance and basis of
preparation (Continued)

(b)

Financials

U

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatary for 31 March 2025 reporting period and
have not been early adopted by the Group. Except
for the disclosed impact, these standards are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on

foreseeable future transactions.

New standards, amendments and improvements

to existing standards

IAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability @

IFRS Accounting Annual Improvements
Standards —
Volume 11

IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the
(Amendments) Classification and

Measurement of Financial

Instruments @
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
(Amendments) Nature — Dependent
Electricity @

IFRS 18 (Amendments) Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements (@
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without
Public Accountability:

Disclosures (i
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of
(Amendments) Assets between an

Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture ™

(i)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

(i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

(iii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

(iv) The original effective date of 1 January 2016 has been postponed until

future announcement by the IASB
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuep)

2.1 Statement of compliance and basis of
preparation (Continued)

(b)

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of financial
statements, introducing new requirements that
will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide
more relevant information and transparency
to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact
the recognition or measurement of items in the
financial statements, its impacts on presentation
and disclosure are expected to be pervasive,
in particular those related to the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and providing
management-defined performance measures within

the financial statements.

Management is currently assessing the detailed
implications of applying the new standard on
the group's consolidated financial statements.
The group expects to apply the new standard
from its mandatory effective date of 1 January
2027. Retrospective application is required, and
so the comparative information for the financial
year ending 31 March 2026 will be restated in
accordance with IFRS 18.

Change in presentation

In previous years, fair value gain or loss arising
from gold loans was included in "cost of goods
sold" in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. In preparing
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 March 2025, management has determined that
such fair value change should be included in "other
gains and losses" in order to better reflect our core
underlying operational performance without the
impact of fluctuations in gold prices on gold loans.
The change in presentation is voluntary and is for
the purpose of giving reliable and more relevant
information to the user of financial information
and in line with industry practice. To conform with
current year's presentation, fair value loss arising
from gold loans of HK$3,757.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 has been reclassified from
"cost of goods sold" to "other gains and losses".
There is no impact on the earnings per share for
both years.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. HEREFEKGEEME @
POLICIES (conminuep)
2.1 Statement of compliance and basis of 21 B HLBR R S 4 il FEE ()
preparation (Continued)
(c) Change in presentation (Continued) () Z2IEE @)
Before reclassification: B A
For the year ended 31 March BE3AMHILLEE
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEERT BRET
Revenue =] 89,656.0 108,713.0
Cost of goods sold #H € Ry 7K (69,381.3) (86,428.0)
Gross profit EX| 20,274.7 22,285.0
Other gains and losses HARI 7 K2 8518 (95.3) (3304)
After reclassification: F|HALEE
For the year ended 31 March BHEIA3MHLEE
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEEx
Revenue = 89,656.0 108,713.0
Cost of goods sold THEE Ay 7R (63,201.2) (82,670.6)
Gross profit EX| 26,454.8 26,0424
HAhU 7 K 518 (6,275.4) (4,087.8)

Other gains and losses

188 Financials
ZUp)
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conrinuep)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured

entities) over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group:
has power over the entity;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the entity; and

has the ability to affect those returns through

its power to direct the activities of the entity.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an entity if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an entity, it has power over the
entity when the voting rights are sufficient to give
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the entity unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group's voting rights in an

entity are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group's holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of

the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Group, other

vote holders or other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

and

any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to
be made, including voting patterns at previous

shareholders' meetings.
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190

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continueD)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(a)

Financials

U

Subsidiaries (Continued)
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of

financial position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (c) below),

after initially being recognised at cost.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conrinuep)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(c)

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount

of the investment.

When the Group's share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the

other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance

with the policy described in note 2.6.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continueD)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(d)

192 Financials
ZUp)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control
as transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the

Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of

equity as specified/ permitted by applicable IFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conrinuep)

2.3 Business Combination

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a

subsidiary comprises the:
fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the

acquired business
equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement; and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the

acquired entity's net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Annual Report 2025
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continueD)

2.3

24

194
U

Business Combination (Continued)

The excess of the:
consideration transferred;

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired

entity; and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity

interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in

profit or loss as a gain on acquisition of subsidiaries.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent
financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity
or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.

Financials
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuep)

2.5 Foreign currencies translation

(a)

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates ("the functional
currency"). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollar (HK$), which
is the Company's functional and presentation

currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, within finance costs.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss on a net basis within other gains and losses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using exchange
rates at the date when fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities
carried at fair value are reported as part of the
fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences
on non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive income

are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2.

196

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continueD)

2.5 Foreign currencies translation (Contnued)

(c)

Financials

U

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency

as follows:

assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the

closing rate at the date of the reporting period;

income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part
of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or

loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and

translated at the closing rate.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuep)

2.6

27

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at

the end of each reporting period.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously.

For other accounting policies are included in

accompanying notes.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement

in applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates are continually evaluated. They are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that may have a financial impact on the
entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that carry a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities are listed below with references in the

notes to the financial statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates Notes

(@)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment and 13 and 14
right-of-use assets

(b)  Valuation of inventories 22

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Accounting Policy
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision

maker.

The board of the Company has appointed Executive
Committee which assesses the financial performance and
position of the Group, and makes strategic decisions.
Executive Committee, which has been identified as being the
chief operating decision maker, consists of executive directors

of the Company.

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable
for goods sold and services provided less returns and trade

discounts.

For the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, information reported to the chief operating
decision maker (the "CODM"), which comprises executive
directors of the Company, mainly focuses on the location
of management. Revenue derived from each location of
management is further analysed into those from retail and
wholesale markets when reviewed by the CODM. The Group's
reportable and operating segments for the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024 included two segments, namely (i)
business in the Mainland China and (ii) business in Hong Kong

& Macau of China and other markets.

Financials
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEBLTER @

(CONTINUED)
F52 AT 52 R o3 7 ) o 1) AR A 1 A S
HEIANHLEE

(a)  Analysis of the Group's revenue and results by (a)
reportable segment
For the year ended 31 March

Hong Kong & Macau of China

Mainland China and other markets Total
o A dth hEEE. hERMRHEMGES #Rst
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEERT BEBET BEET BEET BEET
Revenue e
External sales INRIHE
— Retail -=E 32,392.1 38,5804 12,376.2 16,239.0 44,768.3 54,819.4
— Wholesale (note i) — HEZE (BAELD) 42163.4 51,117.6 2,724.3 2,776.0 44,887.7 53,893.6
Segment/ Group revenue nEY/ KEEER 74,555.5 89,698.0 15,100.5 19,015.0 89,656.0 108,713.0
Inter-segment sales (note ii) NEPREEE (BEEi) 23.9 = 883.3 906.1 907.2 9061
74,579.4 89,698.0 15,983.8 19,9211 90,563.2 109,619.1
Gross profit ER 21,432.2 21,323.7 5,069.4 4,708.3 26,501.6 26,032.0
(before elimination) (HEERT)
Inter-segment eliminations ) 2B [E il 3 = = (46.8) 10.4 (46.8) 10.4
Gross profit ER 21,432.2 21,323.7 5,022.6 4,718.7 26,454.8 26,042.4
Other income HABRA 676.7 553.8 105.4 135.8 782.1 689.6
Selling and distribution costs THE K 9 3 Ay 2 (9.572.8)  (10,182.0) (2,918.3) (3118.2)  (12,491.1)  (13,300.2)
and general and — R RZATELR 2
administrative expenses
Operating profit R 12,536.1 11,6955 2,209.7 1,736.3 14,745.8 13,431.8
(segment result) (S BBx4E)
Others (note iii) EHAth (B EEiii) (6,349.3) (4,182.0)
Interest income FE WA 113.6 1831
Finance costs Ei =y (592.8) (704.6)
Profit before taxation bR FE R 7,917.3 8,728.3
Other segment information stAEEEA
included in measurement of (T EPZAE)
operating profit Eg={ip=xii
(segment result): NEPER -
Cost of inventories recognised 77 & Y I\ i 57 % B 52 53,067.4 68,3111 10,054.5 14,129.9 63,121.9 82,441.0
as expenses
Staff costs 8 TTRY7R 3,830.1 39244 1,416.6 1,453.9 5,246.7 5,378.3
Depreciation and amortisation e R 1,399.5 1,600.9 703.4 684.4 2,102.9 2,2853
Concessionaire fees E=Vibang 1,501.5 1,874.3 14.6 12.2 1,516.1 1,886.5
Operating lease rentals in AR EE 218.1 193.0 177.6 267.4 395.7 460.4
respect of rented premises HEHE
Notes: BFEE -
(i)  Wholesale revenue represents revenue from jewellery trading, sales to franchisees () HBFEXRPEHRERS. HETNBEFHR A HENE RERRIRE
and retailers and provision of services to franchisees. /0 A S A
(i) Inter-segment sales are charged at a price mutually agreed by both parties. (i) 7Y BB 15 8 71 R E 2 B2
(iii) Others represent other gains and losses, other expenses and share of losses of (iii) HEHEMEREE. il RGBS S 2 B8,

associates,
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(CONTINUED)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(a)  Analysis of the Group's revenue and results by

reportable segment (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are

the same as the Group's accounting policies described

above. Operating profit represents the profit generated

from each segment without allocation of other gains

and losses, other expenses, share of losses of associates,

interest income and finance costs. This is the measure

reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

(b)  Analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by

reportable segment
As at 31 March

Segment assets

yout

9
=
[ =1

(a)

(b)

SER B ERE R )

iz AT 52 SR 43 ) A ) A 4 B s S
K BT (0
2RI D STBIERE LA LT R B S
STKRIBE,, &£ EIRAIEEARD B E MU
EiE. HitSZ. nieBE A sz EiE. R
NS A= NS i = = 3 e | P =
EEESSERKE BERAEE RN B R FRIFFT
EREtEERLE,

$e nl 52 R 70 H dh o0 B AR 4R B E K
At
R3A318
NEPEE

Hong Kong & Macau of China

Mainland China and other markets Total
o i 74 3t hEEE. PEIRMREMTER st
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEERT BEERT BEBERT BEET BEERT BEREx
Property, plant and equipment  #3. &= k% 2,869.6 3,771.5 748.4 755.3 3,618.0 4,526.8
Right-of-use assets FRESE 517.0 622.7 1,052.0 1,159.2 1,569.0 1,781.9
Investment properties BN 338.0 128.2 153.0 164.1 491.0 292.3
Other intangible assets HithMmp &= 5.2 18.8 1.7 6.2 6.9 250
Jewellery collectibles REBE - = 1,520.1 1,520.1 1,520.1 1,520.1
Prepayment and deposits TEfTRIER EffEE 160.3 2213 517.4 1491 677.7 3704
Inventories =& 36,938.2 45,084.2 18,479.0 19,562.8 55,417.2 64,647.0
Trade and other receivables B 58 A ER FIE 3,542.6 5,769.1 700.3 1,055.9 4,242.9 6,825.0
Taxation recoverable o] I [o] §2 18 - — 9.2 7.3 9.2 7.3
Cash and cash equivalents RERIEEEEM 4,998.0 3,212.8 2,584.4 4,482.6 7,582.4 7,695.4
Total segment assets BRElEE 49,368.9 58,828.6 25,765.5 28,862.6 75,134.4 87,691.2
Unallocated: FREL :
Financial assets at fair value KN REETABEN 45.4 62.9
through profit or loss SRS E
Investments in associates REtE B2 RE 68.5 915
and amounts due from K FEW R E N8l
associates KIH
Amounts due from JE SLBfY JEE 22 B 20.5 41
non-controlling shareholders JFR R AR SR AR
of subsidiaries
Loan receivables JE W E X 5.6 8.6
Deferred tax assets IESEFR IE & 7 1,250.0 960.7
Total assets BEE 76,524.4 88,819.0

Financials
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &
(CONTINUED)
(b)  Analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by (b)
reportable segment (Continued SRiEgI e
As at 31 March iK3A31H
Segment liabilities NERE

SER B ERE R )

$e mT 5 g0 g 1 AR 4R B E K

Hong Kong & Macau of China

Mainland China and other markets Total
o A itk hEFE. PEIRMREE MR FoR

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

BEEx BEET BEET BEET BEET BERET

Trade and other payables B 55 EhfET R IE (24,875.8) (28,824.8) (1,734.2) (1,704.8) (26,610.0) (30,529.6)

Taxation payables fEfT R IE (765.7) (647.9) (221.3) (257.1) (987.0) (905.0)

Bank borrowings IRITEM - - (3,825.1) (4,135.9) (3,825.1) (4135.9)

Gold loans =EEES (12,195.4) (19,727.1) (3,671.3) (4,760.7) (15,866.7) (24,487.8)

Lease liabilities HEaE (422.2) (499.3) (675.1) (767.9) (1,097.3) (1,267.2)

Total segment liabilities HaMasE (38,259.1)  (49,699.1)  (10,127.0) (11,626.4)  (48,386.1)  (61,325.5)
Unallocated: FRAEL :

Amounts due to associates JETEE A B FRIE (3.1) ()

Amount due to non-controlling  JE{THT BT IEE R (217.9) (152.1)

shareholders of subsidiaries R ERFRIE
Retirement benefits IR KA AR YE (168.5) (173.3)
obligations

Deferred tax liabilities IESER IE S H (291.8) (348.7)

Other liabilities HihE & (63.6) (7.7)

Total liabilities FEN=RE (49,131.0)  (62,073.4)

(c)  Analysis of the Group's assets by geographical

area

The Group's non-current assets, excluding loan
receivables, deposits, amounts due from associates,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and

deferred tax assets, by geographical areas are as follows:

As at 31 March

et 307 B S (9 A B T 0 A

132 30 39 17 &5 &l 73 BT I 68 B AR i
BWER. BIEE. BUBEQ SRR, €
NAESTABRER SR E ERIEERIEE ZE)

AT

K3A31H

BE (18

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEET

Mainland China o 5] A 4,069.3 49467
Hong Kong & Macau of China and other markets DEEE. ERPEE TS 3,253:2 3,382.4
7,322.5 8,329.1

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

201

iR G RIS ER AR M 5



4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

202

(d)

Disaggregation of revenue

Accounting Policy

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales of
goods and the provision of services in the ordinary

course of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred or provided to the customer,
at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is

after deduction of any trade discounts.

(a) Sales of goods — Retail

The Group operates a chain of retail stores
selling jewellery products and watches. Revenue
from the sales of goods is recognised when the
product is transferred to the customer who takes

delivery in store.

Payment of the transaction price is due from retail
customers immediately. The payment is usually
settled in cash, by credit cards, by means of
electronic payments or settled indirectly through

retail malls.

Sales of goods — Customers loyalty
programme

Sales of goods that result in award credits for
customers, under the Group's customer loyalty
programme, are accounted for as multiple
element revenue transactions and the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable is
allocated between the products supplied and the
award credits granted. Revenue is not recognised
at the time of the initial sale transaction — but
is deferred and recognised as revenue when the
cash coupons or points are redeemed and the

Group's obligations have been fulfilled.

Financials
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(d)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

(b)

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

Sales of goods — Customers loyalty
programme (Continued)

Accumulated experience is used to estimate the
forfeiture of award credits as breakage which is
recognised as contract liabilities. The expected
breakage amount is recognised as revenue in
proportion to the pattern of rights exercised
by the customers or when the likelihood of the

customer exercising its rights becomes remote.

Sales of goods — Wholesale to
franchisees/ retailers and Jewellery
trading

The Group manufactures and sells a range of
jewellery products in the wholesale market. Sales
are recognised when control of the products
is transferred to franchisees/ retailers and
jewellery trading customers. The franchisees/
retailers and jewellery trading customers have full
discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the franchisees'/ retailers' and
jewellery trading customers' acceptance of the
products. Control is transferred when the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the franchisees/ retailers and jewellery trading
customers, and either the franchisees/ retailers
and jewellery trading customers have accepted
the products in accordance with the sales
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all

criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

A contract liability is also recognised when the
franchisees/ retailers pay deposits before the
Group transfers control of the products to the

franchisees/ retailers.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(d)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

(d)

Service income from franchisees

The Group provides services to franchisees under
fixed-price contracts. Revenue from providing
services is recognised in the accounting period in

which the services are rendered.

Revenue is recognised based on the actual
service provided to the end of the reporting
period as a proportion of the total services to be
provided because the customer receives and uses

the benefits simultaneously.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on a
payment schedule. If the services rendered by the
Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services

rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods

and services at a point in time and over time in the

following major product categories:

4.

yout

—
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=
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=

EH A ERE R )
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d) ZRBE/N0EEREBA
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TN ER B e B SR S o K2 RS AR SR — B BA R2 S — R
RN PTITERIERE, TSERERNT -

For the year ended 31 March #E3A3MHILEE
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
At a point in time R —BERS

Retail sales TEHE 44,768.3 54,8194
Wholesale to franchisees/ retailers 0B / N iHmE e 42,777.6 52,937.8
Jewellery trading ThEE 5 1,598.7 511.2

Over time R —EREF A
Service income from franchisees I E 10 88 B 5 AR AR UL 511.4 444 6
89,656.0 108,713.0
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. B

(CONTINUED)

(d) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

=

The following are the major product categories of the

Group's revenue excluding jewellery trading and service

income from franchisees:

SER B ERE R )

TR T ()
AT RINEBESFE

(T EEREE S

NNEREFARBS WA ) B1E 2 2 miRR)

SEN=

For the year ended 31 March BHE3IAMHILEE
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
Gem-set, Platinum and K-gold jewellery ThEiER. IHERKEEM 12,477.5 14,479.9
Gold jewellery and products =B ERD 70,780.8 88,3221
Watches i 4,287.6 49552
87,545.9 107,757.2
No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total MEFEEN, BEEERRESGRKEES S
revenue of the Group in both years. 10% LA ko
5. OTHER INCOME 5 HAblA
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
Commission income E08 A 64.2 148.2
Government grants KU #7 A 152.1 181.2
Other income from franchisees RE N E R EARUIA 340.0 160.5
Rental income FHEWA 40.8 36.6
Interest income from trade receivables B S ERGRIER A BB A 60.2 72.8
Other interest income HAh R S A 40.3 0.5
Others HAi 84.5 89.8
782.1 689.6
6. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HAbW s M4
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BRET BEET
Fair value loss on settled gold loans EEEEEEENQA R EEE (4,641.1) (1,976.8)
Revaluation loss on unsettled gold loans REEEREEMEDLER (1,539.0) (1,780.6)
Fair value loss of financial assets at BAREBEST ARG ERIEE (16.7) =
fair value through profit or loss N fEREEE
Net foreign exchange loss PE E5 18 E 2R (4.9) (288.7)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEMF. B &R ENREER (68.3) (51.7)
Gain on surrender or modification of ﬁEI‘ﬂlé}aT@ﬁﬁT‘EéEm g 0.8 14.1
right-of-use assets
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary sHiH— Skt E A B E S = (2.7)
Others HAth (6.2) (1.4)
(6,275.4) (4,087.8)
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7.

INTEREST INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Accounting Policy

Interest income
Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net fair value gains and losses on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the profit or loss as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate
is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial assets
(after deduction of the loss allowance).

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended

use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

7.

) A B il A

wEHER
R R BA

RERAREBEFTABEDEMEELRNRBASTA
ZEEENQRENEREEPFERD,

157 880 8H RY IR 5T B B 5 R & 2 B0 R B A2 AR & IR A
RIEFHE, RiBERRREMIIA,

FFR S E AR S E ZRIRA S UAR, A
BWAG 2 RmEEWRA EREMAE ARG
AEMBUTA

MNBWARERANEERAESMEEZREDRBESHE

B, HEEHERHREEERNTMEER . ME

BRETHMERE, ERNEEARE/MEZFRE
(HOBRESIE R 1R )o

e & R 7K

BERFRBEE. BRVEECEBEEN—KREE
TE T E RV IS SERY K2 55 1 B 22 LA TF EL 3R X AR iR B 3

EMFHENERL, CEREEREFTEXERMH

ERAFRE AR SR EE

EREERBIFCEREESXHAICGIEREM
Bz REWA, RAtGEBERE ZERA NP
BRo

HMEERARREEE 2 BB NS,

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
Interest income from ISUON
— banks - iR1T 113.6 183.1
Finance costs on E =y %N
— gold loans -=EEE 342.0 357.3
— bank borrowings - IRITER 201.8 296.8
— lease liabilities -HEaE 49.0 50.5
592.8 704.6
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

8. BRI A

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BERET BEREx
Profit before taxation has been arrived at BRI ENSA 208/ (BTA) :
after charging/ (crediting):
Directors' remuneration (note 9) EEME (FiEEQ) 107.6 181.1
Staff's retirement benefits 8 TR g R 5+ 2 {71 786.5 787.2
scheme contributions
Staff costs 8 T Ay 7K 4,352.6 4,410.0
5,246.7 5,378.3
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 178 RY 2N T8 58 4% FA 2 63,121.9 82,4410
Concessionaire fees HiEAY 1,516.1 1,886.5
Operating lease rentals in respect of rented premises  AFEYIEEE A SRS 395.7 460.4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M. RUE RS EITE 1,172.2 1,350.6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EHREEEINE 882.1 867.7
Depreciation of investment properties REMEITE 30.5 257
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note) HME P & EE#IE (FfEE) 18.1 1413
Recognition of allowances on inventories FERERER 2.0 1394
(included in cost of goods sold) (ST ASHE RN )
Loss allowance recognised on trade and other receivables B 53 & EL1th f IS R I8 518 #5 f ~ T 50 18.9 8.4
Donations (included in other expenses) B (STAEMhBSZA) 36.9 34.5
Auditor's remuneration for the Company's auditor 12 SLEM B <& 7 2N 5] 7% BLEm
— audit and related services — 18R A8 B AR 7 7.6 8.1
— non-audit services — AERZ BUIR H5S 3.8 3.3
Auditor's remuneration for other auditors 12 BB B <& - EL{th 7% B
— audit and related services — 18R A8 B AR 7 5.1 42
Note:  Amortisation of HK$16.6 million (2024: HK$39.8 million) related to HEARTS ON FIRE was Bt : ERHEARTS ON FIREA MMM 16.6 BT (20244F : 39 8 ML) &t

included in other expenses and the remaining amount of HK$1.5 million (2024: HK$1.5
million) was included in general and administrative expenses.

9. DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND 9.
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

BBz

Y

B AT

AHMBASZ, MerEA1.5E&EBT (20244  1.58&BT) BIFFA—RRIT

BN B K B 4

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEET

Directors' fees EFEHEE 7.4 7.0
Other emoluments to directors EFNEMEE

— salaries and other benefits - i R EAMEF 333 35.9

— performance-based bonus — BAEAL 61.9 130.3

— retirement benefits scheme contributions — R4S A 5 &I IR 5.0 79

107.6 1811
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0. DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND
EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the directors and

the chief executives of the Company are as follows:

0.

B, mEITHBANB KBS @

REEEIRNBIES Rz e TEA B2 TR 5B
W

2025
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Director's and other  Performance scheme
fee benefits  based bonus  contributions
HER RANGER]

E £k Hithig R EfEaL BEE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BREEL LT BREL

2024
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Director's and other  Performance scheme
Total fee benefits ~ based bonus contributions Total
HER BINER
@zt EE ik HibiER ERA HEE @t

HKS$ million HK$ million HK$ million ~ HK$ million HK$ million ~ HK$ million
BEEL BRER BEET BR#R BEET BARER

(note i) (note i)
(MEET) ((GET)

Executive directors: WTES:
Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry PRAEL 0.2 bih 10.3 0.5 16.5 02 66 209 07 284
Mr. Cheng Chi-Heng, Conroy ~ Bi5fE %4 0.2 42 75 11 13.0 02 40 145 18 205
Ms. Cheng Chi-Man, Sonia gEEUL 0.2 42 64 0.5 13 02 34 11 07 154
Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent BRETE 0.2 63 13.0 0.6 20.1 02 64 07 06 289
Mr. Cheng Kam-Biu, Wilson BREFL 0.2 19 3.0 0.1 5.2 02 24 83 01 1.0
Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton BREmLE 0.2 44 75 11 13.2 02 37 162 19 220
Mr. Suen Chi-Keung, Peter Yoty v 0.2 29 513 0.3 8.7 02 34 125 03 164
Mr. Liu Chun-Wai, Bobby BiRALE 0.2 27 54 0.3 8.5 02 33 126 03 164
Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian BT (i) 0.1 12 36 0.5 5.4 02 27 125 15 169

(note i)
Independent non-executive ~ HIIFHNTES:

directors:
Mr. Kwong Che-Keung, Gordon ~ BBZR38 784 0.9 - - - 0.9 09 - - - 09
Mr. Lam Kin-Fung, Jeffrey Rt 0.8 - - - 08 08 - - 08
Dr. Or Ching-Fai, Raymond fiEREL 0.8 - - - 0.8 08 - - - 08
Ms. Cheng Ka-Lai, Lily PREUL 0.8 - - - 08 08 - - 08
Mr. Chia Pun-Kok, Herbert BRETE 0.8 - - - 0.8 08 - - - 08
Ms. Fung Wing-Yee, Sabrina maEL T 08 - - - 08 08 - - 08
Mr. Tang Ying-Cheung, Eric BMETE (MEti) 08 - - - 0.8 03 - - - 03

(note i)
Total st 74 333 619 5.0 107.6 70 359 1303 79 1811

Notes: BtEE

(i) The performance-based bonus is discretionary based on the Group's financial results and
directors' performance decided by the remuneration committee of the Company.

(i) Resigned with effect from 26 September 2024

(i) Appointed with effect from 1 December 2023.

The executive directors' emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of
the non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors shown above were mainly for their services as

directors of the Company.

208 Financials
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DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND
EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals included five directors (2024:
five) of the Company, details of whose emoluments are included

above.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors and
the chief executives of the Company or the five highest
paid individuals (including directors, the chief executives
and employees) as compensation for loss of office and as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group. None of the
directors have waived any emoluments during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

Emoluments of senior management

Other than the emoluments of directors and five highest paid
individuals disclosed above, the emoluments of the senior
management whose profiles are included in "Profile of Directors

and Senior Management" section fell within the following

bands:

9.

T

FEH . REITHANEG K B4 @0
4 Fem 4 Nt
hEZEEMEATBEERATSARZES (20245 - &
B), BEHFMFBIHR L,

B E2025F K 2024 F3H 3T HIEFE, TR ET
BRABEERESTHARNOZREMEAL (B
EEE. RRTERAEBRES) fTBIE, AFAET
{32 B AT 660 468 188 K2 R 5| 982 5 10 A\ B 5 10 A\ 7S % [ 55 9 2
o B ZE 2025 202433 HIEFE, WHEE
(EES=SEEREETH

TR AR BN B
BRERESRESSEHMEALOME}, SRED
AB (BERR EFREHEBABMA | —H) K
B& 73 F FHIEE -

Number of individuals

EE#H
2025 2024
HK$nil — HK$1,000,000 F T 1,000,000 T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L% 1,500,000 #E T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 # T2 2,000,000 # T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 # T2 2,500,000 T 3 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T % 3,000,000 T 2 4
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 # 5T 3,500,000 i It 1 4
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 # L. % 4,000,000 i# It 1 2
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 T2 4,500,000 #E T 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 # 7T 2 5,500,000 i 7T 1 =
HK$6,500,001 — HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 # T2 7,000,000 It 1 =
13 12
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10. TAXATION 10. HiIH
Accounting Policy TETEUR
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax INEA 27 BT 45 800 32 Y 1Y 52 2 2 HA i SR A UL A AR 217
payable on the current period's taxable income based on the mEE Az RESTEREARE, WEREEYRET
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by ZRARFAZMIABERENIIEERREENRE
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to BEEMARE,
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
Current income tax BNEAFR1S
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of BIHEAPT S M Z MIREAR AT, EfEASIREEL
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of BIEIE K 4 ESR A BB 2R RS B R 2 AE i
the reporting period in the countries where the Company and YEHRMNRBEEANGTE., SEENERAREIE
its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable 151 5% ¥& PIT AR BR B 5 5 8 BA ST i sR AR SR (5K 00, =
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken iR A s i 2 5 A 0T BB 2 R AR T I BAAR UL A7 38 o
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable REEREREOAREENSHEYEHER 8F
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers R EREAAEERRNBRITIRME), 5t
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an SHRUERE,
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances
either based on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BHEEX
The taxation charge comprises: MIRFSZ BT :
Current tax: BNEATRIE -
Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") in Bl A it R TSR 1,681.7 1,518.1
Mainland China
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNER 209.1 270.3
Macau complementary tax 18 P9 Fr 1S 4/ 7R A5 29.9 59.9
Taxation in other jurisdictions HAF] A E 2 I8 29.0 21.6
1,949.7 1,869.9
(Over)/ under provision in prior years: BEFE (BERER) / BELE
EIT in Mainland China Bl At R TSR (17.9) 313
Hong Kong Profits Tax FENER (15.1) (354)
Taxation in other jurisdictions HAhS] A [E 7 18 0.9 0.9
(32.1) (3.2)
Deferred tax charge (note 21) IRSERIE A SZ (BftEE 21) (178.8) 16.5
Withholding tax * Y81 - 189.6 237.9
1,928.4 21211

*

Withholding tax mainly represents withholding tax on intra-group licence income from a TR0 = S 151 — R op B P Hth b 2 B UL B SR B 0 2 B R 12 R U A B TR D AR

Mainland China subsidiary.

210 Financials Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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10.

TAXATION (conTinuED)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law (the "EIT Law") of
the People's Republic of China ("PRC") and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the subsidiaries in
Mainland China is 25.0% for both years.

For certain subsidiaries of the Company in Mainland China,
they are entitled to the tax incentives in connection with
the development of the western part of Mainland China. The

applicable tax rate is 15.0% for both years.

Macau complementary tax is calculated at the maximum
progressive rate of 12.0% on the estimated assessable profit for

both years.

Taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

10. FEIH )

M EFEN, BN GH TG ESR R G 1%

16.5% MZ5t8E

REPEARINE ( PE ) ERFSNERAEE
T Al 8, o [ P 3t B e 2 ] B R SR S 151 4% 25.0% 6

INZN B % T o B Y 3 B e 22 B9 7 3 o (B A 3 P B 3
JREIRIRE S, mEFENEAREER15.0%,

MEFEN, 8PS TR 7212 1t 51 & SR A iz Al 132
FI_J% mYWQO%D‘r%o

FANMIRS o] AR SR R HIBRAT AT A B AR T -

as follows:

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEHET BEET
Profit before taxation B A B A 7,917.3 8,728.3
Tax at the applicable income tax rate: WE RS R E BRI 1,785.0 1,815.1
(Mainland China: 25.0%; Hong Kong, China: (PEIAL : 25.0% ; PEEE : 16.5% ;
16.5%; Macau, China: 12.0%) hERPY - 12.0%)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AoT{0 FA Sz BB 5 s 22 61.3 94.6
tax purposes
Tax effect of income not taxable for BRI UTA R 2 2 (15.8) (19.5)
tax purposes
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIEEENREE 16.3 12.3
Utilisation of tax losses previously Ef| F 5t Al R B R X1 A5 T s 18 (24.9) (18.5)
not recognised
Tax effect of temporary differences RIS B ZE RN R IR & (35.0) (7.7)
not recognised
Tax effect of tax exemptions and incentives & T E NI EA S RIERE R (75.7) (59.6)
granted to certain subsidiaries in BENRETE
Mainland China
Withholding tax on undistributed profits of oh B A it B e 2 Sl R 43 R iz Al TR AR 203.0 2516
subsidiaries in Mainland China
Over provision in prior years B EBEE R (32.1) (3.2)
Withholding tax * Ta0%: * 189.6 237.9
Tax credit HIEiEE (147.8) (187.2)
Others HAth 4.5 53
Taxation charge for the year FERRIEZ 1,928.4 21211

Withholding tax mainly represents withholding tax on intra-group licence income from a

Mainland China subsidiary.
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10.

212

TAXATION (conTinuED)

The Group is within the scope of the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development Pillar Two model rules. Under
the Pillar Two legislation, the Group is liable to pay a top-up
tax for the difference between the Global Anti-Base Erosion
Proposal ("GloBE") effective tax rate for each jurisdiction and

the 15% minimum rate.

There is no major jurisdiction which the Group operates in have
enacted or substantively enacted the Pillar Two legislation. The
Hong Kong government has announced the implementation of
the Pillar Two legislation for years commencing on or after 1
January 2025. The Group continues to monitor local legislation
and other development of the Pillar Two legislation in relevant

jurisdictions and assess the potential impact.

The Group has applied the mandatory temporary relief from
the accounting requirement to recognise and disclose deferred
taxes arising from the jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar
Two legislation, as provided in IAS 12.

Financials
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1. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Accounting Policy

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

profit attributable to shareholders of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than

ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the

year and excluding treasury shares.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in

the determination of basic earnings per share to take

into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential

ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary

shares.

The calculation of the basic earings per share for the year is

based on the consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company for the year and on the number of 9,987,634,568
(2024: 9,996,454,344) shares in issue during the year, after

excluding the treasury shares.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the year is

based on the consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of

the Company for the year and on the weighted average number
of 9,992,888,850 (2024: 9,997,685,409) shares in issue during

the year, after excluding the treasury shares and adjusting the

potential ordinary shares arising from Share Award Scheme.
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. K8
Accounting Policy Tt BUR
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, MRS HARY 2 IR EIRBRIB S AR I AR DR
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion ZIEUREEH (EREEERLBIAHERKG
of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but RE) TFH &,
not distributed at the end of the reporting period.
2025 2024
HK cents per HK cents per
share HK$ million share HK$ million
BAZEW BRET BAZEMW BEEX
Dividends paid and recognised JR EF A 32 1+ B2 B 378 4 93 IR
as distribution during the year ZRE
For current year: RERL
— Interim dividends - hHARR 2 20.0 1,997.5 25.0 2,497.5
For prior year: EFE
— Final dividends - REARR 2 30.0 2,996.3 28.0 2,800.0
— Special dividends - BRI 2 - - 72.0 7,200.0
4,993.8 12,497.5

214

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
of HK32.0 cents per share (2024: HK30.0 cents per share),
totalling HK$3,195.9 million (2024: HK$2,996.3 million) in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2025 have been proposed
by the directors of the Company and are subject to approval by
the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Financials
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting Policy

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction in progress) are stated at historical cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are

incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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13.

216

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

Properties which comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or for
administration purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease),
the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative

purposes.

Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for

their intended use.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater

than its estimated recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Ciritical Accounting Estimates

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to
sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is required in the area
of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an
event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value
of asset can be supported by its recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing
the assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the net present value used in the impairment test and
as a result affect the Group's reported financial condition and
results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow
projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge

to the consolidated income statement.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, after reviewing the
business environment as well as the Group's strategies and
past performance of its cash-generating units, management
concluded that there was no impairment of property, plant
and equipment (2024: nil) and right-of-use assets (2024:
nil) respectively. Management believe that any reasonably
possible changes in the assumptions used in the impairment
reviews would not affect management's view on impairment
at 31 March 2025. A discount rate of 11.5% (2024: 18.0%) has
been applied.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. WIS R D7 Kt o

(CONTINUED)
Furniture, Leasehold
Plant and  fixtures and improve- Motor Construction
Buildings machinery equipment ments vehicles  in progress Total
£ HE
BF BERKEE ZIRD MEEE HE EEIE Azt
HK$ million  HK$ million  HK$ million  HK$ million  HK$ million  HK$ million  HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET
Cost RY 7%
At 1 April 2023 R2023%F 4818 3,911.7 599.2 4,080.5 4,345 63.2 319.7 13,319.4
Currency realignment B R (118.1) (20.2) (74.4) (141.9) (1.6) (11.0) (367.2)
Additions =1 - 22.2 3361 365.1 35 230.3 9572
Transfer s 57.9 0.2 0.6 03 = (59.0) =
Disposals HE (8.2) (4.4) (206.5) (257.8) (1.3) - (478.2)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3H31H 3,843.3 597.0 4,136.3 4,310.8 63.8 480.0 13,431.2
Currency realignment B (61.7) (10.1) (37.4) (71.9) (0.7) (4.2) (186.0)
Additions =t - 94.2 258.8 202.5 0.9 63.7 620.1
Transfer e 391.3 0.1 2.2 25.2 - (418.8) -
Disposals HE (12.2) (37.9) (327.7) (313.3) (3.7) (8.3) (703.1)
Transferred to investment BEREEZEIEY % (258.1) = = = = = (258.1)
properties
At 31 March 2025 R2025% 38318 3,902.6 643.3 4,032.2 4153.3 60.3 112.4 12,9041
Accumulated depreciation RstTERiRE
and impairment
At 1 April 2023 R2023%4H1H 1,490.5 330.7 2,986.9 3,316.0 50.9 - 8,175.0
Currency realignment B R R (45.2) (11.1) (42.3) (107.5) (1.1) = (207.2)
Depreciation provided FNFTERE 188.6 50.9 611.2 494.5 54 = 1,350.6
for the year
Eliminated on disposals H & e (5.9) (3.6) (180.7) (222.6) (1.2) = (414.0)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3H31H 1,628.0 366.9 3,375.1 3,480.4 54.0 - 8,904.4
Currency realignment &R R (26.4) (6.5) (29.2) (61.0) (0.7) = (123.8)
Depreciation provided FRITERME 195.9 46.3 479.7 445.4 4.9 = 1,172.2
for the year
Eliminated on disposals i ES e (9.6) (30.0) (299.1) (275.5) (3.6) = (617.8)
Transferred to investment B ZEFE (48.9) - - - - - (48.9)
properties
At 31 March 2025 R2025%F3H31H 1,739.0 376.7 3,526.5 3,589.3 54.6 - 9,286.1
Carrying values IRMEE
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3H31H 2,163.6 266.6 505.7 564.0 57 112.4 3,618.0
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3H31H 2,215.3 2301 761.2 830.4 9.8 480.0 4526.8
The carrying values of the Group's properties (including AREEYE (AIERETRE) NREEATINT
construction in progress) are analysed as follows:
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
In Mainland China AR o [ A 2,023.3 24184
In Hong Kong, China REEE 252.7 276.9
2,276.0 2,695.3
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4. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES

Accounting Policy

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
the lease and non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for
which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for
these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of the
liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
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4. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES conminuep)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party

financing was received;

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the
subsidiaries of the Group, which does not have recent third
party financing; and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,

currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each

period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:
the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received,;
any initial direct costs; and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over

the underlying asset's useful life.
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4. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES conminuep)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in other income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term (note 5). Initial direct costs incurred
in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense
over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The
respective leased assets are included in the consolidated

statement of financial position based on their nature.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The Group reviews right-of-use assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Determining whether an impairment has occurred typically
requires various estimates and assumptions, for details, please
refer to critical accounting estimate in note 13.
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES conminuep)

14, fii FHRERS 2 R ST AR a0

() Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) A %G A 5 R L 2 e AR 1Y) 42 AR
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows RO REREEEERNEERIT

the following amounts relating to leases:

Leasehold land/

land use rights Office,
(note i) warehouse and
et/ others
Right-of-use assets = it {55 R Retail stores MAZE. BE Total
EHEEE (BiFEEi) TEE Tz H il @st
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET BEET
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 551.3 1,048.0 971 16964
Currency realignment B R R (5.1) (19.9) (3.3) (28.3)
Additions =1 - 9721 108.2 1,080.3
Depreciation provided for the year (note ii) FNITERM (FMisEii) (20.2) (782.4) (65.1) (867.7)
Surrender BRE - (51.6) (4.3) (55.9)
Modification (CH - (19.9) (23.0) (42.9)
At 31 March 2024 fR2024F3H31H 526.0 1,146.3 109.6 1,781.9
Currency realignment & R R (2.0) (6.0) (1.3) (9.3)
Additions nE - 701.7 45.0 746.7
Depreciation provided for the year (note i)  SENITER M (M) (19.9) (800.2) (62.0) (882.1)
Modification 1&3T = (43.4) = (43.4)
Transferred to investment properties TG 2 (24.8) — — (24.8)
At 31 March 2025 iR2025%3H31H 479.3 998.4 91.3 1,569.0
Lease liabilities HK$ million
HEAaE BE#ET
At 1 April 2023 JR2023F4H1H 1165.7
Currency realignment BT (22.8)
Lease payment MHEMIR (892.7)
Interest expenses ISy 50.5
Additions NE 1,079.4
Surrender [FT=1 (70.0)
Modification B3I (42.9)
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H 1,267.2
Currency realignment BHERE (7.2)
Lease payment FHEMIE (911.5)
Interest expenses 2[5z 49.0
Additions wE 744.0
Modification 1&5T (44.2)
At 31 March 2025 iR2025%3H31H 1,097.3
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES conminuep)

(a)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

14, fif FHRER 2 e HHL ST A

(#)

pul3

it f 5 WA 755 IR 0 R TR ) < B ()

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
iR2025%3H31H iR2024%£3H318
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEERT

Lease liabilities HERE
Current e 618.3 650.2
Non-current e &N 479.0 617.0
1,097.3 1,267.2

Notes: Bt 5F

(i) The Group has land lease arrangement with Mainland China government and
leasehold land in Hong Kong

(i) The amount was charged to selling and distribution costs and general and
administrative expenses,

The Group considers each individual retail store as a
separately identifiable cash-generating unit. Management
performed impairment assessments for the retail stores
that had impairment indicator. The carrying amount of
the retail store asset is written down to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is in excess of
its estimated recoverable amount. The estimates of
the recoverable amounts were based on value-in-use
calculations using discounted cash flow projections
based on the management's forecasts covering the
remaining tenure of the lease, with major assumptions
such as change in revenue, change in operating cost and

change in gross profit.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has no
impairment loss of property, plant and equipment (2024:
nil) and right of-use assets (2024: nil), respectively in

other gains and losses.
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES conminuep)

(b)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) A %3G 48 £ 2 T AR 1Y) 42 B
statement of profit or loss
The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the fRE 1R R BN A & A R A 152 B R RS
following amounts relating to the leases which are not REGHEAE 16 RERLNEEAUT
capitalised in accordance with IFRS 16:
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEEx
Expense relating to short-term leases BT HATA & A B B 52 395.7 460.4
(included in selling and distribution costs (5t ATHE R #H Y R LA R
and general and administrative expenses) —MRRATHF)
Expense relating to variable lease st AR E R REFENEE 1,516.1 1,886.5
payments not included in lease liabilities ENEL Lok
(included in selling and distribution costs) (G AHE R THAYK)
1,911.8 2,346.9
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended HZE2025F 383N HLEFERENEEREE
31 March 2025 was HK$2,823.3 million (2024: HK$3,239.6 874282338 & BT (20244 : 3239.6H &
million). HEIT) o
() The Group’s leasing activities and how they are () AR A 85 0% ) S H AR O vk
accounted for
The Group mainly leases various retail stores, offices and KREBESHESTRTEE. MAEREE,
warehouses. Rental contracts are typically entered for HEGKBEBERE A ZE R F B F 8 RET
fixed periods of six months to five years, but may have 17, 1ETTRER A TSPl 7 SiE 4 2R 1
extension options as described below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HMERXEEMNEERD, TESISELR
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. & B 1% 5K Rz 1% o 7B & 178 5% A il 10 1 {0 22
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other 5, MEHE AR A NMEE S ZE g
than the security interests in the leased assets that are @RIt HMEEBEAEMNEERRAETE,
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
(d) Variable lease payments (d) FEIFHE

Some property leases contain variable payment terms
that are linked to sales generated from a store. Variable
payment terms are used for a variety of reasons, including
minimising the fixed costs base for newly established
stores. Variable lease payments that depend on sales
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the

condition that triggers those payments occurs.
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4. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES conminuep)

(e) Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group's operations. The
majority of extension and termination options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective
lessor. In determining the lease term, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or
not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included in
the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be

extended (or not terminated).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Accounting Policy
Investment properties are properties held for long-term rental

yields and are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation

and any accumulated impairment losses.

If there is a transfer from investment property to owner-
occupied property evidenced by the commencement of
owner's occupation, the property shall be measured at its
carrying amount at the date of change in use for subsequent

accounting.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line basis over 20 years for building element or

lease term for land element.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuED) 15. BHEYE @

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEREERT BEET
Cost RY 7K
At 1 April R4H1H 436.5 441.8
Currency realignment B R (5.4) (5.3)
Transferred from property, plant and equipment EEREYIE. MEEEE 234.0 -
and right-of-use assets RIEAESE
At 31 March R3A31H 665.1 436.5
Accumulated depreciation REHE
At 1 April R4H1H 144.2 18.7
Currency realignment R R (0.6) (0.2)
Depreciation provided for the year FRITERHE 30.5 257
At 31 March R3A31H 1741 144.2
Carrying values IRMEE
At 31 March R3A31H 491.0 292.3
(@) Amounts recognised in consolidated statement (a) HEBE W) TR SR A HH A5 R TSR
of profit or loss for investment properties x|
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEEx
Rental income from operating leases EEMEHEE A 25.6 22,6
Direct operating expenses from property EFEEEARYEZ 301 233
that generated rental income BHEEERX
Direct operating expenses from property REEEHEZTIAKZZ 7.2 6.7
that not generated rental income BHEEERX
(b)  Fair value hierarchy (b) 2 fFAESESK

REERBSHRKREN RN QA REFER D
m=ELREHFR (M£33), AnEENE
MABEESEGERNPEANRAERK]

The fair value measurement of the Group's investment
properties at the end of the reporting period have been

categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy

(note 33). The level into which a fair value measurement THRENEEHEEE,
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique.
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED)

15 BEYZE @

(b)  Fair value hierarchy (continued (b) 2~ RMEFESH @0
Details of the Group's investment properties and REERSHRGHRAKREMFRFBEREAN
information about the fair value hierarchy at the end of REFROERIT :
each reporting period are as follows:
Fair value hierarchy Fair value
NABEFR Q5B
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEREx
At 31 March R3A31H
Industrial property units IR PESEN TS Level 3 372.8 397.0
located in Hong Kong, China L ES=-RIV =y
Commercial property units SR EEE S Level 3 213.2 2249
located in Mainland China M= AL Bk
Industrial property units IR E A b p T % Level 3 280.1 =
located in Mainland China M= AL Bk

The Group policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels at the end of
the reporting period.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during
the period (2024: nil).

Valuation process and techniques used to
determine level 3 fair values

The Group engages external, independent and qualified
valuers to determine the fair value of the Group's investment
properties at the end of every financial year. As at 31 March
2025, the fair values of the investment properties located
in Mainland China and Hong Kong have been determined
by Shenzhen Zhonghengxin Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd. and
BonVision International Appraisals Limited respectively.

The fair value was determined based on the income
approach, where the market rentals of all lettable units of
the properties are assessed and capitalised at the market
yield expected by investors for this type of properties.
The market rentals are assessed by reference to the
rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties
as well as other lettings of similar properties in the
neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate is determined by
reference to the yields derived from analysing the sales
transactions of similar properties in the same location and
adjusted to take into account the market expectation
from property investors to reflect factors specific to the
Group's investment properties.

Fair value was determined by applying the market approach
by making reference to the comparable sales transactions
as available in the markets, where comparison was made
based on prices realised on actual sales and/ or asking
prices of comparable properties.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES continuED)

(c) Valuation process and techniques used to
determine level 3 fair values (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the

highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

15 HEYE @
el A /N W =N OR VR = S e

()

T a0

REFEZFMRH A RER, ZFEMEZRS
R &% fE IR = 5 B B AR

Valuation Range of inputs Relationship of unobservable
Description techniques Unobservable inputs (probability-weighted average) inputs to fair value
FOBREASIRE
Hi fhfEmiE FOBERARE BABEEE (B2 - METFH) AREZRR
2025 2024
Industrial property units Income approach Capitalisation rate 4.8% 40%  The higher the capitalisation rate,
- Hong Kong, China the lower the fair value
TRYIREN - PEEBE AL [pNiES B ENS, AnELT
Monthly market rent HK$12.9 p.s.f. HK$11.8 psf.  The higher the monthly market
rent per square feet, the higher
the fair value
BAMGES SFAR 8FTHR SAMEHEEETHRERES,
12.9 85T Nn8gxT  AnEES
Commercial property units Income approach Capitalisation rate 6.0% 5.9%  The higher the capitalisation rate,
—Mainland China the lower the fair value
RISRYIREN - PENME AL [pNiES B ENS, AnELT
Monthly market rent HK$348.0 p.s.m. HK$358.8 psm.  The higher the monthly market rent
per square meter, the higher
the fair value
BAMGES BEK BFpk SAMGHEEETIRERNS,
348.0i87T 3588/ AREHS
Industrial property units Market approach Market sale rate HK$651.3 p.s.m. N/A  The higher the market price,
—Mainland China per square meter, the higher the fair value
taking into account of
individual factors
such as location
and size, etc.
TRYIREA - PEMME MiRE BEOATRER BEK AER WHEERES, 2aERR
(AEStRAIER 651.3187T
KINE@RIRER)
(d) Leasing arrangements (d)  FHEZHE
The investment properties are leased to tenants under KREYRIGKEHEHETHEE, 8HTKE
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. MHE,
Although the Group is exposed to changes in the FEERNKERRAHEHBAERGEAKESRES
residual value at the end of the current leases, the Group g, HREE—RIFTIIMSERE, UK
typically enters into new operating leases and therefore MEAEREEAZ RN R ERIEZ IR, $IRR
will not immediately realise any reduction in residual ERERTREE R LRI R,
value at the end of these leases. Expectations about the
future residual values are reflected in the fair value of the
properties.
For minimum lease payments receivable on leases of ARRENFHENSREKFEENR, F2
investment properties, refer to note 29. BB EE 29
228 Financials Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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16.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting Policy

Intangible assets other than goodwill are measured initially
at cost or, if acquired in a business combination, fair value
at the acquisition date. An intangible asset with a finite
useful life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful
life and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and

accumulated impairment losses.

Hofth S I 5 2

S

EIE SN E EEVG R RGTE, YA
BHPIE, AIMEEBREARETE. BEEIR
o fE FMEEREERA T ERFHALAELRIE
R, W EIT A ORR 5 K2 REHRE R AR

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEHET
Cost RY 7KK
At 1 April and 31 March R4H1BR3H31H 472.9 4729
Accumulated amortisation REHEHE
At 1 April R4H1H 447.9 406.6
Amortisation provided for the year F N B R 18.1 13
At 31 March K3H31H 466.0 447.9
Carrying values IRMAE
At 31 March R3IF31H 6.9 250

The other intangible assets are comprised mainly the
brandname and trademarks identified in the acquisition of
HEARTS ON FIRE, amortised with useful life of 6 to 15 years.

7. JEWELLERY COLLECTIBLES

Accounting Policy

Jewellery collectibles are those unique treasures with

extremely high-value and are designated not for sale.

Jewellery collectibles are classified as non-current assets
at cost less accumulated impairment loss, if any. Jewellery
collectibles are derecognised upon disposal. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the profit or loss in

the period in which the item is derecognised.

The amounts represent the aggregate cost of gem-set
jewellery collectibles held by the Group which are designated
not for sale. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the recoverable amounts of the jewellery collectibles are at
least equivalent to their carrying amounts as at the end of the

reporting period.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

INCLUDING PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS

Accounting Policy

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement between 30 and 180

days and therefore all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the

effective interest method. See note 32 for a description of the

18, 54 5y S Ho At JE WUk IR

BLEE FRAT IR K B A

ERFEOR
BABEARIREM R —RERREPHE &S may iz
RIRFEMIENE P Z IR, B 5 EEGRIR— R 30
BE180 B 2B, HILEENRAENH,

—

BEABERIERIIERT N EES, RIFEPE
BEXMES Y, IRAnEER, FNREFEE
ZEGARRF BN REEREGHKIRERE, RILEEZ
LAEE BN ZA 1 8 88 pY RSt B . A B N SR [ Rl 1B I
REISAA, H2SHMEE32,

Group's impairment policies.

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEEX

Trade receivables EANENE 2,228.0 2,919.1
Less: Loss allowance W EERE (39.2) (22.5)
2,188.8 2,896.6

Prepayments to suppliers a] {4 & s FE A FR IR 335.8 820.6
Deposits EfffusE 789.1 7274
Other tax recoverables (note) Hth ol %18 (pfisE) 1,501.5 2,609.3
Others HAh 105.4 141.5
4,920.6 71954

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEET

Non-current portion AERENEL 677.7 3704
Current portion mENEB 7 4,242.9 6,825.0
4,920.6 71954

Note: Other tax recoverables mainly refer to Value Added Tax ("VAT") levied at the Group's
sales in Mainland China. Input VAT on purchases can be deducted from output VAT

payable. The VAT recoverable is the net difference between output VAT and deductible

input VAT.

Biiat . EAROTUEIRR IR E B A& o B A it EE S T U IS E R HRAE FIETIE ER
O] B fE T SHIRIBE R ch 0 )R 455 HEE 0 8 1B 0 5 B 1R 128 {0 A6 £ O 410 Rt ik TR 188

EREFER.
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As at 31 March 2025, trade receivables of HK$25.7 million (2024:
HK$61.5 million) are due from entities in which certain directors
of the Company, who are also shareholders of the Company,

have beneficial interests in those entities.

Financials

U

[R2025%3H31H, BAEIGRIR25. 78 &1B7T (2024
F:6158EFBT) RERQTETESE (KR
SRR TR EDEE 'L,

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BRBHREREARAE



18.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
INCLUDING PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS

(CONTINUED)

The Group's sales to retail customers are mainly cash sales and
credit card sales. Sales to certain customers are on credit with
credit period up to 6 months. For sales through concessionaire
counters, the Group usually allows 30 days credit period to

these receivables.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented

based on the invoice dates at the end of the reporting period:

52 5 S Ho A WSO IH
LI TR FIH X E A a0

REEHTERSHHENREHERGRAFHER
E, meETFRENHEERNRELI, GEMRE
moBH. MBEBEHHEMS, NEE—BMZFE
IR IE45 T 30 HS & H,

T RIRFEFEZEEHES, RIRSHREEZ B KGR
IREIAREE AT

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEET

30 days or below! 30HEYIAT® 1,731.9 2,471.0
31 to 90 days 31Z90H 409.9 390.2
91 to 180 days 91&180H 37.7 28.7
Over 180 days 180 HIA L 48.5 292
2,228.0 2,919.1

Note:
1) including unbilled revenue

As at 31 March 2025, included in the trade receivable balances
are receivables of HK$685.3 million (2024: HK$844.3 million)
carrying a fixed interest rate ranging from 6.3% to 8.6% (2024:
6.9% to 9.4%) per annum.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables,
the Group monitors change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables since the credit was granted and up to the

reporting date.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a loss allowance of
HK$18.9 million is recognised (2024: HK$8.4 million) based on
expected credit loss. During the year ended 31 March 2025,
a loss allowance of HK$1.4 million is written off (2024: nil).
Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the

Group's exposure to credit risk are set out in note 32.
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19.  INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM/ (TO) ASSOCIATES

(@) Investments in associates

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEET

At 1 April fR4B18 49.8 69.5
Currency realignment B R (0.5) (0.9)
Capital contribution E= - 5.0
Share of losses fE1h R (20.4) (19.9)
Dividends received B S (0.4) (3.9)
At 31 March R3IF31H 28.5 498

Details of the associates of the Group are as follows:

IREEEBIBE QSR T

Place of incorporation/

Proportion of

Proportion of

establishment and ownership interest voting rights held
Name of companies principal place of operation held by the Group by the Group Principal activities
B3 ATy avALE INEE AR NSRBI
ATIEHE TEERIME IBLLI REELLHI EERE
2025 2024 2025 2024
Beijing Wolafei Jewellery Mainland China 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%  Manufacturing of jewellery products
Company Limited Rl i hEERLE
ITRENFEHERAE
Group Program Limited British Virgin Islands 23.6% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6%  Operating a customer loyalty scheme
("BVI") in Hong Kong and Mainland China
EEERRES IREB R P ENMEF
BFBHEsE
New Cutting Edge Limited BVI 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% 400%  R&D and production of all
HEERRES jewellery-related business
AKEERFRTSREE
Shenzhen Qianhai Chow Tai Fook Mainland China 30.0% 30.0% 30.0% 30.0%  Operating a shopping complex
Hong Kong Goods Centre & A in Mainland China
Company Limited [P E N AT S R Il
REERXBEEPLERAS
Shenzhen Yungi Xingchen Mainland China 9.2% 9.2% 9.2% 9.2%  Data analytics platform
Technology Company Limited (Note) hE i HEANTE

RYMEHE RSN
BIREELT (Kis)

Note:

Shenzhen Yungi Xingchen Technology Company Limited provides data analytics

services. As the Group is having representation on Yungi Xingchen's board
of directors, it is deemed that the Group has significant influence over Yungi

Xingchen

Financials
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19.  INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM/ (TO) ASSOCIATES

(CONTINUED)

(a)

[nvestments in associates (Continued)

Each individual associate does not have a significant

financial impact on the Group's results and financial

Wﬂl?r

REE AR ZBE/

-

RN/ () B 2 7 K08 (a0

(a) REEAFZTE @

%Eiﬁﬂﬁgg* ﬁ“WK%EB’\]%%KZEﬂ%Hﬁ
RBNEXIBYE, EAlFAEERKHELN

position. Aggregate financial information of associates Sl IEERGEIIT
that are individually immaterial is as follows:
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
Aggregate carrying amount of BRI EEXKBHE QS 2 REAE 28.5 49.8
individually immaterial associates
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of: IREEE PG 7 BRI 4E%E .
Losses from continuing operations FHEEERBHEE (20.4) (19.9)
Other comprehensive expense Hih % E 552 (0.5) (0.9)
Total comprehensive expense ES] sk (20.9) (20.8)

The Group had discontinued recognising its share of
losses of associates because its cumulative share of
losses in the associates had exceeded the investment
cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
The Group will not resume recognition of its share of
any future profits in the associates until its share of
such profits equals the cumulative share of losses not

recognised in past years.
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/ 9. PBIEAFZHRE/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM/ (TO) ASSOCIATES }?E?LI& / (JEAT) Bk / 3E ()
(CONTINUED)
(@)  Investments in associates (Coninued (a) ATHEAFZHE @)
The amounts of unrecognised share of (losses)/ profits of FARRFIREREGBHE LS (BEE)
the associates for the year and cumulatively, are as follows: imAEERUTE -
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEExT BEREx
Unrecognised share of (losses)/ profits REREGLEIE QS (&E8) / &4 (6.4) 24
of associates
Accumulated unrecognised share of REREREGLES A al &S (160.2) (153.8)

losses of associates

20.

234

(b)  Amounts due from/ (to) associates
As at 31 March 2025, the carrying value of amounts
due from associates is HK$40.0 million (2024: HK$41.7
million) of which HK$40.0 million (2024: HK$40.0 million)
is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment
term. As at 31 March 2024, the remaining HK$1.7 million
bears interest at 4.2% per annum and is repaid to the
Group by instalments until 30 September 2024. As at
31 March 2025, the carrying value of amounts due to
associates of HK$3.1 million (2024: HK$2.1 million) is
unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment

term.

LOAN RECEIVABLES

Loan receivables represent loans to staff. Loan receivables are
classified as current or non-current assets based on contractual
terms and taking into account the timing of recovery as
expected by the management. There was no amount due but
unpaid, nor any loss allowance made against the principal
amount of HK$5.6 million (2024: HK$8.6 million) or interest on
these loans at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

All loan receivables from staff were secured over certain
properties, the fair value of which exceeds the carrying amount

of the related loan on an individual basis.

Financials
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21.

DEFERRED TAXATION

Accounting Policy

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax

asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those

temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, respectively.
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21.  DEFERRED TAXATION (coNTiNUED) 21 IRIEFTIE (a0)

The followings are the major deferred tax (assets)/ liabilities LATR % A 7N 4F &2 K2 38 1 6F 2 7R 65 () 2 e o = SR IR A A
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the IH(&E)/ BEUAREGREE .
current and prior years:

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
EEREEE EEREARE
Withholding
Fair value tax on
change of undistributed
unsettled profits of Depreciation
Unrealised ~ Amortisation gold loans subsidiaries  Amortisation of
profit on and  in Mainland Lease Tax in Mainland and  right-of-use
inventories  depreciation China liabilities losses Others China  depreciation assets Total
HER
R PEAEE
2z EEfEl LERAIR fERE
RERBR WBHERRE  OAEEE HEaE HIEER Aft ERzROR BERRE BENE gt

HK$ million HKS million HKS million HK$ million HKS million HKS million HK$ million HK$ million HKS million HKS million
BEREL BRln BRER BEREL BRET BRln BRER BERET EE BRER

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4R18 (309.9) (736) (207.3) (215.6) (02) (2009) 4102 2350 2146 (147.7)
Currency realignment gHER 42 - 72 55 - 59 (141) (81) (55) (49)
(Credit)/ charge toprofitor (5t A) / MRR4EES (HtEE10) (373) 16.0 (190.) (200) (01) 97 2516¢ (534) 207 165
loss (note 10)
Utilised during the year FER{ER - - - - - - (475.9) - - (475.9)
At 31 March 2024 fR2024&3H318 (343.0) (57.6) (390.8) (230.1) (0.3) (165.3) 178 1735 229.8 (612.0)
Currency realignment gicam 34 - 6.2 18 - 22 (4.6) (2.3) (1.7) 5.0
(Credit)/ charge toprofitor  (5tA) / {0BIE (fizE10) (39.5) 69 (169.0) 124 (41.7) (58.8) 203.0* (80.0) (12.1) (178.8)
loss (note 10)
Utilised during the year ERFER - - - - - - (172.4) - - (172.4)
At 31 March 2025 fR202553F 318 (379.1) (50.7) (553.6) (215.9) (42.0) (221.9) 197.8 912 216.0 (958.2)
*  Under the EIT Law of PRC, a 10% withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared to * RECECEMRERE, B2008F 18184, FL7 D E KB 2 S8R ST
foreign investors in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. ARIMREESIRRE, BIAEI10% 2805,
Pursuant to approvals from the relevant PRC government obtained by certain RBREEES THBASIREPEERBANEREGRENIREE, SFZ
subsidiaries of the Group and reassessment of dividend distribution plan, certain of these S0 22 B E A RELA B B = 5% BNIRIT AR 2 2 1810

subsidiaries should be entitled to a withholding tax at the rate of 5% for dividend payments.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for LA T % 2L B8 ¥R &5 A & P fF B R 3E AR IR 45 &R
financial reporting purposes: T
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEREx
Before offsetting HE 24 Al
Deferred tax assets IEIE AR 18 & (1,463.2) (1,187.1)
Deferred tax liabilities IESERR IR S & 505.0 575.1
(958.2) (612.0)
After offsetting HEHE
Deferred tax assets IRIEFR IR & = (1,250.0) (960.7)
Deferred tax liabilities IRIERIEE & 291.8 348.7
958.2 (612.0)
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION (conTINUED) 21, IRIEFLIH )
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a EBuaANEHEREEIREHERMEREERIR
legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets IEPTIS ML K2 B — R U R, IRIERIRE & K B & 0]
against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred AT o
income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.
At 31 March 2025, the Group had tax losses of HK$1,2855 R2025F3H31H, NEBERHERAIELRIEEE
million (2024: HK$1,269.8 million) not recognised as deferred B IEEIE %1285 5B @ B It (20244 : 1,269.88
tax assets. Tax effect of such tax losses as at 31 March 2025 BiBIT), ZMEREER 202543 A 31 HHR L
was HK$265.5 million (2024: HK$259.7 million). #2655 B EEIT (20244 - 259.7BEBIT).
The aging of unrecognised tax losses by expiry date is as follows: %I B & R R EEE NIRRT
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEEx BEET
0-5 years 0-5 142.6 134.2
6-10 years 6-104F 50.6
11-15 years 11154 3341 374.6
Unlimited A FR 758.2 761.0
1,285.5 1,269.8

At 31 March 2025, the Group had deductible temporary
differences of HK$11.3 million (2024: HK$11.1 million) not
recognised as deferred tax assets. Tax effect of such deductible
temporary differences as at 31 March 2025 was HK$1.9 million
(2024: HK$1.8 million).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5.0%
(2024: 5.0%) is imposed on dividends declared in respect
of profits earned by subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1
January 2008 onwards. Based on the dividend distribution
plan of the management, retained profits as at 31 March 2025
amounting to HK$3,955.1 million (2024: HK$3,434.8 million)
will be distributed as dividend in the foreseeable future,
while the remaining retained profits amounting to HK$1,044.4
million (2024: HK$1,050.6 million) has been set aside for local

operation and business development.
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[R2025F3 A3, KREEKERBIEILRIRE ZE
Kol B R ZEER 1138 & BT (20244 : 11.1
BEBIIL), 20 NREFEERRK2025F3H31H
FIMBER1.9BEIBIT (20244F : 1.8H&HBIT)

RIE DB FEPTSHIE, PEINIEINEASEN B
2008 -1 A 1 Bt Bt BB Rl 7F B ik i B B 132 5.0%
(2024 %F : 5.0%) zTailf. RIBFSEREFRKRE NI
sTE|, M20254 383 HMRE IEANE33,955.18
BEIT (20244 : 3,4348 8B IT) FHIET R RIE
HRBNIR, ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%mﬁﬂJg,J04445%&75
(20244 :1,050.6B&ET) ERBIEEMMEE
BERMHE.
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22.

238

INVENTORIES

Accounting Policy

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of
normal operating capacity. Cost is calculated using specific
identification basis for gem-set jewellery, platinum and k-gold
jewellery (finished goods), gold jewellery and products selling
at fixed price and watches; and weighted average for other
inventories. Costs of purchased inventory are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated

costs necessary to make the sale.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal. It is the Group's policy to review the
net realisable value of inventories periodically with reference
to current market situation and conditions of the items. The
assessment of net realisable value of inventories was based
on economic conditions, marketability of products and the
forecast market price of gold, platinum and gemstones used
to make the jewellery products. The Group's management also
engaged an independent professional gemmologist to perform
valuation and assess conditions of certain items based on
gemstone testing for gem-set jewellery with reference to
international diamond prices, its expertise and the current
market situation. The Group reassessed the estimation at
the end of each reporting period. As at 31 March 2025, the
carrying amount of inventories was HK$55,417.2 million (net
of allowances of HK$252.3 million) (2024: carrying amount of
HK$64,647.0 million (net of allowances of HK$251.0 million)).
Allowances on inventories of HK$2.0 million (2024: HK$139.4
million) were charged in consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Financials
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FEIGNREISIRFERSE P 2REE R, 7
Era#REFENMRELSEENENREERY
EEZ A RAmE 8, REBRBRASR
REMEZRBEERZIAE RS FETERFE,
FET SR FEMTGIAEERL. ERZ RN
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ESTEARER, I, NEEEREINSEEIL
BEPREECMIOETHE, 12 REEREGES.
HEZNHANREGHR, SnEERammEanl
TMIETHEINGTZE TEENRRE. NREERSR
SHREMTZLESE R, R2025%38318, 7
EHIEREEAS5417.28 & BT (0REBHE 25238

BIBTT) (2024 ; BREAIE 64,6470 B &8 7T (0
BE251.08®EIL)). #E2025F3831H LE4F
ERGEEERNGTANTERBEARA2088ET
(20244F : 1394 EHEB ),
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22. INVENTORIES (continueD) 22 HH )

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEEx BEET

Raw materials for: EEINTERNEMA
Gem-set, Platinum and K-gold jewellery HhEER. IHERKEEM 12,663.5 1,721.9
Gold jewellery and products =ETEMRER 1,926.0 2,8995
14,589.5 14,6214

Finished goods: Fp¥ o

Gem-set, Platinum and K-gold jewellery BREFEEHR . HERKEE 14,223.2 17104.3
Gold jewellery and products ETEMRERD 24,954.9 31,1585
Watches iEi% 1,600.7 1,709.2
40,778.8 499720
Packaging materials sEME 48.9 53.6
55,417.2 64,647.0

23.

Inventories recognised as cost of goods sold during the year
ended 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$63,121.9 million (2024:
HK$82,441.0 million).

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value amounted to
HK$2.0 million (2024: HK$139.4 million). These were included in
"cost of goods sold" in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/ (TO) NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand.

Annual Report 2025
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HE2025F3ANHIEFEHDRRBEENTNEFE
63,121 9B 8B (20244 - 82,441.0B&EEIT).

FEMR20BEBBITEDEIFFE (20244 : 1394
BEBIT), WRE E20258F % 2024538310 1E
FEZFGIHRTEEATA HENR | N,

B/ (HEAT) B R 2% ) Al 45 B R

I
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24.

240

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Accounting Policy

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk

of changes in value.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, bank deposits with
maturities of three months or less carry interest at the
prevailing market rate ranging from 0.01% to 5.50% (2024: 0.01%
to 5.60%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB were HK$5,239.8 million (2024:
HK$4,278.4 million) in which HK$5,037.9 million (2024:
HK$3,236.8 million) were held by the Company's subsidiaries
in Mainland China. The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations in Mainland China and the Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through authorised banks to conduct business in foreign

currency.

Financials
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MBINREREBXMS, RERREZHFBNEFF
BIEE. RUBRBENSTHER. BEMEH. 81
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HE2025F3A3NHIEFE, ZIHHE&3ME A IX
THERTT 7RI B IS T 5 AN 29T F 0.01% % 5.50%
(2024 £ : TF0.01% E 5.60%) 5t R,
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REHEBM4A5239.8B&EE I (20244 : 4,27848
Biir), EP50379EEBIT (20244 : 323681
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. B 5 L HAb AT IR
Accounting Policy et ok
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 75 & 8tE T BUF 2 45 R Al 2 42 it ¥1K$Eﬂ1éf
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which mRRBIRENBE, Z% 8RBT,
are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid BEAEOE7XE1B0XAZT, & E'Eiﬁﬂﬂrﬁ
between 7 and 180 days of recognition. Trade and other MIAEZIARMEE, BRIFTRIEIFRIRSHAE12
payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment BHNEIE, ERIIREA AR EEARHECHAE
is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They PRAR AR B R Y R ET &
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEREERX BEET
Trade payables 7R RN 1,128.8 1,041.2
Contract liabilities aHatE 3,336.5 2,148.2
Deposits received from franchisees and customers B0 E & S WA E 20,089.8 24,827.5
Accruals fEstE A 784.2 1,074.9
Accrued staff costs fEst & T aY 7K 650.0 560.1
Other tax payables HAE R IR 490.2 6925
Interest payables FERTFI 2 40.6 104.0
Others HAth 89.9 81.2
26,610.0 30,529.6

Deposits received from franchisees and customers mainly
represent deposits made by franchisees in Mainland China
for the consigned products. The amounts are unsecured and

interest-free.

The Group normally receives credit terms of 7 to 180 days
from its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade

payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of

each reporting period:

B 10 BR a1 Kz e = ISR B 42 < = 2248 o @ A it 10 BE
HQ% EDDHTﬁﬁiszTgfo AEIZ IEP!HTEHE}Q%/L.\O

REE-—REEHERREHNGEEN AN F/BHE
180 AT, U TRIREFEZRBHZINIRZ RS R
B B 7 & T e IR B AR B AT

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BREx

30 days or below 30 HTVIA R 1,117.3 1,028.9
31to 90 days 31E90H 8.1 7.5
91 to 180 days 91%E180H 0.5 42
Over 180 days 180 HIAE 2.9 0.6
1,128.8 1,041.2
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continueD) 25. B 5 N H A AT ZIE ()
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to REERHEATIGHABREEANEE !

contracts with customers:

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEERX BEET
Contract liabilities: GRIEE :
Customer loyalty programme ZERRWESE 455.3 3954
Receipts in advance B R IE 2,881.2 1,752.8
3,336.5 21482
The following table shows the amount of unsatisfied TREFIIRIENEBLISEEE
performance obligations:
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEET
Expected to be recognised within one year TBEAR—F N TER 2,931.1 1,752.5
Expected to be recognised after one year TBEAR—F 2 ER 405.4 395.7
3,336.5 21482
The following table shows the amount of the revenue TREFINEFVNEGA B EARRNRSAERNE
recognised in the current reporting period relating to contract FRTRUNERRBAEFEEENNEANSEZEER :
liabilities at the beginning of the year and the amount relating to
performance obligations that were satisfied in previous years:
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEET
Revenue recognised that was included in SFAFYEGHBREEMAEFRER
the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year:
— Customer loyalty programme Y 395.4 360.0
— Receipts in advance - falRIE 1,336.3 1,410.8
1,731.7 1,770.8
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20. BANK BORROWINGS

Accounting Policy

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid
on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of
financial position when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,

is recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the
end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Covenants that the Group is required to
comply with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying the loan arrangements with
covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that the
Group is required to comply with after the reporting period do

not affect the classification at the reporting date.

26.

BRI ARE (OREEERIZZAMAR) 5
o BMEERILHMFANNGTE, WHORIZZMKZ
BRMENAREDERBIRESR, ARERHANA
IABIRAI R ARIBEm AT, EERRB OGS
Sy REHREINEIEIR T, MR EMRE S THE A
NEBRERZZNR, BT, ZBARIE
EERNERFER, FUENRERZERRE
JRES NV 2 HIRIKIBR T, ZERABITERIE
RN E SRR RIR, WA EAE R E B
WY LAEEEH

(4 ZAA

ECAPHEENSEIRER. BUHERE, &R
e BRRR PR bR, DIHPREEGR —TIH
THRBEMAREBERSTUE (REEEENE
MAFREEEYPIRENRE) 2BIER, T8
i P i 5 4% Rl S A TR

PRIFAIMSHIR, NEEARERBRENGS B HIE
EERSHERD12EH, SRABRENER R
Bif, HfHRENERSTH YRR RISV IFRE
I, §&ERRERIRRS IR 2 A8 T 8256,
REERBEHRRETHRBEAZERRS B
B $o

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEERT BEET
Unsecured bank loans WITIMIRITEX

The carrying amounts are repayable *: BREEIE T2 HAPREIE *
Within one year —&ERN 3,825.1 793.6
More than one year, but not exceeding —F AL, BRBIEMRE - 3,342.3

two years

3,825.1 4135.9

*

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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20.

BANK BORROWINGS coninueD)

The bank borrowings carry variable interest rates ranging from
0.6% to 0.7% (2024: 0.7% to 0.8%) over Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate ("HIBOR") or fixed interest rate at 3.7% (2024:

3.8%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, the range of interest rates on the bank
borrowings were 3.7% to 4.4% (2024: 3.8% to 5.6%) per annum.

As disclosed in above, the entire non-current portion of bank
loans is required to comply with the non-financial covenants
which the Group is required to comply within 12 months after
the reporting period. Such non-financial covenants are terms
that commonly applicable to borrowers based on the prevalent
financial market practice. Under the terms of bank loans, the
Group is required to comply with the minimum consolidated
tangible net worth throughout the entire financial year. The
Group has complied with these covenants throughout the

reporting period.

There is no indication that the Group entities would have
difficulties complying with the covenant within 12 months after

the reporting period.

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings are denominated

in the following currency:

206. $RITEI @)

IRTTERIEFEFEANESR, FNRAETBIRTRSRE
FRAN F0.6%E0.7% (20244 : 0.7% %= 0.8%) =¥
BEEFFIZ3.7% (2024 4F : 3.8%)o

[R2025F 38318, ARRITERKENENTF3.7%
ZE4.4% (20244 : 3.8%FE5.6%)0

W EXPTKE, IRITEREIEEPAFRENED 77 /R TR
KERRSHER12E R NRETHAFRERE, %5
AR5 B 5 A AR R IR AT 2 Rl 15 18 01 S B i AR R 5 K
ABIRR IRIEIRITE TR, ANERBEI/RAEE & R 1
FEETRMGEGAELEE, AEBERBRSHE B
EISTE S 4

BHEMRE RN EEBRTERSHE 128 NETR2
5 8 IR E {E N 2

IRTTEMREEK LA T EBEHE

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEREERT BEET
HK$ BT 2,849.9 2,536.8
RMB NG 975.2 1,599.1
3,825.1 41359
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27. GOLD LOANS 27. BHEEE

Accounting Policy et Ok

Gold loans to be repaid by cash are designated as financial FUREEENEEEBRIE A REF ABTEH
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as the gold loans THERE HaEsEEANEE — B2 ERA
form part of a contract containing one or more embedded NTETRZEHEN, HUNBRBESEENES
derivatives. Gold loans to be repaid by physical gold are BENBANARETAEBRNEE,

classified as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Gain or losses on gold loans are recognised in the EEEENRGNBEEREGEERNER. RiR
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net fair value GHEAXRBERNQ REW DY BIRFRTACEE
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of 0Bk I 2 B B HIR S o
profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these
liabilities.
Gold loans due to be settled within twelve months after the RBEHET _EAANIBSEENESEESHNE
reporting period are classified as current liabilities. "REFBE,
Gold loans are borrowed to reduce the impact of fluctuations EREEEEENERETEEFESET BRIKE
in gold prices on gold inventories. The amounts represent K, ZRIETEIRTTER, MEMTRIREESE
borrowing from banks and the amounts payable are pegged to & HH
gold prices.
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEEx
Financial liabilities at fair value BAnEStABSENEMAE
through profit or loss
Gold loans to be repaid by cash RUREEENEEEE 3,671.3 4,760.7
Liabilities at fair value through BAnESABENAE
profit or loss
Gold loans to be repaid by physical gold FUBEEEEENEEEE 12,195.4 19,7271
15,866.7 24,487.8
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27. GOLD LOANS (conTiNUED) 27 HEEE @

As at 31 March 2025, the gold loans carried fixed interest rates [R2025%3H31H, EBEIRFENE08%E2.6%
of 0.8% to 2.6% (2024: 0.8% to 2.0%) per annum, with original (2024 4F : 0.8%E2.0%) HIEEFN XS E, REIHHE
maturity of 1 to 3 months (2024: 2 to 6 months) from date of #HIBHBEIZEIM@A (20244 : 2ZE6E8H )0
inception.

The fair value of the gold loans are denominated in the BEEEEANEBERIATERSE !

following currencies:

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEET

Us$ = 3,671.3 4,760.7
RMB AR 12,195.4 19,7271
15,866.7 24,487 .8

Movement in gold loans: RRBEZE:

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEEx BEET

At 1 April R481H 24,487.8 15,085.6
Currency realignment B R (389.8) (436.4)
Repayment of gold loans by cash NREERNEEEE (3,028.1) (915.7)
Fair value loss arising from gold loans =EBENQ R EEE 6,180.1 3,757.4
Other non-cash movements* HAhIEIR & & &) * (11,383.3) 6,996.9
At 31 March R3IF31H 15,866.7 24,487.8

The amounts represented the net effect of the drawdown/ (repayment) of gold loans from gold ZEFARURARESFRRN/ (FR) OESERFEHE, URIBERAF S,

inventories on hand and the net change of value added tax.
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28.

SHARE CAPITAL

Accounting Policy
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

28.

Jie AR

TEMEOR

BRI A, B TR SR AR S
52 #T8 AL 7N TE A8 3 D 51 P19 SRIR 2 R (J0 R
HIE)o

2025 2024
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
R EE £ BiHrEa £
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEERT
Authorised ordinary shares of EESREE1BTZ 50,000,000,000 50,000.0 50,000,000,000 50,000.0
HK$1 each: T AR
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares BEZE{TRHEEREE
of HK$1 each: 1Tz SR :
At 1 April R4818 9,987,736,800 9,987.7 10,000,000,000 10,000.0
Cancellation of buy-back of shares SLEH O RE AR 1 - = (12,263,200) (12.3)
At 31 March R3H31H 9,987,736,800 9,987.7 9,987,736,800 9,987.7

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company bought
back a total of 422,800 shares that listed on the Stock
Exchange with total consideration (before expenses) of HK$2.7

million and was recorded as "Treasury Shares".

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company bought
back and cancelled a total of 12,263,200 shares at an
aggregate consideration (before expenses) of HK$134.3 million
on the Stock Exchange at share price ranging from HK$10.12 to
HK$11.28.
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29. LEASE COMMITMENTS 29. FHE R
The Group as lessee A B A Ry R AL

The Group mainly leases various retail stores, offices and REERBATHBEAGCEHEETSHEZREE
warehouses under non-cancellable operating leases expiring 5. MAERERE, HARNERAZLFHEEW. %
within six months to five years. The leases have varying terms, ZHEAARNR. DA EERE, EHE,
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of HERAEGENER,

the leases are renegotiated.

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEET
Minimum lease payments under TR RS R 2 e o 45 B L AR A 2
non-cancellable operating leases of RIEA DT HEH AE EE &
rented premises not recognised in RITESEMRUT :
the financial statements are as follows:
Within one year —FN 56.5 301
The Group as lessor AEFAER BN
The investment properties are leased to tenants under leases REMFRFEEELHATHES, SAUTKRRES, &
with rentals payable monthly. For details of the leasing PSS AR, F2RMEE15,.
arrangements, refer to note 15.
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEREERT BEET
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of HEREMFERSITESFRETRIT
investment properties are as follows:
Within one year —FN 18.7 19.8
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEFLF (BIEEEMT) 25.7 5.0
Over five years FREFEIAE 12.2 =
56.6 24.8
30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. EAIKIE
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEEX
Capital expenditure contracted but not U .. BB KRR EETTH{ER 1171 Mm.7
provided for the acquisition of property, BN S Bz
plant and equipment
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3l.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group entities
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt

and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings,
gold loans and equity attributable to shareholders of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained

profits as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues as well as the raising of bank borrowings

and gold loans.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting Policy

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income ("OCI")

or through profit or loss); and
those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair

value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Debt investments are reclassified when and only when
the Group's business model for managing those assets

changes.

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

31

32.

A R i B
ZKEE%‘qﬂémEfﬁﬁﬁiﬁgﬂ%—lh"aﬁ&ﬁ, W 175
B A 455 M S BB 2 1 e R 487 T 4 R SRER LR K B3R

REERERRBOFIRITER. REEENAL
IR FEMG IR (BLIEAR S ISR R PT I EE 2 IR 7K 1.%
R IR A ) o

REEEEEEHARTERRE, KEETEEER
YRR SEERERANER, MBERIRMES. T
M. EXRRITEARESGE FHRKEEEEKR
R

ST R

B
(a) n¥E

REEFETEENERIATER

RN

H%
HE

E&_‘\
HE

.ﬁ/\ﬁﬂﬂiﬁuﬁl ff Y 15 3 ]

|=H>
LN

LA EH Y NSTEREME E,

ZAERRRERE
URRERENS

5 Rl & 2 B SRR IR I
EORGEN

HRUARESBENERMEE, HWmAEE
J/\%?ﬁﬁiﬂﬂﬂzﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁo HRIFREFEER
Hﬂ&lﬁ? R &, ERBURANER B E VB TR

52 6 B IF A 0T fUH B R E R A R E st
A ELfih 2 T S B 2 BB A R

BRREEENKEEEZF EERRBFIE
AU, TEEITERNR.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 249
HRE IS ER R B EE



32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD)

250

Accounting Policy (ontinued)

(b)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially

all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit

or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses
to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group's right to receive payments is established.
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other gains and losses in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss as applicable.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD)

Accounting Policy (continued)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset

and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There

are three measurement categories into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

Annual Report 2025
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Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains
and losses together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains
and losses. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in other gains and
losses and impairment expenses are presented as

separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains

and losses in the period in which it arises.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD)

252

Accounting Policy (ontinued)

(d)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether

there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires lifetime
expected credit losses to be recognised from initial

recognition of the receivables.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised
cost, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month expected credit loss unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime expected credit losses.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with
the terms stipulated in the agreements, management
considers these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as lifetime

expected credit loss.

Financials
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD)

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Categories of financial instruments

32. &Rl T H @

REBEFAUATERMTE .

45 Fil T ELAR

Financial assets/

Financial assets/

(liabilities) at (liabilities) at
amortised cost fair value Total
152 186 85 A AN 51 2 A BARBETEMN
SREE/ (BE) ERMEE/ (BE) st
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET
As 31 March 2025 20258 3H31H
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value KANRETAEBTERS/EE - 45.4 45.4
through profit and loss
Amounts due from associates il AN ENIE] 40.0 - 40.0
Amounts due from non-controlling JE KB 88 £ B AF 12 AR A% PR AR 18 20.5 - 20.5
shareholders of subsidiaries
Loan receivables B E R 5.6 - 5.6
Deposits [SARNEas 588.7 - 588.7
Trade and other receivables B 5 R ELADE RIS 2,494.6 = 2,494.6
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEE 7,582.4 - 7,582.4
Total financial assets TRIEERE 10,731.8 45.4 10,777.2
Financial liabilities EREE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAhE RIS (21,349.1) - (21,349.1)
Amounts due to associates JET B E A BIFRIR (3.1) - (3.1)
Amounts due to non-controlling JET BT B\ S AE R R AR FR A 1B (217.9) - (217.9)
shareholders of subsidiaries
Bank borrowings IRITEM (3,825.1) - (3,825.1)
Gold loans to be repaid by cash BUREERNEEESE - (3,671.3) (3,671.3)
Lease liabilities HEEE (1,097.3) - (1,097.3)
Total financial liabilities TRBERE (26,492.5) (3,671.3) (30,163.8)
Financial assets/ Financial assets/
(liabilities) at (liabilities) at
amortised cost fair value Total
T 8H Y A 5T 2 HBARESERN
eREE/ (BF) eREE/ (BF) st
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET
As 31 March 2024 R20243H31H
Financial assets eHEE
Financial assets at fair value BAREStABRENE/REE = 62.9 62.9
through profit and loss
Amounts due from associates JEWEE N BIFRIE 47 - 417
Amounts due from non-controlling JTE WL B /&8 2N Bl JE 4= AR AR R R 1B 4.1 - 4.1
shareholders of subsidiaries
Loan receivables EITE R 8.6 - 8.6
Deposits EfftfE 2372 - 237.2
Trade and other receivables B 5 5 B A e R I8 3,528.3 - 3,528.3
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEY 7,695.4 = 7,6954
Total financial assets ERIEEHAE 11,515.3 62.9 11,578.2
Financial liabilities TRHEE
Trade and other payables B R EMEM IR (26,053.9) = (26,053.9)
Amounts due to associates JETEfRE X BIFRIA (21) - (2.1)
Amounts due to non-controlling FE(T Bt B\ S AE R A A% SR AR 18 (152.1) - (152.1)
shareholders of subsidiaries
Bank borrowings RITEM (4,135.9) - (4,135.9)
Gold loans to be repaid by cash BUREEENEEEE - (4,760.7) (4,760.7)
Lease liabilities HEaflE (1,267.2) - (1,267.2)
Total financial liabilities ERBEHEE (31,611.2) (4,760.7) (36,371.9)
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32.

254

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include financial assets
at FVPL, amounts due from associates and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, loan receivables, trade and other
receivables, deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, amounts due to associates and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, bank borrowings, gold loans to be
repaid by cash and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (interest rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate loan receivables, certain trade receivables, gold loans
and lease liabilities. The Group currently does not have any

instruments to hedge against the fair value interest rate risk.

Also, the Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities, mainly bank balances and bank
borrowings at variable interest rates. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management will consider hedging significant interest rate risk

should the need arise.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk are considered

insignificant and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Financials
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk

Certain Group entities have sales and purchases which are
denominated in currency other than their respective functional
currencies, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the foreign
currency risk is insignificant considering the related sales and
purchases to the total sales and purchases of the Group. The
majority of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary
items are cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB,
which are held by Group entities whose functional currencies
are not RMB, with carrying amounts of HK$201.9 million (2024:
HK$1,041.6 million). In addition, certain Group entities whose
functional currency is HK$, have intra-group advances from/ to

their subsidiaries, denominated in RMB.

The Group mainly exposes to currency of United States dollars
("US$") and RMB, which are arising from relevant Group entities'
foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities

for the Group's operating activities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy to eliminate the currency exposures. However, the
management monitors the related foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposures should the need arise. At 31 March 2025, the Group's
entities with functional currency of HK$ had aggregate RMB
net monetary assets of HK$319.2 million (2024: liabilities of
HK$1,423.5 million). If HK$ had strengthened/ weakened by 5%
against RMB with all other variables unchanged, the Group's
profit before taxation would have been HK$16.0 million lower/
higher (2024: HK$71.2 million higher/ lower).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the currency

risk of US$ is considered insignificant.

Commodity price risk

The Group is engaged in the sales of jewellery including gold
products. The gold market is influenced by global as well as
regional supply and demand conditions. A significant decline
in prices of gold could adversely affect the Group's financial
performance. In order to reduce the commodity price risk, the
Group uses gold loans to reduce its exposure to fluctuations
in the gold price on gold inventory. Should the gold price go
up, the Group would charge a loss representing the increase
in gold price compared to the contract price, and largely net
against the increase in revenue of gold products as a result of
gold price increase. Gold loans are settled at maturity which
is usually in 1 to 6 months from date of inception and any fair

value change is immediately recognised in profit or loss.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Commaodity price risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, if the market price of gold had been
higher or lower by 10%, profit after taxation for the year would
decrease or increase by approximately HK$1,526.1 million (2024:
HK$2,370.2 million) due to changes in fair values of gold loans.
On the other hand, the gold inventory would not be revalued at
market price as it is measured at weighted average cost, unless
an impairment indicator exists. The changes in fair value of gold
loans would be partly offset by the realised gain or loss impact

on gold inventory in future sales.

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end
of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure

that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to

the expected credit loss model:

trade receivable for sales of inventory and from the provision

of service; and

debt investments carried at amortised cost, including
deposits, other receivables, amounts due from associates,
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of

subsidiaries and loan receivables

While cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits
are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial as such amounts are

placed in banks with good reputation.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss

allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and

the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the aging of gross trade
receivables over a period of 12 month before 31 March 2025 or
31 March 2024 respectively and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors, including significant
changes in external market indicators, affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors for

trade receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 and 31

March 2024 was determined as follows:

T A @
A R B s B E A K R ()

EERE @

5 B IE

IRES B fE B PR RS s R S B 5T ERI SR 9 SR 2 B K T i
StERPGEER, ZERGEERSEHRENER
BIERARTA B 5 EUKGRIE,

RETERMGEEER, BRRERREERIEXZEE
JeBL e 5 1 Rz 3 2 B BEE AT 3 4 o

TEHR B IE R AR 42 AR 2025 8 3 H 31 H ¥ 2024 4
3A 3B Z a2 8 A HA B 2 5 5E K IE 48 3 5 R iR
R NEFENEEEREEEESH, BEBERE
TR B A 2 B 5 20 = 5 18 1] i LSRR T R 1 B0 7 8 A
HE (BEISBHIZEENERNES) 2 Bai RallE
&R, N E R E 5 E WA IE B & Al &AM E

K tt, R202543H31H KR 2024FE3H3MHMER
BEDT

Aging analysis

RS
0 to 30 days 31 to 90 days 91 to 180 days Over 180 days Total
0E30H 31E90H 91%E 1808 i8id 180 H mast
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEEx BHEEx BEEx BEEx BEET
As of 31 March 2025 20253 HA31H
Expected loss rate TEHAEIE =R 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 80.8%
Gross carrying amount ERERE 1,731.9 409.9 377 48.5 2,228.0
Loss allowance [apicbd - - - 39.2 39.2
As of 31 March 2024 2024 3HA31H
Expected loss rate TEHERIE =R 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 771%
Gross carrying amount EREARE 24710 390.2 287 29.2 2,919
Loss allowance [agicbd - - - 22.5 22.5
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (c

Trade receivables (Continued)

ontinued)

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March are

reconciled to the opening loss allowances as follows:

32.

ST A @
e Tl JeR B 5 P A R SR ()

%ﬂ%ﬁﬁuﬂz#lﬁ ()

7 & SRR TR s 18 135 1 B A )l 12 138 e 0

2025 2024

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEET

At 1 April R4818 225 14.6
Currency realignment £ i R (0.8) (0.5)
Loss allowance recognised S8 B i 2 T 18.9 84
Loss allowance written off &5 18 1 1 2 L B (1.4) =
At 31 March K3A31H 39.2 225

258

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of

a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

against the same line item.

Debt instruments

All of the Group's debt instruments at amortised cost are made
with counterparties with good credit quality in conformance to
the Group treasury policies to minimise credit exposure, and
the loss allowance recognised during the period was limited to
12 months, expected losses unless significant increase in credit

risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
trade and loan receivables, with exposure spread over a number

of counterparties.

Financials
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

The management of the Group has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management of the Group's
short and medium-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
banking facilities and by continuously monitoring forecasted
and actual cash flows and the maturity profiles of its financial

liabilities.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up to reflect the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be

required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal

32.

&R T
45 il JR B 2R AR M BOUR (1)

,\ (#41)

BN E & E b

$§§%1¥JEE7%ZK§EB"H HA R B & & LA RZ it
EEATEITEENRIEEEIEEEER, K
ilLL,ﬁ.ﬁT—ﬁE TRIEARSFERRBAREREE
REMHEMBECZDZREERL, EERINETER,

‘H]]

}

TERAERKEz EHMBEGR TEHARE 25 E. %
RBRBAFETRERZ M EMBEZ RS B R
&, MRBREMBEZRMBEERE, ZXBEE
NBRREHERE.

cash flows.
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months 1year 1to5years Overb5 years cash flows amount
g REREE RERREE
FHRZE 3EAN 3EAZE1F 1ZE5% 5% REAEH EREE
% HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEERT BEET BEET BEET BEET
At 31 March 2025 k20255 3H 318
Trade and other payables B K EhEMIE - 21,349.1 - - - 21,3491 21,349.1
Amounts due to associates fEfEE A\ B FA1E - 31 - - - 31 31
Amounts due to non-controlling ERTH B AR - 2179 - - - 2179 2179
shareholders of subsidiaries RERIE
Bank borrowings RITER 4.2% 2107.7 1761.2 - - 3,868.9 3,825.1
Gold loans to be repaid by cash BUHEEENEREES 1.7% 3,680.5 - - - 3,680.5 3,671.3
Lease liabilities HEAR 2.8% 169.1 4763 486.4 8.1 1139.9 1,097.3
27,527.4 2,231.5 486.4 8.1 30,259.4 30,163.8
At 31 March 2024 fR202453H 318
Trade and other payables B R EMhEIE - 26,0539 - - - 26,0539 26,0539
Amounts due to associates FEfEE N\ B FR1E - 21 - - - 21 21
Amounts due to non-controlling TERTH B AR - 1521 - - - 1521 1521
shareholders of subsidiaries A
Bank borrowings IRTEM 49% - 816.0 35803 - 43963 41359
Gold loans to be repaid by cash BIREEENEREE 0.9% 47664 - 47664 4760.7
Lease liabilities HEaRE 30% 167.1 5185 6223 148 1,322.7 12672
311416 13345 42026 148 36,6935 36,3719
Notes: B EE -
(i) The amounts included in above for variable rate bank borrowings are subject to change if (i) fERSHARNFZEFLEHERREEENN LGS, LIFRRITERE
changes in variable interest rates differ from those estimates of interest rates determined at TEHBE Y B,

the end of the reporting period.

(i)  The amounts of gold loans are determined with reference to quoted market bid price of gold

traded in active liquid markets.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep) 32. &Rt T H @
4l J P 45 B R K R ()

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

ZOIEH. oI Fl TR B2 HEE R
MEARRMNEMEEREMEE

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to
offsetting and enforceable netting arrangements or
similar agreements
TRIMERERAZEMEERTMBEZRE
B EEFETHEERTMBEEREBESMHRIREE

offset in the Group's consolidated statement of financial ESbic

The following tables set out the carrying amounts of recognised

financial assets and recognised financial liabilities that are

position.

Gross amounts of
recognised financial
assets/ (liabilities)

Gross amounts
offset in the
consolidated
statement of

financial position

Net amounts
presented in the
consolidated
statement of
financial position

EER Riz& 2IREGE
eHEE/ Mg & BESIR iR &
(BfF) 288 fifz@E Zi3H
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET

As 31 March 2025 k2025 3H31H

Financial assets SHEE

Trade receivables B 5 eI FRIE 1,758.3 (1,713.7) 44.6

Amounts due from non-controlling FELSTRT B 2\ S HE IR R AR SRR IE 42.6 (22.1) 20.5
shareholders of subsidiaries

Financial liabilities LHBE

Deposits received from franchisees B0 88 WA A R & (19,027.0) 1,713.7 (17,313.3)

Amounts due to non-controlling AR ENGE 2288 G BN ] (239.9) 22.1 (217.8)
shareholders of subsidiaries

As 31 March 2024 2024348318

Financial assets TREE

Trade receivables N ENE] 2,016.7 (1,987.9) 288

Amounts due from non-controlling JFE MST Bt S 23 B4R 42 AR AR SRS 1R 10.8 (67) 41
shareholders of subsidiaries

Financial liabilities SHEE

Deposits received from franchisees B0 88 B B g (23,517.9) 1,987.9 (21,530.0)

Amounts due to non-controlling AR EPNGE S G N (158.8) 6.7 (152.1)

shareholders of subsidiaries

TIN5 [ O] == A 38 il 1T HE B2 TR LA B8 573 i LSRR TR HE 8
B /10 88 7 USCER B8 =

The Group has enforceable right and intends to offset the trade
receivables against deposits received from franchisees.

260 Financials Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

()

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the Group's assets and
liabilities measured at the end of the reporting period
at fair value, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the

entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

33. A&

(a)

UNVINI=E 34

TRIR T AREKBER B SR IS R EFTEN

BERERE, TEGERUHEERS S5 ERSE

13%?[ ARESE |[FIREN =B REERD
ARBEFENBRNERESE TIIGE

}imqﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂu/\,\ﬂﬁﬁ—f’éﬁmE&E%Efﬁ

EEN

B mABEERRESTEARIGRM
HO] LA E R B E o B & 2 R R

&5 .
=8

=

SBAR  WMABURTIE AR ZERESS, TR
?FE&‘)ZF?TEEEZ:“:EI%EFE 2z #A
BUR

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset E=R M ASUE U F O IR BIR S E oY
or liability. BEMEHzmA SR,
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—H B B=R @st
Notes HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
P&t BEET BEERX BHEET BRET
Recurring fair value measurement EEEARESE
At 31 March 2025 82025 3H31H
Asset BE
Financial assets at fair value AR ESTABEAT - - 45.4 45.4
through profit or loss TRIEE
Liabilities BfE
Gold loans to be repaid by cash BURSEENEsEE 27 - 3,671.3 - 3,671.3
Gold loans to be repaid by physical gold BIAEREEEIERN 27 - 12,195.4 - 12,195.4
EEEE
At 31 March 2024 k2024 3A31H
Asset BE
Financial assets at fair value RN EST ABLE - - 62.9 62.9
through profit or loss RS E
Liabilities BiR
Gold loans to be repaid by cash RAREEENEEEE 27 = 4,760.7 - 4,760.7
Gold loans to be repaid by physical gold LA e E £ EIEMN 27 - 19,7271 - 19,7271
wEEE

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2024: nil).

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the

reporting period.
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conminuep)

(b)

Valuation techniques used to determine Level 2
fair values

The fair value of gold loans is determined with reference
to quoted market bid price of gold traded in active liquid

markets as a key input.

Fair value measurement using significant
unobservable input (Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in Level
3 items for the periods ended 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024:

33. A ffHEHE @)

(b)

(c)

AT RE 5 — 8 A e (i Ak (E S
ERBEZANESRESRAENBEE &

EMHEEARBRESWASEMEE,

i TR A AT 2 i A B 2 8 R
fHaMR (55 =%)

FTERBIAMFEAABHBOBE 202553
ﬁm5&2M4¢w¢ma¢mﬁ%EME

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEERX

Unlisted equity securities ELTARERES
At 1 April K418 62.9 64.6
Currency realignment B (0.8) (1.7)
Fair value loss NAREER (16.7) =
At 31 March R3IF31H 45.4 62.9

262

The fair value of financial assets that are grouped
under Level 3 is determined using valuation techniques
including discounted cash flow analysis. In determining
the fair value, specific valuation techniques are used
with reference to inputs such as profit forecast, dividend
stream and other specific input relevant to those

particular financial assets.

Financial instruments that are not measured at
fair value

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow

analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial

statements approximate their fair values.

Financials
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34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising

34. BT B A AR 10 A AR

TRHSIAKBREED A ELNAESE, Ko

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash BERERFRTEH, MEFHELENAGEERS
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for MEEE (FRREEREHET) RAKENGRSGEH
vy

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified EREXNEAMETHMFEESREZERG,
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows from

financing activities.

Amounts Dividends Interest
due to non- payable payables
controlling (included (included
shareholders in trade in trade
Bank of and other and other Lease
borrowings Gold loans  subsidiaries payables) payables) liabilities Total
1T EfT iR EfTFIR
P2 8 (FtAEZ (GFAEZ
EER R EA R EAl
RITEN HE2fEE IRFRAIE  EAKEA) BAREAR) HRAE st
Note 26 Note 27 Note 23 Note 25 Note 25 Note 14
PiEE 26 PiEE 27 PiEE 23 PiEE 25 PiEE 25 PiiEE 14
HK$ million ~ HK$ million ~ HK$ million  HK$ million ~ HK$ Million ~ HK$ million  HK$ million
BREL BRET BRI BRI BEREL BEREL BREL
At 1 April 2023 k2023 4H18 5,854.9 15,085.6 524 - 689 1,165.7 22,2275
Financing cash flows RMERTRE (1,749.3) (915.7) (10.3)  (125375) (615.1) (8927)  (16,720.6)
Interest expenses R B FZ - - - - 6541 505 704.6
Foreign exchange translation IMERE 264 (436.4) (1.7) - - (22.8) (434.5)
Dividends declared SRS - - - 12,5375 = - 12,5375
Fair value loss of gold loans BEEEANLEER = 3,757.4 = = = = 3,757.4
Other non-cash movements HihFR s &) 3.9 6,996.9* - - (3.9) 966.5 79634
At 31 March 2024 k20245 3H31H 4,135.9 24,487.8 40.4 - 104.0 1,267.2  30,035.3
Financing cash flows AERERE (285.3)  (3,028.1) 63.4 (5,113.9) (603.7) (911.5) (9,879.1)
Interest expenses H 2Bz - - - - 543.8 49.0 592.8
Foreign exchange translation INEBRE (29.0) (389.8) (0.9) - - (7.2) (426.9)
Dividends declared SRR - - - 5,113.9 - - 5,113.9
Fair value loss of gold loans BRBEALEERE - 6,180.1 - - - - 6,180.1
Other non-cash movements El{ihIFIR £ &) 35 (11,383.3)* - - (3.5) 699.8  (10,683.5)
At 31 March 2025 k2025 3H31H 3,825.1 15,866.7 102.9 - 40.6 1,097.3 20,932.6

The amounts represented the net effect of the drawdown/(repayment) of gold loans from

gold inventories on hand and the net change of value added tax.
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35.

264

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Accounting Policy

Post-employment obligations

The Group operates various post-employment schemes,
including both defined benefit and defined contribution
pension plans.

The liability or asset recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan
assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms approximating the terms of the related
obligation. In countries where there is no deep market in such
bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.

Service cost and net interest cost on the net defined benefit
liability are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of "selling and distribution costs" or "general
and administrative expenses". Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the
current period. The net interest cost is calculated by applying
the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other
comprehensive income. They are included in retained earnings
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are
recognised immediately in profit or loss as past service costs.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Financials
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(CONTINUED)

Defined benefit scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company provide defined pension
benefits to the employees, who joined to these subsidiaries
before 1995. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees' final salary and years of services. The Group does

not set aside any assets to fund such obligations.

Under the scheme, the employees are entitled to a pension
between 25% and 40% of final salary for each year of
pensionable service at an age of 65. No other post-retirement
benefits are provided. The most recent actuarial valuations
of the present value of the defined benefit obligations were
carried out in March 2025 by Roma Appraisals Limited ("Roma"),
an independent qualified professional valuer, using the
projected unit credit method. The principal place of business of
Roma is Rooms 1101-4, 11/F Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. The assumptions which have
the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are

discount rate, retirement age, employee turnover rate, mortality

35.

rate and the rate of increase in salaries.

The main actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

BRI )

JE FEAR A T

AN T2 T Bt 88 2 B [0 iR 1995 £F mil 0 A 32 55 b J8 20
SN BRRHEREMEEH . BARBEERRES
RENFERIRBER, NEBIESBFEMDEEIX
SANES] VS

RIFZETE, BERFERE ST EFIRHTER
MEFIRIBIRN FREFE 25% E40% ZHIRINE,
IREE IR M E MBI E R, &ITIEREEAIR
ERERBEGEAR 20253 BB EREED
BN RERTHERAE ([ 45 ) ARG EN
fEELﬁo%%MEgﬁﬁm%ﬁ BT S 4T

E30HEERAB1NIEN01-4%, HHEEEREGEHE
HEEER AR, BIER. SRR, T ERFE
B 18 o

PIE A ESRE R T

2025 2024
Discount rate AhiE = 2.9% 3.5%
Expected rate of salary increase T Fr & IG A0 EE == 2.0% 2.0%
Employee turnover rate B = 0.0% 0.0%

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the defined

benefit scheme are as follows:

MEFEBANGTERGSER R E MM AW R R ERN
MBI -

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BERET
Current service cost 53 B35 AR 765 A 7K 1.1 1.6
Interest on obligation RERAR 5.1 64
Components of defined benefits RIER BRI E AR E 6.2 8.0
recognised in profit or loss
Remeasurement on defined benefit scheme TREL 2 W U A iR SR A 2A
recognised in other comprehensive income: EAIStEIEHETE
Actuarial loss/ (gain) arising from changes in B 7S (R 5% oS 48 FiT 2 A /) 0.1 (8.8)
financial assumptions BEEBE/ ()
Total FEEE] 6.3 (0.8)
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 35. BRI AIE 0
(CONTINUED)
Defined benefit scheme (Continued) E BRAR A EH ] a0
The current service costs and interest on obligation for the years B ZE 2025 F 52 2024 £ 3 H 31 H 1k F K135 b AR #5 AY
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are included in "selling and IR AN SRS BHESEAEST Al HE R 2 H
distribution costs" and "general and administrative expenses" R | R [ — AR AT |18,
depending on the respective employee's function.
The remeasurement of the defined benefit scheme for the B E2025F K% 20243 A 31 H ILFEEH ER B 5
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 is included in other BEH T ESTARMEAN G
comprehensive income.
Movements in the present value of the defined benefit Fm AR BIREEHNNT
obligations are as follows:
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEET
At 1 April K481 173.3 185.2
Service costs fIR %% Y 7R 11 16
Interest costs NISYD 2N 5.1 64
Actuarial loss/ (gain) EEEE/ () 0.1 (8.8)
Benefits paid Exftafl (11.1) a1
At 31 March R3A31H 168.5 173.3

266

Defined contribution scheme

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes which
are registered under the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement
Scheme Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme") and a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme") established
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance
in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of independent trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme
were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme
or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees
joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000 are required to
join the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit cost charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents contributions payable to the funds by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the schemes. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are

reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution
is matched by the employee. The maximum monthly amount of

contribution is limited to HK$1,500 per employee.

Financials
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 35. BRAEFKYE @0

30.

(CONTINUED)

Defined contribution scheme (Continued) %', BEEET#

The eligible employees of the Company's subsidiaries in 23] th [ A 1t K2 1R P B B 2 BB & B 1R B 7 Al 4
Mainland China and Macau are members of pension schemes EF'. (50 P 1B & b AT Rz R P IAT S0E (IR R & 51 2l Y

operated by local government of Mainland China and the Macau
government, respectively. The subsidiaries in Mainland China
are required to contribute a certain percentage of the relevant
cost of the payroll of these employees to the pension schemes
to fund the benefits. The subsidiary in Macau is required to
pay a monthly fixed contribution to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contribution under the schemes.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a)  Share award scheme

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 7 July 2023,
the Board approved the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme, under which shares of the Company may be
awarded to certain Directors and members of senior
management in Board or the Remuneration Committee's
discretion. The Share Award Scheme operates for 10
years starting from 7 July 2023. The maximum number of
shares which may be awarded to any grantee under the
Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company. The share awards are to be
vested subject to the fulfilment of certain performance
targets.

The Company may allot and issue new shares to the
grantee directly; and/ or appoint any trustee for the
purpose of purchasing, administrating and holding the
Company's shares for the Share Award Scheme. The total
number of shares to be awarded under the Share Award
Scheme is limited to 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
share was acquired by the Company for the Share Award

Scheme.

Movements in the number of share awards:

36.

8, thE Ak E N S/RIE A B e & 18 B T & Ay ZKH)
STEAEEIRINES B, RPHEASRIES

A BB g A 51 81 52 17 E g,
B A IR MUE R 58I B — R ERIRIEZ

(R ERURAS NI
FatEIME

TR R o

i A5 A2 E

(a)

PB4y B W T k]

RIBEFB2023%7A700RHER, EFE
HEHESRANR B S T B, $BIE, 7RSI TTIER
ETESRERERENR, EREFTAH
5 B 8 IR E. R EEE 81820234
7R7BREEIE, AMI104. RIFRHEME
T8 FIEAAEA NS SR G BE REB@ K
“ﬁE%ﬁ%$%mo%ﬁ§@EEﬁ%$¥
EEEETTRE,

IR B O] B AR A BB R BITHR ; K2/
WS EEMZEARRNERGIEE. EiE
REFFBRATIRM . RIER 7D ZE 5 E]Z H 67
i 172 48 A IR 22 B] B AT IR N H] 5% 43 BR o

BHE2025F R 2024F3HNBLEFEE, KD
B R A 7 A% 0 22 B ot SR (T el i {7

IR EIE B & E)

Number of share awards

iz 153 32 JEh 8 B

2025 2024
At 1 April R4A1H 2,118,200
Granted (Note) EEE (M) 5,438,600 2,118,200
Lapsed BERY (109,800) -
At 31 March MR3H31H 7,447,000 2,118,200

Note:  The fair value of share awards was determined with reference to market price
of the Company's shares at the grant date. Average fair value per share was
HK$8.59 (2024: HK$12.68).
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (conminueD) 36. Mt kM (a0
(a)  Share award scheme (Continued) (a) Bty SEEhEH# (80
Details of the share awards outstanding as at 31 March HZE2025F3H31H, BARITEKIRMNERF
2025 were set out as follows: B :
Number of share awards
ki EEEB
Average Granted Lapsed
fair value At 1 April during during At 31 March
Date of grant per share  Vesting period * 2024 the year the year 2025
BRTH 22024 £ fi2 2025 £
RHHHA ARE BB 4818 FAEEE FRBEXRH 3A318
HK$
BT
10 August 2023 12.68 10 August 2023 to 1 July 2026 2,118,200 - (109,800) 2,008,400
2023 8H10H 2023 8H10HZE2026F7H1H
7 October 2024 8.59 7 October 2024 to 1 July 2027 - 5,438,600 - 5,438,600
2024108 7H 2024510 H7H=E2027F7H18
2,118,200 5,438,600 (109,800) 7,447,000

The period during which all the specific vesting conditions of the share awards are
to be satisfied

Total expenses arising from share-based payment

T Y AR 193 3% 80 BT 5 s T R R R 1 X A R

FNER R EEBAS — B8 ELARND & E

transactions recognised during the year as part of BT R 7 P A E BB SZ AR BRI T -
employee benefit expense were as follows:
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEEx
Expenses recognised by share award scheme R 172 22 Jah 51 B T 5% 4% Fl 52 12.8 6.0
(b)  Share appreciation rights (b)  JBc 0y 1 {1 HE
The Company issued to the directors and certain RABlAESRETREFITROIBERE (&
employees share appreciation rights (the "SARs") that MiBERE ), KAoagURERESRE TE
the Company would pay the intrinsic value of the SARs BMRMNIBEENANEEE, FRNBEE
in cash to the directors and certain employees as part AH—8N. ENEEZIARLSIEREN R
of the discretionary bonus. The amount payable will be REFstE. RWIBEEV/AEREBITE,
determined based on the earnings per shares and share U0 RESZ HEARAIT R, AR 018 18 # 4% 2,
price of the Company. The rights must be exercised on RN BIRF AR T (20244 « ) RIS
vesting date and will expire if not exercised on that date. EREN, KB &EB3180001E (20244 :
There were no (2024: nil) SAR granted and 3,118,000 units 28,628,0001@) RN IEEMEE I, R202543
(2024: 28,628,000 units) were vested during the year. As A31H, stAHMEMRENSERAESE R
at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of liability included 8IEBEBIL (20244 : 295B&EEIL).
in other payables is HK$8.1 million (2024: HK$29.5 million).
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

()

Recurring transactions

Other than the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had entered into the following related party
transactions during the year:

37. BT % o

(a)

WP 5
PR ARG B RS 3R 2= N EL {0 77 45 88 (032 5 Rz 4 B
b, IREEERFENTIL IR

2025 2024
Relationship Nature of transactions HK$ million HK$ million
BAR ZHE BAET BEBET
Entities in which certain Concessionaire fees in department stores (Note 2) 24.7 36.0
directors * of the Company BENTIEEAR (iEE2)
have beneficial interests Right-of-use assets (Note 2) 8.7 215.3
RABETES HEAEDR EREERE (MEE2)
I E e Lease expenses (Note 2) 4.4 241
MERZ (BiEE2)
Purchase of goods and commission expenses (Note 2) - 0.2
BEmEmRAEAZ (MEE2)
Purchase of equipment and others (Note 2) 1.4 1.3
IBE R EREA (FiEE2)
Marking fee (Note 2) 18.4 37.2
T B A (FiEE2)
Service fees and income from customer 19.6 348
loyalty programmes (Note 2)
ZFEWESTEIFIRISE R A (FiEE2)
Non-controlling shareholders Concessionaire fees in department stores (Note 1) 1.7 2.7
of subsidiaries BEQSIEENA (PEE1)
Bfit /a8 2 S JE 4= AR AR ER Franchise sales (Note 1) 127.8 169.0
NOEREHE (BfiEE1)
Entities in which a close family Engineering services fee (Note 2) 4.3 3.6
member of certain directors * TERBE (MEE2)
of the Company has control
KNG TES  HIEHIENE
maEEAIENER
Directors and a close family Sales of goods (Note 2) 56.5 9.0
members of certain directors * HERm (MiEE2)
BEERGETES HEHEEBNE
The directors also have beneficial interests in the Company. BEEMHEARAC N B,
Notes: BFEE -
1. Transactions do not constitute connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the 1. RHUARER ETERIE14AE FHRERZ S,
Listing Rules

2. Transactions constitute exempt or non-exempt connected transactions and the
Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in
the section headed "CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" on p.163 in this
annual report

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had, directly or indirectly, a material
interest at any time during the year.

Key management compensation

Remuneration paid for key management personnel
includes the directors and the chief executives of the
Company as disclosed in note 9.

The remuneration of the directors and the chief
executives of the Company is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.
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38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at the end of

the reporting period are set out below:

38. AL A FEME A A
TFARRESE AR EBH AT 254 -

Place and date of
incorporation/

Issued and fully paid
share capital/ registered

Proportion of

ownership interest held

Principal place

Name of subsidiaries establishment capital/ quota capital by the Company Principal activities of operation
SEMAYIL/ BRI ES EETRAERA/ RABIFEREE R
NG RBH &R/ ERER 317411 TERB TEERME
2025 2024
Highrise Achiever Limited* BVI Share 100% 100% Investment holding Hong Kong
BXERAE 20 June 2011 Us$1 RERR 58
REERRES R
2011 6H208 1%t
Bentley Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of diamond Hong Kong
BABZERAE] 10 January 2008 HK$10,000 BHEE it
BB TR
2008F1H10H 10,000 T
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Sales of jewellery products Hong Kong
Company Limited 6 March 1961 HK$350,000,000 hEERHE BB
BRBHREZTARAT BB BRI
1961F3H6H 350,000,000 7t
CTF Jewellery Overseas Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products Hong Kong
BAXEHRE (J89) BIRAE 21 March 2018 HK$1 and provision of services &ig
Elis SRR to franchisees
20184 3H218 1T TRE R E RN
FR#S T A0 B
CTF Watch (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Sales of watches Hong Kong
BXEER (B58) BRAT 7 February 2011 HKS$1 EIRHE &
£l EELUN
20115 2H7H T
Techni Development Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Procurement of gemstones, Hong Kong
Investment Limited 26 May 2005 HK$5,000,000 sales of jewellery products &}
ENE ERERIRAT i SRR and investment holding
200558 26 H 5,000,000 BT REEO. HWEER
HEURRERR
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery and Watch Macau Quota capital 100% 100% Sales of jewellery products Macau
Company (Macau) Limited 17 March 2009 MOP5,000,000 hEERHE 1P
BIRfmBk E ik (RP9) GIRAE] R P BEERER
200943178 5,000,000 8 P97t
Hearts On Fire Company, LLC The United States Capital 100% 100% Sales of jewellery products The United States
of America US$74,468,737 T ERHE of America
14 May 2001 v X6
EJE]| 74,468,737 £t
200158148
Beijing Chow Tai Fook Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 13 November 2006 US$30,000,000 and provision of services g
ITREXBREZTARAT TE" &R to franchisees
2006118138 30,000,000 %7t TREE R E R
FR %S T M0 B
Chongging Chow Tai Fook Watch PRC* Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of watches PRC
Marketing Company Limited 25 December 2008 RMB10,000,000 BIRIHE b
BERAXREERHERRAS e &R
2008 12H25H AE#10,000,0007T
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38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

38. AN FEMENF @

Place and date of
incorporation/

Issued and fully paid
share capital/ registered

Proportion of

ownership interest held

Principal place

Name of subsidiaries establishment capital/ quota capital by the Company Principal activities of operation
MR/ SRR ERTRBERAR/ RATIFfEEAE
P2 BB RBH &R/ REER 3717411 TERB TEERME
2025 2024
Chongging Flamingo Watches PRC* Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of watches PRC
Company Limited 25 December 2008 RMB1,000,000 BIRIHE PE
BEEHSERARAE - S ER
2008125258 AE#1,000,0007T
Chongging Xinhuang Watch PRC* Registered capital 51% 51% Sales of watches PRC
Company Limited 2 August 2013 RMB10,000,000 BIRIHE B
BEMABRAIRAS hE] &R
201358828 AF#£10,000,000 7
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
(Chongging) Company Limited 23 December 2008 US$30,000,000 and provision of services thE]
BABHRERLT (EE) GRAE hE’ SHRE R to franchisees
2008125238 30,000,000 7T HREERHER
R HARES T I R
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery (Shenyang) PRC* Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 2 January 2014 RMB20,000,000 and provision of services HE
BABHRERLT (&) GERAE - SHRE R to franchisees
2014 1A 208 AEE#20,000,000 7T KREERHER
R HARES T I R
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery (Shenzhen) PRC" Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of PRC
Company Limited 2 April 2002 US$500,000,000 jewellery products thE
BABHREZRT (RI) BRAE " S ER hEEREERIFE
2002%4H28 500,000,000 %7t
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery (Suzhou) PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 11 January 2006 US$30,000,000 and provision of services thE
BRBREEAT (FM) BRAE e &R to franchisees
2006 1A 118 30,000,000 £ REERHER
RALARAS T I
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery (Wuhan) PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 29 January 2008 US$30,000,000 and provision of services thE
BABREELT (HE) ERAE HE" &R to franchisees
2008 1H29H 30,000,000 £ REERHER
R ALARAS T I
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Culture PRC" Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacturing of jewellery PRC
Industrial Park (Wuhan) 16 August 2012 US$140,000,000 products I
Company Limited HE" &R KEEREE
FXBHRENHERE (HE) 2012 8H16H 140,000,000 7T
BRRE
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Zhangjiagang Baoshui 21 April 2010 RMB65,723,500 HEERHE i
Company Limited R HMER

BARBHEZTRRERIE
BIRAE

2010F4A21H

AR 65,723,500 7T
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38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

38. AN FEME AT @

Place and date of
incorporation/

Issued and fully paid
share capital/ registered

Proportion of
ownership interest held

Principal place

Name of subsidiaries establishment capital/ quota capital by the Company Principal activities of operation
MR/ BRI ERTRBERAR/ RATIFRE AR
M2 BB RBH &R/ REER 3717401 EERB TEERME
2025 2024
Foshan Shunde Yuda Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacturing of jewellery PRC
Manufacturing Company Limited 14 March 2007 US$10,639,400 products thE
HRLTIEEBHERE B RIS thE" S ER hEERLE
LA 20074 3714H 10,639,400 %7t
Foshan Yushunfu Jewellery and PRC" Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacturing of jewellery PRC
Diamond Company Limited 9 November 1988 US$18,000,000 products hE
HUBIEREMEEERAE hE" a7 hEEREE
1988411 A9 H 18,000,000 7T
Guangdong Chow Tai Fook Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 10 December 2007 US$30,000,000 and provision of services thE]
BEREAXBRERTARAST TE" &R to franchisees
20074128108 30,000,000 7T HREERHER
AR Y I EE
Guangdong Shunde Chow Tai Fook PRC* Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacturing of jewellery PRC
Jewellery Manufacturing 30 July 2014 RMB60,000,000 products th
Company Limited e &R hEERLE
BRIEE RN BRI REERAE 20144 7H308 AR # 60,000,000 7T
Jinan Fudonglin Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100% Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 2 September 2005 RMB2,000,000 and provision of services hE
FEraREREETARAS E- &R to franchisees
2005%9A 28 ARH#2,000,000 7 HRE EmHER R
AR 0 B 7
Shanghai Chow Tai Fook Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100% Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 26 February 2013 HK$60,000,000 and provision of services thE
tiERAXEHREEMERAS] thE" &R to franchisees
2013F2H 268 60,000,000 j& 7T BREERHER
SRR Y08 B
Shanghai Fulong Chow Tai Fook PRC* Registered capital 60% 60% Sales of jewellery products PRC
Jewellery Company Limited 5 January 2000 RMB10,000,000 hEERHE t
LiaERERAXRHREERAE e a7
2000F1H5H AR#10,000,0007T
Shenzhen Qianhai Chow Tai Fook PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Jewellery Company Limited 31 October 2016 US$10,000,000 REERHE )
RYIEERE KRR EZTERAT E" S ER
2016108318 10,000,000 37t
Shenzhen Chow Tai Fook Jewellery PRC" Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacturing of jewellery PRC
Manufacturing Company Limited 5 March 2012 RMB50,000,000 products hE
RYFRKXBHREREARAT E- a7 hEEREE
20124 3H5H AER#50,000,0007T
Shenzhen Chow Tai Fook Online PRC* Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Media Company Limited 5 January 2017 RMB5,000,000 REERHE P
RIBXBERERERAE] i S ER
20171850 AE# 5,000,000 7T
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38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

38. AN FEMENF @

Place and date of
incorporation/

Issued and fully paid
share capital/ registered

Proportion of
ownership interest held

Principal place

Name of subsidiaries establishment capital/ quota capital by the Company Principal activities of operation
MR/ SRR ERTRBERAR/ RATIFfEEAE
B 25181 RBH &R/ REER 3717411 EX-2 301 TEERME
2025 2024
Shenzhen CTF Watch PRC" Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of watches PRC
Company Limited 27 June 2011 HK$300,000,000 BIRIHE s
RYIBXEEZARAE] thE” S ER
201 6H278 300,000,000 7t
Shenzhen Shenfu Jewellery PRC* Registered capital 50%* 50% * Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 19 April 2007 RMB8,000,000 hEERHE e
RYMREHREZTERAE HE &R
200744 A198 AR 8,000,000 7T
Wuhan Hanfu Jewellery PRC* Registered capital 70% 70%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Company Limited 26 November 2003 RMB90,000,000 hEERIEE thiE
HEERKETTARLE - SR
200311526 H AR#90,000,0007T
Zhangjiagang Baoshui Dade Xinfu PRC* Registered capital 50%* 50% * Sales of jewellery products PRC
Jewellery Company Limited 3 December 2010 RMB3,000,000 hEERMHE e
SREBIRIBAEM AR E 21T HE] &R
BRAE 2010 12H3H ABH#3,000,000 7
Zhangjiagang Baoshui Dehui PRC* Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of jewellery products PRC
Jewellery Company Limited 24 September 2012 RMB94,567,500 BERHE P
RRBRRBEBREZTARAT - Eaiil-wi
20126E9H 248 AEe#94,567,500 78
Zhangjiagang Baoshui Zhaofu PRC* Registered capital 51% 51% Sales of jewellery products PRC
Jewellery Company Limited 17 November 2011 RMB70,000,000 hEERHE i
ERBREBERKEZTARLE HE] &R
2011 E1MB178 AE#70,000,000 7%

Directly held by the Company.

Pursuant to the relevant agreements entered into among shareholders of these entities, the

Group has power to direct the relevant activities of these entities since their respective date
of establishment/ acquisition, and hence these entities are classified as subsidiaries of the

Company.

Being a co-operative joint venture establishment in the PRC

* o RREEERA.

¢ IRIRZEERKRR Z BT I HBR G, K
HIARA RIS B ZFEREEIES), RikkE

2 i

HPENINGESERR,

Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise RIEEERKE,
Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC. HPENITHBERSE,
Note: BtSE

LFBEEEEMIL/ WWEB
BRI B HIE A Eo

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affect the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries which are
mainly inactive or engaged in investment holding would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

ERINHESR R TSV ERRBEERANEENRQCMEAS] HIIRMESY
FERIRBRERRNMEAB ZHE, EFNRLHTEIHEBRITR.

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 273
HRE IS ER R B EE



39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  39.
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

AN ) U 5 IR 0 3 K fi e 5 )

2025 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET

Non-current assets FRENEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REEA AT ZIRE 15,387.3 15,387.3
Amount due from a subsidiary JiE WS — fis] Bft /B 22 Bl 7R IR = 3,3423
15,387.3 18,729.6

Current assets RE&EE
Amount due from a subsidiary JEE ST — 51 Bfit /B N TR 1B 2,241.8 248.2
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEN 4.9 41
2,246.7 2523
Current liabilities REAE

Other payables HLfth g R IR 43.4 344
Bank borrowings IRITER 3,825.1 793.6
Gold loans =xEE 3,671.3 4,760.7
7,539.8 5,588.7
Net current liabilities BB EFEH (5,293.1) (5,336.4)
Total assets less current liabilities REERREFBE 10,094.2 13,393.2

Non-current liability ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITEN - 3,342.3
10,094.2 10,050.9

Capital and reserves BN K f# s
Share capital A& 7K 9,987.7 9,987.7
Reserves fi& 106.5 632
10,094.2 10,050.9

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 12 June 2025 and are signed

on its behalf by:

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry
B R L
DIRECTOR

EF
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Mr. Wong Siu-Kee, Kent
HEELE
DIRECTOR

BF

EE G 2025 6 H 12 B it e I 1% 4 T 38 2 B s 3R
x, WHATAERES

Mr. Cheng Ping-Hei, Hamilton
BmEREE
DIRECTOR

EF
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  39.
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

AN ) U 5 SR 0 3 % fh g B2 D) (a0

Reserves
1
Share-based
Share Treasury payment Retained

capital shares reserve profits Total

&A% EERR  RAEHEEE fREi@EF st

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

BRET BEET BRET BEET BERET

At 1 April 2023 iR2023F481H 10,000.0 - - 103.6 10,103.6
Profit and total comprehensive FAN A EEELE = - — 12,573.7 12,5737

income for the year
Employees' share-based payments 1 B A& {7 #R B = = 6.0 = 6.0
Cancellation of buy-back shares o 3H B B AR 1 (12.3) - - (122.6) (134.9)
Dividends 2 = = - (12,497.5) (12,497.5)
At 31 March 2024 JR2024FE3H31H 9,987.7 - 6.0 57.2 10,050.9
Profit and total comprehensive FREF RS RS - - = 5,027.1 5,027.1
income for the year

Employees' share-based payments 1 2 A% {7 #R B - - 12.8 - 12.8
Buy-back of shares [o] B RS 11 - (2.8) - - (2.8)
Dividends e - - - (4,993.8) (4,993.8)
At 31 March 2025 iR2025%3H31H 9,987.7 (2.8) 18.8 90.5 10,094.2
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LU pIEY R

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years. The financial
information are extracted from the consolidated financial statements

in the annual reports.

INTFRASEBELBEMREFEENERGUAREERR
RS, MRENEEREFRIEE MRS

For the year ended 31 March

HEIANOLEE
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET BEET BEERT
Revenue =] 70,163.8 98,937.7 94,684.4 108,713.0 89,656.0
Gross profit* ER|* 20,2431 23,360.9 22,7175 26,042.4 26,454.8
Profit for the year FE R 61761 6,879.9 5,489.5 6,607.2 5,988.9
As at 31 March
K3A31H
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEERT BEERT BEET BEERT
Total assets BERSE 64,308.2 87,737.3 87,340.5 88,819.0 76,524.4
Total liabilities BE4E%R 32,740.6 53,182.6 53,980.7 62,0734 49,131.0
Net assets BEEFH 31,567.6 34,554.7 33,359.8 26,745.6 27,393.4

Gold loan impact was reclassified from "cost of goods sold" to "other gains and losses" for FY2024 and
before
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

]:J‘L 12 o 'L:H_

INVESTOR CALENDAR W H H

FY2025 annual results announcement 2025 W BUAE A 4E R E NS

12 June 2025 2025 6H12H

AGM JBe SR A4 R g

23 July 2025 20254%7H23H

Proposed payment of final dividend R IR SRR R

on or about 20 August 2025 20258 H 20 HaYgi{&

Closure of register of members (both days inclusive) 745 0 B IBE y 3t 5 6 S T4 (R R R AR AE N )
For ascertaining attendance and voting right at the AGM MEEHFERRAFAGURE LRE
18 to 23 July 2025 2025 7H18HE23H

For ascertaining entitlement to proposed final dividend L e 0 1 5 o IR A AR R BT
7 August 2025 2025%8H7H

SHARE INFORMATION JBe Aoy Rt

Company name YNGIE

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited X ERESRBERIRAE]

Listing NSl

Hong Kong Stock Exchange BB AT

Stock code JBe 3 AR 5%

1929 1929

Listing date i H Y

15 December 2011 201112 H15H

Board lot size T H B LA

200 shares 200 %

Issued share capital as at 31 March 2025 it 202543 H 31 H B #47 A
9,987,736,800 shares 9,987,736,800 fi%

Index constituent J A

Hang Seng Index BEHEH

Hang Seng Composite Index BEEGIEH

Hang Seng Composite LargeCap Index
Hang Seng China (Hong Kong-listed) 100 Index '
Hang Seng Stock Connect Greater Bay Area Composite Index

(]

fE4

BTG KEIRIEH

B hE (FiE L) 100158
ELEERBEXERGEEH

Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index BET R R FIEEH

Hang Seng ESG 50 Index B4 ESG5018

MSCI China Index MSCI o (45 81

Dow Jones Best-in-Class World Index B8 B4R ST £ BRIE 81
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SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

e SR 5

For matters relating to your shareholding such as transfer of shares,
change of name or address, and loss of share certificates, please

write to our Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar:

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980-1333

Fax: (852) 2810-8185

e-mail:  is-enquiries@vistra.com

Shareholders can obtain the annual or interim report of the Company
by writing to our Hong Kong Branch Registrar, or access the electronic

version from our Group website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Ak ETHEREE, URNEE. SEcisoyihit ks
KRE, wASEHTTENHMASERMBPZELNEE

BEBAELEARAT
FBERIE 169
IRERERICIN7 18

Eah ;. (852) 2980-1333
f5E . (852) 2810-8185
EH ;.  is-enquiries@vistra.com

AR EROT 5 1R & E 7T TUBAS T P B0 B 1B AR )18 o B 50 70 2 LA
BEUR A SIBF Ry PHARRS, By AT 1P B 5k B 4R 0 ) 28
BT R

& Bl R

For more information about the Group, please visit
www.ctfiewellerygroup.com

or contact our Investor Relations and Corporate Communications at
38/F, New World Tower
16-18 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong

ARNREKEFRE, FRE
www.ctfjewellerygroup.com

oy ERFY PI 3% & & B 1R 2 1B 3 AT B A
BEE2EKED16-185F
it 5K S 38 18

Tel: (852) 2524-3166 EEE . (852) 2524-3166
Fax: (852) 2526-9178 fBH : (852) 2526-9178
e-mail:  ir@chowtaifook.com E# :  ir@chowtaifook.com
GENERAL INFORMATION e

Headquarters and principal place of business ARV Do A v T M

in Hong Kong
33/F, New World Tower
16-18 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong

Registered office

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BRBHREREARAE
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GLOSSARY

ks

THFY
ST Z E44F

2HFY
AEE T H4F

Articles
EEl

ASP
TLIEE

Board
=)
CIS

J5 N EiE

Company/ Chow Tai Fook
VNNV PN ]

Directors

5%

FY

AT E

Gem-set Jewellery
DR 2 iR

Gold jewellery and products
=L EMKRERD

Group
KE/ REKE

Hong Kong, China/ Hong Kong
hEEE/ FE

Karat gold/ K-gold
K&

Annual Report 2025
2025 F R

the first half of the financial year, six months ending 30 September
WIEEFE EHF, BZE9HI0HIENEA

the second half of the financial year, six months ending 31 March

WFRETHE, #E3H3NHIETEAR

the articles of association of the Company (as amended or supplemented from time to time)

INATIEBEREMA (EREEZETSH)

average selling price

LI (B

the board of directors of the Company
RABEEFEG

counter-in-shop in POS

RE SN IS N EIE

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited (stock code: 1929)
BXBEHREREGRAS] (RHR : 1929)

directors of the Company

RABEE

financial year, 12-month period starting from 1 April of the previous calendar year and ending on
31 March of the specified year
MFE, 60 E—BAFN4 A1 BEZEFRIAFEMNE 3 A 318 IEK12EH HAR

jewellery products made with diamonds and gemstones

EAEORECNBEMNER

gold jewellery and products sold by weight or at a fixed price. Fixed-price gold products include
those with substantial amount of art work, delicate designs and licensed gold products
NESFEEEREENETEiiREn, EEETEmEEREEEN TERMRHMN. &RE
I AR BN EE E o

the Company and its subsidiaries

U/ANSIDSEE YD AN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China
thiE A\ R HEADE &S B Al TTIE

jewellery products made from gold alloy
LAS & B AY 515 8 2 o
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Listing Rules
LR Al

Macau, China/ Macau
oh [ 5P / 1R P

Mainland China/ the Mainland
hE A/ A

POS
TER

Retail Sales Value/ RSV

TEE

Same Store

Gl

Same Store Sales/ SSS
[6)5 iH &

Same Store Sales Growth/ SSSG
BESHEE R

SFO
B 55 R A E R B

SIS
J5

Stock Exchange
B 32 Pl

Tier I, 11, Ill, IV and other cities
7%\“\ :%JK\ E%ﬂ(\ é\n
K B Aty
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Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRMEGRFZMAIRABI®ES LHARA

the Macao Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China
chiE A B $EA0E %R P45 Al T I E

the mainland of the People's Republic of China
chiE A R AT A

points of sale

EmnTERH

the sales at the ending price (VAT inclusive, if any), in respective functional currencies, of
products sold to customers in the POS network and other channels
REBEHAGNEMRELMBENEEREHENRSHE ZRNREETEE (BEEER, 10A)
FE

self-operated POS existing as at the end of the relevant financial period and which have been
operating since the beginning of the prior financial year

Brl— B RFEEI2EEWRARWBHERNASEFHNEE TSR

"Same store sales" for FY2025 is the RSV from the self-operated POS of CHOW TAI FOOK
JEWELLERY existing as at 31 March 2025 and which have been opened prior to 1 April 2023. RSV
from franchised POS and other channels are not included

20256 MKEE R/EHE |MS, IEXRBEMR20235F4 51 HAIFMAENK 202543 A 31 BIRA
BENBEARGEHREEETEMNZTEEH, EAOENHTEHRAMRBENZEHE

a comparison between Same Store Sales of a particular period and sales from comparable POS in
the corresponding period in the previous financial year, measured at constant exchange rates

LAME[E) B R L B e FA R B B[S SR &5 B E — BT R B EA R O] EE R E B IHE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
HEIEHISE 571 EEF R A G KA

shop-in-shop in POS
FRBE RN KIS P 5

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, unless otherwise specified

RIFRBIER, SAIPESBH S AMARAE

for the list of cities, please refer to the city-tier ranking published by Yicai Global. New first tier
cities were grouped under Tier Il cities in our analysis. Please refer to the ranking released on 30
May 2024

BRI M ERZEE S VB MM HFRAFZ. SRR MR T PRI ER T
SR, F2F 202445 H 30 HAMEIHESA

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited
BRBHREREARAE
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